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Foreword

Change, confusion and chaos? Or comparability, confidence, and clarity? What will be the effect of adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards? At KPMG, our member firms’ professionals around the globe have
been working together to realise the benefits of adoption of a single set of accounting standards worldwide:
enhanced comparability of financial statements to provide investors with improved confidence in reported results
and reduced cost of funding to those accessing capital markets. We have been developing tools, investing in
training, and working cooperatively to build IFRS resources in our firms around the world. This publication, /nsights
into IFRS, is one result of this work — a tool that we want to share both inside and outside of KPMG.

The challenge of change, and managing change, will continue beyond the initial adoption of IFRS. In a world where
IFRSs are used widely, the challenge to us all — preparers, auditors and users of financial statements — will be to
maintain and enhance the comparability that will deliver the benefits of IFRSs. The risk is that the comparability
achieved initially will be eroded by differing interpretations, creating many dialects in which IFRSs are expressed.
With that risk in mind, KPMG has developed this publication to focus on practical issues that arise when
interpreting and applying IFRSs.

Like the standards on which it is based, Insights into IFRS is not a fixed document that, once printed, can be read
and put aside. As business practices continue to evolve, and more and more cross-border comparisons are made,
the standards and their interpretation will evolve. We all have a role to play in shaping that evolution, by
participating fully in the standard-setting process of the International Accounting Standards Board, to help ensure
that the Board's decisions are well-informed and can draw on the views of all of its constituents, and by applying
the standards that exist with judgement and integrity. We at KPMG will continue to share our resources,
experiences and views to update and enhance this publication. Our objective is to establish it as the first —and
last — tool that you use to address your questions on IFRSs.

In closing, I'd like to thank all those within KPMG's member firms who made this publication possible, including
current and former members of our International Financial Reporting Group and our IFRS Panel. These individuals,
from KPMG member firms in over 20 countries, worked together to achieve a single goal. This exemplifies the
kind of sharing of ideas and cooperative initiatives that IFRSs not only makes possible, but also demands. Our
hope is that this publication helps us all to live up to this imperative.

Mike Rake
Chairman - KPMG International

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.
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About this publication

Whether adopting IFRSs for the first time or “only” the many new and amended standards issued recently, the
challenges of applying IFRSs have never been greater.

The greatest challenge may be interpreting the standards themselves and using judgement to apply IFRSs to real
transactions and arrangements.

Insights into IFRS emphasises the application of standards in practice and explains the conclusions we have
reached on many interpretative issues. While it includes an overview of the requirements of IFRSs, this
publication is an interpretative guide to IFRSs that builds on those standards and should be read alongside them.

We have based /nsights into IFRS on actual questions that have arisen in practice around the world. The guide
includes many illustrative examples to elaborate or clarify the practical application of the standards.

Organisation of the text

The guide is organised into topics, following the typical presentation of items in financial statements. Separate
sections deal with general issues such as business combinations, specific balance sheet and income
statement items and with special topics such as leases. A separate section is focussed on issues relevant to
those making the transition to IFRSs.

The overviews of the requirements of IFRSs and our interpretations of them are referenced to current IFRS
literature. References in the left margin identify the relevant paragraphs of the standards or other literature
(e.g., IFRS 1.7 being IFRS 1 paragraph 7).

The references in the left hand column are to the latest version of the standard that contains the requirement.
When a requirement is not included in the latest version of the standard, for example, because it has been
changed or deleted, the reference indicates in brackets the most recent version of the standard that did contain the
requirement (e.g., IAS 27.13 (2000)).

Standard and interpretations
This publication is based on IFRSs issued at 1T August 2004. A list of these standards and interpretations is
included in Appendix B.

When a significant change will occur as a result of a standard or interpretation that has been issued at 1 August 2004
but which is not yet required to be adopted, the impact of these forthcoming requirements is explained in
accompanying boxed text. However, for ease of reference in the case of the sections that deal with financial
instruments we have based the publication on the /atest versions of the relevant standards (i.e., IAS 32 and IAS 39
as revised at 31 March 2004). The changes resulting from recent previous amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 39 are
discussed in more detail in a separate KPMG publication Financial Instruments Accounting (March 2004).

When significant changes to IFRSs are anticipated, for example, as a result of an exposure draft or active project
of the IASB, the possibility of future developments is noted in the text and the principal changes are discussed in
a section at the end of each topic.

This guide is intended to cover general industries and transactions. It does not consider the requirements of
IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans or IAS 30 Disclosures in the Financial Statements
of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved
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Other ways KPMG can help

This publication has been produced by KPMG's International Financial Reporting Group. KPMG has a range of
publications that can assist you further, in particular Financial Instruments Accounting (March 2004) and
lllustrative financial statements: First-time adoption in 2005 (available October 2004), a revised and

updated addition to our series of Illustrative financial statements.

Alternatively, log on to KPMG's online resources. Current technical information and a briefing on KPMG's IFRS
conversion support are available at www.kpmg.com/ifrs. For quick access to an extensive range of accounting,
auditing and financial reporting guidance and literature, visit KPMG's Accounting Research Online. With an
emphasis on IFRSs and US GAARP this Web-based subscription service can be a valuable tool for anyone that
wants to stay current in today's dynamic regulatory environment. For a free 15 day trial, go to
www.aro.kpmg.com and register today.

Interpretive guidance is based on specific facts and circumstances. In many instances, further interpretation will
be needed in order for an entity to apply IFRSs to its own facts, circumstances and individual transactions.
Further, some of the information contained in this publication is based on KPMG's International Financial Reporting
Group's interpretations of IFRSs, which may change as practice and implementation guidance continue to develop.
Users are cautioned to read this publication in conjunction with the actual text of the standards and
implementation guidance issued, and to consult their professional advisers before concluding on accounting
treatments for their own transactions.
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FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

Acknowledgements

This publication was made possible by the invaluable input of many people working in KPMG member firms
worldwide. The overview of the requirements of IFRSs and the interpretive positions described reflect the
work of both current and former members of KPMG's International Financial Reporting Group (IFR Group) over
the last six years. It also builds upon earlier guidance developed by member firms, for which the current
authors are grateful.

The primary authors of the text were Kerry Nulty, Julie Santoro and Tara Smith, from KPMG member firms in
Switzerland, Russia and South Africa, respectively; they were assisted by Lisa Busedu, Morten Friis and Sabine
Low, from KPMG member firms in the United States, Denmark and Germany. David Littleford, Erin McClung and
Mary Tokar, all currently working with the IFR Group, were the primary editors of this edition. Current members of
the IFR Group and a panel of reviewers composed of partners from KPMG member firms around the world
generously contributed their time for exhaustive and challenging reviews. The thoughtful comments and wise
counsel of David Knight, a former Vice-Chairman and retired partner of the Canadian member firm, were a final
critical contribution.

A list of contributors from KPMG's IFR Group, including the panel of reviewers, is included inside the back cover of
this publication.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

Overview of contents

1. Background 9
1.1  Introduction 9
1.2 The Framework 13
2. General issues 17
21 Form and elements of financial statements 17
2.2 Statement of changes in equity 22
2.3 Statement of cash flows 26
2.4 Basis of accounting 33
25 Consolidation 41
2.6 Business combinations 60
2.7 Foreign exchange translation 96
2.8 Prior period adjustments and other accounting changes 15
2.9 Events after the balance sheet date 124
3. Specific balance sheet items 127
3.1 General 127
3.2 Property, plant and equipment 131
3.3 Intangible assets and goodwill 150
3.4 Investment property 164
3.5 Investments in associates and joint ventures 177
3.6 Financial instruments 202
3.7 Inventories 254
3.8 Biological assets 266
3.9 Impairment 270
3.10 Equity 283
3.11 Provisions 296
3.12 Deferred tax 318
3.13 Contingent assets and liabilities 343
4. Specific income statement items 346
41 General 346
42 Revenue 352
4.3 Government grants 382
4.4 Employee benefits 387
45 Share-based payments 413
45A Share-based payments 418
4.6 Financial income and expense 425
4.7 Income tax (current tax) 440
4.8 Unusual or exceptional items 444
5. Special topics 447
5.1 Leases 447
5.2 Segment reporting 463
5.3 Earnings per share 472
5.4 Discontinuing operations 483
5.4A Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 488
5.5 Related party disclosures 494
5.6 Financial instruments: presentation and disclosure 499
5.7 Non-monetary transactions 511
5.8 Accompanying financial and other information 515
5.9 Interim financial reporting 518
5.10 Insurance contracts 528

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

6. Transition to IFRSs 537
6.1 First-time adoption 537
Appendix 1 559
Abbreviations 559
Appendix 2 560
List of IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004 560
Contributors 562

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

Detailed contents

. Background 9
1.1  Introduction 9
1.1.1 International Accounting Standards Board 9

1.1.2 Standards Advisory Council 10

1.1.3 International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 10

114 International Financial Reporting Standards 10

115 Compliance with IFRSs 1

1.1.6 A true and fair view 11

1.1.7 Hierarchy 12

1.1.8 Future developments 12

1.2 The Framework 13
1.2.1 Introduction 13

1.2.2  Assets and liabilities 13

1.2.3  Relevance versus reliability 14

1.2.4  Materiality 15

1.2.5  Prudence 15

1.2.6  Substance over form 15

1.2.7  Transactions with shareholders 16

1.2.8  Future developments 16

2. General issues 17
2.1 Form and elements of financial statements 17
211 Elements of the financial statements 17

2.1.2  Reporting period 18

2.1.3  Comparative information 18

2.1.4  Consolidated financial statements 18

2.1.5  Parent only financial statements 20

2.1.6 Presentation of pro forma information 20

217  Future developments 21

2.2 Statement of changes in equity 22
2.2.1  Recognised gains and losses, or changes in equity 22

2.2.2  Recognition directly in equity 23

2.2.3  Effect of income tax 23

2.2.4  Changes in accounting policy and fundamental errors 23

2.2.5 No gains or losses other than net profit or loss 25

2.2.6  Future developments 25

2.3 Statement of cash flows 26
2.3.1  Cash and cash equivalents 26

2.3.2  Operating, investing and financing activities 27

2.3.3  Directversus indirect method 27

2.3.4  Some classification issues 27

2.3.5  Foreign exchange differences 29

2.3.6  Offsetting 31

2.3.7 Taxes collected on behalf of third parties 31

2.3.8  Future developments 32

2.4 Basis of accounting 33
2.4.1  The modified historical cost convention 33

2.4.2  Hyperinflation 34

2.4.3  Changing prices 39

2.4.4  Accounting policies 39

2.4.5  Future developments 40

25 Consolidation 1
2.5.1  Entities included in the consolidated financial statements 42

2.5.2  The power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 42

2.5.3 So as to obtain benefits from its activities 46

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

3.2

2.5.4  Potential voting rights

2.5.5  Rebutting the presumption of control
2.5.6  Special purpose entities

2.5.7 Multi-seller SPEs

2.5.8 Investmentfunds

2.5.9  Structured transactions

2.5.10 Exclusions from consolidation

2.5.11 Venture capital entities

2.5.12 Subsidiaries” accounting periods and policies
2.5.13 Minority interests

2.5.14 Intra-group transactions

2.5.15 Changes in the status of subsidiaries
2.5.16  Future developments

Business combinations

2.6.1  Scope

2.6.2  Applicability of purchase accounting or uniting of interests accounting

2.6.3  Purchase accounting

2.6.4  Business combination achieved in stages

2.6.5  Uniting of interests accounting

2.6.6  Common control transactions

2.6.7 Reverse acquisitions

2.6.8  Future developments

Foreign exchange translation

2.71 Definitions

2.72  Summary of approach to foreign currency translation
2.73 Translation of foreign currency transactions

2.74  Foreign operations

2.75  Translation of foreign currency financial statements
2.76  Translation from functional to presentation currency
2.77 Sale or liguidation of a foreign entity

2.78  Convenience translations

2.79 Future developments

Prior period adjustments and other accounting changes
2.8.1 Prior period adjustments

2.8.2 Fundamental errors

2.8.3 Changes in accounting policy

2.8.4  Impracticability of retrospective application

2.8.5  Changes in accounting estimate

2.8.6  Change in classification or presentation

2.8.7  Future developments

Events after the balance sheet date

2.9.1  Overall approach

2.9.2 Adjusting events

2.9.3 Non-adjusting events

2.9.4 Classification of accelerated debt

2.9.5 Earnings per share

2.9.6 Identifying the key event

2.9.7  Future developments

Specific balance sheet items
General

3.1.1 Format of the balance sheet
3.1.2 Current versus non-current
3.1.3  Offsetting

3.1.4  Future developments
Property, plant and equipment
3.2.1 Definition

3.2.2  Initial recognition

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

46
47
47
49
49
49
50
51
52
52
53
54
59
60
61
63
65
84
87
88
91
94
96
97
99
100
104
106
111
13
13
114
115
115
116
118
122
122
123
123
124
124
124
125
125
125
125
126

127
127
127
128
130
130
131
132
132

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

3.2.3
3.2.4
3.25
3.2.6
3.2.7
3.2.8
3.2.9
3.2.10
3.2.11

Depreciation

Component accounting
Subsequent expenditure
Revaluations
Compensation received
Retirements and disposals
Government grants
Disclosure

Future developments

3.3 Intangible assets and goodwill

3.3.1
3.3.2
3.3.3
3.3.4
3.3.5
3.3.6
3.3.7
3.3.8
3.3.9

Definitions

Initial recognition

Amortisation

Subsequent expenditure

Revaluations

Impairment

Retirements and disposals

Limited exemptions from effective date
Future developments

3.4 Investment property

3.4.1
3.4.2
3.4.3
3.4.4
345
3.4.6
3.4.7
3.4.8
349
3.4.10

Definition

Recognition

Initial measurement

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent expenditure

Transfers to or from investment property
Redevelopment

Disposals

Presentation and disclosure

Future developments

3.5 Investments in associates and joint ventures

3.5.1
3.5.2
3.5.3
354
3.5.5
3.5.6
3.5.7
3.5.8
359
3.5.10
3.5.1
3.6.12
3.6.13
3.5.14
3.6.15
3.5.16
3.5.17

Associates

Joint ventures

Jointly controlled entities

Jointly controlled assets and operations

Associates and joint ventures accounted for as financial assets or classified as held for sale

Venture capital entities
Accounting periods and policies
Accounting for associates

Accounting for associates in unconsolidated financial statements
Applying the equity method in separate financial statements

Accounting for jointly controlled entities
Accounting for jointly controlled assets

Accounting for jointly controlled operations

Impairment

Changes in the status of joint ventures and associates

Presentation and disclosure
Future developments

3.6 Financial instruments

3.6.1
3.6.2
3.6.3
3.6.4
3.6.5
3.6.6
3.6.7
3.6.8
3.6.9

Scope

Definitions

Derivatives

Classification

Initial recognition

Initial measurement
Subsequent measurement

Transfers between categories of financial assets

Fair value

137
141
143
144
147
147
148
148
149
150
150
153
156
160
160
161
161
162
163
164
164
170
170
171
173
173
175
175
176
176
177
178
179
181
181
182
182
183
183
188
189
189
194
195
195
195
198
201
202
203
204
205
208
213
213
215
216
216

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



3.6.10
3.6.11
3.6.12
3.6.13
3.6.14
3.6.15
3.6.16
3.6.17
3.6.18
3.6.19

Amortised cost

Foreign currency denominated financial instruments
Impairment of financial assets

Derecognition of financial assets

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Embedded derivatives

Hedge accounting

Transitional provisions for amendments

Revisions to IAS 32 and 39 issued in December 2003 and March 2004

Future developments

3.7 Inventories

3.71
3.72
3.73
3.74
3.75
3.76
3.77
3.78
3.79

Definition

Recognition and derecognition
Measurement

Cost

Net realisable value

Sales contracts

Construction contracts
Presentation and disclosure
Future developments

3.8 Biological assets

3.8.1
3.8.2
3.8.3
3.8.4
3.85
3.8.6

Definition and scope
Recognition

Measurement

Agricultural produce
Presentation and disclosure
Future developments

3.9 Impairment

3.9.1
3.9.2
3.9.3
3.94
3.95
3.9.6
3.9.7
3.9.8
399
3.9.10
3.10 Equity
3.10.1
3.10.2
3.10.3
3.10.4
3.10.5
3.10.6
3.10.7
3.10.8
3.10.9

Scope

Assets to be reviewed

When to test for impairment

Calculation of recoverable amount

Fair value less costs to sell

Value in use

Recognition and measurement of an impairment loss
Reversal of impairment

Presentation

Future developments

Definition

Classification of shares
Recognition and measurement
Cost of an equity transaction
Statement of changes in equity
Capital maintenance

Treasury shares

Dividends

Future developments

3.11 Provisions

3.11.1
3.11.2
3.11.3
3.11.4
3.11.5
3.11.6
3.11.7
3.11.8
3.11.9

Definitions

Scope

Recognition

Measurement

Reimbursements

Changes in and use of provisions
Specific application guidance
Presentation and disclosure
Future developments

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

220
220
222
227
231
232
235
250
251
252
254
254
256
256
256
263
264
264
264
265
266
266
266
266
269
269
269
270
271
271
273
275
275
275
280
281
281
282
283
283
283
284
286
289
291
291
294
294
296
296
296
296
298
300
301
301
315
317

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

3.12 Deferred tax

Differences between carrying amounts and the tax treatment of assets and liabilities

Employee benefits, amortisation and restructuring expenses

3.12.1  Scope
3.12.2
3.12.3 Liability recognition
3.12.4 Asset recognition
3.125 Measurement
3.12.6 Classification and presentation
3.12.7 Specific application issues
3.12.8 Disclosure
3.12.9 Future developments
3.13 Contingent assets and liabilities
3.13.1  Definitions
3.13.2 Recognition
3.13.3 Disclosure
3.13.4 Future developments
4. Specific income statement items
41 General
4.1.1 Format of the income statement
4.1.2  Classification of expenses
413
4.1.4  Additional items
415  Operating result
416  Sales of financial investments
4.1.7  Share of profit of associates
4.1.8  Alternative earnings measures
419  Changes in estimates
4110 Income tax
4.1.11  Offsetting
4112  Pro formaincome statement
4113  Future developments
4.2 Revenue
4.2.1  Definition
4.2.2  Gross or net presentation
4.2.3 lIdentification of transactions
4.2.4  Recognition
425 Measurement
4.2.6  Applicability of IAS 11 or IAS 18
4.2.7  Sale of goods
4.2.8  Construction contracts
4.2.9  Service contracts
4.2.10 Software revenue
4.2.11 Barter transactions
4.2.12 Presentation and disclosure
4.2.13 Future developments
4.3 Government grants
4.3.1 Definitions
4.3.2  Recognition and measurement
4.3.3 Presentation and disclosure
4.3.4  Future developments

4.4 Employee benefits

4.4
4.4.2
4.4.3
444
445
4.4.6
4.4.7

Short-term employee benefits

Scope of post-employment benefits

Classification as a defined benefit or a defined contribution plan
Accounting for defined contribution plans

Valuation of defined benefit plan liabilities and assets

Plan assets of a defined benefit plan

Accounting for defined benefit plans

318
319
319
320
324
327
333
336
341
342
343
343
343
344
345

346
346
346
346
347
348
348
349
349
349
351
351
351
351
351
352
352
353
357
359
360
361
365
372
37
379
380
380
380
382
382
383
385
386
387
387
389
389
391
392
394
395

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



45

45A

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.4.8 Asset ceiling

4.49  Current funding level deficit

4.410 Insured benefits

4.411 Reimbursement

4412 Interrelated post-employment benefit plans
4413 Settlements and curtailments

4.4.14 Change in estimate

4.4.15 Errors

4.4.16 Change in classification

4.4.17 Business combinations

4.4.18 Otherlong-term employee benefits

4419 Termination benefits

4.4.20 Consolidation of employee benefit plans and employee benefit trusts
4.4.21 Presentation and disclosure

4.4.22 Future developments

Share-based payments

451  Scope

45.2 Employee equity compensation schemes
453  Share appreciation rights

454  Share-based payments to parties other than employees
455 Disclosure

Share-based payments

45A.1 Scope

4.5A.2 Basic recognition principles

4.5A.3 Classification and definitions

45A.4 Equity-settled transactions with employees
45A5 Cash-settled transactions to employees
4.5A.6 Employee transactions with a choice of settlement
45A.7 Modifications and cancellations of employee transactions
4.5A.8 Non-employee transactions

4.5A.9 Transitional provisions

4.5A.10 Future developments

Financial income and expense

4.6.1  Introduction

4.6.2 Recognition and measurement

4.6.3 Imputedinterest

4.6.4 Capitalisation of borrowing costs

46.5 Presentation and disclosure

4.6.6  Future developments

Income tax (current tax)

4.71 Recognition and measurement

472 Presentation and offsetting

473 Specific issues

4.74 Future developments

Unusual or exceptional items

4.8.1  Extraordinary items

4.8.2  Additional, unusual or exceptional items
4.8.3  Future developments

Special topics

Leases

5.1.1 Introduction

5.1.2  Classification of a lease

5.1.3  Accounting for leases

5.1.4  Otherissues

5.1.5  Sale and leaseback transactions

5.1.6  Linked transactions in the legal form of a lease
5.1.7 Presentation and disclosure

5.1.8  Future developments

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

400
403
403
404
405
405
406
406
407
407
407
409
410
41
41
413
413
413
416
417
417
418
418
419
419
419
422
423
423
423
423
424
425
425
425
433
434
437
439
440
440
440
441
443
444,
444
444
446

447
447
447
451
455
458
460
461
462
462

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

5.2 Segmentreporting 463
5.2.1  Scope 463
5.2.2  ldentification of reportable segments 463
5.2.3  Definition of segment assets or liabilities and income or expenditure 466
5.2.4  Segment accounting policies 470
5.2.5 Disclosure 470
5.2.6  Changes inidentification of segments 471
5.2.7  Future developments 471
5.3 Earnings per share 472
5.3.1  Scope 472
5.3.2 Basic earnings per share 474
5.3.3  Diluted earnings per share 476
5.3.4  Restatement 480
5.3.5  Presentation and disclosure 481
5.3.6  Future developments 482
5.4 Discontinuing operations 483
5.4.1  Definition 483
5.4.2 Initial disclosure event 486
5.4.3 Recognition and measurement 486
5.4.4  Presentation 487
5.4A Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 488
5.4A.1 General 488
5.4A.2 Held for sale 488
5.4A.3 Discontinued operations 491
5.4A.4 Acquired exclusively with a view to resale 492
5.4A.5 Transitional provisions 493
5.4A.6 Future developments 493
5.5 Related party disclosures 494
5.5.1  Scope 494
5.5.2 ldentification of related parties 495
5.5.3 Disclosure 497
5.5.4  Future developments 498
5.6 Financial instruments: presentation and disclosure 499
5.6.1  Classification as a liability or equity 499
5.6.2 Offset 503
5.6.3  General disclosure considerations 504
5.6.4  Risk disclosures 505
5.6.5  Balance sheet presentation of financial instruments 506
5.6.6  Balance sheet classification of financial instruments 507
5.6.7 Disclosures of specific instruments and transactions 507
5.6.8  Presentation of embedded derivatives 510
5.6.9  Future developments 510
5.7 Non-monetary transactions 511
5.71 Introduction 511
5.72 Exchanges of assets 511
573 Revenue recognition — barter transactions 512
5.74 Donated assets 513
5.75 Future developments 514
5.8 Accompanying financial and other information 515
5.8.1  General non-financial information 516
5.8.2  Corporate governance 517
5.8.3  Future developments 517
5.9 Interim financial reporting 518
5.9.1  Scope 518
59.2 Formand content 519
5.9.3 Recognition and measurement 520
5.9.4  Accounting policies 526
5.9.5  First-time adoption of IFRSs 527
59.6  Future developments 527

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



5.10 Insurance contracts

5.10.1
5.10.2
5.10.3
5.10.4
5.10.5
5.10.6
5.10.7
5.10.8
5.10.9

Introduction

Scope

Recognition and measurement

Insurance contracts acquired in a business combination
Contracts with discretionary participation features
Disclosures

Issues related to the application of IAS 39

Transitional provisions

Future developments

6. Transition to IFRSs
6.1 First-time adoption

6.1.1 General requirements

6.1.2  Prospective application and optional exemptions

6.1.3  Mandatory exceptions

6.1.4  Estimates

6.1.5  Application issues

6.1.6  Assets and liabilities in separate and consolidated financial statements
6.1.7  Presentation and disclosure

6.1.8  Future developments

Appendix 1

Abbreviations

Appendix 2
List of IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004

Contributors

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

528
528
529
531
533
534
534
536
535
536

537
537
538
540
541
542
542
556
557
558

559
559

560
560

562

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY Background 9
1.1 Introduction

1. Background

1.1 Introduction
(IASC Foundation Constitution, Preface to IFRSs, IAS 1, IAS 8)

Overview
. IFRSs is the term used to indicate the whole body of IASB authoritative literature.
- IFRSs are designed for use by profit-oriented entities.

. Any entity claiming compliance with IFRSs must comply with all standards and
interpretations, including disclosure.

- Both the bold- and plain-type paragraphs of IFRSs have equal authority and must be
complied with.

. The overriding requirement of IFRSs is for the financial statements to give a fair
presentation (or true and fair view).

- A hierarchy of alternative sources is specified for situations when IFRSs do not cover a
particular issue.

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The revised standards are
applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier application is encouraged.
Where an existing requirement is discussed that will be changed by the revised standards, it is marked
with a # and the impact of the change is explained in the accompanying boxed text. In particular:

. compliance with IFRSs, with additional disclosure when necessary, is presumed to result in a
fair presentation; and

. compliance with a requirement of a standard or interpretation will be misleading when it conflicts
with the objective of financial statements as set out in the Framework.

111 International Accounting Standards Board

International Accounting Standards
Committee Foundation
(19 Trustees)

National standard setters Standards Advisory Council International Accounting
and other interested Standards Board
parties [ Advisory Committees J— (14 Board Members)
Key: . ) . .
International Financial Reporting
Appoints Interpretations Committee
(12 Members)

Reports to —_

Membership links T

Advises >

Director of Technical Activities
and technical staff

Director of Operations
and non-technical staff

Source: IASB’s Web site
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Formation

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) started operations in April 2001 as the
successor to the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC). The IASB is the standard
setting body of the International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation (IASC Foundation).

The objectives of the IASC Foundation, as stated in its constitution, are to:

. develop, in the public interest, a single set of high quality, understandable and enforceable global
accounting standards that require high quality, transparent and comparable information in financial
statements and other financial reporting to help participants in the world's capital markets and
other users make economic decisions;

. promote the use and rigorous application of those standards; and

- bring about convergence of national accounting standards and International Accounting Standards
and International Financial Reporting Standards to high quality solutions.

The stated objectives of the IASC Foundation may be subject to future developments (see 1.1.8).

Composition

The IASB comprises 12 full-time and two part-time members, appointed by the trustees of the IASC
Foundation. The members come from a range of functional backgrounds and a number of the
members also are responsible for formal liaison with national standard setters in order to promote the
convergence of accounting standards. Although the selection of members is not based on
geographical representation, the trustees must ensure that the IASB is not dominated by any
particular geographical interest. Members are appointed for a term of up to five years, which is
renewable once.

The composition of the IASB may be subject to future developments (see 1.1.8).

1.1.2 Standards Advisory Council

The Standards Advisory Council (SAC) comprises 48 organisations and individuals with an interest in
international financial reporting. Members have a renewable term of up to three years. As stated in
the IASC Foundation’s constitution, the objectives of the SAC are to:

- give advice to the IASB on agenda decisions and priorities in the IASB’s work;
- inform the IASB of the views of the members of the SAC on major standard-setting projects; and
. give other advice to the IASB or trustees.

The composition and objectives of the SAC may be subject to future developments (see 1.1.8).

1.1.3 International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), comprising 12 part-time
members, was reconstituted in December 2001 as the successor to the Standing Interpretations
Committee (SIC). IFRIC is responsible for providing interpretations of accounting issues that are likely
to give rise to divergent or unacceptable treatments in the absence of authoritative guidance.

114 International Financial Reporting Standards

Definition

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) is the term used to indicate the whole body of
IASB authoritative literature; it includes:

. IFRSs issued by the IASB,;
- International Accounting Standards (IASs) issued by the IASC, or revisions thereof issued by
the IASB;
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P9

P14

IAS 1.11, 13,
4

IAS 1.13
IAS 1.13

1.1 Introduction

- Interpretations of IFRSs and IASs developed by IFRIC and approved for issue by the IASB; and
. SIC interpretations developed by the SIC and approved for issue by the IASB or IASC.

The term IFRSs is used in this publication to indicate any of the above material.

IFRSs are designed for use by profit-oriented entities. Entities in the public sector should refer to the
International Public Sector Accounting Standards issued by IFAC, the International Federation of
Accountants. Notwithstanding this, entities engaged in not-forprofit activities may find IFRSs useful,
and may follow them if considered appropriate.

IFRSs are not limited to a particular legal framework. Therefore, financial statements prepared under
IFRSs often contain supplementary information required by local statute or listing requirements.

Structure

IFRSs comprise a series of bold type- and plain type paragraphs. Generally the bold type paragraphs
outline the main principle, and the plain type paragraphs provide further explanation. Both bold- and
plain-type paragraphs have equal authority and must be complied with.

Some IFRSs contain appendices (e.g., IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements). A statement at the top of
each appendix clarifies its status. Where an appendix is illustrative only and not an integral part of
the standard, it does not have the same status as the standard itself. However, in our view, the
guidance in an appendix should be followed except where it conflicts with the requirements of a
standard or interpretation.

Benchmark versus allowed alternative

IFRSs sometimes include optional accounting treatments. These are referred to as a benchmark
treatment and the allowed alternative treatment. The IASC rejected the use of the term ‘preferred
treatment’ to describe either of the options and noted that the term ‘benchmark’ more closely reflects
its intention of identifying a point of reference when making its choice between alternatives. In our view,
where both treatments are consistent with the overriding requirement to give a fair presentation (or true
and fair view, see 1.1.6), both treatments are equally acceptable. For each choice of accounting
treatment an entity should apply the benchmark or allowed alternative consistently (see 2.4).

1.1.5 Compliance with IFRSs

Any entity claiming that a set of financial statements is in compliance with IFRSs must comply with
all such standards and related interpretations. An entity cannot claim that its financial statements
are, for example, “materially” in compliance with IFRSs, or that it has complied with “substantially
all” requirements of IFRSs. Compliance with IFRSs encompasses disclosure as well as recognition
and measurement requirements.

The IASB does not carry out any inquiry or enforcement role regarding the application of its
standards. However, this often is undertaken by local regulators and / or stock exchanges.

1.1.6 A true and fair view
The overriding requirement of IFRSs is for the financial statements to give a fair presentation (or true
and fair view)#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard defines ‘fair presentation’ as the faithful representation of the effects of
transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria
for assets, liabilities, income and expenses as set out in the Framework (see 1.2). It also clarifies
that compliance with IFRSs, with additional disclosure when necessary, is presumed to result in a
fair presentation.
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When compliance with a standard or interpretation would be misleading, an entity must depart from
the required treatment in order to give a fair presentation#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that compliance with a requirement of a standard or interpretation will
be misleading when it conflicts with the objective of financial statements as set out in the
Framework (see 1.2). The entity should depart from the required treatment if the relevant regulator
does not prohibit the override. If an override cannot be used because it is prohibited by the
regulator, additional disclosure is required in the notes to the financial statements to reduce the
perceived misleading impact of compliance to the maximum extent possible.

The use of a true and fair override is very rare under IFRSs and such a course of action should not be
taken lightly. In the rare case of an override, extensive disclosures are required, including the
particulars of the departure, the reasons for the departure and its effect.

1.1.7 Hierarchy
When IFRSs do not cover a particular issue, the entity should consider#:

. other IFRSs dealing with similar and related issues;

. the IASB's Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the
Framework); and

. tothe extent that they do not conflict with the above, pronouncements of other standard setting
bodies (e.g., the US Financial Accounting Standards Board) and accepted industry practice.

This hierarchy of accounting literature provides entities with a basic structure for resolving issues in
the absence of specific guidance.

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 8.11, 12 The revised standard modifies the hierarchy to reduce the need to refer to the pronouncements of

other standard setting bodies. When IFRSs do not cover a particular issue, the entity should consider:

. the guidance and requirements in standards and interpretations dealing with similar and related
issues; and

- the conceptual framework of the IASB, Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (the Framework).

The entity may also consider pronouncements of other standard setting bodies (e.g., the US Financial
Accounting Standards Board) and accepted industry practice, to the extent that they do not conflict
with the standards, interpretations and the Framework referred to above.

1.1.8 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

In November 2003, the trustees of the IASC Foundation began a review of its constitution. The review
has yet to be completed and may result in changes to the constitution, including in respect of the
objectives of the Foundation, the composition of the IASB and SAC and the objectives of the SAC.
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1.2

1.2 The Framework

The Framework
(IASB Framework)

Overview

. The IASB uses its conceptual framework as an aid to drafting new or revised IFRSs.

. The Framework is a key point of reference for preparers of financial statements in the
absence of specific guidance.

. IFRSs do not apply to items that are “immaterial”

. Transactions should be accounted for in accordance with their substance, rather than
only their legal form.

. Transactions with shareholders should be considered carefully in determining the
appropriate accounting.

F49

F49, 70

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
and IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The revised standards
are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier application is
encouraged. Where an existing requirement is discussed that will be changed by the revised standards,
it is marked with a # and the impact of the change is explained in the accompanying boxed text.

1.2.1 Introduction

The IASB's conceptual framework, the Framework, provides a broad discussion of the basis of
preparing financial statements. It discusses their objectives, underlying assumptions and qualitative
characteristics (such as relevance and reliability); and perhaps more importantly, it discusses assets,
liabilities, income and expenses, providing definitions and recognition criteria. Finally, the Framework
discusses the measurement of assets and liabilities in broad terms and the concepts of capital and
capital maintenance.

The IASB uses the Framework as an aid to drafting new or revised IFRSs. The Framework also
provides a point of reference for preparers of financial statements in the absence of any specific
standards on a particular subject (see 1.1); the purpose of this section is to highlight some of the key
principles to be aware of.

1.2.2 Assets and liabilities

Definitions

In developing new standards and interpretations, the IASB relies on the following definitions of
assets and liabilities, which are a key element of the Framework:

. Anasset is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events, from which future
economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.

. Aliability is a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settlement of which is
expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources embodying economic benefits.

The definitions of equity, income and expenses all derive from the definitions of assets and liabilities:

- Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

- Income is an increase in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of inflows or
enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in equity, other than
those relating to contributions from equity participants.
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- Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of
outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other
than those relating to distributions to equity participants.

The Framework’s emphasis on assets and liabilities, and the resulting influence that this has had on
standard setting in general, means that any entity analysing how a transaction should be accounted
for should bear in mind this balance sheet orientation.

Recognition criteria
F83 An item that meets the definition of an asset or liability is recognised when:

. itis probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item will flow to (asset) or
from (liability) the entity; and
- the asset or liability has a cost or value that can be measured reliably.

IAS 3723  The term “probable” is not defined in the Framework and, except in respect of the recognition of
provisions (see 3.11), neither is it defined in any IFRSs. One interpretation of “probable’ which is

consistent with provisioning, is “more likely than not” However, higher thresholds cannot be ruled out.

IAS 3728, Where the above criteria are not met, disclosure of the (potential) asset or liability may nonetheless

34 be required under the requirements for contingent assets and liabilities (see 3.13).
Matching
F95 A common desire in preparing financial statements is to match revenues and expenses. While

matching historically has had a significant influence on the preparation of financial statements, it
has been de-emphasised in recent standard setting as the predominance of the balance sheet
approach has grown. Accordingly expenses (or revenues) may be deferred in the balance sheet
only if they meet the definition of an asset (or liability).

For example, a football club may spend five months of the year incurring maintenance expenditure to
prepare the grounds for the oncoming season. If the expense could be deferred and recognised at the
same time as the revenue from ticket sales, the entity might avoid showing a loss in the income
statement during those five months and significant profits later. However, notwithstanding the uneven
impact on the income statement, the maintenance expenditure would be expensed as incurred.

Executory contracts

IAS 373 Although the Framework does not refer explicitly to executory contracts, they are an integral part of
accounting under IFRSs. IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets describes
an executory contract as one in which “neither party has performed any of its obligations or both
parties have partially performed their obligations to an equal extent” For example, an entity enters
into a contract to buy equipment in six months and agrees to pay 100,000 at that time. This is an
executory contract because the entity has the right to receive the equipment, but also has an
obligation to pay the 100,000, and neither party has performed its obligations.

IAS 3766  Even though the rights and obligations under executory contracts generally meet the definition and
recognition criteria of assets and liabilities, current practice generally is not to record them in the
financial statements to the extent that the rights and obligations have equal value, or the rights have
a value greater than the obligations. Where the value of the obligations exceeds the value of the
rights, a provision for an onerous contract is recognised in accordance with IAS 37 (see 3.11).

1.2.3 Relevance versus reliability

F26, 31 Two of the qualitative characteristics of financial statements are relevance and reliability. Information
is relevant if it assists users in making economic decisions, or assessing past evaluations;
information is reliable if it represents faithfully what it purports to represent.
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F29, 30

IAS 1.11,
8.5

IAS 1.30,
31, 84

IAS 8.8

IAS 8.41

F37

F35

1.2 The Framework

In many cases there is a trade-off between the relevance and reliability of information. For example,
knowing the fair value of an asset often is more relevant to users than historical cost; however, the
measurement of historical cost is much more reliable because it is based on an actual transaction to
which the entity was a party and therefore accurate information is available. In many cases IFRSs
favour relevance over perfect reliability, and the use of fair values in preparing financial statements is
growing (see 2.4).

1.2.4 Materiality

IFRSs do not apply to items that are “immaterial” The term is not defined explicitly, but the
Framework explains that “information is material if its omission or misstatement could influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements” Accordingly,
materiality depends on the facts and circumstances of a particular case, and both the size and
nature of an item is relevant.

Forthcoming requirements

Materiality is defined by illustration. Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could,
individually or collectively, influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial statements. Materiality depends on the size and nature of the omission or misstatement
judged in the surrounding circumstances. Either the size or the nature of the item, or a combination of
both, could be the determining factor. Consideration of materiality is relevant to judgements regarding
both the selection and application of accounting policies and to the omission or disclosure of
information in the financial statements.

Materiality is a factor when making judgements about disclosure. For example, materiality impacts
when items may be aggregated, the use of additional line items, headings and sub-totals. Materiality
also is relevant to the positioning of these disclosures — an item may be sufficiently material to
warrant disclosure on the face of the financial statements or may only require disclosure in the notes
to the financial statements. Materiality may mean that a specific disclosure requirement in a
standard or an interpretation is not applicable if the information is not material.

Accounting policies selected in accordance with IFRSs do not need to be applied when their effect
is immaterial.

Financial statements do not comply with IFRSs if they contain either material errors or immaterial
errors that are made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation of an entity’s financial position,
financial performance or cash flows.

1.2.5 Prudence

In preparing financial statements there may be a tendency to put greater emphasis on the possible
negative outcomes of transactions and events rather than the possible positive outcomes. This could
lead to a loss of neutrality and to the understatement of profit. The Framework makes it clear that
prudence means exercising a degree of caution in making judgements under conditions of
uncertainty, but that it should not lead to the creation of hidden reserves or excessive provisions.

1.2.6 Substance over form

The Framework establishes a general requirement to account for transactions in accordance with
their substance, rather than only their legal form. This principle comes through clearly in many
IFRSs. For example, revenue from the sale of goods is not recognised automatically at the stated
effective date of a contract unless the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have
been transferred to the buyer (see 4.2).
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1.2.7 Transactions with shareholders

The definitions of income and expenses exclude capital transactions with equity participants. Thus,
for example, capital contributions from shareholders are recorded directly in equity, as are dividends
paid to shareholders. However, the position is less clear where the transaction with the shareholder
equally could have been with a third party.

For example, an entity sells inventory at fair value to a shareholder. In this case the transaction
should be recorded in the income statement because the shareholder is not acting in its capacity as
a shareholder; rather, it is transacting with the entity in the same way as any other third party.

But suppose the inventory is given without consideration to a shareholder. In this case it can be
argued that the shareholder has received a benefit from the entity in its capacity as a shareholder
because an independent third party would not have received the inventory for free. In our view, and in
the absence of any other pertinent facts, this transaction should be recorded directly in equity as a
distribution to shareholders (see 3.10).

In a third example, suppose the shareholder pays considerably more than fair value for the
inventory. In our view, such a transaction generally should be split into a capital transaction and a
revenue transaction. Proceeds equal to the fair value of the inventory would be recorded in the
income statement, with the remaining proceeds being recorded directly in equity as a contribution
from shareholders.

The key point is that transactions with shareholders should be considered carefully, having regard to
all the facts and circumstances, in determining the appropriate accounting.

1.2.8 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

In the case of this topic no future developments are noted.
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2.

2.1

2.1 Form and elements of financial statements

General issues

Form and elements of financial statements
(IAS 1, IAS 27)

Overview

. The following must be presented: balance sheet; income statement; statement of changes
in equity or a statement of recognised gains and losses; statement of cash flows; notes,
including accounting policies.

-  While IFRSs specify minimum disclosures to be made in the financial statements, they do
not require prescriptive formats.

. Comparative information is required for the preceding period only, but additional periods
and information may be presented.

. An entity must present consolidated financial statements unless certain strict criteria
are met.

. There is no requirement to present the parent entity financial statements in addition to
consolidated financial statements, although this is permitted.

IAS 1.8

IAS 1.69,
81-83

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements,
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and IAS 27 Consolidated
Financial Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries. The revised standards are
applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier application is
encouraged. Where an existing requirement is discussed that will be changed by the revised
standards, it is marked with a # and the impact of the change is explained in the accompanying
boxed text.

2.1.1 Elements of the financial statements
The following must be presented:

. balance sheet (see 3.1);

. income statement (see 4.1);

. statement of all changes in equity (see 2.2 and 3.10), or a statement of recognised gains and
losses (see 2.2);

. statement of cash flows (see 2.3); and

- notes to the financial statements, including accounting policies.

While IFRSs specify minimum disclosures to be made in the financial statements, they do not
require prescriptive formats to be followed. In practice entities consider the presentation adopted by
other entities in the same industry.

Although IAS 1 requires a number of disclosures to be made on the face of the primary statements,
generally IFRSs allow significant flexibility in presenting additional line items and sub-totals where
necessary to ensure a fair presentation (see 4.1 and 4.8). In addition to the information required to be
disclosed in the financial statements, many entities provide additional information outside of the
financial statements, either because of local regulations or stock exchange requirements or
voluntarily (see 5.8).
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2.1.2 Reporting period

Financial statements are presented for the period ending on the balance sheet date. The balance
sheet date may change only in “exceptional circumstances” (e.g., following a change of major
shareholder). If the balance sheet date does change, it follows that the financial statements for that
period will cover either more or less than 12 months, in which case full disclosure of that fact is
required. In such cases comparative information is not adjusted. However, pro forma information for
the comparable preceding reporting period might be presented (see 2.1.3).

IAS 1 states that an entity should be able to present financial statements within six months of its
reporting date#. However, in practice little attention is paid to this suggestion. While we support the
preparation of financial statements as soon as possible after the balance sheet date, in our view,
the “should” in this context does not mean “must’ since the timing of the release of information
generally is a local regulatory matter.

Forthcoming requirements
The six month reporting time frame described above has been deleted by the IASB as part of the
revisions to IAS 1.

2.1.3 Comparative information

Comparative information is required for the preceding period. Unless there is a specific exemption
provided in a standard (or an interpretation), all of the previous period’s numerical information
(amounts) must be presented as part of the comparatives. Generally, the related narrative and
descriptive information is required when relevant for an understanding of the current period’s financial
statements. So, for example, comparative segment information generally would be disclosed.

IAS 1 does not require a particular format for the presentation of comparatives. Most entities
reporting under IFRSs provide comparative figures, whereby information about the previous reporting
period is presented alongside that for the current period.

If an entity wants to, or if required by a regulator or stock exchange, more extensive comparatives
may be presented. When an entity is adopting IFRSs for the first time, comparatives required by
IFRSs must be prepared in accordance with IFRSs. However, any additional comparatives included
in the financial statements need not comply with IFRSs provided that those comparatives are
labelled clearly and that certain explanatory disclosures are included (see section 6).

2.1.4 Consolidated financial statements

IFRSs identify the circumstances in which an entity is exempted from preparing consolidated
financial statements. An entity must present consolidated financial statements unless it is a wholly
owned subsidiary; or it is a virtually wholly owned subsidiary (normally 90 per cent or more) and it
obtains the approval of the owners of the minority interest#.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard modifies the scope of exemptions from preparing consolidated financial
statements and the following criteria must be met:

. the parent is itself a wholly owned subsidiary, or is a partially owned subsidiary and other
owners (including those not otherwise entitled to vote), have been informed and they do not
object to the parent not preparing consolidated financial statements;

- the parent's debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market;

. the parent did not file, and is not in the process of filing, its financial statements with a regulatory
organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market; and

- the ultimate or any intermediate parent of the parent produces consolidated financial statements
available for public use that comply with IFRSs.
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IAS 2741

IAS 2741

IAS 278
(2000)

IAS 2710

IAS 2741

2.1 Form and elements of financial statements

IAS 27 requires the following disclosures for an entity meeting and using the criteria for exemption
from preparing consolidated financial statements:

. the reasons why consolidated financial statements have not been presented,;
. the bases on which subsidiaries are accounted for in its separate financial statements; and
. the name and registered office of its parent that publishes consolidated financial statements#.

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard, more disclosures are required when an entity prepares separate financial
statements under the above exemption. These include the fact that financial statements are separate
financial statements; that the exemption from consolidation has been used; the name and country of
incorporation or residence of the entity whose consolidated financial statements that comply with
IFRSs have been produced for public use; and the address where those consolidated financial
statements are obtainable. An entity also is required to provide a list of significant investments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates, including the name, country of incorporation or
residence, proportion of ownership interest and, if different, proportion of voting power held; and the
description of the method used to account for its investments.

In our view, the standard should be interpreted as requiring an entity to prepare consolidated financial
statements unless#:

a) the entity is:
i) a wholly owned subsidiary; or
ii) a virtually wholly owned subsidiary (normally 90 per cent or more) and it obtains the approval
of the owners of the minority interest; and
b) the entity’s parent (either an intermediate or the top-level parent) prepares consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs that are made available to the users of the entity’s
financial statements.

Our view that the entity’s parent must prepare consolidated financial statements is drawn from the
requirement to disclose the name and registered office of the parent that publishes consolidated
financial statements.

In addition, we believe that “publishes” means that the consolidated financial statements are “made
available to" users of the entity’'s financial statements, either because they are released publicly or
made available upon request. Further, our view that the consolidated financial statements must
comply with IFRSs is drawn from the statement in IAS 27 that consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

Forthcoming requirements
Under the revised standard, all of the criteria mentioned above have to be satisfied to qualify for
exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements.

The revised standard clarifies that financial statements should be available for public use.

If an entity does not qualify for the above exemption, but nonetheless decides to present only
individual entity financial statements, we do not believe that these individual financial statements
can be regarded as complying with IFRSs (see 1.1). Our view is based on the fact that the
preparation of consolidated financial statements is fundamental to compliance with IFRSs and
pervades every aspect of the financial statements.

In some cases an entity may qualify for the exemption except for the fact that the consolidated
financial statements for the period have not yet been prepared by its parent. In such cases our view
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is that the criteria are met if there are reasonable grounds to believe that the parent will prepare
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs and these will be made available to
users of the entity's financial statements. An example of “reasonable grounds” is a well established
practice by the parent of preparing consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and
there is no reason to believe that this practice will change.

In this example, which highlights our view, B is an A
intermediate parent owned 100 per cent by A, the
ultimate parent.

Cis not required to prepare consolidated financial

statements when: B
. C'sfinancial statements contain the required

disclosures (see above); and either:

- B prepares consolidated financial L

statements in accordance with IFRSs; or

- when B meets the exemption criteria,
A prepares consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs; and
. the consolidated financial statements of either
B or A, as the case may be, are available to the
users of the financial statements of C. D E

2.1.5 Parent only financial statements

Frequently only consolidated financial statements are presented as IFRSs do not contain a
requirement to present the parent entity’s unconsolidated financial statements. However, if parent
entity (i.e., unconsolidated) financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRSs, all
relevant standards would apply equally to these individual financial statements. Some standards
include special alternatives for the preparation of parent entity financial statements, which are
addressed throughout this publication to the extent that interpretive questions have arisen.

2.1.6 Presentation of pro forma information

Except in relation to a change in accounting policy (see 2.8), IFRSs are silent on the presentation of
pro forma information within the financial statements. For example, following an acquisition an entity
might want to disclose a pro forma income statement as if the acquisition had occurred at the
beginning of the reporting period. Generally, such presentation is acceptable to the extent that it is
allowed by local regulations and relevant stock exchange rules, and provided that:

. the information is labelled clearly to distinguish it from the financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRSs, and is marked clearly as unaudited if that is the case;

. the transaction or event that is reflected in the pro forma financial information is described, as
well as the source of the financial information on which it is based, the significant assumptions
used in developing the pro forma adjustments, and any significant uncertainties about those
adjustments; and

. the presentation indicates that the pro forma financial information should be read in conjunction
with the financial statements and that the pro forma financial information is not necessarily
indicative of the results that would have been attained if, for example, the transaction or event had
taken place earlier.

See section 5.8 for further guidance.
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2.1 Form and elements of financial statements

2.1.7 Future developments
This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the

requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

In the case of this topic no future developments are noted.
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2.2 Statement of changes in equity
(IAS 1, IAS 8)
Overview

. A gain

. There is a choice of presenting as a primary statement either a statement of recognised
gains and losses or a statement of total changes in equity.

. The statement of recognised gains and losses combines net profit or loss with all other
non-owner movements recognised directly in equity.
requires it.

- The cumulative effect of changes in accounting policy and the correction of fundamental
errors must be disclosed on the face of the statement, when accounted for retrospectively.

or loss may be recognised directly in equity only when a standard permits or

IAS 1.96, 97

IAS 1.96(c)

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The revised standards
are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier application is
encouraged. Where an existing requirement is discussed that will be changed by the revised
standards, it is marked with a # and the impact of the change is explained in the accompanying
boxed text.

221 Recognised gains and losses, or changes in equity

A statement of changes in equity is presented as a primary statement. The statement must include
all recognised gains and losses, including those recognised directly in equity (see 2.2.2) and the
cumulative effect of changes in accounting policy and the correction of errors (see 2.8)#.

The statement may be expanded to be a reconciliation of opening and closing equity. When this
approach is adopted the statement will include also the amounts of transactions with equity holders
acting in their capacity as equity holders (see 3.10). Alternatively, such a reconciliation may be
presented in the notes to the financial statements. In practice both presentations are used and no
preference has become the predominant practice. A statement that excludes transactions with
owners and therefore does not provide a reconciliation of opening and closing equity can be
described as a statement of recognised gains and losses (see 2.2.6).

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard requires that the statement also include a sub-total of all income and
expenses for the period; this sub-total is the total of the profit and loss for the period and any
amounts recognised directly in equity. The total amounts attributable to equity holders of the
parent and minority interest must be shown separately.

This area of IFRSs may be subject to future developments (see 2.2.6).
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IAS 1.78,
F65

IAS 12.61

IAS 8.31-567
(1993)

IAS 8

2.2 Statement of changes in equity

The following is an example statement:

Consolidated statement of recognised gains and losses
For the year ended 31 December 2004

In thousands of euro 2004 2003
Foreign exchange translation differences (253) (99)
Net gain / (loss) on hedge of net investment in a foreign subsidiary 3 (8)
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment before transfer
to investment property 170 -
Cash flow hedges:
Effective portion of changes in fair value 129 -
Transferred to the income statement (139) -
Recognised in cost of inventory (41) -
Net loss recognised directly in equity (131) (107)
Net profit for the year 6,844 3,852
Total recognised income and expense 6,713 3,745

The disclosure of the effect of changes in accounting policy at the bottom of the statement is
explained under 2.2 4.

2.2.2 Recognition directly in equity

In accordance with IAS 1 a gain or loss is recognised directly in equity only when a standard (or
interpretation) permits or requires it; examples include the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment (see 3.2) and of intangible assets (see 3.3), foreign exchange differences on the
translation of foreign entities (see 2.7) and the effects of cash flow hedging (see 3.6). Unless
recognition directly in equity is permitted specifically by a standard, the gain or loss must be
recorded in the income statement.

2.2.3 Effect of income tax

Generally, income tax (current and deferred) should be recognised directly in equity if the related gain
or loss is recognised directly in equity. There is no requirement to disclose this tax separately on the
face of the statement, and typically in practice this is not done. Instead, the tax generally is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements (see 3.12).

2.2.4 Changes in accounting policy and fundamental errors

A change in accounting policy or the correction of a fundamental error may be presented either by
adjusting the opening balance of retained earnings of the earliest period presented and restating
comparatives (the benchmark treatment) or by including the cumulative adjustment in the income
statement for the current period (the allowed alternative treatment)#; these are discussed further in 2.8.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised IAS 8 removes the distinction between fundamental errors and other material errors.

The revised standard also removes the allowed alternative method of recognising the cumulative
effect of changes in accounting policies and correction of errors in the current period. Voluntary
changes in accounting policies and corrections of errors must be accounted for retrospectively.

In respect of the benchmark treatment, issues arise as to how the effect of a change in accounting
policy or the correction of a fundamental error should be presented when the entity elects to
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IAS 1.79,
1.96(d),
8.22,23
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2.2 Statement of changes in equity

present a statement of recognised gains and losses as a separate statement. These issues are
illustrated using the following example:

In 2002, an entity changes its accounting policy from expensing borrowing costs as incurred to
capitalising borrowing costs in respect of qualifying assets (see 4.6). The change in accounting policy
is accounted for by adjusting the opening balance of retained earnings and restating comparatives
(i.e., the benchmark treatment). The impact on retained earnings for periods prior to 2001 is an
increase of 9,000; the impact on net profit in 2001 is an increase of 200,000; and the impact on net
profit for 2002 is an increase of 723,000.

Disclosure of the effect

When the benchmark treatment is used to report a change in accounting policy or correction of a
fundamental error, IAS 8 requires presentation of the effect on retained earnings for not only the
current period but also for any comparative periods. The interaction of the requirements for application
of the benchmark treatment for changes in accounting policy and corrections of fundamental errors
with the presentation of a statement of recognised gains and losses is unclear.

In our view, the change in accounting policy is a current year item whose measurement includes
elements relating to both the comparative period profit and loss and to opening retained earnings of
the comparative period. Under this view, the statement of recognised gains and losses for 2002
would report 209,000 as the effect of a change in accounting policy.

While several different presentations have been used in practice, we prefer to have the effect of a
change in accounting policy or correction of a fundamental error accounted for using the benchmark
treatment presented in the statement of recognised gains and losses as a current year item only.
Following the above example, in 2002 an amount of 209,000 will be disclosed as the cumulative
effect of a change in accounting policy on the face of the statement of recognised gains and losses.
No amount would be shown for 2001, although 2001's previously reported net profit or loss should be
restated (and labelled as restated).

IAS 1.96, 97 \We do not believe that requirements to present separately an analysis of the impact of a change on

8.161

IAS 8

opening retained earnings split between opening retained earnings of the comparative period, and the
cumulative effect on opening retained earnings of the current period, applies to the statement of
recognised gains and losses. IFRSs permit the requirement for a statement of total recognised gains
and losses to be satisfied by combining the statement of movements in equity with the net profit or
loss and other items recognised directly in equity. However, to repeat the split presentation of the
impact of the change on retained earnings illustrated in the implementation guidance for IAS 8 would
include the impact of restatement of the comparative period (both retained earnings and profit and
loss) as both a 2001 and 2002 item. We believe that the statement of recognised gains and losses
requires identification of events with a single period.

Note that when a change in accounting policy or the correction of a fundamental error is accounted
for using the allowed alternative treatment of recognising the cumulative effect in the current period,
the disclosure of the impact on each of opening retained earnings and comparative period retained
earnings is not required#.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised IAS 8 removes the distinction between fundamental errors and other material errors.

The revised standard also removes the allowed alternative method of recognising the cumulative
effect of changes in accounting policies and correction of errors in the current period. Voluntary
changes in accounting policies and corrections of errors must be accounted for retrospectively.
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2.2.5 No gains or losses other than net profit or loss

In some cases an entity may have nothing to report in the statement of recognised gains and losses
other than the net profit or loss from the income statement. In our view, it is not necessary to
present a statement if this is the case for both the current and comparative reporting periods.
Instead, the entity may disclose at the foot of the income statement that there were no gains or
losses for the current or comparative periods other than those reported in the income statement.

2.2.6 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

As part of its project on reporting performance, the IASB intends to propose a single statement of
comprehensive income, which would replace the income statement and statement of changes in
equity (see 4.1).

In April 2004, the IASB issued an Exposure Draft Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and
Disclosures of proposed amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits. That exposure draft proposes
that a statement that excludes transactions with owners and therefore does not provide a
reconciliation of opening and closing equity must be described as a statement of recognised income
or expense.
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2.3 Statement of cash flows
(IAS 7)
Overview

The cash flow statement presents cash flows during the period classified by operating,
investing and financing activities.

Net cash flows from all three categories are totalled to show the change in cash and cash
equivalents during the period, which then is used to reconcile opening and closing cash
and cash equivalents.

Cash flows from operating activities may be presented either by the direct method or the
indirect method.

Foreign currency cash flows are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the cash
flow (or using averages when appropriate).

Generally all financing and investing cash flows should be reported gross, without
applying offset.

IAS

IAS

2.3.1 Cash and cash equivalents

76 Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Demand deposits are not defined in IAS 7, but in our view they should have the same level of
liquidity as cash, and therefore should be able to be withdrawn at any time without penalty. There
is no requirement in IAS 7 for demand deposits to be held with a financial institution, and in our
view this is not necessary. If a deposit fails to be classified as cash it still may meet the
definition of cash equivalents.

Since the investments comprising cash equivalents must be readily convertible to known amounts of
cash, in our view only debt securities and deposits can qualify for inclusion, subject to the other
criteria being met. “Short-term” is not defined, but the standard encourages a cut-off of three months’
maturity (from the date of acquisition). In our view, three months should be used as an absolute cut-
off, and debt securities with a longer maturity should be regarded as part of investing activities.
Investments with a longer maturity at acquisition do not become cash equivalents once their
remaining maturity period falls to three months.

77 In practice much emphasis is placed on the above definitions. However, an overriding test is that
cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes. For example, an entity gives a three-month loan to a customer to
assist the customer in managing its short-term liquidity position; in our view, this loan is not a cash
equivalent because it was given for a purpose other than for the entity to manage its own short-term
cash commitments.

IAS 78, Bank overdrafts repayable on demand are included as cash and cash equivalents if and when they
32.42 form an integral part of the entity’'s cash management. However, even though a bank overdraft might

be netted against cash and cash equivalents for purposes of the cash flow statement, this is not
permitted on the face of the balance sheet unless the offsetting criteria are met (see 3.1 and 5.6).
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IAS 76, 10

IAS 712

IAS 739-42

IAS 743

IAS 718, 19

IAS 718, 7A

IAS 731, 35

IAS 731, 35,

36

2.3 Statement of cash flows

2.3.2 Operating, investing and financing activities

The cash flow statement presents cash flows during the period classified by operating, investing and
financing activities. Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing activities of the entity and
other activities that are not investing or financing activities. Investing activities relate to long-term
assets and other investments not included in cash equivalents. Financing activities relate to
shareholders’ equity and borrowings of the entity. The wording of the definitions means that operating
activities is the default classification when a cash flow does not meet the definition of either investing
or financing cash flows.

The separate components of a single transaction each should be classified as operating, investing
or financing; IAS 7 does not allow a transaction to be classified based on its predominant
characteristic. For example, a loan repayment comprises interest (which may be classified as
operating or financing — see 2.3.4) and principal repayment (which will be classified as financing).

However, when subsidiaries or other business units are either acquired or disposed or, the
aggregate net cash flows from the acquisition or disposal transaction are presented separately as a
single line item as part of investing activities. For example, when a subsidiary is acquired, a single
line item equal to the cash paid, less any cash or cash equivalents held by the subsidiary at the
time of acquisition, is shown as an investing cash outflow, rather than showing separate cash
outflows and inflows for all the various net assets and liabilities acquired.

Non-cash investing or financing transactions (e.g., shares issued as consideration in a business
combination) are not included in the statement of cash flows, but must be disclosed in order to
provide relevant information about investing and financing activities.

2.3.3 Direct versus indirect method

Cash flows from operating activities may be presented either by the direct method (receipts from
customers, payments to suppliers, etc.) or by the indirect method (net profit or loss for the period
reconciled to the total net cash flow from operating activities). Although the standard encourages use
of the direct method, in our experience the indirect method usually is used.

For an entity that elects to present operating cash flows using the indirect method, there often is
confusion about the correct starting point: should it be profit or loss (i.e., the final figure in the income
statement) or can a different figure, such as profit before tax, be used? The standard itself refers to
the profit or loss, but the appendix to IAS 7 starts with a different figure (i.e., profit before taxation).
Our preference is to follow the standard since the appendix is illustrative only and therefore does not
have the same status (see 1.1).

Alternatively, if an entity uses the indirect method, it instead may choose to present its operating
cash flows by showing revenues and expenses before working capital changes as the starting point,
followed by changes during the period in inventories, and operating receivables and payables (as
illustrated in Appendix A to IAS 7). However, in our experience, this approach is less common.

2.3.4 Some classification issues

Interest, dividends and taxes

IAS 7 requires cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid, and income taxes paid, to
be disclosed separately. In our view, this means that disclosure is required on the face of the cash
flow statement rather than in the notes.

The standard does not, however, specify the classification of such cash flows, and an entity is
required to choose its own policy for classifying each of interest and dividends paid as operating or
financing activities and each of interest and dividends received as operating or investing activities.
The presentation should be selected to present these cash flows in a manner which is most
appropriate to its business; the method selected should be applied consistently. Taxes paid should be
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IAS 712

IAS 716
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classified as operating activities unless it is practicable to identify them with, and therefore classify
them as, financing or investing activities.

With regard to the presentation of taxes paid, if an entity wants to classify certain taxes as investing
or financing activities, the standard is not clear as to whether all taxes paid must be allocated among
the three categories of cash flows, or whether it is acceptable to allocate only certain taxes paid
because they relate to transactions classified as investing or financing (leaving the balance in
operating activities). In our view, it is acceptable to allocate only certain material tax cash flows,
while leaving the balance in operating activities, as long as the approach taken is applied consistently
and disclosed properly. We believe that allocating, for example, 60 per cent of the tax cash flows,
with appropriate disclosure, provides better information that not allocating any.

In our view, to the extent that borrowing costs are capitalised in respect of qualifying assets

(see 4.6), the cost of acquiring those assets should be split in the cash flow statement. For example,
an entity constructs an asset and pays construction expenses of 1,000, which includes 50 of
capitalised interest. In such circumstances, the interest paid of 50 will be included in operating or
financing activities (depending on the entity's accounting policy), and the remaining 950 will be
included in investing activities.

This is consistent with the IAS 7 requirement to classify separately the different components of a
single transaction (see above).

Hedging

When a hedging instrument is accounted for as a hedge of an identifiable position (see 3.6), the
cash flows of the hedging instrument are classified in the same manner as the cash flows of the
position being hedged. This is an exception to the principle that the different components of a single
transaction should be classified separately.

For example, an entity takes out a forward contract, which is fully effective in hedging the
acquisition of an item of property, plant and equipment. At settlement date the forward contract
expires and the entity pays for the asset. The cost of the asset at the spot exchange rate is 155,
which is offset by a gain on the forward contract of 5. In the cash flow statement the entity
discloses 150 for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

Continuing the above example, if the forward contract matured at the end of 2002, but the asset was
paid for in early 2003, the cash flow arising from the forward contract would be disclosed as an
investing cash flow in 2002 — the direct payment for the acquisition of the asset would not be
reflected in the cash flow statement until 2003. In addition, if the forward contract is not a perfect
hedge, in our view only the effective portion of the hedge should be classified as investing activities
for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment with any ineffective portion shown within
operating activities; this is consistent with the application of IAS 39 in respect of the carrying amount
in the balance sheet.

For a hedge of a net investment in a subsidiary that is a foreign entity (see 3.6), the appropriate
classification of the cash flows from hedging is not clear because the operations of the subsidiary
are consolidated and therefore affect all lines of the cash flow statement. In our view, it is preferable
for the cash flows from the hedging activity to be classified as operating activities because, from a
consolidated point of view, they are neither investing nor financing activities.
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IAS 725-28
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Securitisation of receivables
IAS 7 does not refer to securitisations, but in our view, the classification of the proceeds from a
securitisation of receivables should follow the underlying accounting (see 3.6):

. If the receivables are not derecognised and the proceeds are recognised as a liability, the
proceeds should be classified as part of financing activities.

- If the receivables are derecognised, our preference is for the proceeds to be classified as part of
operating activities even if the entity does not enter into such transactions regularly. This is
because we believe that the proceeds do not fit clearly into the definitions of either investing or
financing activities (see 2.3.2); also, a securitisation resulting in derecognition is analogous to the
early collection of amounts due from customers.

Restructuring following a business combination

When a restructuring provision is recognised as one of the liabilities acquired in a business
combination (see 2.6), there is some uncertainty regarding the classification of subsequent cash
outflows in respect of the restructuring. There is an argument to include them in investing activities
because they are directly related to the acquisition of the subsidiary.

However, in our view, the cash flows should not be classified as part of investing activities since they
do not represent the acquisition itself, as required by the definition (see 2.3.2). Rather, they are cash
flows associated with the acquisition. Therefore, we believe that each cash flow should be classified
based on the nature of the payment (e.g., operating activities for employee termination benefits).

2.3.5 Foreign exchange differences

Cash flows arising from an entity's foreign currency transactions should be translated into the
functional (measurement) currency (see 2.7) at the exchange rate at the date of the cash flow (when
exchange rates have been relatively stable a weighted average can be used). Cash flows of foreign
subsidiaries also are translated at actual rates (or appropriate averages). The effect of exchange rate
changes on the balances of cash and cash equivalents is presented as part of the reconciliation of
movements therein.

Cash held in a foreign currency
The following simple example illustrates the calculation of the effect of exchange rate changes on the
balances of cash and cash equivalents and its presentation in the cash flow statement.

Fx Rate  Functional

currency

Balance of cash held in foreign currency at 1 January 2004 100 1:1 100

Revenue 100 1.5:1 150

Expenses (50) 1.6:1 (80)

Balance of cash held in foreign currency at 31 December 2004 150 170

Translate at balance sheet date 150 2:1 300

Gain on cash held in foreign currency 130
Balance sheet

2004 2003

Share capital 100 100

Retained earnings 200 (150 - 80 + 130) -

300 100

Cash 300 100
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Cash flow statement extract — direct method

2004
Receipts from customers
(all receivables collected by the balance sheet date) 150
Payments to suppliers
(all invoices paid by the balance sheet date) (80)
Net increase in cash 70
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2004 100
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 130
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2004 300
Cash flow statement extract — indirect method

2004
Net profit 200
Unrealised foreign exchange gain (130)
Net increase in cash 70
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2004 100
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 130
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2004 300

Other foreign exchange differences

Assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency generally include an element of unrealised
exchange differences at the balance sheet date. In our view, when applying the indirect method, the
unrealised exchange difference should be presented as a single non-cash item within operating
activities, rather than being left embedded in the asset or liability. The following simple example
illustrates this point.

Fx Rate AC

Loan received during 2002 (converted to AC immediately) 250 1.5:1 375
Translate at balance sheet date 250 2:1 500
Balance sheet (in AC)

2004 2003
Share capital 100 100
Retained earnings 75 (200 - 125) 200

175 300
Cash 675 300
Loan (500) -
175 300

Cash flow statement extract — indirect method

2004
Net loss (125)
Unrealised foreign exchange loss 125
Net cash from operating activities -
Loan obtained (financing activities) 315
Net cash increase 375
Cash at 1 January 2004 300
Cash at 31 December 2004 675

Notes
1 Cash on balance at the end of 2003 is held in its own functional (measurement) currency (AC).
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IAS 722, 23

IAS 724

2.3 Statement of cash flows

Using the direct method, as there are no receipts from customers or payments to suppliers, net cash
from operating activities is zero.

2.3.6 Offsetting

Generally, all financing and investing cash flows should be reported gross. Receipts and payments
may be netted only when the items concerned (e.g., sale and purchase of investments) turn over
quickly, the amounts are large and the maturities are short; or when they are on behalf of customers
and the cash flows reflect the activities of the customers.

For example, an entity obtains a loan of 2,000 during the reporting period and uses the proceeds to
repay another loan of 2,000. The following should be presented as financing activities: proceeds from
borrowings 2,000; and separately, repayment of borrowings 2,000.

In addition, a financial institution may report on a net basis certain advances, deposits and
repayments thereof that form part of its operating activities. However, not all borrowings of a
financial institution are part of operating activities; therefore the above example in relation to financing
activities applies equally to a financial institution.

In our view, if a group comprises a combination of financial institution and non-financial institution
subsidiaries, each subsidiary would follow the relevant criteria for offsetting.

2.3.7 Taxes collected on behalf of third parties

IAS 7 is silent on the classification of cash flows from taxes that are collected on behalf of third
parties when the direct method is used to present cash flows from operating activities; examples
include VAT (value added tax) and GST (goods and services tax). In our view, taxes collected on
behalf of third parties may be either:

- included as separate line items to show the impact on cash flows of such taxes separately; or
- included in receipts from customers and payments to suppliers.

Although our preference is for the first method, in our experience generally these taxes are included in
receipts from customers and payments to suppliers as the impact on the cash flow statement is
immaterial (see 1.2).

The following simple example illustrates the alternatives:

Services rendered for cash during 2004 (excluding GST) 100
GST paid to revenue authorities 10
GST payable to revenue authorities (GST collected from

customers is 20 of which 10 is paid and 10 remains outstanding

to tax authorities) 10

Balance sheet

2004 2003

Share capital 100 100
Retained earnings 100 -
200 100

Cash 210 100
GST payable (10) -
200 100
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Cash flow statement extract — direct method option 1

Receipts from customers

(all receivables collected by the balance sheet date)
Indirect taxes collected

Indirect taxes paid

Net cash increase

Cash at 1 January 2004

Cash at 31 December 2004

Cash flow statement extract — direct method option 2

Receipts from customers

(all receivables collected by the balance sheet date)
Payments to tax authorities

(all invoices paid by the balance sheet date)

Net cash increase

Cash at 1 January 2004

Cash at 31 December 2004

Cash flow statement extract — indirect method

Net profit

Increase in accounts payable
Net cash increase

Cash at 1 January 2004
Cash at 31 December 2004

2.3.8 Future developments

2004

100
20

(10)

110
100

210

2004

120

(10)

110
100

210

2004

100
10

110

100

210

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are

discussed briefly below.

In the case of this topic no future developments are noted.
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2.4 Basis of accounting
(IAS 1, IAS 15, IAS 21, IAS 29, SIC-1, SIC-2, SIC-18, IFRS Glossary Terms)

Overview

- Financial statements are prepared on a modified historical cost basis, with a growing
emphasis on fair value.

. When an entity’s functional (measurement) currency is hyperinflationary its financial
statements must be adjusted to state all items in the measuring unit current at the
balance sheet date.

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements, |1AS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and IAS 21 The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. The revised standards are applicable for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier application is encouraged. The IASB also has
withdrawn IAS 15 Information Reflecting the Effects of Changing Prices with effect from

1 January 2005. Where an existing requirement is discussed that will be changed by the revised
standards, it is marked with a # and the impact of the change is explained in the accompanying
boxed text.

24.1 The modified historical cost convention

Glossary  IFRSs require financial statements to be prepared on a modified historical cost basis, with a growing
emphasis on fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an item could be exchanged or settled
between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Issues associated with the
determination of fair value are discussed throughout this publication in connection with the relevant
asset or liability.

The following are examples of assets and liabilities whose carrying amounts are determined by
reference to cost-based measurements subsequent to initial recognition (ignoring adjustments
for impairment):

. property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment property that are not
revalued; and

- loans and receivables originated by the entity, held-to-maturity investments, and financial
liabilities other than those measured at fair value (see 3.6).

The carrying amounts of the following assets and liabilities are based on fair value subsequent to
initial recognition:

- All derivatives, all financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading or designated as fair
value through income and all financial assets that are classified as available-for-sale are carried at
fair value (see 3.6).

. Biological assets must be carried at fair value less point-of-sale costs (see 3.8).

- Provisions must be measured at fair value, which is derived by discounting estimated future cash
flows (see 3.11).

- Whole classes of property, plant and equipment may be revalued to fair value subject to certain
conditions (see 3.2).

. Certain intangible assets may be revalued to fair value (see 3.3).

- Investment property may be carried at fair value (see 3.4).
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In addition, the following value-based measurements are an integral part of financial reporting
under IFRSs:

- Recoverable amount, which is used in impairment testing for many assets (see 3.9), is the higher of
the asset's value in use (estimated net future cash flows) and its net selling price (fair value less costs
of disposal).

- Net realisable value (estimated selling price less costs of completion and disposal) is used as a
ceiling test to avoid overvaluing inventory (see 3.7).

- Discounting is inherent in many IFRSs although the discount rate used varies. For example,
defined benefit plans for employees are discounted using a corporate or government bond rate
(see 4.4), whereas deferred payment relating to the sale of goods may be discounted using either
a market interest rate or a rate of interest that discounts the nominal amount of the instrument to
the current cash sales price (see 4.2).

2.4.2 Hyperinflation

When an entity's functional (measurement) currency (see 2.7) is hyperinflationary its financial
statements must be adjusted to state all items in the measuring unit current at the balance
sheet date (i.e., it must adopt the current purchasing power concept). Moreover, when an entity
has foreign operations (e.g., a subsidiary, associate, or joint venture) the activities of which are
not an integral part of the reporting entity and whose functional (measurement) currency is
hyperinflationary, the investee’s financial statements must be adjusted before being translated
and included in the financial statements (see 2.7).

Indicators of hyperinflation

Under IAS 29 it is a matter of judgement as to when restatement for hyperinflation becomes
necessary. The standard states that hyperinflation is indicated by the characteristics of an economy,
which include but are not limited to the following:

. The general population prefers to keep its wealth in non-monetary assets or in a relatively
stable foreign currency; amounts of local currency held are invested immediately to maintain
purchasing power.

. The general population regards monetary amounts not in terms of the local currency but in terms
of a relatively stable foreign currency; prices may be quoted in the stable currency.

. Sales and purchases on credit take place at prices that compensate for the expected loss of
purchasing power during the credit period, even if the period is short.

. Interest rates, wages and prices are linked to a price index.

. The cumulative inflation rate over three years is approaching, or exceeds, 100 per cent.

It is clear from the wording of the standard that while the 100 per cent numerical indicator is a key
factor in identifying hyperinflation, it is not the only factor and should not be considered in isolation.
Applying all of these factors could result in a country being considered hyperinflationary when its
three-year cumulative inflation rate is, for example, only 80 per cent.

While judgement is involved in determining the onset of hyperinflation in a particular case, IAS 29
states a preference for all affected entities to apply the standard from the same date.

IAS 29 is not elective. For example, the standard cannot be adopted when an entity believes that
the cumulative effects of inflation are significant and therefore, restatement in accordance with
IAS 29 would be helpful, but is not required. In such cases the entity should consider presenting
current cost information in accordance with IAS 15# (see below).

Forthcoming requirements
The IASB has withdrawn IAS 15 with effect from 1 January 2005. However, this would not preclude
an entity from presenting supplementary current cost information (see 5.8).
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Measuring the inflation rate

The appropriate price index

For most countries there are two main indices that might be used in measuring the general inflation
rate: a consumer price index (CPI) and a producer or wholesale price index (PPl or WPI). The CPI
measures the change in the cost of a fixed basket of products and services consumed by a “typical
household’ generally including housing, electricity, food and transportation. The PPl or WPI measures
wholesale price levels.

IAS 29 requires the use of a general price index that reflects changes in general purchasing power.

In addition, two of the indicators of hyperinflation refer to the general population rather than a specific
sector. For these reasons, in our view the CPl is the most appropriate index to use in measuring the
inflation rate since it is a broad-based measurement across all consumers in an economy.

The cumulative inflation rate

IAS 29 refers to a cumulative inflation rate, but is silent as to whether the calculation should be
done on a simple or compounded basis. In our view, a compounded inflation rate should be
calculated because the simple rate aggregates three discrete results, without viewing the three-
year period itself on a cumulative basis.

For example, the inflation rate in three consecutive years is 20 per cent, 30 per cent and 40 per cent
respectively. The cumulative rate calculated on a simple basis is 90 per cent (20 + 30 + 40).
However, on a compounded basis the rate is 118 per cent, which is calculated as follows:

. At the start of year one assume the index to be 100

. At the end of year one the index is 120 (100 x 1.2)

. At the end of year two the index is 156 (120 x 1.3)

. At the end of year three the index is 218 (156 x 1.4), which gives a cumulative rate of 118 per cent.

No index available

In cases when there is no index available, the standard requires an index to be estimated; the
example it provides is using an estimate based on exchange rate movements between the national
currency and a relatively stable foreign currency. Although the standard uses this example in the
context of the restatement of property, plant and equipment, in our view this method could be used
for the restatement of the entire financial statements in cases when no index is available. The same
issue will arise when the official indices are considered unreliable, but this problem should be rare.

Mechanics

In adjusting for hyperinflation a general price index is applied to all non-monetary items in the
financial statements (including equity) and the resulting gain or loss, which is the gain or loss on the
entity’s net monetary position, is recognised in the income statement.
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The following simple example illustrates the process of restatement.

Index at the end of 2002 100
Index at the end of 2003 150
Index at the end of October 2004 180
Index at the end of 2004 200
Average index during 2004 175

Balance sheets before IAS 29 restatement in 2004

2004 2003
Historical Historical
cost cost
Share capital (contributed at the end of 2002) 100 100
Retained earnings 1,000 800
1,100 900
Land (acquired at the end of 2003) 600 600
Available-for-sale investments 200 150
Inventories (acquired at the end of October 2004) 100 -
Trade receivables 500 200
Cash 100 350
Loan payable (400) (400)
1,100 900
Income statement before IAS 29 restatement
2004
Revenue 1,200
Expenses (1,000)
200

ltems in the balance sheet that are either money held or items to be received or paid in money
(monetary items) are not restated because the carrying amount represents their value in terms of
current purchasing power.

All other items in the balance sheet are non-monetary items; they include the components of equity
(other than retained earnings) as well as items such as prepaid expenses and income received in
advance. In general non-monetary items are restated from the date of acquisition or contribution.
However, if an asset or liability has been revalued it is restated only from the date of the valuation;
if the item is stated at fair value at the balance sheet date, no restatement is necessary.

Restated retained earnings are derived after all other amounts in the restated balance sheet and net
income are calculated. Restated retained earnings must be split into net income, gain or loss on net
monetary position and other retained earnings. The schedule below illustrates these principles using the
example above.
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Balance sheet

Share capital
Retained earnings
Total equity

Land

Available-for-sale investment
Inventories

Trade receivable

Cash

Loan payable

Net assets

Notes

1 Share capital contributed in 2002, calculated using 2002 index as 200/100 x 100
2 Balancing figure

3 Land purchased in 2003, calculated using 2003 index as 200/150 x 100

4

Inventory purchased in October 2004, calculated using October 2004 index as 200/180 x 100

General issues
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2004 2004
Historical Restatement Restated
100 100 200’
1,000 1m1° 111
1,100 211 1,311
600 200 800°
200 200
100 1 m’
500 500
100 100
(400) (400)
1,100 211 1,311

IAS 29.8, 34 In applying IAS 29, comparative information is restated so that it is expressed in the measuring unit
current at the balance sheet date. This is simply a multiplication exercise — the gain or loss on the net
monetary position recognised in the comparative period is not recalculated. In this example all items in
the 2003 balance sheet are divided by the index at the end of 2003 (150) and multiplied by the index at

the end of 2004 (200).

Balance sheet

Share capital (contributed at the end of 2002)
Retained earnings

Land (acquired at the end of 2003)
Available-for-sale investments

Inventories (acquired at the end of October 2004)
Trade receivables

Cash

Loan payable

2003 2003
Historical Restated
cost comparative
comparative

100 133

800 1,067

900 1,200

600 800

150 200

200 267

350 467
(400) (5633)

900 1,200

IAS 29.26  Revenues and expenses recorded in the income statement are updated to reflect changes in the
price index from the date that they are recorded initially in the financial statements. In this example
an average index is applied. However, averages (i.e., annual, monthly etc.) can be applied only
when the overall result is not materially different from the result that would be obtained by indexing

individual items of revenue and expense.
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Income statement
2004 Details of the 2004
Historical Restatement Restated
Revenue 1,200 171 1,371°
Expenses (1,000) (143) (1 ,143)2
Netincome 200 28 228
Gain or loss on net monetary position - 83 83
Total net income 200 111 311

Notes
1 Revenue calculated using average index for 2004 as 200/175 x 1,200
2 Expenses calculated using average index for 2004 as 200/175 x 1,000

Because the restatement of the financial statements involves only non-monetary items, it is not
intuitive that the resulting gain or loss recognised in the income statement actually relates to the
monetary position. The following example illustrates how this works.

An entity is formed on 1 January 2004 and the shareholders contribute cash of 1,000. There are no
transactions during 2004. At the end of the year the entity has share capital of 1,000, which is
represented by cash. The index at 1 January is 100, and 150 at 31 December. At the end of 2004 share
capital is restated to 1,500 (1,000/100 x 150); the cash, being monetary, is not restated and a loss of
500 results. Superficially the 500 is a balancing number in the balance sheet and results from the
restatement of the non-monetary item (the share capital). However, actually it relates to the monetary
position because the entity would need 1,500 of cash at 31 December in order to be in the same
position as having 1,000 of cash at the start of the year, and a loss of 500 actually has occurred.

The loss on the net monetary position recognised in the 2004 financial statements in the above
example is determined as follows:

. Forallitems in the 2004 balance sheet that were restated, compare the restated carrying amount
to the carrying amount.

. For transactions that occurred during 2004, compare the restated carrying amount or value to the
amount at which the transaction originally was recorded.

Restated balance sheet

2004 2004  Difference
Restated
Share capital 100 200 (100)
Land 600 800 200
Transactions during 2004
Original 2004  Difference
value Restated
Inventories 100 111 1
Revenues 1,200 1,371 (171)
Expenses 1,000 1,143 143
Net gain on the monetary position 83
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Translation of comparative amounts in a presentation currency different from functional currency#
Forthcoming requirements

When comparative amounts are presented in a presentation currency different from the entity’s
functional currency, the translation should be in accordance with IAS 21 (see 2.7).

Supplementary historical cost information
When restated financial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 29, in our view it is not
appropriate to present additional supplementary financial information prepared on a historical cost basis.

The premise for IAS 29 is that since money rapidly loses its purchasing power in a hyperinflationary
economy, reporting an entity's financial position and operating results in the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy without restatement would be meaningless to users; comparative figures
also would have little or no value. Therefore, the presentation of historical cost information in these
cases would be misleading to users of the financial statements.

2.4.3 Changing prices

Entities whose functional (measurement) currency is not hyperinflationary are encouraged, but not
required, to disclose certain information about the effects of changing prices on a current cost basis#.
When an entity elects to provide current cost information, it may do so either by adjusting its primary
financial statements or by providing information that is supplementary to its primary financial statements.
However, the presentation of current cost information is not common.

Forthcoming requirements

The IASB has withdrawn IAS 15 with effect from 1 January 2005. Therefore, the option to adjust the
primary financial statements to a current cost basis is no longer available. Current cost information
may be presented as supplementary information (see 5.8).

2.4.4 Accounting policies

Consistency

The accounting policies adopted by an entity should be applied consistently to all similar items or, if
permitted by an IFRSs, to all similar items within a category. For example, if an entity chooses to
account for jointly controlled entities using the equity method (see 3.5) then it must use that method
consistently for all jointly controlled entities; it cannot equity account for some and proportionately
consolidate others.

An exception occurs when a standard allows the application of different methods to different
categories of item. For example, if an entity chooses to measure its investment property at fair value,
it nonetheless may measure individual properties at cost to the extent that they meet the relevant
exemption criteria specified in IAS 40 Investment Property (see 3.4).

IAS 2.25, 26 As another example, the cost of categories of inventory that have a similar nature and value should

IAS 2721
(2000)

be determined using the same cost formula. While it is clear that a difference in geographical location
does not mean that items of inventory are dissimilar, a different end-product might be sufficient.

For example, an oil company could not use a weighted average costing formula (see 3.7) for crude oil
supplies in the United States but not at other non-United States locations. However, a manufacturer
may have computer chips that are used in industrial machinery, and computer chips that are used in
domestic appliances; in our view, the cost of the computer chips for each end-product could be
measured differently. In our view, a difference in customer demographic (e.g., end-user versus
retailer), is not sufficient to justify a difference in costing formula.

IAS 27 requires that accounting policies within a group should be consistent unless impracticable
(see 2.5)#. No guidance is given on what might be considered impracticable. However, in our view,
this would occur only in the rare case either when restatement is not possible or when the difference
would not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.
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Forthcoming requirements

IAS 2728 The revised IAS 27 eliminates the current impracticability exception to the requirement to use
uniform accounting policies. Therefore, accounting policies with a group will have to be consistent in
all cases.

Judgement#
Forthcoming requirements

IAS 1.113  The revised standard adds new disclosure requirements of judgements (other than estimates, see
below) made by management in applying accounting policies. Disclosure is required of the
judgements that have the most significant effect on the measurement of items recognised in the
financial statements (e.g., whether risks and rewards have been transferred or whether a special
purpose entity is controlled).

Estimation#
Forthcoming requirements

IAS 1.116  The revised standard adds new disclosure requirements of the key assumptions about the future,
and other sources of estimation uncertainty. Disclosure is required of estimates that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year. The assumptions on which these estimates are based may be
management’s most difficult, subjective or complex and disclosure should be considered carefully.

2.4.5 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed below.

Financial reporting standards for small and medium-sized entities

The Board has begun a project to develop accounting standards suitable for small and medium-sized
entities (SMEs) with the purpose of reducing the financial reporting burden on SMEs that want to use
global standards. In June 2004, the IASB issued a Discussion Paper Preliminary Views on
Accounting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities setting out the approach it intends to
follow in developing IASB accounting standards for small or medium-sized entities (SMEs). The
project is ongoing.
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2.5 Consolidation
(IAS 27, SIC-12, IFRS 3)

Overview

Recent revisions to IFRSs introduce significant amendments to the accounting discussed
below (see Forthcoming requirements).

. Consolidation is based on control, which is the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

. Potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account
in assessing control.

. Special purpose entities (SPEs) are consolidated in many cases when benefits flow back to
the sponsor.

- A subsidiary is not consolidated if it operates under severe long-term restrictions that
significantly impair its ability to transfer funds to the parent, or if it is acquired and held
exclusively for disposal in the near future#.

. Subsidiaries excluded from consolidation are treated as financial assets#.

- Venture capitalists must consolidate all subsidiaries.

. Uniform accounting policies must be used throughout the group unless impracticable#.

. The difference between the reporting dates of a parent and a subsidiary cannot be more
than three months#.

- Minority interests are computed based on either the carrying amounts in the subsidiary or
the carrying amounts on consolidation#.

. Losses in a subsidiary may create a debit balance on minority interests only if the minority
has an obligation to fund the losses.

. Minority interests are classified separately from parent shareholders’ equity and liabilities
in the balance sheet#.

. Intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued a revised version of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements which incorporated SIC-33 Consolidation and Equity Method — Potential Voting Rights and
Allocation of Ownership Interests within the revised standard. In March 2004, the IASB issued

IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. The revised standards are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2005 and earlier application is encouraged. \Where an existing requirement is discussed
that will be changed by the revised standards, it is marked with a # and the impact of the change is
explained in the accompanying boxed text. In particular the revised standards:

- require that all subsidiaries be consolidated, including those subject to severe long-term
restrictions which limit their ability to transfer funds to the parent and those acquired and held
exclusively with a view to resale;
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. remove the impracticability exemption thus requiring the use of uniform accounting policies;

- require that minority interest be classified within equity but separate from parent shareholders’
equity in the balance sheet;

- require that minority interests be computed based on the carrying amounts on consolidation; and

. clarify that the reporting dates of the parent and a subsidiary may only be different if it is
impracticable to prepare additional financial statements of the subsidiary for consolidation
purposes. In any case, the difference cannot be greater than three months.

2.5.1 Entities included in the consolidated financial statements
Consolidated financial statements should include all subsidiaries of the parent except in limited
circumstances (see below)#.

The definition of a subsidiary focuses on the concept of control and has two parts, both of which
must be met in order to conclude that one entity controls another:

- the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity...
. ... S0 as to obtain benefits from its activities.

There is no requirement in IAS 27 for the parent to have a shareholding in a subsidiary, and this is not
a necessary pre-condition for control.

IAS 27 presumes that control exists in any of the following circumstances:

- the investor has power over more than one half of the investee’s voting power through ownership
or an agreement with other investors;

- the investor has the power to govern the investee's financial and operating policies by virtue of a
statute or agreement;

. the investor has the power to appoint or remove the majority of the investee's governing
body members; or

. the investor has the power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the investee’s governing bodly.

The presumption of control may be rebutted in exceptional circumstances if it can be demonstrated
clearly that control does not exist, which will depend on the facts and circumstances of each case.

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard, an entity is required to consolidate all subsidiaries, including a
subsidiary that operates under severe long-term restrictions which limit its ability to transfer funds to
the parent or is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal (see below).
An entity considers severe long-term restrictions when assessing its ability to control an entity, but
such restrictions do not in themselves preclude control.

2.5.2 The power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity

Power versus de facto control

Consolidation is based on the power to control (i.e., the ability of one entity to control another),
regardless of whether that power is exercised in practice. This disregard for exercise of control is
consistent with the examples of circumstances giving rise to control that are listed in IAS 27 (see
above), which all have a legal or contractual basis. Therefore, in assessing control it is important to
consider whether the ability to control has a legal or contractual basis rather than whether that control
actually is exercised.

For example, A owns 60 per cent of the voting power in B, but never attends or votes at shareholder
meetings and takes no other interest in running B's operations. In our view, A has the power to
control B because it can step in and exercise its rights at any time, for example, if it is not satisfied
with how B's operations are being run. Accordingly, A should consolidate B.
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However, the position is less clear when an entity appears to have control over another entity despite
none of the indicators in IAS 27 being present. For example, C owns 40 per cent of the voting power
in D; the rest of the voting power is held widely and in practice the views of C go unopposed at
shareholder meetings. This has led to the majority of D's governing body being appointed from
nominations made by C. In this case C has de facto control over D since it controls the operations in
practice. However, it does not have the power to control the investee since the other shareholders
could unite to oppose C. In our view, since consolidation under IFRSs is based on the power to
control and does not make any reference to de facto control or the existence of a dominant influence,
C should not consolidate D in this case. In cases such as this it is important to consider all the facts
and circumstances carefully before reaching a conclusion.

Governance structures#

In determining whether an entity controls another, a clear understanding of the investee's governance
structure is necessary. In many countries the governing body is the board of directors; however, in
other countries there are layers of governance. Although the law may provide for different bodies to
have certain rights and obligations, in assessing control any shareholders’ agreements that amend
these “typical” rights and obligations should be considered.

For example, there might be a supervisory board and an executive board. The executive board often
determines the detailed financial and operating policies, whereas the supervisory board has a
more detached role in overseeing the actions of management on behalf of shareholders and
employees. Therefore, generally the executive board is the governing body for the purpose of
identifying control under IAS 27.

However, before reaching any conclusion it would be necessary to consider the respective roles of
the supervisory and executive boards in a particular case. In some cases the usual role of the
supervisory board is altered to give it much more authority over the entity’s financial and operating
policies; this is becoming increasingly common recently as the focus on corporate governance
increases. For example, the supervisory board might approve the annual budgets and operational
planning; or it might have the power to appoint or dismiss members of the executive board.
Depending on the circumstances it might be appropriate to conclude that the supervisory board is the
key governing body for the purpose of determining control under IFRSs.

Another potential example is the role of a nominations committee, which is relevant in considering
who has the power to appoint or remove the majority of the governing body members. For example,
a single shareholder might have the power to nominate governing body members, but the operation
of a nominating committee might require those nominees to be approved unanimously by a number
of parties, including certain shareholders and employee representatives. \Whether the role of a
nominating committee is relevant in a particular case will depend on the circumstances. In this
example, if the nominating shareholder also has the power to alter the operations of the nominating
committee so that it can appoint or remove governing body members unopposed, then,
notwithstanding the participation of the committee, that shareholder still has the power to appoint or
remove the majority of the governing body members.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that control is presumed to exist when the investor has the power to
appoint or remove the majority of the investee's board of directors or governing body members and
control of the entity is exercised through that board or body. Similarly, control is presumed to exist
where the investor has the power to cast the majority of votes at a meeting of the investee's board
of directors or governing body, and control of the entity is exercised through that board or body.

Shareholders’ agreements
Shareholders’ agreements may be an important part of assessing control. For example, E owns
60 per cent of the voting power in G, and F owns the other 40 per cent. E therefore appears to have
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the power to control G. However, E has entered into an agreement with F such that E defers to the
wishes of F with respect to voting; E has done this because it has no expertise in the area of G's
operations. Therefore, in accordance with this agreement F has the power to control G.

However, before concluding automatically that a shareholders' agreement confers power on a
particular party, the break-up provisions in the agreement, as well as its duration, should be
considered. Continuing the above example, suppose that E can discontinue the agreement at any
time without penalty. In that case our view is that E has the power to control G since it can step in
and exercise its rights at any time.

If a shareholders’ agreement has a fixed duration, depending on the facts and circumstances, it
might be appropriate to conclude that the agreement is for too short a period to have any real
impact on the power of control.

While a shareholders’ agreement generally will be in writing, this is not a requirement of the
standard. In our view, an oral shareholders’ agreement may be as important as a written
agreement in assessing control.

Management versus governance

In assessing the power to govern it is necessary to distinguish between the management of the
operations and their control. A manager does not have control of an entity simply by virtue of running
the daily operations, when it does so only within the financial and operating policy framework
established by another entity. Although IAS 27 is silent on this issue, it is clarified in IAS 31 when
accounting for joint ventures.

For example, H owns 70 per cent of the voting power in K, and J owns the other 30 per cent. In
addition, J runs the daily operations of K since it has expertise in that area. However, H actually has
the power to govern the operations of K since it has the majority of voting power and therefore, has
the power to remove J as manager.

Economic power

A party may be able to restrict the freedom of another entity by virtue of their trading or economic
relationship. Examples of parties that may have such power include financiers, trade unions, public
utilities, government departments or agencies, and major customers and suppliers. Such
relationships do not give rise to the power to control in the sense of IAS 27 because the relationship
is not one of investorinvestee. This is clarified in SIC-12 which notes that economic dependence
(such as relations of a supplier to a significant customer) does not, by itself, lead to control.

The rights of minorities

In many cases minorities have certain rights even if another party owns the majority of the
voting power in an entity; sometimes these rights are derived from law, and other times from the
entity’s constitution.

IFRSs do not address the issue of minority rights, but in our view it is necessary to consider the
nature and extent of the rights of minorities in determining control. In this case, it is useful to refer
to the guidance in US GAAP (EITF 96-16) and the distinction between participative rights that allow
minorities to block significant decisions that would be expected to be made in the ordinary course
of business, and rights that are only protective in nature. For example, approval of the minority
may be necessary for:

. amendments to the entity’s constitution;

- the pricing of related party transactions;

. the liquidation of the entity or the commencement of bankruptcy proceedings; and
. share issues or repurchases.
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In our view, these minority rights are protective and would not in isolation overcome a presumption
of control by the majority holder of voting power.

The EITF considered a number of participating rights and raised questions about the presumption of
control. For example, approval of the minority may be necessary for:

. appointing and removing governing body members, including the setting of their remuneration; or
- making operating and capital decisions, including approving budgets, in the ordinary course
of operations.

In our view, granting such right to minorities may overcome the presumption of control under IFRSs
when considered together with all other facts and circumstances.

In considering the significance of rights given to minorities, it also is important to consider what
happens in the event of deadlock. For example, if the minority shareholders have the power to veto
the investee's annual operating budget, this may indicate that the majority shareholder does not have
the power to govern the operations of the investee. However, if the constitution provides that the
minority shareholders have the right to object to the annual budget, and the majority shareholder is
obliged to listen and respond to those concerns, but is not obliged to change the budget or to enter
into independent discussions to decide the outcome, then we believe that the minority rights are
likely to be more protective than participative and would not, in isolation, overcome the presumption
of control by the majority holder of voting power.

Other rights that should be considered include minority approval of major asset acquisitions and
disposals, distributions and financing.

Indirect holdings
Indirect holdings may or may not result in an entity having control over another. Although the total
ownership interest may exceed 50 per cent, this may not mean that the entity has control.

For example, L owns 35 per cent of the voting power in N, and 40 per cent of the voting power in M.
M owns 60 per cent of the voting power in N. Therefore, L has, directly and indirectly, a 59 per cent
ownership stake in N. However, L does not control 59 per cent of the vote because it does not have
control over the votes exercised by M — it is limited to significant influence (see 3.5). Therefore, in the
absence of any contrary indicators, L does not control N.

35%

O e B
60%

This issue is alluded to in IAS 27 when it refers to voting power held indirectly through subsidiaries
(i.e., not through associates or lesser investments).

Control versus fellow subsidiaries
In some cases it is not clear whether one entity is controlled by another entity, or whether they are
both under the control of a third entity. This issue sometimes arises in a closely held group of entities.

For example, individual P owns 100 per cent of the voting power in entity Q, which owns 10 per cent
of the voting power in R. Individual P owns 55 per cent of the voting power in R indirectly through a
number of other subsidiaries. The remaining 35 per cent of R’s voting power is widely held. The
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governing bodies of Q and R are identical, and include P, Initially it may appear that Q controls the
operations of R since the governing body members are identical. However, in the absence of any
contrary indicators, it is individual P who controls both Q and R in this case. Therefore, it would not
be appropriate for Q to consolidate R; rather, they are sister entities under the common control of P

:
100% l
Q Various
subsidiaries
55%
10% '
:

2.5.3 So as to obtain benefits from its activities

Although IFRSs are silent on the matter, in our view, the benefits referred to in the definition of
control are the benefits derived from having the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity. This is supported by the consensus reached in SIC-12 in respect of SPEs (see 2.5.6).
Benefits received from ordinary business transactions are not benefits that lead to control to the
extent that the terms of the transactions are established on an arm'’s length basis. For example, if a
shareholder sells inventory to the investee, the sales price of the goods is a normal trading benefit as
long as the investee does not pay more or less than any of the shareholder’s other customers under
similar conditions.

Control does not require the parent to receive a majority of the benefits from the subsidiary. For
example, an entity issues A and B shares. They carry equal voting rights, but class A shares have
far greater rights to dividends in the event of a distribution. S owns 60 per cent of the voting power in
the entity, but receives only 10 per cent of the dividends. In the absence of any other contrary
indicators, S controls the entity despite its share of benefits being disproportionately low compared
with its power.

While the benefits of ownership normally are realised in the form of dividends, this is not necessary to
establish control over an entity. This is consistent with the absence of a requirement for the parent to
hold shares in a subsidiary (see 2.5.1). For example, T appoints the majority of W's governing body
members through an agreement entered into with W's shareholders. T receives no dividends from W,
but it receives a management fee based on \W's profits that far exceeds the fee that might be expected
in the market. In our view, such a benefit should be considered a benefit of control under IFRSs.

In summary, the key issue is assessing whether benefits may be obtained. No single aspect of
benefits — magnitude, form or mechanism for receipt — is determinative on its own.

2.5.4 Potential voting rights

In assessing control, the impact of potential voting rights that are exercisable presently (i.e.,
currently) should be considered. Potential voting rights held both by the entity and by other parties are
taken into account. Such potential voting rights may take many forms, including options, warrants,
convertible shares, or contractual arrangements to acquire shares.

For example, X owns 40 per cent of the voting power in A, Y owns 25 per cent and Z owns the
other 35 per cent. Also, X holds a call option to acquire fromY an additional 20 per cent of the
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voting power in A; the call option, whose strike price is fair value, can be exercised at any time.
Accordingly, it is X that has the power to control A. Therefore, X consolidates A, but reflects a
60 per cent minority interest.

Management’s intentions with respect to the exercise of potential voting rights are ignored in
assessing control because these intentions do not affect the existence of the ability to exercise
power. Continuing the above example, even if X had no intention of exercising the call option it still
would be deemed to have the power to control A.

The exercise price of potential voting rights, and the financial capability of the holder to exercise
them, also are ignored. However, the capability to exercise power does not exist when potential
voting rights lack economic substance (e.g., when the price deliberately is set so high that the
chance of the potential voting rights being exercised is remote).

2.5.5 Rebutting the presumption of control

As noted above, it is possible for an entity that has less than a 50 per cent interest in another entity
to be considered its parent so long as it controls that other entity. Similarly, ownership of more than a
50 per cent interest may not give rise to control. The determination of where control lies is a question
of fact to be determined after considering all relevant facts and circumstances, examples of which
are discussed in 2.5.2 t0 2.5.4.

A related issue is whether an entity could have two parents. For example, D holds 60 per cent of
the voting power in F but E has the right to appoint and remove a majority of F's governing body
members. The indicators in IAS 27 might lead to a conclusion that both D and E should consolidate
F. However, control is a question of fact and there should be only one parent because no more than
one entity can have the current power to control. In this example it would be necessary to consider
how the financial and operating policies of F are set, and the rights of the shareholders in general
meetings vis-a-vis the rights of the governing body members.

2.5.6 Special purpose entities

A SPE is an entity created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective (e.g., a vehicle into
which trade receivables are securitised). The principles discussed above for identifying control apply
equally to a SPE. However, SIC-12 sets out additional guidance since many of the traditional
indicators of control (e.g., power over more than half of the voting rights as a result of ownership or
contractual agreement) are not present in a SPE; for example, the activities of the SPE may be pre-
determined so that there is no need for a governing body.

SIC-12 does not apply to post-employment benefit plans or equity compensation plans. The
treatment of entities that may exist in relation to such plans (e.g., employee benefit trusts) is
discussed in 4.4 and may be subject to future developments (see 2.5.16).

SIC-12 is based on the substance of a relationship between an entity and a SPE, and considers a
number of factors that are discussed below. Each factor should be analysed independently. Also
important to bear in mind when analysing a SPE is the requirement to account for the substance and
economic reality of a transaction rather than only its legal form (see 1.2).

Business needs

Determining whose business needs the SPE benefits requires an evaluation of the SPE's purpose, its
activities and which entity benefits most from them. An example is when the SPE is engaged in an
activity that supports one entity’s ongoing major or central operations.

For example, G sells its main operating asset to a SPE and then leases it back (see 5.1); a bank
provides the SPE's capital. In the absence of any contrary indicators, it appears that the SPE has
been set up primarily to support the business needs of G.
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This indicator of control often is difficult to evaluate as there may be more than one party that derives
some benefits from the SPE. In that case, an evaluation of the majority of benefits is necessary.

Decision-making powers

Many SPEs run on auto-pilot because all key decisions have been made as part of the formation of
the SPE and delegated to other parties (managers). In such cases, it is necessary to identify the
entity that made all the key decisions and delegated their execution as part of the process of
identifying the party that obtains the majority of benefits from the SPE's activities.

For example, major decisions that relate to the operations of a SPE that holds securitised receivables
include the profile of receivables eligible for securitisation, servicing arrangements, liquidity facility
arrangements, the ranking of claims against the SPE’s cash flows, and the wind-up of the SPE. If it
is determined that the transferor made these key decisions, then it is likely to be deemed to have
control over the SPE. Even if the conclusion is that the transferor did not make these key decisions,
the other indicators of control in respect of SPEs still may lead to a conclusion that the transferor
should consolidate the SPE.

The majority of risks and benefits, and ownership of the residual interests

An evaluation of the majority of risks and benefits, and the ownership of the residual interests in a
SPE, often is the most crucial element of determining whether consolidation of a SPE is necessary.
In our view, the analysis of benefits and risks is focused on the residual-type benefits and risks
rather than the gross cash flows of all of the assets and liabilities in the SPE. For example, if there
are reserves or equity that would be distributed when the SPE is wound up, an entity entitled to the
majority of this potential upside may be required to consolidate the SPE.

Although risk is not part of the definition of control in IFRSs, in analysing a SPE often the risks are
easier to identify than the benefits. Therefore, the focus often is on analysing the risks on the basis
that an entity would not assume risks without obtaining equivalent benefits, which in turn may lead
to a presumption of control. In evaluating the majority of risks, if for example there are senior and
subordinated cash flows in a SPE, the evaluation should focus on the exposure to subordinated cash
flows and any residual equity. An entity with the majority of this exposure may be required to
consolidate the SPE.

For example, an entity (transferor) transfers 110 of receivables into a SPE for proceeds of 100, with 10
being overcollateralisation for the transaction. If credit losses are greater than 10, these excess
losses are absorbed by the transferee, or rather the equity holders in the SPE; if the excess losses
are less than 10, the transferor receives the difference as a refund. Historically credit losses have
amounted to four and this trend is expected to continue. The transferor’s position could be analysed in
one of two ways:

. The transferor does not bear the majority of the risk associated with the SPE since the
10 represents only 10 per cent of the maximum potential losses. Therefore, the transferor should
not consolidate the SPE. In our view, this is not the appropriate interpretation of SIC-12.

. The transferor bears the majority of the risk associated with the SPE since the 10 is expected to
cover all expected losses. Therefore, the transferor may be required to consolidate the SPE. In our
view, this is the appropriate interpretation of SIC-12.

An entity may provide servicing to a SPE. As noted above, in our view, an arm’s length and market-
based servicing fee for services performed would not be viewed as receiving benefits from the SPE.
However, a servicing fee that varies based on the performance (or non-performance) of the SPE's
assets, or that entitles the servicer to residual benefits might be akin to the servicer having the
ability to obtain benefits from, or being exposed to, the risks of the SPE, in which case consolidation
might be required.
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2.5.7 Multi-seller SPEs

Sometimes a SPE obtains assets from multiple, and often unrelated, entities. These SPEs
sometimes are referred to as “multi-seller” SPEs, or “commercial paper conduits” if they issue notes
backed by short-term financial assets obtained from other entities. Often these SPEs are sponsored
by a financial institution that does not transfer any of its own assets into the SPE.

For multi-seller SPEs where the transferor retains some risk with respect to the transferred assets,
and those assets are not cross-collateralised with other assets in the SPE, in our view each
transferor of assets should evaluate the risks and benefits only of those assets that it has transferred
to the SPE. This is sometimes referred to as a “ring-fenced” approach as each transfer is evaluated
as if it is an individual cell within the SPE.

On the other hand, if all transfers of assets to a multi-seller SPE cross-collateralise each other, then
the transferor should evaluate its risks and benefits in relation to all assets held by the entire SPE. In
this case it becomes less likely that any one transferor would be viewed as having a majority of the
residual risks or benefits of the multi-seller SPE; instead, the SPE may be viewed as having been
created for the business needs of the sponsoring financial institution.

2.5.8 Investment funds

Investment funds have many characteristics that are similar to SPEs, and should be evaluated for
consolidation by both the investment manager and investors. However, generally it is the role of the
investment manager that requires the most careful analysis, in particular:

. the powers of the investment manager, and whether the manager can be removed by the
investors; and

. the benefits obtained by the investment manager in return for the services rendered, including
whether the investment manager also is an investor.

Although it is necessary to consider all the facts and circumstances of each individual case,
consolidation by the investment manager normally is not required when:

. the manager has only a small investment in the fund, if any;

. the risk borne by the manager is commensurate with the size of its investment and the risks
borne by other investors;

. the management fees are commensurate with the services performed by the manager, are at
market rates, and are not based on the residual interests in the fund; and

- the investors have the right to replace the manager.

If any of the above conditions are not met, a consideration of all the facts and circumstances still
may indicate that the investment manager controls and should consolidate the fund.

2.5.9 Structured transactions

There is no formal definition of a structured transaction. However, typically a structured
transaction arises when parties undertake a series of actions to achieve a desired outcome.
The following are possible examples:

. assets are transferred into a SPE, which may or may not be controlled by the transferor (a
securitisation of receivables often takes this form); and
. an entity obtains control of an investee with a view to increasing its shareholding at a later date.

The analysis of a vehicle that arises from a structured transaction takes into account all of the
factors described above. However, often such transactions have characteristics that require careful
consideration. In addition, it is important to bear in mind the substance of the transaction as a whole
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in cases when the complete transaction comprises a series of smaller transactions that would be
accounted for differently if each one was viewed in isolation.

The use of derivatives, including potential voting rights, is much more common in structured
transactions. The terms and conditions of the derivatives need to be considered to determine the
impact that the derivatives may have on the rights of the parties involved. In derecognition
transactions, an analysis of the derivatives involved also may result in the conclusion that the
underlying asset should not be derecognised in the first place (see 3.6).

The rights of minorities often are a key feature, especially in transactions when the parent may wish
to increase its shareholding at a later date. For example, an entity acquires a 60 per cent interest in
an entity and has a call option to acquire the remaining 40 per cent at a specified date in the future;
the minority has a put option to sell its 40 per cent interest to the entity at a specified date in the
future. The terms of the options are such that the entity will acquire the remaining 40 per cent if both
parties act in a rational economic manner, and the amount paid to the minority in substance provides
it with a lender’s return on its investment in the entity. The key issue is whether the parent has a

60 per cent subsidiary with a 40 per cent minority, or a 100 per cent subsidiary with debt funding. In
our view, given the absence of any contrary indicators in the case, the minority is a borrowing that
should be recognised as a liability.

2.5.10 Exclusions from consolidation#
A subsidiary shall be excluded from consolidation in only two cases:

. ifthere are severe long-term restrictions; or
. if the subsidiary was acquired solely with a view to its disposal in the short-term.

Subsidiaries cannot be excluded from consolidation on the basis that their activities are dissimilar
from those of the parent, because relevant information may be provided by consolidation of such

subsidiaries and the provision of additional information concerning the impact of those activities.

Subsidiaries exempted from consolidation are accounted for as financial assets under IAS 39.
The classification of such investments is discussed in 3.6.

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 27BC15, The revised standards remove these two exclusions and require that an entity consolidate
IFRS 5.6, 11 all subsidiaries.

IAS 2713
(2000)

Severe long-term restrictions#

The first consolidation exemption is when the subsidiary operates under severe long-term
restrictions that impair significantly its ability to transfer funds to the parent. In our view, the transfer
of funds should be interpreted as funds related to the benefits of ownership (see 2.5.3).

For example, foreign exchange restrictions imposed upon a subsidiary mean that it is unable to pay
dividends to its parent. However, it receives regular shipments of inventory from its parent and is
able to pay for the inventory, but at market rates. In this case it appears that severe long-term
restrictions exist because the subsidiary is restricted from transferring the benefits of ownership to
the parent even though it can settle operating liabilities.

In another example, a subsidiary is unable to pay dividends to its parent, but is able to repatriate
similar funds through a management fee. In this case it appears that the subsidiary is not restricted
from transferring the benefits of ownership to the parent.
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This exemption from consolidation applies only to restrictions that are long-term. For example, a
government imposes severe restrictions on the repatriation of funds. However, immediately
following the restrictions there might be no indication that they will remain in place in the long-
term. In that case, in our view the subsidiary should continue to be consolidated. Our view is that
the situation should be monitored and consolidation of the subsidiary should cease to be
consolidated only once it appears that the restrictions will be in place in the long-term.

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard, an entity is required to consolidate a subsidiary even though that
subsidiary operates under severe long-term restrictions that impair significantly its ability to transfer
funds to the parent. An entity considers such restrictions when assessing its ability to control an
entity but they do not in themselves preclude control.

Disposal in the near future#
The second exclusion is where control is intended to be temporary because the subsidiary is
acquired and held exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near future.

IAS 27 does not define “near future” In our view, in the absence of compelling reasons to permit a
longer period, it should be interpreted as meaning that disposal will take place by the end of the first
annual accounting period commencing after the acquisition. This view reflects the period allowed
under IAS 22 for the adjustment of goodwill as a result of changes made to the carrying amounts of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination.

One issue in practice is whether the subsidiary to be disposed of must comprise a legally separate
entity, or whether it could be a component of a larger entity, such as a division or branch. In our view,
the entity held for disposal need not be legally separate but must be an operation that, if acquired
separately, would be considered a business combination in accordance with IFRSs (see 2.6).

Forthcoming requirements

In March 2004, the IASB issued new guidance on accounting for assets held for sale. Under this
new standard, an entity is required to consolidate a subsidiary even if it is acquired exclusively
with a view to its subsequent disposal. However, the disposal group (comprising the assets that
are to be disposed of and directly related liabilities) is classified in the consolidated financial
statements as held for sale at the acquisition date if certain criteria are met at the date of
acquisition or within a short period afterwards (see 5.4A).

Immaterial subsidiaries#

Although IFRSs do not address explicitly the treatment of immaterial subsidiaries, in our view
subsidiaries do not need to be consolidated if, alone and in aggregate, they are immaterial (see 1.2) to
the financial position, performance and cash flows of the group — whether consolidated or accounted
for at fair value.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that materiality depends on both the size and nature of the omission
or misstatement (or a combination of the two) judged in the surrounding circumstances. In considering
materiality, the nature of a subsidiary may be important, for example, if it is a SPE. In our view, the
non-consolidation of a subsidiary should be reconsidered in preparing financial statements at each
reporting date.

2.5.11 Venture capital entities

Venture capital entities and unit trusts are not exempt from the requirements of IAS 27 and their
subsidiaries must be consolidated. This is notwithstanding the view that the aggregation of modified
historical cost balance sheets and income statements may present less relevant information to
investors who are concerned primarily with the fair value of each individual investment in a portfolio
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and the net asset value per share. If appropriate, information about the fair value of investments may
be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, or additional separate financial
statements in which investments are recognised at cost or fair value may be prepared.

2.5.12 Subsidiaries’ accounting periods and policies

When practicable, a subsidiary’s accounting period for the purposes of consolidation should be the
same as that of the parent#. When different periods are used the gap must be no more than three
months and adjustments should be made for significant transactions in the intervening period.

When there is a difference between the balance sheet dates of the parent and a subsidiary, the length
of the reporting periods and the gap between them should be consistent from period to period.
However, IFRSs are silent on the approach to take when a subsidiary changes its balance sheet date
in order to align its reporting period with that of the parent.

For example, the parent has a balance sheet date in December, and its subsidiary’s balance sheet
date is in October. Each year the consolidated financial statements are prepared using financial
information for the subsidiary at 31 October, adjusted for any significant transactions in November
and December. In 2004 the subsidiary changes its balance sheet date to December. In our view, the
2004 consolidated financial statements should include the results of the parent for the 12 months to
December 2004, and the results of the subsidiary for the 14 months to December 2004, unless the
parent already has included the subsidiary’s transactions in that time as adjustments made for
significant transactions. In our view, this is more appropriate than an alternative approach of adjusting
the group’s opening retained earnings at 1 January 2004 in respect of the results of the subsidiary for
the two months to December 2003 — an approach that would be necessary to limit the consolidated
financial statements in the current period to 12 months of the subsidiary’s results.

Forthcoming requirements

Revised IAS 27 requires that the financial statements of the parent and its subsidiary should be
prepared as of the same reporting date. When the reporting dates are different, additional financial
statements of the subsidiary are prepared as of the same date as the financial statements of the
parent unless it is impracticable to do so. In any case, the difference between the reporting dates of
the parent and subsidiary must not be greater than three months and adjustments must be made for
the effects of significant transactions and events in that period.

For the purpose of consolidation, the financial information of all subsidiaries should be prepared on
the basis of IFRSs. When practicable, uniform accounting policies should be used throughout the
group#. If it is not practicable to use uniform accounting policies, this fact should be disclosed
together with the proportions of the items in the financial statements to which different accounting
policies have been applied.

Forthcoming requirements

Revised IAS 27 requires uniform accounting policies to be used for like transactions and events.
Therefore, if a subsidiary uses different accounting policies from those applied in the consolidated
financial statements, appropriate consolidation adjustments to align accounting policies must be
made when preparing those consolidated financial statements, even if these adjustments previously
had been considered impracticable.

2.5.13 Minority interests

Initial measurement

The benchmark treatment for minority interests is to measure them based on the carrying amounts
of the assets and liabilities as reported by the subsidiary itself. Under the allowed alternative
treatment, minority interests are calculated as the minority share of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary measured at fair value (see 2.6)#.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY General issues 53

IFRS 3.40

IAS 2723

SIC 33.5,
33.B
(2001)

IAS 27.35

IAS 2726
(2000)

IAS 27.33

IAS 2724

2.5 Consolidation

Forthcoming requirements

In March 2004, new guidance was issued on accounting for business combinations. Under the new
standard, minority interests must be measured initially based on the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition (see 2.6). The
benchmark treatment allowed previously of measuring minority interests based on the book value of
the subsidiary no longer is available under revised |AS 27

Percentage attributable to minority interests

In some cases the economic interests of investors will not equal their shareholding. For example, an
entity may control 60 per cent of the voting power, but have only a 55 per cent economic interest in
the profits and net assets. In our view, minority interests should be measured based on the 45 per
cent economic interest.

Potential voting rights
Even though control of an entity takes into account potential voting rights (see 2.5.4), the calculation
of minority interests generally is based on current ownership interests.

For example, H owns 40 per cent of the voting power in J and has a call option, exercisable currently,
to acquire a further 20 per cent of the voting power from K. Based on the combination of current
ownership and potential voting rights, H controls J. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
the minority interest in J will be 60 per cent.

Continuing the above example, an exception to the general principle arises in the case of a structured
transaction when H receives currently the benefits associated with the entire 60 per cent
shareholding (i.e., its shareholding is not the same as its economic interest). This might be achieved
through the pricing of the call option so that effectively K makes a lender’s return on its investment in
J. In this case, H has an economic interest of 60 per cent and the minority interest is 40 per cent.
Additionally, a liability is recognised in respect of the 20 per cent nominally owned by K since K’s
interest is not that of an equity holding (minority interest) but rather is a financing obligation.

Losses

Losses that exceed the minority interest in the equity of a subsidiary may create a debit balance on
minority interests only if the minority has a binding obligation to fund the losses and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses. If this is not the case, the losses are attributable to the
parent’s interest. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, these profits are allocated to the
majority interest until the share of losses previously absorbed by the majority has been recovered.

Presentation

Minority interests are classified separately from parent shareholders’ equity and liabilities in the
balance sheet#. In our experience minority interests generally are presented outside of both total
equity and liabilities. However, sometimes they are presented within total shareholders’ equity, but
separately from parent shareholders’ equity.

Forthcoming requirements

Under revised IAS 27, minority interest must be presented within equity separately from the
parent shareholders’ equity. Minority interests in the profit or loss of the group also should be
disclosed separately.

2.5.14 Intra-group transactions

Intra-group balances and transactions, and resulting profits, are eliminated in full regardless of
whether the unearned profit is in the parent or the subsidiary. Intra-group losses are eliminated in full
except to the extent that the underlying asset is impaired.
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The following simple example illustrates the elimination in a “downstream” sale of inventory from
the parent to an 80 per cent subsidiary (ignore tax considerations which are discussed in 3.12).

Parent  Subsidiary

Cost of inventory 700 1,000
Selling price of inventory 1,000 Not yet sold
Net profit prior to elimination 15,000 8,000
Net assets prior to elimination 125,000 65,000

Elimination entry on consolidation:

Debit Credit
Revenue 1,000
Cost of goods sold to the subsidiary 700
Inventory 300
Minority share of profit 1,600 = 8,000 x 20%

The above example shows that the minority interest is calculated without regard to the
elimination entry because the unearned profit is in the parent’s result. This is notwithstanding the
fact that the unearned profit is included in the carrying amount of the inventory in the
subsidiary’'s financial statements.

The following example is the same as above except that the 80 per cent subsidiary makes an
“upstream” sale of inventory to the parent.
Parent  Subsidiary

Cost of inventory 1,000 700
Selling price of inventory Not yet sold 1,000
Net profit prior to elimination 15,000 8,000
Net assets prior to elimination 125,000 65,000

Elimination entry on consolidation:

Debit Credit
Revenue 1,000
Cost of goods sold to the parent 700
Inventory 300
Minority share of profit 1,540 = (8,000 - 300) x 20%

This example shows that the minority interest is calculated after eliminating the unearned profit that
is included in its results. In addition, the minority share of net assets also is calculated after the
elimination even though the inventory that was overstated from the group’s perspective is in the
parent’s balance sheet.

2.5.15 Changes in the status of subsidiaries
Disposal

IAS 2730-32 A subsidiary is consolidated until the date that control ceases. When an interest in a subsidiary is
disposed of, the difference between the proceeds from the disposal and the carrying amount of the
parent’s interest in the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities plus the carrying amount of goodwill related
to the subsidiary is recognised in the income statement as a gain or loss on disposal. If only part of
the subsidiary is disposed of, depending on the level of influence still held by the investor, the
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remaining interest in the carrying amounts of the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities and of goodwill is
accounted for either:

. as an associate in accordance with IAS 28 (see 3.5);

. asajoint venture in accordance with IAS 31 (see 3.5); or

. as a financial asset in accordance with IAS 39 (see 3.6).

At the date that the investment ceases to be a subsidiary, its carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements is deemed to be the cost thereafter.

The following example illustrates a partial disposal and the calculation of the resulting gain or loss.
L acquired a 90 per cent interest in M for 9,000 on 1 January 2003.
L sells an 80 per cent interest in M for 50,000 on 31 December 2004.

Ignore goodwill amortisation and income taxes.

L
90% before
10% after
"
Financial position of M
1 January 2003 31 December 2004
Share capital 100 100
Retained earnings 5,000 40,000
Net assets 5,100 40,100
Fair value of net assets 5,100

The goodwill on acquisition is 4,410 (9,000 - 5,100 x 90 per cent) — see 2.6.

The net assets of M at 31 December 2004 also represent the position on consolidation — this is
relevant for determining the appropriate journal entries.

Consolidated financial position of L
The consolidated financial position before disposal given in the table is an assumed position.

Before Disposal After

disposal  (see below) disposal

Goodwill 4,410 (4,410) -
Financial asset - 4,500 4,500
Other net assets 100,000 9,900 109,900
Net assets 104,410 9,990 114,400
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Before Disposal After

disposal  (see below) disposal

Current year profit 30,000 14,000 44,000
Retained earnings 69,400 - 69,400
Share capital 1,000 - 1,000
Minority interests 4,010 (4,010) -
104,410 9,990 114,400

The disposal comprises the following journal entry (see below for calculations):

Debit Credit
Other net assets 50,000
Financial asset 4,500
Minority interests 4,010
Goodwill 4,410
Other net assets 40,100
Profit 14,000

Since M is being deconsolidated its net assets, as well as the attributable goodwill and minority
interests, are removed from the consolidated balance sheet. They are replaced by a single financial
asset that will be accounted for in accordance with IAS 39 (see 3.6).

The credit to net assets of 40,100 was given in the information above, as was the goodwill. Minority
interests at the date of disposal are 10 per cent of M's net assets (40,100 x 10 per cent).

The carrying amount of the remaining 10 per cent investment is calculated as follows:

Net assets at date of disposal 40,100
Minority interests (4,010)
Goodwill 4,410
Carrying amount of subsidiary (90 per cent) 40,500
Therefore, 10 per cent equals 4,500

Therefore, the gain on disposal of 14,000 is the difference between the proceeds of 50,000 and the
carrying amount of an 80 per cent interest, 36,000 (40,500 - 4,500). The 4,500 is the initial carrying
amount of the investment; however, subsequent to initial recognition the investment will be
remeasured to fair value in accordance with IAS 39 (see 3.6).

The gain or loss on disposal recorded in the parent’s separate financial statements will depend on the
parent’s accounting policy in respect of investments in subsidiaries (see 3.5). The amount recognised
in the separate financial statements will be eliminated on consolidation.

Dilution

A dilution occurs when the parent’s interest in a subsidiary decreases without the parent disposing
directly of any of its shares in the subsidiary. For example, this will occur when the subsidiary issues
shares to parties other than the parent, or the parent does not participate proportionately in a share
offer made by the subsidiary. Depending on the extent of the dilution, the parent may cease to have
control, and the parent should cease to consolidate the subsidiary; the resulting journal entries would
be similar to the above example. Assuming that the parent maintains control of the subsidiary, a gain
or loss on dilution will result. Depending on the facts surrounding the dilution, a loss might indicate
that the carrying amount of the subsidiary’s assets are impaired (see 3.9).
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IFRSs do not discuss the calculation or presentation of dilution gains and losses. In our view, the
entity may make an accounting policy election, which should be applied consistently to all such
dilutions, either:

- torecognise dilution gains and losses directly in equity — this reflects the view that minority
interests are equity interests, notwithstanding the fact that they are presented separately from
parent shareholders’ equity; or

- torecognise dilution gains and losses in the income statement — this reflects the view that
minority interests are not owners in a group and an entity’s equity is only that attributable to
shareholders of the parent#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised IAS 27 requires the presentation of minority interests within equity. This presentation
supports the recognition of increases and decreases in ownership interests in subsidiaries without
loss of control as equity transactions in the consolidated financial statements (see 2.6). However,
because the issue is not explicitly addressed in IFRSs the above guidance still is applicable.

This area of IFRSs may be subject to future developments (see 2.5.16).

A further issue is whether a portion of the goodwill that arose on acquisition of the subsidiary should
be written off as part of the calculation of the gain or loss on dilution. In our view, a portion should be
written off because the effect of a dilution is, in substance, the same as a disposal whereby the

parent’s holding in the subsidiary decreases.

The following example, based on the same basic facts as the previous example, illustrates the
calculation of a dilution gain or loss.

L acquired a 90 per cent interest in M, comprising 90 shares, for 9,000 on 1 January 2003.

On 31 December 2004, M issues a further 20 shares to the minority interests and receives proceeds
of 18,000.

Ignore goodwill amortisation and income taxes.

L
90% before
75% after
M
Financial position of M
1 January 2003 31 December 2004
(before share issue)
Share capital 100 100
Retained earnings 5,000 40,000
Net assets 5,100 40,100
Fair value of net assets 5,100
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The goodwill on acquisition is 4,410 (9,000 - 5,100 x 90 per cent) — see 2.6.

The net assets of M at 31 December 2004 also represent the position on consolidation — this is
relevant for determining the appropriate journal entries.

Consolidated financial position of L
The consolidated financial position before dilution given in the table is an assumed position.

Before Dilution After

dilution  (see below) dilution

Goodwill 4,410 (735) 3,675
Other net assets 100,000 18,000 118,000
Net assets 104,410 17265 121,675
Current year profit 30,000 6,750 36,750
Retained earnings 69,400 - 69,400
Share capital 1,000 - 1,000
Minority interests 4,010 10,515 14,525
104,410 17265 121,675

The dilution comprises the following journal entry (see below for calculations):

Debit Credit
Other net assets 18,000
Minority interests 10,515
Goodwill 735
Profit 6,750

The change in minority interests and the gain on dilution are calculated as follows:

Before After
dilution dilution  Difference
Net assets of M 40,100 58,100
Minority percentage 10% 25%
Minority interests 4,010 14,525 10,515
Parent percentage 90% 75%
Parentinterest 36,090 43,575 7485

The goodwill of 4,410 relates to a 90 per cent holding. Therefore, goodwill of 3,675 relates to a 75 per
cent holding (4,410/90 x 75), which gives a write-off of 735. The gain on dilution is therefore 6,750
(7485 - 735), which has been recognised in this example in the income statement.
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2.5.16 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

Minority interests

As part of its Business Combinations (phase Il) Project, the IASB agreed that the losses of a
subsidiary should be attributed to both the parent and minority interests based on their ownership
interests and any contractual rights and obligations, even if this creates a debit balance of
minority interests.

Following from the decision to classify minority interest as part of equity, in December 2002 the
Board agreed the following:

. subsequent decreases in ownership that result in a loss of control should result in a gain or loss
being recognised in the statement of equity; and

. subsequent decreases in ownership that do not result in the loss of control should be accounted
for as equity transactions; therefore no gain or loss would be recognised in the income statement.

Special purpose entities

IFRIC Draft amendment D7 Scope of SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities, issued in
June 2004, proposes to remove the scope exclusion for equity compensation plans. In addition, D7
proposes to clarify that the exclusion of “post-employment benefit plans” applies to all long-term
employment benefit plans with plan assets included in the measurement of a defined benefit liability
or a liability for other long-term employee benefits under IAS 19.
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2.6 Business combinations
(IFRS 3, IAS 22, IAS 38, SIC-22, SIC-28)
Overview

IFRS 3 introduces significant changes to the accounting for business combinations discussed
below (see Forthcoming requirements).

Uniting of interests accounting is allowed in limited circumstances#.
The date of acquisition is the date on which effective control is transferred to the acquirer.

The cost of acquisition, which is determined at the date of acquisition, is the amount of
cash or cash equivalents paid, plus the fair value of the other purchase consideration
given, plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition#.

When payment for a business combination is deferred, the amount payable is discounted
to its present value.

A liability for contingent consideration is recognised as soon as payment becomes
probable and the amount can be measured reliably.

The identifiable assets and liabilities, and certain restructuring provisions, are measured
at fair value in the consolidated financial statements except that the portion attributable
to the minority interest may be based on the acquiree’s book values#.

Subject to limited exceptions, adjustments to goodwill must be made by the end of the
first full financial year following the acquisition#.

Goodwill is capitalised and amortised over its estimated useful life which generally does
not exceed 20 years#.

Negative goodwill is recognised in the income statement, first to match any identified
expected losses and expenses, and then over the lives of the acquired depreciable non-
monetary assets. Any amount exceeding the fair value of acquired non-monetary assets is
recognised in the income statement immediately#.

“Push down” accounting is not used, although fair value adjustments may be recorded in
the acquiree’s financial statements if such revaluations are in accordance with IFRSs.

When an acquisition is achieved in successive share purchases each significant transaction
is accounted for separately as an acquisition#.

In a uniting of interests the financial statements of the combining entities are added
together for the current and all prior periods#.

There is no guidance in IFRSs on accounting for common control transactions.

There is no guidance in IFRSs on accounting for reverse acquisitions#.
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Forthcoming requirements

In March 2004, the IASB issued IFRS 3 Business Combinations which supersedes IAS 22 Business
Combinations. The new standard is applicable prospectively to business combinations entered into
(agreement date) on or after 31 March 2004. The accounting for existing goodwill (including negative
goodwill) changes from the beginning of the first reporting period beginning on or after 31 March 2004.
Prospective application from an earlier date is permitted if certain criteria are met. Where an existing
requirement is discussed that will be changed by the new standard, it is marked with a # and the
impact of the change is explained in the accompanying boxed text. In overview:

- IFRS 3 does not allow uniting of interests accounting. All business combinations are accounted
for using the purchase accounting method;

- the cost of acquisition is the aggregate of the fair values, at the acquisition date, of the assets
given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the acquirer, in exchange
for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination;

. the cost of the business combination is allocated on acquisition to the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that satisfy recognition criteria. These items are
measured at their fair value. Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 are recognised at fair value less costs to sell (see 5.4A). Restructuring
provisions are recognised only when they are the acquiree’s existing liability at the acquisition
date. Minority interest is measured based on the acquiree’s fair value excluding goodwill;

- the time period for adjustments to goodwill is limited to 12 months from the date of acquisition;

. goodwill and certain identifiable intangibles with indefinite lives are capitalised but not amortised.
An impairment test is conducted at least annually;

. when the fair value of the acquisition exceeds its cost, the acquirer must reassess the
identification and measurement of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities and
recognise any remaining excess in profit or loss immediately on acquisition; and

. IFRS 3 provides guidance on accounting for reverse acquisitions.

The IASB is considering further changes to accounting for business combinations (see 2.6.8).

2.6.1 Scope
Exclusions
IAS 22 deals with the accounting for all business combinations except:

. transactions among entities under common control; and
- interests in joint ventures and the financial statements of joint ventures (see 3.5)#.

The scope exclusion in respect of joint ventures may appear to include not only the transaction that gives
rise to the joint venture (in the financial statements of both the venturer and the joint venture), but also the
accounting for any business combination in the financial statements of a joint venture. However, in our
view, the exclusion is limited to a business combination that is the creation of a joint venture, and IAS 22
should be applied to any business combination entered into by a joint venture after its formation.

Forthcoming requirements
IFRS 3 adds two exceptions to the two discussed above:

- business combinations involving two or more mutual entities; and
- business combinations in which separate entities or businesses are brought together to form a
reporting entity by contract alone without the obtaining of an ownership interest.

These additional exemptions may be temporary, as the IASB issued an exposure draft in May 2004
which removes these exemptions (see 2.6.8).

Additionally, the new standard clarifies that the scope exclusion in respect of joint ventures only
applies to the formation of a joint venture.
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The accounting for common control transactions is discussed in 2.6.6.

Identifying a business combination

Definition#

A business combination is defined as “the bringing together of separate entities into one economic
entity as a result of one entity uniting with or obtaining control over the net assets and operations of
another entity”

While “entity” is not defined in IFRSs, it is clear from the definition above that the parties must
comprise net assets and “operations” The acquisition of a collection of assets is not a business
combination. An associated operation (e.g., a business activity) also must be acquired in order for
the transaction to be a business combination. The distinction is important because no goodwill or
negative goodwill arises in an acquisition of a collection of individual assets.

For example, A acquires a production plant and some inventory from B. A integrates its existing
production line into the production plant, but does not take over any of the infrastructure that makes
B an operation. This infrastructure includes employees, operational processes and distribution
networks. In this case, we do not believe that there is a business combination in accordance with
IFRSs because the exclusion of these key elements means that what is acquired does not include
an ongoing operation.

However, in our view the exclusion of minor components of an operation does not preclude
classification of an acquisition as a business combination if what is acquired can be considered to be
an operation. For example, C acquires the operations of D except for some non-specialised staff that
will transfer to D's parent entity. VWe believe that the exclusion of these staff, who can be replaced
easily, is minor and does not impact whether an operation has been acquired.

As another example, E acquires the operations of F except for one of F's patents, which is an
important part of F's operations; however, simultaneously the parties enter into an agreement that
gives E the right to use F's patent indefinitely. We believe that the substance of this arrangement is
that E has acquired an operation (which includes the patent), and accordingly that there is a
business combination.

Forthcoming requirements
A business combination is defined in IFRS 3 as “the bringing together of separate entities or
businesses into one reporting entity”

The above definition does not use the term ‘operation’ (used previously in IAS 22), but this term is
used to define a ‘discontinued operation’ in IFRS 5 (see 5.4A). A business and an operation are
distinct terms, and a business may not always be an operation and vice versa. A business is an
integrated set of activities and assets conducted and managed for the purpose of providing:

+ areturn to investors; or
. lower costs or other economic benefits directly and proportionately to policyholders or participants.

A business generally consists of inputs, processes applied to those inputs, and resulting outputs that
are, or will be, used to generate revenues. If goodwill is present in a transferred set of activities and
assets, the transferred set is presumed to be a business.

If an entity obtains control of one or more other entities that are not businesses, then the bringing
together of those businesses is not a business combination. When an entity acquires a group of
assets or net assets that do not constitute a business, it allocates the cost of the group between the
individual identifiable assets and liabilities in the group based on their relative fair values at the date
of acquisition. No goodwill or negative goodwill is recognised.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY General issues 63
2.6 Business combinations

Substance of a transaction

In some cases it may appear that a business combination has occurred, when in fact nothing of
substance has happened. For example, G is incorporated in Singapore and wishes to move its
operations to Australia. G's shares are held widely and there is no controlling shareholder or group of
shareholders. G incorporates a new entity H in Australia; shareholders receive one share in H for
every share held in G, with the same rights and interests. Ownership of G's assets is transferred to
H. The legal form of the transaction is that H has acquired the operations of G. However, in our view
this transaction is a common control transaction that also is a reverse acquisition. As IFRS 3 does
not provide any guidance regarding the accounting of common control transactions, it is our view that
this transaction may be recognised using book values or fair values (see 2.6.6 for more details).
However, in this case the transaction cannot be recognised using the fair values as the transaction is
a reverse acquisition. Accordingly, the transaction will be recorded at book values, as G (in effect)
has acquired itself (see 2.6.7).

2.6.2 Applicability of purchase accounting or uniting of interests accounting#
The accounting for a uniting of interests is discussed in 2.6.5.

IAS 22.13-16 Almost all business combinations are accounted for as acquisitions using purchase accounting.
(1998), However, in the rare case that an acquirer cannot be identified, the transaction is accounted for as a
SIC 9 (1998) uniting of interests if all of the following criteria also are met:

. Operations:The combining entities share control over the whole, or effectively the whole, of their
net assets and operations.

. Management:The management of one party is not able to dominate the selection of the
management team of the enlarged entity.

- Share-for-share: The substantial majority, if not all, of the voting common shares of the combining
entities are pooled (i.e., exchanged for shares rather than cash).

. Relative sizes: The fair value of one party is not significantly different from that of the other.

- No change in interests: The shareholders of each party maintain substantially the same voting
rights and interests in the combined entity, relative to each other, after the combination as before.

- No other financial arrangements: Financial arrangements, taking effect either before or after
the transaction, do not otherwise provide a relative advantage to one group of shareholders
over the other.

If any one of the above criteria is not met, the business combination must be accounted for as an
acquisition. In addition, while emphasis often is placed on the above criteria as the only tests to be
met in qualifying for uniting of interests accounting, it is important to remember the overall
requirement that it must not be possible to identify an acquirer.

Operations

In many cases two entities will wish to combine similar or complementary business activities.
However, unless all parties to the business combination contribute the whole, or effectively the
whole, of their net assets and operations, it is not a uniting of interests. For example, J and K agree
to combine the whole of their retail divisions, leaving both entities with other substantial interests;
since J and K do not combine the whole of their operations, the transaction is accounted for as an
acquisition (assuming that the combined entity does not constitute a joint venture — see 3.5) and an
acquirer must be identified.

Continuing this example, if the other interests of J and K are inconsequential to their respective
operations as a whole, this would not in itself prevent a transaction from being classified as a uniting
of interests since effectively the whole of their net assets and operations are combined.
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Share-for-share

SIC 9 (1998) IFRSs do not define what is meant by a “substantial majority” of the voting common shares of the
combining entities. In our view, this means that at least 90 per cent of the combined number of
shares should be contributed in return for shares in the combined entity.

For example, L and M agree to combine their operations; both entities have 1,000 voting common
shares. All of L's shareholders will participate in the combination, and 70 per cent of M’s shareholders.
Effectively this means that 85 per cent of the total number of shares will be combined. In our view, this
is not sufficient to conclude that a substantial majority of the voting common shares is combined.

In addition, as the number of participating shareholders of one entity (in this case M) decreases, it
appears that the entity with the dominant participation (in this case L) may be the acquirer.

Relative sizes

In assessing the relative fair values of the combining entities, IFRSs do not define what is meant
by “not significantly different” In our view, the relative fair values should not be in a ratio greater
than 55/45. In addition, in assessing the relative fair values, we believe that market
capitalisation is the best measure of fair value if the shares are traded actively. If the shares are
not traded actively or one entity’'s shares are not listed on an exchange, more emphasis should
be placed on the portion that each shareholder group takes in the combined entity and any
valuation reports that exist.

IFRSs do not specify the date on which the relative sizes of the combining entities should be
assessed. In our view, it should be the date on which control is combined.

No change in interests

It is necessary to consider carefully the terms of the combination in assessing whether the
shareholders of each entity maintain substantially the same voting rights and interests in the
combined entity, relative to each other, after the combination as before. For example, N and O
combine their operations and create a new entity, P. Prior to the transaction N had 500 issued shares
and N's shareholders were entitled to one vote for every share held; O had 1,000 shares and O's
shareholders were entitled to one vote for every share held. N's shareholders obtain 500 "A” shares
in P and O’s shareholders obtain 500 “B"” shares in P. The rights and interests of the A and B shares
are the same except that the A shareholders are entitled to vote only when P has not met its target
dividend payout ratio. In our view, this transaction should not be accounted for as a uniting of
interests because the shareholders have not maintained substantially the same voting rights before
and after the transaction; in this case it appears that O is the acquirer.

No other financial arrangements

A business combination may include financial arrangements that benefit one group of shareholders
over another; for example, one party’s share of the combined equity might depend on the post-
combination performance of the business that it controlled previously. In such cases the transaction
should not be accounted for as a uniting of interests.

For example, Q and R combine their operations and each group of shareholders obtains half of the
shares in the combined entity. However, R's major shareholder provides a guarantee to Q's
shareholders that their shares will be worth at least 5,000 in 12 months time; if they are worth less,
R’s major shareholder will pay the difference in cash. In our view, a guarantee of share value
received by one shareholder group is inconsistent with the mutual sharing of risks and benefits that
is present in a true uniting of interests; accordingly, we believe that this transaction should be
accounted for as an acquisition.

Structured transactions
As noted in 2.5, a structured transaction occurs when parties to a transaction undertake a series of
actions to achieve a desired outcome. In many cases it might be possible to enter into secondary

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY General issues 65

IAS 22.14
(1998)

IFRS 3.14

IFRS 3.20

IFRS 3.17-
23

2.6 Business combinations

transactions to segregate aspects of a transaction that might preclude using uniting of interests.

In our view secondary transactions planned either before or after a uniting of interests transaction
should be viewed as an integral part of the transaction. Secondary transactions are transactions that
are planned in anticipation of the transaction, and would be expected to occur within a reasonable
time period before or after the transaction.

For example, L and M agree to combine their operations; both entities have 1,000 voting common
shares. All of s shareholders will participate in the combination, but only 70 per cent of M's
shareholders want to. In order to ensure that the substantial majority of the shares are combined,
M'’s non-participating shareholders sell their shares to a third party that wishes to invest in the
combined entity. Following this sale, the transaction goes ahead with all shares being combined.

In our view, the sale of the non-participating shares should be considered in assessing the
transaction, which indicates that:

- the substantial majority of the voting common shares of the combining entities have not been
combined because a significant shareholder interest was acquired for cash as part of the
combination transaction; and therefore

. therights and interests of the parties before and after the merger transaction, relative to one
another, are not substantially the same.

The sale of a significant shareholding also raises a question about the parties’ intent for a “mutual
sharing of risks and benefits” in the future, which is one of the characteristics of a uniting of interests.

Our analysis of this transaction would not change even if M’s non-participating shareholders sold
their shares to other shareholders of M because the rights and interests of the individual shareholders
change as part of the transaction.

Forthcoming requirements

Under IFRS 3 all business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The uniting of
interests method that was allowed in limited circumstances cannot be used for transactions which
have an agreement date later than 31 March 2004.

2.6.3 Purchase accounting

Identifying the acquirer

In most acquisitions identifying the acquirer will be straightforward because it will be clear that one
entity took control of the operations of another entity. However, in some cases when shares are
issued in order to pay for the acquisition, the process of identifying an acquirer may be more
complex. Under IFRSs if the fair value of one entity is significantly greater than that of the other, the
larger entity is the acquirer; or if one entity can dominate the selection of the management team of
the combined entity, the dominant entity is the acquirer#.

Forthcoming requirements
IFRS 3 requires that an acquirer be identified for all business combinations. An acquirer is the
combining entity that obtains control of the other combining entities or businesses.

The relationship between the combining entities and / or businesses determines which entity obtains
control (i.e., which entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the other
entity or business so as to obtain benefits from its activities).

Reverse acquisition

A reverse acquisition may occur when an entity issues shares in return for acquiring the shares in
another entity#. For example, S acquires 60 per cent of the shares inT. As consideration S issues its
own shares to T's shareholders; however, S issues so many shares that T's shareholders obtain an
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80 per cent interest in S. In this case all of the elements of control should be analysed (see 2.5) to
determine which entity is the acquirer. If the conclusion is thatT is the acquirer for accounting
purposes, then the transaction is referred to as a reverse acquisition. In this case S will be the legal
parent and accounting subsidiary, and T will be the legal subsidiary and accounting parent.

80%
>

20%
2 S shareholders

T shareholders 60%

D

40%

The accounting for reverse acquisitions, and related financial reporting issues, are discussed in 2.6.7.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 requires that the acquirer is identified on the basis of control in all cases. In order to identify
the acquirer, the relationship between the combining entities is considered. IFRS 3 acknowledges
that the acquirer may be the legal subsidiary in some cases (i.e., a reverse acquisition).

Creation of a new entity

In some cases a new entity will be formed, which will acquire the shares or net assets of two other
entities. Often this occurs because the new entity will be listed. For example, V wishes to acquire the
retail operations of W and then list the combined retail operations. V forms a new entity X into which
it transfers its own retail operations; X then acquires W's retail operations. Looking at the legal form
of the transaction it appears that X has made two acquisitions, the retail operations of V and W, both
of which should be treated as acquisitions. However, in our view, only the retail operations of W have
been acquired. In substance the new entity X is an extension of V, created in order to hold its retail
division#. This is discussed further below under 2.6.6.

Forthcoming requirements

Under IFRS 3, when a new entity is created to issue equity instruments to effect a business
combination, one of the combining entities that existed before the combination is identified as
the acquirer.

Date of acquisition

The date of acquisition is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer, which will depend
on the facts and circumstances of each case. Determination of the date of acquisition is important
because it is only from that date that the results of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated
financial statements of the acquirer; it also is the date on which the fair values of assets and
liabilities acquired, including goodwill, are measured#. The date of acquisition is based on the
substance of the transaction rather than its legal form.

Forthcoming requirements

Under IFRS 3, when a business combination is achieved in a single exchange transaction, the date of
exchange is the acquisition date. VWhen a business combination involves more than one exchange
transaction, for example, when it is achieved in stages by successive share purchases, the date of
exchange is the date that each individual investment is recognised in the financial statements of the
acquirer. The date of exchange is used to determine the cost of the acquisition and goodwill
associated with the transaction.

Under IFRSs, unlike some other GAAPSs, it is not possible to designate an effective date of
acquisition other than the actual date that control is transferred. However, in some cases it may be
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acceptable for an acquirer to consolidate a subsidiary from a period end date close to the date of
acquisition for convenience, as long as the effect thereof is immaterial (see 1.2). For example, a
subsidiary acquired on 13 October might be consolidated with effect from 30 September if the
effect of the 13 days is not material.

Backdated agreements

In some cases an agreement will provide that the acquisition is effective on a specified date.

For example, Y and Z commence negotiations on 1 January 2003 forY to acquire all of the shares in
Z. 0On 1 March 2003 the agreement is finalised and Y immediately obtains the power to control Z's
operations. The agreement states that the acquisition is effective as of 1 January 2003 and thatY is
entitled to all profits after that date; the purchase price is determined by reference to Z's net asset
position at 1 January 2003.

In our view, notwithstanding that the price is based on the net assets at 1 January and Z's
shareholders do not receive any dividends after that date, the date of acquisition for accounting
purposes is 1 March 2003.

Control and benefits

In determining the date of acquisition, it is important to remember that the definition of control has
two elements — the power to govern the financial and operating policies — so as to obtain benefits
(see 2.5). Both of these elements must be met at the date of acquisition.

For example, A contracts with vendorV to purchase the shares in B. The contract is entered into on
15 September 2003. The contract provides that VV will deliver to A its shareholding in B on 1 January
2004 and A will pay the agreed purchase price. The purchase price is a fixed sum plus the excess (or
less the deficit) of the actual net asset value at 31 October 2003, over an estimated net asset value
specified in the contract. As from 15 September 2003 A is able to run B as it desires, but is
prohibited from arranging dividend payments out of B.

Ais able to govern B from 15 September 2003. However, it does not benefit from B's activities
before 31 October 2003 since A pays V for any additional profits made between 15 September and
31 October (or is reimbursed for any losses). Accordingly the date of acquisition is 31 October 2003.

Shareholder approval

In some cases management may agree an acquisition subject to receiving shareholder approval
(sometimes referred to as a “revocable” agreement). For example, entity C enters into an
agreement with the shareholders of entity D on 1 March 2003 to acquire a controlling interest in
entity D. The agreement provides that the effective date of transferis 1 January 2003 and is subject
to approval by the shareholders of entity C at a meeting scheduled for May 2003. In our view,
usually the date of acquisition cannot be prior to C's shareholders approving the transaction
because the passing of control is conditional upon their approval. However, it is necessary to
consider the substance of the requirement of the shareholder approval to assess the impact it has
obtaining the power to control.

Regulatory approval

In some cases a business combination cannot be finalised prior to regulatory approval being
obtained. Although at the date of acquisition the acquirer must have the ability to govern the financial
and operating policies of the acquiree, it is not necessary for the transaction to be finalised legally.

It is necessary to consider the nature of the regulatory approval in each case and the impact that it
has on the passing of control.

For example, E and F are manufacturers of electronic components for a particular type of equipment.
E makes a bid for F's business and the competition authorities announce that the proposed
transaction is to be scrutinised as it may violate competition laws given that E and F are two of the
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dominant entities in this sector. E and F agree the terms of the acquisition and the purchase price,
but the contracts are made subject to competition authority clearance. In this case the date of
acquisition cannot be earlier than the date that approval is obtained from the competition authority
since this is a substantive hurdle that must be overcome before E is able to control F's operations.
In another example G acquires the shares in H on 1 April 2003 and takes control of H's operations.
However, before the sale of shares becomes binding legally, the transaction must be registered, a
process that takes up to six weeks. The registration of the shares is a formality and there is no risk
that the sale could be rejected. In this case the date of acquisition is 1 April 2003 since the
registration of the sale does not prevent the passing of control. If the facts of this case were different
and the registration was not merely a rubberstamp process because the authorities were required to
consider and accept or reject each transaction, it is likely that the date of acquisition could not be
earlier than the date of registration.

Public offers

When a public offer is made for the acquisition of shares, it is necessary to consider the nature and
terms of the offer and any other relevant laws or regulations. For example, J makes an offer to
acquire all of the shares in K and each shareholder can decide individually whether to accept or reject
the offer; the offer is conditional on at least 75 per cent acceptance. The offer is made on

15 September 2003 and the offer closes on 15 November 2003, at which time ownership of the
shares will be transferred. At 20 October 2003 enough offers have been accepted to give J its
minimum 75 per cent of the shares of K.

Whether or not J has the power to control K at 20 October 2003 will depend on the local laws and
regulations in respect of public offers. In our experience it is probable that J does not have the power
to control K's operations until the public offer has closed and J is able to make decisions and impose
its will on K's operations; if this is indeed the position, it means that the date of acquisition could not
be earlier than 15 November 2003.

In some countries an offer, at a certain minimum price, to buy the shares of all other shareholders
must be made once a shareholder owns a certain percentage of the voting rights in an entity (a
“mandatory offer”). Typically the acquirer obtains the power to control the voting rights associated
with each share as each individual shareholder accepts the offer.

Acquirer consulted on major decisions

In some cases the seller in a business combination agrees to consult the acquirer on major business
decisions prior to completion of the transaction. The requirement to consult the acquirer does not
mean necessarily that control of the operations has passed to the acquirer from this time. It is
necessary to consider all the relevant facts and circumstances to determine the substance of the
agreement between the parties.

For example, L makes an offer to buy all of the shares in M, which is wholly owned by N. The offer is
subject to the satisfactory completion of due diligence. In the meantime the parties agree that L
should be consulted on any major business decisions. In our view, L does not have the power to
govern M simply because it will be consulted on major decisions; L does not have the ability to do
whatever it likes with M's business and the due diligence is yet to be completed.

Cost of acquisition

The cost of acquisition is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid, plus the fair value of the other
purchase consideration given, plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The cost of
acquisition, including the fair value of any securities issued, is determined at the date of exchange,
which generally is the date that control is obtained.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the cost of the business combination is determined
at the date of each exchange transaction. For example, when it is achieved in stages by successive
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share purchases, the date of exchange is the date that each individual investment is recognised in
the financial statements of the acquirer (see 2.6.4).

The cost of an acquisition relates only to cost incurred to obtain control over the acquiree. If other
costs are incurred, they should be accounted for in accordance with the requirements of other
applicable IFRSs. However, in some cases it may be difficult to determine what a payment is for,
particularly when the recipient is a shareholder and a continuing employee of the acquiree.

Factors to consider include whether the payment is linked to future services and / or performance;
whether repayment is required if the employee leaves the entity within a specified period; the length
of any required employment period; equivalent payments received by shareholders who do not
become employees; and the formula used to determine the amount of the payment. It also is
important to understand the role of the employee within the organisation, the nature of the services
they provide, and the reasons for the payment.

Forthcoming requirements

In February 2004, a new standard (IFRS 2) was issued to provide guidance on accounting for share-
based payment transactions. IFRS 2 states that share-based payment transactions in which the
entity acquires goods as part of the net assets acquired in a business combination should be
accounted for under IFRS 3. However, a share-based payment transaction to employees of the
acquired entity in return for continued service should be accounted for under IFRS 2 (see 4.5A).

When employees also are shareholders, judgement is required to determine whether a share-based
payment transaction represents an additional cost for the acquired entity (a form of contingent
consideration) or payment for future services. IFRSs have no specific guidance on this matter. In our
view, guidance based on United States practice may be useful. US GAAP (EITF 95-8) identifies
factors to be considered including:

. Factors involving terms of continuing employment:

- Linkage of continuing employment and contingent consideration —an arrangement in which the
payments automatically are forfeited if employment terminates is a strong indicator that the
arrangement is compensation for post-combination services. Arrangements in which the
payments are not affected by employment may indicate that the payments are additional
purchase price.

- Duration of continuing employment — if the length of time of required employment coincides
with or is longer than the contingent payment period, that fact may indicate that the contingent
payments are, in substance, compensation.

- Level of compensation — situations in which employee compensation other than the
contingent payments is at a reasonable level compared to that of other key employees in the
combined entity may indicate that the contingent payments are additional purchase price
rather than compensation.

- Factors involving the composition of shareholder groups:

- Relative amounts of consideration — if selling shareholders who do not become employees
receive lower contingent payments on a per-share basis from payments received by the
selling shareholders who become employees of the combined entity, this may indicate that
the incremental amount per share of contingent payments to the selling shareholders who
become employees is compensation.

- Relative relationships — the relative number of shares owned by the selling shareholders who
remain as key employees may be an indicator of the substance of the contingent
consideration arrangement. For example, if selling shareholders who owned substantially all of
the shares of the acquired entity continue as key employees; this may be an indication that
the arrangement is, in substance, a profit-sharing arrangement intended to provide
compensation for post-combination services. Alternatively, if selling shareholders who
continue as key employees owned only a minor number of shares of the acquired entity and
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all selling shareholders receive the same amount of contingent consideration on a per-share
basis, this may indicate that the contingent payments are additional purchase price.

- Pre-acquisition ownership interests —the pre-acquisition ownership interests held by parties
related to selling shareholders who continue as key employees, such as family members, also
should be considered.

Understanding the reasons why the acquisition agreement includes contingent payment terms may
be helpful in assessing the substance of the arrangement. For example, if the initial consideration
paid at the acquisition date is based on the low end of a range established in the valuation of the
acquired entity and the contingent formula relates to that valuation approach, that may suggest that
the contingent payments are additional purchase price. Alternatively, if the contingent payment
formula is consistent with prior profit-sharing arrangements, that may suggest that the substance of
the arrangement is to provide compensation.

Fair value of securities issued

When shares are issued as consideration, IAS 22 and SIC-28 are silent in respect of the exact share
price to be used in determining fair value; in our view, it should be the current bid price, which is
consistent with the guidance in IAS 39 for measuring the fair value of financial instrument assets
(see 3.6).

Securities issued may include share options. Although IAS 19 does not specify recognition and
measurement requirements for equity compensation benefits, this exclusion applies only in the
context of benefits paid to employees#. There is no similar exemption in respect of shares or share
options issued as consideration for obtaining control in a business combination. In our view, shares
issued as consideration in an acquisition should be measured at fair value. In our view, in the
absence of an observable market price, the fair value of share options should be determined using
a suitable option-pricing model.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 2 introduces requirements for the recognition and measurement of equity compensation with
effect from 1 January 2005 (see 4.5A). Equity instruments issued in a business combination in
exchange for control of the acquiree are not within the scope of IFRS 2; instead they must be
accounted for as consideration paid in a business combination. However, equity instruments granted
to employees of the acquiree in their capacity as employees are within the scope of IFRS 2, even if
they are granted at the date control passes in a business combination.

When the securities issued are listed, the quoted price at the date of acquisition is used to determine
the cost of acquisition except in “rare circumstances” when the quoted price is considered to be
unreliable. However, before using an alternative measure of fair value both of the following conditions
must be met:

. the quoted price must be considered unreliable either because it has been affected by undue price
fluctuations or because of the narrowness (or thinness) of the market; and
. it must be demonstrated that the alternative measure of fair value is a more reliable fair value.

In our view, the above criteria are very difficult to meet and in almost all cases the quoted share
price will be used to determine the cost of acquisition.

Even though the sale of a large block of shares may result in a discount or premium to the
quoted price, use of the actual quoted price is required. Accordingly any potential discount or
premium is ignored.
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When a new entity is formed for the purpose of listing subsequent to the business combination,
judgement is required to assess whether the share price used in determining the cost of acquisition
should be that of the newly listed entity.

For example, unlisted entity N acquires O's operations in return for issuing shares to O's
shareholders; N lists some months later, which was planned at the time of the acquisition. In valuing
the shares issued there are two choices:

- using the share price of N once listed; or

. on the basis that the acquirer is not listed, estimating the fair value by reference to either the
proportional interest in the fair value of N's operations obtained by O’s shareholders, or the
proportional interest in the fair value of O's operations acquired.

In our view, it is preferable, in this example, to determine the fair value of the shares issued by
reference to the fair value of either N's or O’s operations; since a number of months pass prior to N
being listed, the eventual share price is not clearly that of the acquirer at the date of acquisition.
However, we believe that N's post-float share price should be considered if N lists within a short
period after the acquisition because it provides relevant and objective information about the value of
the consideration given to O's shareholders.

Liabilities incurred or assumed

Forthcoming requirements

Under IFRS 3, the cost of a business combination includes liabilities incurred or assumed by the
acquirer in exchange for control of the acquiree. Future losses or other costs expected to be incurred
due to the acquisition are not part of the cost of the business combination as they are not liabilities
(see 3.11).

Directly attributable costs

Costs directly attributable to the acquisition include professional fees as well as the cost of issuing
equity securities#, but exclude the costs of issuing debt, which are deducted from the debt’s
carrying amount.

Forthcoming requirements
Under IFRS 3, the costs of issuing equity securities no longer may be included as part of the cost of
a business combination.

Internal costs are included to the extent that they can be attributed directly to the particular acquisition.
The cost of maintaining an acquisitions department cannot be capitalised because the work of the
department is not directed at a specific acquisition; rather, it is regarded as a general administrative
cost. There is no requirement for the directly attributable costs to be incremental. For example, a
member of an entity’s accounting team is assigned to work full-time on determining the fair values of
the assets and liabilities of an acquiree for a period of six weeks prior to the date of acquisition. In our
view, the acquirer may include the cost of the employee’s benefits for that sixweek period in the cost
of acquisition even though that salary cost would have been incurred regardless of the acquisition.
However, in practice the determination of the cost of acquisition often reflects only external costs.

IFRSs refer to the cost of acquisition being incurred by the acquirer. In our view, costs incurred by the
acquiree should not be capitalised unless the acquirer reimburses the acquiree for them.

In some cases the acquirer may employ a “finder” to identify potential acquisition targets. If the
finder is employed by the acquirer to find a target, in our view, the finder's fee should be expensed,
because it does not relate to a specific acquisition and is similar to the cost of maintaining an
acquisitions department. If the acquiree employs the finder and the acquirer pays the fee only if the
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deal goes through, then we believe that the fee should be capitalised as part of the cost of
acquisition. However, if the acquirer pays the fee regardless of whether the deal goes through, then
we believe that the fee should be expensed as incurred.

Interest incurred on a loan obtained for the purpose of acquiring a subsidiary cannot be capitalised
since IFRSs do not allow borrowing costs attributable to an investment (other than investment
property) to be capitalised.

Transaction costs are capitalised gross of any related deferred tax, which is accounted for separately
(see 3.12).

Deferred consideration

When payment in a business combination is deferred, the amount payable is discounted to its
present value. However, the discount rate to be used is not specified. In our view, the amount
payable falls within the scope of IAS 39 and should be discounted using a market rate of interest for
a similar instrument of an issuer with a similar credit rating (see 3.6).

Contingent consideration

A liability is recognised for contingent consideration as soon as payment becomes probable and the
amount can be measured reliably. The purchase price subsequently is adjusted against goodwill or
negative goodwill as the estimate of the amount payable is revised.

There is no time limit on the adjustment of contingent consideration. Adjustments may arise as a
result of changes in estimates, or when an amount becomes probable and can be measured reliably.

Although IFRSs refer to the reliable measurement of contingent consideration, often it will not be
possible to determine the exact amount of contingent payments with certainty (e.g., if the contingent
payment is a percentage of future profits). However, IFRSs accept that there will be some
uncertainty and conclude that this uncertainty does not impair the reliability of the information. For
example, P acquires Q's operations and pays 120,000 up-front. P also agrees to pay an additional
amount equal to five per cent of the first year's profits following the acquisition. Q historically has
made profits of 20,000 to 30,000 each year, and P expects profits of at least 20,000 in the first year,
which means that an additional payment of 1,000 would be required. Accordingly, the 1,000 should
be recognised immediately as a liability and additional purchase price since the payment is probable
even though the exact level of future profits is uncertain.

Continuing this example, suppose that the contingent payment is five per cent of the first year's
profits that are in excess of those being earned currently by Q. In this case P’'s forecasts and
plans, as well as industry and growth trends, would be considered in assessing whether excess
profits are probable.

Care should be taken to ensure that amounts characterised as contingency payments are actually
contingent rather than representing either deferred consideration that should be recognised
immediately (see Deferred consideration above) or payments for other reasons related to ongoing
operations that should be expensed as incurred (see above).

For example, R acquires S's operations and pays 100,000 up-front. R also agrees to pay an additional
amount that is the higher of 2,000 and five per cent of the first year's profits following the acquisition.
In this case the minimum additional amount payable is 2,000, which is known. Accordingly, the
amount should be recognised as deferred rather than contingent consideration. In addition, R should
assess whether any additional amount of contingent consideration is probable.

IFRSs are silent on whether contingent consideration should be discounted in the same way as
deferred consideration. In our view, when the payment of contingent consideration is deferred, any
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amount recognised should be discounted to its present value. The purchase consideration is not
adjusted for the subsequent effect of any discounting; instead unwinding of the discount is
recognised as an interest expense.

When contingent consideration is recognised or adjusted after the date of acquisition, the amount of
the purchase price, including goodwill, will change. This raises the question of whether goodwill
amortisation should be recalculated retrospectively (with the cumulative adjustment being recognised
in the current period) or prospectively#. SIC-22 requires that goodwill is recalculated retrospectively
when an adjustment is made to the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities. However, IFRSs
are silent as to the treatment of an adjustment to consideration. In our view, either treatment
(retrospective recalculation of goodwill as described in SIC-22 or prospective adjustment of goodwill)
is acceptable and an entity should make an accounting policy election in this regard, which is applied
consistently to all acquisitions.

These requirements apply equally to contingent consideration payable in the form of shares. However,
when shares are issued subsequent to the date of acquisition, it is not clear whether the share price
used to measure the additional consideration should be that at the date of acquisition or at the date that
the shares are issued. In our view, either treatment is acceptable as long as the entity makes an
accounting policy election in this regard, which is applied consistently to all acquisitions.

Forthcoming requirements

Under IFRS 3, after initial recognition goodwill and certain other intangibles with indefinite lives are
measured at cost less accumulated impairment charges, and are not amortised. Goodwill is adjusted
for changes to the estimate of contingent consideration recognised. Therefore, the issue of
retrospective or prospective treatment of the change in consideration is not relevant.

Contingent consideration in the financial statements of the seller

In our view, contingent consideration in the financial statements of the seller should be accounted for
in accordance with |AS 37; it is not excluded from the scope of that standard. Accordingly, we
believe that the seller should account for contingent consideration as a contingent asset, since the
amount represents a possible asset whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of uncertain future events. This means that the seller will recognise contingent
consideration only when payment becomes virtually certain (see 3.11).

Payments as a guarantee of value

Any payments made by the acquirer under a guarantee of the value of its shares or debt issued as
consideration do not increase the cost of acquisition. If equity instruments are issued, the debit side
of the entry is to equity, thus reducing the premium in respect of the share issue for the acquisition.
If debt instruments are issued no accounting entry is necessary since both the debit and credit side
of the entry are to the liability. However, this has the effect of increasing the discount on initial
recognition (or reducing any premium) because the face value of the liability would have increased,
which will be made up over the life of the debt using the effective interest method (see 3.6).

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired#

The identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree that existed at the date of acquisition, plus
certain restructuring provisions, are recognised in the consolidated financial statements and
measured at fair value, except that the portion attributable to the minority interest may be based
on the acquiree’s book values# (see 2.5). This is an accounting policy election that should be
applied consistently to all acquisitions.

For example, T acquires 80 per cent of the shares in V. V's assets include property with a carrying
amount of 100 and a fair value of 150. If the assets are recognised at full fair value in the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount of the property will be increased by 50 with
10 of that increase being credited to minority interests. The 10 represents the minority share of the
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increase in the value of the property (50 x 20 per cent). If the portion attributable to the minority
interest is based on the acquiree’s book values, the property will have an initial carrying amount of
140 in the consolidated financial statements (150 x 80 per cent + 100 x 20 per cent).

Forthcoming requirements

Under IFRS 3, the acquirer recognises not only the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities at their
fair value but also any acquired contingent liabilities. Further, subsidiaries and certain other assets (or
asset groups) acquired solely with the intention of disposal in the short term are consolidated but are
classified as non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale. Assets held for sale are measured
at fair value less costs to sell (see 5.4A). Liabilities in respect of restructuring the acquired
businesses are recognised if, and only if, the acquiree has an existing liability at the acquisition date
(see below).

Under IFRS 3 if the acquirer does not obtain all of the ownership interests in the acquiree, the
minority’s portion of the recognised fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities is assigned to minority interest. An entity no longer is permitted to measure the
minority interest based on the historical cost of the acquired entity.

Consequently, in the above example, assuming that no contingent liabilities exist, the minority
interest in respect of the property must be measured at 30 (150 x 20 per cent).

The liabilities recognised as part of the purchase accounting generally exclude those that arise

from the acquirer’s intentions or future actions. They also exclude future losses and other costs that
will be incurred as a result of the acquisition. As an exception a restructuring provision may be
recognised if certain strict criteria are met (see below)#.

Forthcoming requirements

Under IFRS 3, restructuring liabilities are recognised on acquisition only when they represent a
liability recognised under IAS 37 (see 3.11) by the acquiree at the acquisition date. An acquiree’s
restructuring plan that is conditional upon it being acquired is not, immediately before the business
combination, a present obligation of the acquiree nor is it a contingent liability.

IFRSs provide general guidelines on the determination of fair values for various assets and
liabilities. This section discusses some of the problematic issues that may arise.

To the extent that the fair value adjustments recognised as part of the purchase accounting give rise
to temporary differences, deferred tax is recognised. However, deferred tax in respect of goodwill is not
recognised unless the goodwill is tax deductible. To the extent that the negative goodwill is deferred and
amortised, deferred tax in respect of negative goodwill is not recognised#. The recognition of deferred
tax in respect of business combinations is discussed in more detail in 3.12.

Forthcoming requirements

Under IFRS 3 negative goodwill is recognised in the income statement immediately. As a result,

IAS 12 was amended to prohibit recognition of a deferred tax asset relating to negative goodwill. This
amendment of IAS 12 must be applied when, and only when, an entity adopts IFRS 3 (see 3.12).

General recognition and measurement requirements#

In determining whether an asset or liability should be recognised as part of the purchase accounting,
IAS 22 refers to the assets and liabilities of the acquiree that existed at the date of acquisition. The
standard acknowledges that the items may not have been recognised previously by the acquiree, for
example, because the recognition criteria of a specific standard were not met. This indicates that the
recognition criteria should be assessed from the point of view of the acquirer and the larger group.
However, in assessing the criteria from the acquirer’s point of view, care should be taken not to take
account of the acquirer’s intentions or future actions.
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Forthcoming requirements

Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognised only if they satisfy initial
recognition criteria set out in IFRS 3. The recognition criteria in IFRS 3, generally are consistent with
the “regular” recognition criteria in other standards (i.e., the criteria that would apply if the asset or
liability was acquired or incurred outside of a business combination). However, special criteria are
included in respect of intangible assets and contingent liabilities that may result in assets and
liabilities being recognised as acquired items that would not be recognised if acquired outside of a
business combination. If, as a result of the business combination, it becomes probable that the
acquirer will recover its own deferred tax asset that was not recognised previously, recognition of the
deferred tax asset is not included in the initial accounting for the business combination and instead it
is recognised in the income statement (see Deferred tax assets below).

Inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress

Inventories of finished goods are valued at selling prices less the costs of disposal and a reasonable
profit margin for the selling effort of the acquirer. Similarly, inventories of work-in-progress are valued
at selling prices less the costs to complete, including the costs of disposal and a reasonable profit
margin for the completion and selling effort of the acquirer.

Judgement is required in determining a reasonable amount of profit attributable to the effort incurred
by the acquiree pre-acquisition, and the profit attributable to the effort that is likely to be incurred by
the acquirer post-acquisition. In our view, the analysis should take into account the current
profitability of the product at the date of acquisition, even if conditions were different when the
inventory was manufactured.

For example, the acquiree has finished goods measured at a cost of 100; the expected selling price is
150. The inventory is specialised and there are very few potential customers; this inventory already
has been earmarked for one of those customers. Distribution costs are estimated at 20. In the
absence of any additional factors, in our view, the fair value of the inventory would be close to 130
(150 - 20) because the selling effort to be incurred by the seller is minimal.

Land and buildings

Land and buildings are required to be stated at market value. Although not defined specifically for the
purpose of accounting for a business combination, market value has a similar meaning to fair value
but in the context of an active market. This means that disposal costs are not deducted in
determining fair value.

In our view, market value is the price that could be obtained for the land and buildings, without
regard to their existing use. For example, an acquiree owns offices situated in a prime residential
location. The value of the property as residential real estate exceeds its value as an office building.
Accordingly, market value should be determined based on its value as residential real estate (see
also 3.2 for further discussion about determining the fair value of property).

Intangible assets

As noted above, in order to recognise an intangible asset separately from goodwill, it should meet
the definition and recognition criteria in IAS 38. In order to meet the definition of an intangible asset
the item must be identifiable# and the entity must have control over it.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised IAS 38 clarifies how to assess the identifiability of an intangible asset, whether acquired
in a business combination or otherwise. An intangible asset is considered identifiable if it arises from
contractual or legal rights or is separable.

In our experience, many of the issues encountered in this area concern the control test. For example,
in our view an acquiree’s workforce generally cannot be recognised as a separate asset because
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there is insufficient control. The same applies to assets such as customer relationships# and
market share. In contrast, a customer list is controlled by the entity and should be valued as part
of the purchase accounting if it could be sold to third parties. In this regard, it is important to ensure
that the valuation performed is of the list itself, and does not include any value in respect of the
customer relationship.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised guidance in IFRS 3 on recognition of acquired intangibles notes that customer
relationships may qualify for recognition if exchange transactions (other than as part of a business
combination) for similar relationships provide evidence of control and of identifiability (i.e., through
separability), even if the acquired customer relationships do not arise from contractual or legal rights.

An acquiree’s research projects in progress should not be recognised separately since IAS 38

42,43 (1998) presumes that the recognition criteria for intangible assets are not met (i.e., the probability of

IFRS 3.45,
IAS 38.34,
35,42, 43

IFRS
3.B16(g),
IAS 38.78

IAS 22.40
(1998)

IFRS
3.B16(g)

receiving future economic benefits cannot be demonstrated at the research stage of a project)#.
Similarly, an acquiree’s development projects in progress should be recognised separately only if the
specific capitalisation criteria in IAS 38 are met (see 3.3). In assessing these criteria, they should be
considered from the point of view of the acquirer and the enlarged group.

Forthcoming requirements

As a result of the revisions made to IAS 38 in connection with IFRS 3, it is more likely that an entity
will be required to recognise an acquired intangible asset for an in-process research or development
project (IPR&D). IFRS 3 requires IPR&D that meets the definition of an intangible asset, and can be
measured reliably, to be recognised separately from goodwill and capitalised and amortised as an
intangible asset with a finite life. The fair value of an intangible asset acquired in a business
combination normally can be measured reliably.

In most cases the fair value of an intangible asset cannot be determined by reference to an active
market because it is unique; examples include trademarks, brands and newspaper mastheads. As a
result, the fair value of many acquired intangibles will have to be measured based on valuations that
estimate what the asset would cost on an arm'’s length basis.

In such cases the fair value of the intangible asset is limited to an amount that does not create or
increase negative goodwill#.

Forthcoming requirements
Under IFRS 3 there is no limit on the fair value of an acquired intangible related to the amount of
negative goodwill recognised.

Goodwill recognised by the acquiree prior to the date of acquisition is not an identifiable asset of the
acquiree when accounting for the business combination.

Valuation of an acquiree’s investment in an associate

Goodwill attributable to an investment in an associate is included in the carrying amount of the
associate (see 3.5). Accordingly, when an entity acquires a group that includes an investment in an
associate accounted for under the equity method, the goodwill attributable to the associate should be
identified separately and measured at the date of the business combination based on the total
purchase price paid for the group.

For example, W acquires X, whose assets include an investment in associate Y. In our view, W
should determine the cost of acquisition forY as part of the purchase price allocation. W would
measure the fair value of the acquired investment inY as if W had acquired this investment in an
associate directly. Any difference between the fair value of the investment inY at the date that W
acquired X and X's book value of the investment inY is a purchase price adjustment recognised on

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY General issues 77

IFRS
3.B16(i)

IAS 12.67

IFRS
3.B16(h),
IAS 19.108

IAS 22.29
(1998)

IFRS 3.42

IFRS 3.42

2.6 Business combinations

consolidation. This purchase price adjustment may result in recognition in W's consolidated group
financial statements of goodwill related to Y. This goodwill is included as part of the investment in X in
the W group consolidated financial statements. However, it is measured as goodwill (see 3.5).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised at the probable amount of the tax benefit that will be recovered,
assessed from the point of view of the acquirer and the enlarged group. The general recognition and
measurement guidance of IAS 12 is applied to determine which deferred tax assets are probable of
recovery (see 3.12). The assessment includes deferred tax assets of the acquirer that were not
recognised previously, but which probably will be recovered as a result of the business combination#.

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised IAS 12, deferred tax assets of the acquirer must be recognised if their recovery
becomes probable due the business combination. However, the revision of that estimate of recovery
is not part of the purchase price allocation, and instead is recognised in the income statement.

Defined benefit plans

Pension surpluses (to the extent recoverable) and deficits are recognised at the full present value of
the obligation less the fair value of any plan assets (i.e., all actuarial gains and losses and past
service costs are recognised — see 4.4). In our view, the valuation should be performed using
actuarial assumptions that are appropriate to the acquirer (without taking into account the acquirer’s
intentions or future actions, such as an intention to change the terms of the plan to conform to the
acquirer’'s existing plan); this is consistent with the general requirement to assess the recognition
criteria from the point of view of the acquirer (see above).

Modification of employee benefits triggered by the acquisition

In some cases a pre-existing employee contract may provide that the employee is entitled to an
additional benefit if there is a change of control. For example, a key executive’s contract may provide
that he or she will receive a lump sum payment if the entity is taken over. IAS 22 is silent as to
whether such benefits are recognised as an assumed liability as part of the purchase accounting.

In our view, an entity should recognise an assumed liability on the basis that this pre-existing
contingent liability becomes an actual liability at the moment that the acquisition occurs and
therefore requires recognition#.

Forthcoming requirements

Under IFRS 3, a payment that an entity is contractually required to make in the event of a business
combination is a contingent liability of that entity. The business combination makes an outflow of
resources to settle the obligation probable. Therefore, a liability is recognised as an identifiable liability
on acquisition.

The above example should be distinguished from the situation where the acquirer decides to alter an
employees’ contract on its own initiative. For example, a number of the acquiree’'s employees are
entitled to a company car. The acquirer renegotiates the contracts and the employees receive a lump
sum cash bonus in lieu of the car scheme, which is terminated. No liability in respect of the lump
sum payment should be recognised as part of the purchase accounting since it results from a post-
acquisition action by the acquirer.

Liability for which there is no known exposure

In some cases, an entity that makes regular acquisitions in a particular industry may know, based
on its past experience, that further liabilities always arise after the initial fair values have been
assigned, and it may be able to estimate the amount of further liabilities that are likely to arise.
However, unless a specific exposure can be identified at the date of acquisition, no additional
liabilities should be recognised in the initial purchase accounting#.
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An adjustment might be made to the purchase accounting if subsequent evidence shows that a
liability did indeed exist at the date of acquisition (see below under Fair value adjustments).

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 requires contingent liabilities to be recognised at their fair value on acquisition. The situation
described above could be an indicator of the existence of contingent liabilities that must be
recognised as acquired obligations (see below). However, a general provision on the basis that it is
probable that contingent liabilities will be identified in the future cannot be recognised under IFRS 3.

Operating leases#

IAS 22 is silent on the recognition of favourable or unfavourable operating leases as an identifiable
asset or liability separate from goodwill. For example, an entity may have entered into a lease
agreement in the past that is now at a substantial discount to market rates. In our view, an entity may
make an accounting policy election, which should be applied consistently to all acquisitions, either:

. torecognise an asset or liability in respect of operating leases on the basis that at the date of
acquisition a portion of the purchase price was in respect of the off-market lease and represents a
lease prepayment or payable from the point of view of the acquirer; or

- to not recognise any asset or liability on the basis that the accounting for operating leases is
governed by IAS 17 which does not provide for any intangible asset to be recognised in respect of
the lease agreement itself.

However, if an acquired lease is onerous (e.g., for office space that will not be used and cannot
be sublet) then an onerous contract would exist, and a provision under IAS 37 would be
recognised on acquisition.

Forthcoming requirements
IFRS 3 states that a favourable operating lease contract is an identifiable intangible asset with a fair
value above zero. Therefore, the acquired intangible must be recognised separately.

Government grants

The acquiree may have received a government grant that has been either deducted from the cost
of the related asset or recognised separately as deferred income (see 4.3). In our view, any
remaining unamortised portion of the government grant should not be recognised as part of the
purchase accounting:

. If the government grant was deducted from the carrying amount of the related asset, the asset
will be recognised at fair value and there is no basis in IFRSs for the unamortised portion of the
grant to be deducted from that fair value.

. If the government grant was recognised as deferred income, the amount does not meet the
definition of a liability and therefore should not be recognised as part of the purchase accounting.

Contingent liabilities and assets

Contingent liabilities should not be recognised as part of the purchase accounting because they do
not meet the criteria for recognition as liabilities set out in IAS 37#. For example, at the date of
acquisition the acquiree is subject to legal action by a disgruntled customer. The acquiree regarded
the legal action as trivial and did not recognise a liability since payment was not considered probable.
At the date of acquisition the acquirer concurs with the judgement of the acquiree. Accordingly, no
liability is recognised as part of the purchase accounting.
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Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 requires contingent liabilities to be recognised at fair value on acquisition. If, after initial
recognition, the contingent liability becomes a current obligation, and the provision required under

IAS 37 (see 3.11) is higher than the fair value recognised at acquisition, the liability is increased with
any additional amount recognised as a current period item (i.e., in the income statement). If, after
initial recognition the provision required by IAS 37 is lower than the amount recognised at acquisition,
the liability is recognised at the fair value on acquisition and decreased only for amortisation or upon
settlement. In our view, accretion of any discount on a provision recognised for an acquired
contingent liability is interest expense that should be recognised in the income statement. The
accretion should not be recognised as an adjustment of the purchase price.

In our view, the recognition criteria of IAS 37 apply to acquired contingent assets. IAS 37 does not
allow recognition as an asset until receipt is virtually certain.

Restructuring provisions#

A restructuring provision in relation to the acquiree is recognised as part of the purchase accounting if
the main features of the restructuring are planned and announced by the date of acquisition; a
detailed formal plan then is required within three months of the acquisition or by the date of
authorisation of the financial statements (whichever is earlier).

IAS 3770-83 The recognition of a restructuring provision under IAS 22 is an exception to the general recognition

IAS 22.31
(1999)

IAS 22.31

requirements for restructuring provisions in IAS 37 (see 3.11). This section discusses only those
issues that relate to a business combination.

A restructuring provision does not include any costs associated with the restructuring of the
acquirer’s activities even though such restructuring may be caused by the acquisition. In addition,
IAS 22 limits the types of activities that can be included in the restructuring to:

- terminating employment contracts;
. closing facilities;

. eliminating product lines; or

. terminating onerous contracts.

This above list of activities is exhaustive and other costs should not be included in the restructuring

(1999), 3780 provision.

IFRS 3.41

IFRS 3.B
16(1),
IAS 36.5

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 limits restructuring liabilities recognised as part of the cost of an acquisition to those liabilities
that, under the recognition criteria of IAS 37 would be recognised by the acquiree at the acquisition
date (see 3.11). A restructuring plan that is conditional upon a future business combination is not,
immediately before the business combination, a present obligation of the acquiree noris it a
contingent liability. Therefore, under IFRS 3, a provision for the acquiree’s planned restructuring of the
acquired business cannot be recognised as part of the business combination..

Impairment losses

As noted above, the carrying amounts of assets acquired in a business combination are determined
by reference to their fair value. There is no basis in IAS 22 for recognising an asset at a lower value in
the event that the asset's recoverable amount is its net selling price and the estimated disposal
costs are material (see 3.9)#. In the rare event that this did occur, our view is that any impairment
loss should be recognised as a post-acquisition event.

For example, the fair value of an owneroccupied property is 800. The property was used by the
acquiree, but will not be used after the business combination due to redundancies . The acquiree
estimated that disposal costs (e.g., marketing, legal fees) would be approximately 50. The property
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should be recognised at its fair value of 800 in the purchase accounting. After the acquisition the
acquirer should reassess the recoverable amount of the property based on its future plans and
intentions, and should recognise a post-acquisition impairment loss of 50 (assuming that the net
selling price of 750 is greater than the value in use).

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 5 amended IFRS 3 to require that assets acquired in a business combination that are classified
as held for sale are recognised at fair value less costs to sell (see 5.4A). As a result, the property in
the example above would be measured at 750 in the purchase accounting assuming it met the
criteria to be classified as held for sale.

Fair value adjustments

Time period allowed#

In general, the period for identifying acquired assets and liabilities and adjusting their fair values
against goodwill or negative goodwill must not go beyond the end of the first annual accounting
period commencing after the acquisition. For example, an acquirer, which has a December balance
sheet date, acquired a new subsidiary in March 2002. Fair value adjustments may not be made after
31 December 2003.

As exceptions to the above time limit:

Any additional restructuring provision recognised cannot be increased against goodwill after the
earlier of three months from the date of acquisition and the authorisation of the first financial
statements following the acquisition; and any reversals of the restructuring provision always are
adjusted against goodwvill.

- Increases (but not decreases) to the deferred tax assets of the acquiree (but not of the acquirer)
are adjusted against goodwill indefinitely.

Fair value adjustments should be recognised only to the extent that they do not increase the carrying
amount of goodwill above its recoverable amount (see 3.9). In addition, adjustments made outside of
the above time frame should be recognised in the income statement.

In our view, the above limit on recognising an additional restructuring provision relates to a new
provision recognised subsequent to the date of acquisition, and not to a change in estimate for an
existing restructuring provision that was recognised as part of the purchase accounting originally.
We believe that any such changes in estimate should follow the general rule for fair value
adjustments (i.e., any adjustments recorded as revisions to the purchase price should be made by
the end of the first annual accounting period commencing after the acquisition).

For example, a restructuring provision of 100 was recognised as part of the purchase accounting.
The provision comprised an amount of 80 for staff redundancies and 20 for terminating a lease
agreement. Six months after the acquisition negotiations with the unions are completed and the final
amount payable in respect of redundancies is 90. In our view, the change in estimate is recognised
as a fair value adjustment.

If an entity can determine the fair values of an acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities only on a
provisional basis at the end of the period in which a business combination occurs, it should disclose
that fact. However, such disclosure is not a condition that must be met in order to adjust those fair
values, and there also is no requirement that the acquirer should have been actively seeking additional
fair value information. For example, an acquirer completes its fair value exercise and accordingly does
not disclose that those fair values are provisional. In the following period the acquirer discovers by
chance that an additional asset should have been recognised separately from goodwill. The entity
should make the fair value adjustment (subject to the considerations below).

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY General issues 81

IAS 8.41,

22.71,72

(1998)

IFRS 3.62

IFRS 3.63,
65

IAS 12.67

IFRS 3.62

IAS 22.72,
73(1998),
IFRS 3.36

IAS 22.72,
(1998)

2.6 Business combinations

IAS 22 contains no guidance on whether the above time limits apply even where errors are found in
the purchase accounting. In our view, the guidance in IAS 8 applies to any errors that are discovered
in respect of the purchase accounting (see 2.8) because the adjustments referred to in IAS 22 relate to
the recognition criteria not being met and additional evidence becoming available. Such adjustments are
different from errors, which relate to mistakes, oversight, misinterpretation and fraud.

Forthcoming requirements
IFRS 3 limits the time period for adjusting the fair values assigned to assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities against goodwill to 12 months from the date of acquisition.

Adjustments to the fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities after the 12-month period
are recognised only to correct errors (see 2.8), or to adjust deferred tax assets that could not be
recognised separately at the date of acquisition.

When such a deferred tax asset is recognised, income is increased (see 3.12) and goodwill is
reduced to the amount that would have been recognised if the deferred tax asset had been
recognised at the date of acquisition. Any reduction in goodwill is recognised as an expense.

The acquirer may be able to recover its own deferred tax asset that was not recognised before the
business combination, for example, against the future taxable profit of the acquiree. In such a case
the acquirer recognises the deferred tax asset but does not include it as part of the accounting for the
business combination. It is recognised through the income statement (see 3.12).

The new standard does not allow recognition of assets or liabilities that meet the recognition
criteria of IFRSs only after the date of acquisition. It allows estimation of provisional fair values for
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition and requires all assets,
including intangibles assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities to be identified separately at the
date of the acquisition.

Types of adjustments allowed#

In order for an adjustment to be made to the fair values determined originally, it must be demonstrated
that the new evidence provides better evidence of the item’s fair value at the date of acquisition.
If an asset acquired in a business combination is impaired shortly after the acquisition date, this may
be evidence that the value assigned in purchase accounting was overstated. The purchase price
allocation (including goodwill) should be adjusted if the impairment is identified within the time period
allowed, unless the loss relates to specific events or changes in circumstances occurring after
the date of acquisition.

For example, at the date of acquisition the fair value of the acquiree’s head office is estimated at
4,000. Two months after the acquisition the real estate market declines significantly due to an
unexpected change in land-use laws and the value of the property falls to 2,500. The fall in value
relates to a post-acquisition event and accordingly no adjustment to goodwill should be made.
Instead, the property is assessed for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 and any resulting loss is
recognised in the income statement (see 3.9).

The new information may provide evidence of an asset or liability that existed at the date of
acquisition, but which was not recognised, either because the recognition criteria were not met or
because the acquirer was unaware of its existence. For example, at the date of acquisition the
acquiree had a contingent asset (legal action) that was not included as part of the purchase
accounting. Four months later the action is settled and the acquiree receives a settlement of 500.

In our view, a fair value adjustment should be made because the settlement confirms that an asset
existed at the date of acquisition.
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Forthcoming requirements

The new standard does not allow recognition of assets or liabilities that meet the recognition
criteria of IFRSs only after the date of acquisition. It allows estimation of provisional fair values for
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition and requires all assets,
including intangibles assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities to be identified separately at the
date of the acquisition.

In another example, at the date of acquisition the acquiree had development projects in progress that
were not recognised because the acquiree had concluded that the criteria for capitalisation in IAS 38
were not met; in particular, it was not probable that the product would generate future economic
benefits. At the time of the acquisition the acquirer agreed with this assessment and no asset was
recognised as part of the purchase accounting. Two months later the acquirer completes its
assessment of the future economic benefits and now is satisfied that the development project met
the criteria for capitalisation at the date of acquisition#.

In our view, it is preferable for the acquirer to recognise the asset as a fair value adjustment on the
basis that IAS 22 refers explicitly to identifiable assets and liabilities that did not appear to meet the
recognition criteria at the date of acquisition, but which subsequently are determined to have done
so. Another approach would be not to recognise any asset on the basis that IAS 38 is explicit that
amounts expensed previously should not be recognised as part of the cost of an intangible at a later
date. In any event an entity should be consistent in its approach to these items in all acquisitions.
In contrast, if the criteria for capitalisation were met only because of circumstances that arose after
the date of acquisition, goodwill could not be adjusted.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 requires an in-process research or development (IPR&D) project that meets the definition of
an intangible asset (which normally is the case) and for which fair value can be measured reliably, to
be recognised separately from goodwill. Subsequent to acquisition, this intangible asset is measured
under the revised IAS 38 (see 3.3).

Adjusting goodwill

If the fair values of identifiable assets or liabilities are adjusted, goodwill or negative goodwill is
adjusted with effect from the date of acquisition, but with the cumulative effect of the adjustment
recognised in the current period income statement.

When deferred tax assets of the acquiree are realised in excess of the amount recognised at the date
of acquisition as part of the purchase accounting:

- the additional tax benefit is recognised in the income statement in the tax line; and

. goodwill is adjusted to the amount that would have been recognised if the tax benefit had been
recognised as part of the purchase accounting, and the adjustment (net of subsequent
amortisation) also is recognised in the income statement.

For example, C acquired D on 1 July 2002 giving rise to goodwill of 100, which is being amortised#
over 10 years; as part of the purchase accounting a deferred tax asset relating to D of 20 was
recognised. At 31 December 2004, C concludes that a deferred tax asset of 40 should have been
recognised in respect of D. If a deferred tax asset of 40 had been recognised, goodwill would have
been reduced to 80. Over the period to 31 December 2004 this would have decreased the
amortisation of goodwill by five (20/120 months x 30 months); the net adjustment to goodwill is

15 (20 - B).
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Therefore, the following journal entries are required:

Debit Credit
Deferred tax asset 20
Income statement (income taxes) 20
Income statement (operating expenses) 15
Goodwvill 15

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 requires goodwill to be recorded at cost less accumulated impairment losses after initial
recognition. Goodwill is not amortised, as required previously under IAS 22, but instead is subject to
impairment testing at least annually.

Goodwill

The accounting for goodwill is discussed in 3.3. However, in summary goodwill arising in financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after 1 January 1995 must be capitalised and amortised
over its estimated useful life, which generally does not exceed 20 years#.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 requires goodwill to be recorded at cost less accumulated impairment losses after initial
recognition. Goodwill is not amortised, as previously required under IAS 22, but instead is subject to
impairment testing at least annually.

Negative goodwill#
Unamortised negative goodwill is presented as a deduction from the asset category containing
goodwill — effectively as a negative asset. It is credited to the income statement as follows:

. first, to the extent that it relates to post-acquisition losses and expenses that are identified in the
acquirer's plans for the acquisition and can be measured reliably, at the same time as those
losses and expenses are recognised;

- the balance, up to the amount of the fair value of the non-monetary assets acquired, over the
useful life of the acquired depreciable / amortisable non-monetary assets; and

. any remaining balance, immediately.

Although IAS 22 does not place a time limit on the losses and expenses to which negative goodwill
should be matched, the losses and expenses must have been identified in the acquirer’s acquisition
plan. The acquirer cannot decide subsequently to match the negative goodwill against unexpected
losses and expenses that arise.

If the identified losses and expenses exceed the amount of negative goodwill recognised, in our
view, it would be preferable to recognise the negative goodwill on a pro rata basis over the period,
rather than matching the negative goodwill exactly until it is exhausted. For example, losses of 500,
200 and 100 are expected over three years, and negative goodwill is 600. We believe it would be
preferable to recognise 375 of the negative goodwill in year one (600/800 x 500), 150 in year two and
75 in year three.

After matching negative goodwill to expected losses and expenses, the next step is to set aside an
amount of negative goodwill up to the value of the non-monetary assets acquired. For example, the
remaining balance of negative goodwill is 150, and the non-monetary assets comprise plant (130)
and inventory (70). In this case, the entire amount of negative goodwill is matched to the non-
monetary assets.
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However, despite matching negative goodwill against all non-monetary assets, it is amortised over
the useful life of only the depreciable / amortisable non-monetary assets. Continuing the above
example, the entire negative goodwill would be recognised in the income statement over the useful
life of the plant; the calculation of weighted average life would not reflect the expected realisation of
non-depreciable non-monetary assets (e.g., inventory).

There are no special rules for the treatment of negative goodwill in the event that there is
unrecognised contingent consideration. This means that if negative goodwill subsequently becomes
positive goodwill once the contingent consideration is recognised, any entries recorded in accordance
with the requirements for negative goodwill will need to be reversed. In this case, the adjustment
would be recognised in the same period that the contingent consideration is recognised;
comparatives should not be restated.

Positive and negative goodwill are accounted for separately. While they are presented in the same
balance sheet classification, negative goodwill cannot be allocated to write-off positive goodwill.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 no longer includes the concept of negative goodwill. If there is an excess of the acquirer’s
interest in the net fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired
over the costs paid, the acquirer must:

. reassess the identification and measurement of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities; and
. recognise any remaining excess in profit or loss immediately on acquisition.

Push down accounting

“Push down" accounting, whereby fair value adjustments recognised in the consolidated financial
statements are “pushed down” into the financial statements of the subsidiary is not addressed by,
and has not been used under IFRSs. However, some fair value adjustments could be reflected in the
acquiree as revaluations if permitted by the relevant standards (as long as the revaluations are kept
up to date subsequently), or as accounting policy changes (provided it results in a more appropriate
presentation — see 2.8).

For example, E acquires all of the shares in F and as part of the purchase accounting recognises land
and buildings at 500 (the previous cost-based carrying amount was 300) and a trademark at 150 (not
recognised previously). In our view, F could recognise the fair value adjustment of 200 in respect of
land and buildings in its own financial statements if it changed its accounting policy to one of
revaluation and complied with all the requirements of IAS 16, including the need to keep revaluations
up to date (see 3.2). However, we believe that F could not revalue the trademark in its own financial
statements since this is prohibited by IAS 38.

2.6.4 Business combination achieved in stages

When a business combination is achieved in successive share purchases (a “step acquisition”), each
significant transaction is accounted for separately and the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired
are stated at fair value. As with a single acquisition, the portion attributable to minority interests may
be based on either the acquiree’s book values or fair values (see 2.6.3)#.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 removes the option to measure minority interest at the book value of the minority’s share of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Instead, it requires minority interest to be measured at the
minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

For example, P acquires a 10 per cent interest in S and an additional 60 per cent some years later.
Assuming that P did not have significant influence over S, the business combination requirements of
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IFRSs will apply only at the date that the additional 60 per cent is acquired since this is when control
is obtained. Prior to the acquisition of the additional 60 per cent, the 10 per cent interest would be
accounted for in accordance with IAS 39 (see 3.6).

In addition, IAS 22 permits (but does not require) the share of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired in previous transactions to be revalued. Since the standard is explicit in allowing such
revaluations, in our view, any such revaluation does not require an entity to adopt an ongoing policy
of revaluation for qualifying assets#. For example, we believe that the acquiree’s property, plant and
equipment could be revalued on a one-off basis to the extent of the acquirer’s previously held interest
without revaluing all other property, plant and equipment of the group that are in the same class in
accordance with IAS 16 (see 3.2).

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 reinforces this position by stating that any adjustment to fair values of the identifiable assets
and liabilities acquired in previous transactions is a revaluation. However, IFRS 3 notes that this fair
value adjustment does not require the acquirer to apply a policy of revaluing those items after initial

recognition in accordance with, for example, IAS 16.

Worked example

The following example illustrates the step acquisition. The example is based on the allowed
alternative treatment in paragraph 34 of IAS 22 of measuring minority interest and all acquired net
assets at fair value (which is the required treatment under IFRS 3).

L acquired 20 per cent of M for 300 on 1 January 2001.

L acquired an additional 40 per cent of M for 600 on 1 January 2003.

Financial position of M

1 January 2001 1 January 2003
Equity 800 1,000
Fair value of assets over book value 100 150
Fair value of net assets 900 1,150
Fair value of portion acquired 180 900 x 20% 460 1,150 x 40%
Consideration 300 600
Goodwvill 120 140

In this example, it is assumed that the 20 per cent interest has been accounted for as an equity
accounted associate in accordance with IAS 28. If significant influence did not exist, the investment
would be a financial asset that is measured in accordance with IAS 39.

In this case:

. the acquired identifiable assets and liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is the date at which control passes to the acquirer);

- minority interests are measured using the acquiree’s fair values at the date of acquisition (i.e., a
portion of the 150 excess of the fair value over book value of net assets is recognised in respect
of minority interests); and

- previously acquired interests are revalued when the additional 40 per cent interest is acquired
(i.e., a portion of the increase of 50 in the fair value of net assets since L acquired a 20 per cent
interest is recognised).
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Consolidated financial position of L

1 January 2003 L M Consolidation Consolidated
entries

Investment in subsidiary 900 - (900) -
Goodwill - - 260 260
Other net assets 5,000 1,000 150 6,150
Net assets 5,900 1,000 (490) 6,410
Revaluation reserve - - 10 10
Other equity components 5,900 1,000 (960) 5,940
Minority interests - - 460 460

5,900 1,000 (490) 6,410

The consolidation entries comprise the following (see calculations below):

Debit Credit
Equity 960
Other net assets 150
Goodwill 260
Minority interests 460
Revaluation reserve 10
Investment 900

The debit to equity of 960 is the 1,000 equity of M at the date of acquisition less an amount of
40, which represents the increase in equity attributable to L while it held the 20 per cent interest
(1,000 - 800 x 20 per cent).

The credit to minority interests is the minority share of the fair values of M's assets and liabilities
(i.e., 1,150 x 40 per cent).

The credit to investment is the sum of the consideration paid (300 + 600).

The revaluation reserve is the increase in the fair value of M's net assets from Ls previously acquired
interest (i.e., 150 - 100 x 20 per cent).

Further acquisition after control is obtained

Although IAS 22 is not explicit, we believe that the requirements for successive share purchases
apply by analogy (except for necessary modifications) when an acquirer acquires an additional
interest in a subsidiary after obtaining control#. If, for example, L acquires an additional 10 per cent
interest in M for 200 on 1 January 2004; we believe that the above requirements could be applied to
the acquisition of the additional 10 per cent interest. Assuming that L in its consolidated financial
statements has recognised net assets of M at 1,300 (with a fair value on 1 January 2004 of 1,500),
L would recognise additional goodwill of 50 (200 - (1,500 x 10 per cent)) and remeasure the net
assets related to the additional interest acquired at fair value (i.e., recognise a revaluation adjustment
of 20 ((1,500 - 1,300) x 10 per cent)).

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 also is not explicit regarding the requirements for successive share purchases. In the basis
for conclusion, the Board notes that it has not revised the requirements of IAS 22 relating to
step acquisition.
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However, revised IAS 27 requires minority interest to be presented in the consolidated balance sheet
within equity, separately from the parent shareholders’ equity. The presentation of minority interest
within equity supports the recognition of increases and decreases in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without loss of control as equity transactions in the consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, any premiums or discounts on subsequent purchases of equity instruments from (or
sales of equity instruments to) minority interests would be recognised directly in the parent
shareholders’ equity. In our view, because the issue is not explicitly addressed in IFRSs, the above
guidance under Further acquisition after control is obtained still is applicable. Alternatively, an entity
that applies the revised IAS 27 could recognise directly in equity increases (or decreases) in the
parent shareholders’ interest, while the parent controls the subsidiary.

Obtaining fair value information

In many cases when previously acquired interests did not constitute an associate or joint venture

(see 3.5), it will be difficult to obtain fair value information in respect of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the date of the previous acquisitions. However, the requirements for successive share
purchases are based on the assumption that such fair value information can be obtained.

For example, P acquired a 10 per cent interest in S in 1998. In March 2003, P acquired an additional
70 per cent interest in S. Even though the 10 per cent investment is accounted for at fair value in
accordance with IAS 39, P has no information about the fair value of S's identifiable assets and
liabilities in 1998.

In our view, in this example, it would be acceptable to assume that the goodwill attributable to the
first acquisition is the difference between the amount paid for the 10 per cent interest and the book
values of S’s net assets at that date. Another alternative would be to compare the total cost of both
acquisitions (the 10 per cent plus the 70 per cent) to the fair values of S’s net assets at the date of
the second acquisition; however, this is not our preferred method because different acquisitions are
combined as if they were one. In determining an appropriate shortcut method for measuring goodwill,
the materiality of the transactions also should be considered.

2.6.5 Uniting of interests accounting#
The identification of a uniting of interests is discussed above under 2.6.2.

Forthcoming requirements
Under IFRS 3 all business combinations must be accounted for using the purchase method.
The uniting of interests method cannot be used for transactions within the scope of IFRS 3.

Since a uniting of interests does not involve an acquisition but rather is a continuation of the
businesses that existed before, the financial statements of the combining entities are added together
(i.e., using book values) for the current and all prior periods. In the process of combination uniform
accounting policies are adopted.

For example, G and H combine in a uniting of interests, with G being the continuing entity. G issues
300 shares and pays a small amount of cash (5) to obtain the entire issued capital of H. The table
below shows G immediately before the transaction, the consideration given to become the parent of
H, and the aggregation and adjustment to achieve the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 22 does not specify the amount that should be recorded as the share capital issued in a uniting
of interests; in this example it would be the amount to be recorded in respect of the 300 shares
issued by G. This is consistent with the overall approach under IFRSs of not specifying how an
entity’s capital accounts should be dealt with (see 3.10). In practice, generally the amount recorded
is determined by reference to local company law or regulatory requirements. In this example the
shares are recorded at their par value.
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Invest G

G prior in H G after H Adjust  combined

Current assets 900 (5) 895 1,000 - 1,895
Non-current assets 1,500 305 1,805 1,800 (305) 3,300
Current liabilities (500) - (500) (600) - 1,100
Non-current liabilities (800) - (800) (900) - (1,700)
Net assets 1,100 300 1,400 1,300 (305) 2,395
Retained earnings 800 - 800 1,100 - 1,900
Issued capital 300 300 600 200 (200) 600
Difference - - - - (105) (105)
1,100 300 1,400 1,300 (305) 2,395

IAS 22.79  The "difference” of 105 represents the difference between the amount recorded as share capital

(1998) issued plus any additional consideration paid for H's shares (305) and the amount recorded as the
share capital acquired (200). IAS 22 requires the difference to be adjusted against equity, but does not
specify the exact presentation. In our experience it is common for the amount to be placed in a
separate reserve and named “merger reserve”

2.6.6 Common control transactions
IAS 22.7 As noted above (under 2.6.1), the accounting for transactions among entities under common control
(1998) is specifically excluded from the scope of the business combinations standard. In addition, common
control is not a defined term#. In our view, common control means that two entities are controlled by
the same shareholder, or by a group of shareholders sharing control.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3.A IFRS 3 defines a business combination involving entities or businesses under common control as “a
business combination in which all of the combining entities or businesses ultimately are controlled by
the same party or parties both before and after the combination, and that control is not transitory”

IFRS 3.11- IFRS 3 further clarifies that a group of individuals are regarded as controlling an entity when, as a

13 result of contractual arrangements, they collectively have the power to govern its financial and
operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. It is not necessary that an individual
or a group of individuals acting together under a contractual arrangement to control an entity are
subject to the financial reporting requirements of IFRSs. Therefore, in order to meet the definition of
business combinations involving entities under common control, the combining entities are not
required to be part of the same consolidated financial statements. Further, the extent of minority
interests in each of the combining entities before and after the business combination is not relevant
to determine whether the combination involves entities under common control. However,
transactions that impact the level of minority interest are discussed in 2.6.4 and under Minority
interests below.
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No minority interests
In the following structure O and P are under the common control of N.

:

100% 100%

If N decides to restructure the group so that O holds all of the shares in P this is referred to as a
common control transaction.

100%

The above transaction has no impact on the consolidated financial statements of N since the entity
continues to have a 100 per cent interest in both O and P From N's perspective this is an interentity
transaction. It is not a business combination because N does not obtain control. It is therefore not,
from N's perspective, a common control transaction. However, an issue arises in O’s financial
statements as to whether it should record the “acquisition” of P using fair values or book values. In
our view, O may make an accounting policy election, which should be applied consistently to all
common control transactions, either:

. torecognise the transaction using book values on the basis that the transaction has no
economic substance and the investment in P is simply being moved from one part of the group
to another; or

. torecognise the transaction using fair values on the basis that O is a separate entity in its own
right with its own personality, and should not be confused with the economic group as a whole.

The use of fair values may be appropriate where the transaction has economic substance, in
particular when the purchase price is determined on an arm'’s length basis.

A further issue that arises when using book values is whether the book values should be those of
P in its own financial statements, or the book values of P as they appear in N's consolidated
financial statements (i.e., including goodwill and any fair value adjustments).
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In our view, O may make an accounting policy election, which should be applied consistently to all
common control transactions, either:

. to use consolidated book values on the basis that the investment in P is simply being moved
from one part of the group to another so the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements should be preserved; or

- to use the book values in P on the basis that using the consolidated book values might be seen
as something similar to “push down" accounting whereby consolidation adjustments are recorded
in the financial statements of a subsidiary, which generally is not permitted under IFRSs (see 2.6.3).

Minority interests involved
In our view, the presence of minority interests is not relevant to the concept of common control.
For example, O and P are under the common control of N despite the minority interests in both entities.

N

20% 80% 90% 10%

In our view, it is preferable for a common control transaction to be accounted for using fair values to
the extent that minority interests are acquired. This is similar to the accounting for successive share
purchases (see 2.6.4) whereby additional acquisitions are accounted for at fair value.

Continuing the above example, N decides to restructure its group by inserting a new entity Q, which
will hold all of the shares in O and P, In return, the minority interests obtain shares in Q.

85%

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY General issues 91

IAS 22.12
(1998)

IFRS 3.21

IFRS 3.B7-9

2.6 Business combinations

In our view, it is preferable for this transaction to be accounted for as follows in the financial
statements of Q:

. Q should use purchase accounting (i.e., fair values) to recognise the acquisition of the 20 per cent
minority interest in O and the 10 per cent minority interest in P

. The remaining interests in O and P (80 per cent and 90 per cent respectively) should be
recognised using book values. As discussed above, the book values may be either those
presented in N's consolidated financial statements or those of the subsidiaries themselves.

Notwithstanding our view of the most appropriate accounting, the absence of specific guidance on
accounting for common control transactions has led to divergence in practice, including the complete
use of book values or the complete use of fair values to account for transactions such as this.
Whatever method of accounting is adopted, the entity should make an accounting policy election that
should be applied consistently to all common control transactions.

2.6.7 Reverse acquisitions

While guidance is provided for identifying a reverse acquisition (see 2.6.3), IAS 22 provides no
accounting guidance#. In practice reference often is made to the Canadian guidance on this topic
since it is a comprehensive guide and, in our view, consistent with the Framework (see 1.2).
Accordingly, the guidance that follows is based on EIC-10 Reverse Takeover Accounting issued by
the Emerging Issues Committee of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Forthcoming requirements
IFRS 3 now provides guidance on accounting for reverse acquisitions consistent with the approach
explained below.

In a reverse acquisition the legal subsidiary becomes the acquirer for accounting purposes, and the
legal parent becomes the subsidiary for accounting purposes. Therefore, it is the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the legal parent that are measured at fair value.

For example, S acquires 60 per cent of the shares inT. As consideration S issues its own shares to
T’'s shareholders; however, S issues so many shares that T's shareholders obtain an 80 per cent
interest in S. After analysing all of the elements of control (see 2.5), it is concluded that T is the
acquirer for accounting purposes. Therefore, S is the legal parent and accounting subsidiary, and T is
the legal subsidiary and accounting parent.

80% 20%
———> S S shareholders

T shareholders 60%

40%
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The accounting for a reverse acquisition is illustrated by continuing the example of Sand T.

Financial position prior to the acquisition

S T
Current assets 1,000 1,500
Non-current assets 2,000 2,500
Current liabilities (300) (600)
Non-current liabilities (1,500) (800)
Net assets 1,200 2,600
Retained earnings 1,100 2,500
Share capital of S (100 shares) 100 -
Share capital of T (100 shares) - 100
Equity 1,200 2,600

Additional information
S acquires 60 per cent of the shares inT, and issues 400 shares in itself as consideration.

At the date of acquisition the fair value of each share of S is 4 and the fair value of each share of T is 100.

The fair value of S's property, plant and equipment is 200 more than its book value. There are no other
fair value adjustments.

Step 1 - calculate the cost of acquisition

From a legal point of view S’s shareholders have obtained a 60 per cent interest in T. However, from
an accounting point of view T's shareholders have obtained an 80 per cent interest in S; the remaining
20 per cent interest is held by S’s shareholders.

Since T is the accounting acquirer, we need to calculate how many shares it would have issued in
order to give the T shareholders an 80 per cent interest in S. In calculating the number of shares that
would have been issued, the minority interest is ignored. (This is a hypothetical calculation because T
never issued any shares since it is the legal subsidiary.)

The majority shareholders own 60 shares inT. For this to represent 80 per cent, T would have to issue
15 shares.

So the cost of acquisition is determined as the number of shares that T would have issued (15)
multiplied by the fair value of its shares (100). Therefore, the cost of acquisition is 1,500.

Step 2 - calculate goodwill
The goodwill is calculated by comparing the cost of acquisition (incurred theoretically by T) to the fair
value of the net assets acquired (of S).

Net assets 1,200
Fair value adjustment 200
Total fair value 1,400
Cost of acquisition 1,500
Goodwill 100

The goodwill calculation in a reverse acquisition always assumes that the accounting acquirer (T)
acquires 100 per cent of the accounting subsidiary (S). This is because the consolidated financial
statements are legally those of the legal parent (explained below), which is S, and legally the

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY

General issues

2.6 Business combinations

93

minority interests in that group are the T shareholders (i.e., the 40 per cent). Accordingly, there are no
minority interests in S. Therefore, the calculation of goodwill is based on a 100 per cent interest in S.

Shareholders of T only

60%

40%

Step 3 - calculate minority interests

IFRS 3.B10, As noted in step 2, the minority interest in the transaction is represented by those non-participating
11 shareholders who decided not to exchange their shares for shares in S; in this example it is the
40 per cent held by the T shareholders. These shareholders have an interest in the net assets of T.

Net assets of T
Minority interest
Minority interests in the balance sheet

2,600
40%

1,040

The minority interests’ share of net assets must be calculated using book values because T is the
accounting parent and therefore its assets cannot be remeasured to fair value.

Financial position after the acquisition

S T Combined Adjust S consol

(see below)
Current assets 1,000 1,500 2,500 2,500
Goodwill - - - 100 100
Other non-current assets 2,000 2,500 4,500 200 4,700
Current liabilities (300) (600) (900) (900)
Non-current liabilities (1,500) (800) (2,300) (2,300)
Net assets 1,200 2,600 3,800 300 4,100
Retained earnings 1,100 2,500 3,600 (2,100) 1,500
Share capital 100 100 200 1,360 1,560
Minority interests - - - 1,040 1,040
1,200 2,600 3,800 300 4,100

The adjustments comprise the following journal entries:

Debit Credit

Retained earnings of S 1,100

Share capital of S 100

Property, plant and equipment 200

Goodwvill 100
Share capital (cost of acquisition) 1,500

Retained earnings of T 1,000

Share capital of T 40
Minority interests 1,040
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The consolidated financial statements should be issued in the name of the legal parent (S), but the
financial information included in the consolidated financial statements until the date of acquisition,
including the comparatives, should be that of the legal subsidiary (T). However, because legally the
financial statements are those of the legal parent (S), the number of shares is the number of
shares issued by the legal parent (100 plus 400 in this example). In addition, any split between
share capital and share premium will be determined by reference to the par value of the shares of
the legal parent (S).

In practice the presentation of consolidated financial statements following a reverse acquisition can
be confusing for readers, and often the legal parent changes its name to be similar to that of the
accounting parent. The financial statements should include full disclosure of the reverse acquisition,
in addition to the general disclosure requirements of both the business combinations and cash
flow standards.

2.6.8 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

The IASB's ongoing business combinations project may have a significant impact on the
requirements of IFRSs in this area.

Proposals for a limited amendment to IFRS 3

On 29 April 2004, the IASB published for public comment proposals for a limited amendment to
IFRS 3. The proposals are set out in the exposure draft Combinations by Contract Alone or Involving
Mutual Entities. The main feature of the exposure draft is to remove IFRS 3's scope exclusion for
combinations involving two or more mutual entities or combinations in which separate entities are
brought together to form a reporting entity by contract alone without obtaining an ownership interest.
This includes combinations in which separate entities are brought together by contract to form a dual
listed corporation.

Business combinations phase Il
The information that follows is based on the discussions of the IASB. An exposure draft is expected
to be published in the fourth quarter of 2004.

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
Contingent assets would be measured at fair value as part of the purchase accounting, and would
continue to be measured at fair value subsequent to the acquisition.

Goodwill and negative goodwill
The full amount of goodwill would be recognised, including that portion attributable to minority interests.

Working principle: application of purchase method

In a business combination the total amount to be recognised by the acquirer would be the fair value
of the net assets over which it obtains control. Assuming an exchange of equal values, there is a
rebuttable presumption that the consideration paid by the acquirer provides the best basis for
measuring the fair values of those net assets.

Issues relating to minority interests
Minority interests to share a portion of goodwill and purchase of minority interests should be treated
as the purchase of equity.
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Business combination achieved in stages

When the acquirer obtains control of an acquiree in a step acquisition, the carrying amount of any
previous investment in the acquiree would be remeasured to fair value at the date of acquisition.
The resulting gain or loss would be recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Issues relating to measurement of consideration
In the interests of convergence with US GAAR the IASB has agreed that the date of acquisition
would remain the measurement date for equity instruments issued as consideration.

Issues relating to the recognition and measurement of the identifiable net assets acquired

The IASB would provide additional guidance for measuring fair value in the form of a hierarchy to
ensure the consistent application of the fair value working principle. The following are other areas in
which the Board would provide guidance:

. therole of credit risk in determining the fair value of a liability;
- measurement of post-employment benefit obligations assumed in a business combination; and
. recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets.
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2.7 Foreign exchange translation
(IAS 21, IAS 29, SIC-11, SIC-19, SIC-30)
Overview

An entity measures its assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in its functional
(measurement) currency, which is the currency that best reflects the economic substance
of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the entity.

An entity may present its financial statements in a currency other than its functional
(measurement) currency.

All transactions that are not denominated in an entity’s functional (measurement)
currency are foreign currency transactions; exchange differences arising on translation
generally are recognised in the income statement.

Foreign operations are classified as either integrated (if their activities are an integral part
of the parent’s) or otherwise as foreign entities#.

The financial statements of integrated foreign operations are translated into the entity’s
functional (measurement) currency using the same method that is used to translate
foreign currency transactions.

The financial statements of foreign entities are translated into the entity’s functional
(measurement) currency using the foreign entity method; assets and liabilities are
translated at the closing rate; revenues and expenses are translated at actual rates or
appropriate averages#.

If the functional (measurement) currency of a foreign entity is hyperinflationary, current
purchasing power adjustments are made to its financial statements prior to translation;
the financial statements, including comparatives, then are translated at the closing rate at
the end of the current period#.

When an investment in a foreign entity is disposed of, the exchange differences previously
recognised directly in equity are transferred to the income statement.

When financial statements are translated into a presentation currency other than the
functional (measurement) currency, equity (excluding the current year’s profit or loss) is
retranslated at the closing rate at each balance sheet date#.

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued a revised version of IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rate. The revised standard incorporated the requirements of SIC-19 Reporting Currency —
Measurement and Presentation of Financial Statements under IAS 21 and IAS 29 and SIC-30
Reporting Currency —Translation from Measurement Currency to Presentation Currency, made
consequential amendments to IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies and
withdrew SIC-11 Foreign Exchange — Capitalisation of Losses Resulting from Severe Currency
Devaluations. It is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier
application is encouraged. Where an existing requirement is discussed that will be changed by the
revised standards, it is marked with a # and the impact of the change is explained in the
accompanying boxed text.
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In particular, the revised standard:

- specifies that each entity within a group has its own functional currency. On consolidation, the
financial statements of each entity are presentedin a common currency. This may be the
functional currency of the reporting entity, but there is no concept of a group functional currency;

- requires translation of the comparative figures of the financial statement of a foreign entity whose
functional currency is hyperinflationary by using the exchange rate at the comparative reporting
date if the presentation currency is not hyperinflationary; and

. does not specify the method of translation of equity (excluding the current year’s profit or loss),
which should be consistent with the method of translation for a foreign entity.

2.71 Definitions

Functional (measurement) currency#

Forthcoming requirements

In the revised standard the term “functional currency” replaces “measurement currency” The two
have similar meanings. However, the revised standard has added guidance for determining what the
functional currency is. This revised guidance places significant emphasis on the currency of the cash
flows to which the entity is exposed. The term “functional currency” is used in this section.

Choosing a functional currency

An entity measures its assets, liabilities, equity, revenues and expenses in its functional currency;,
which is the currency that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and
circumstances relevant to the entity. All transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
are foreign currency transactions (see below).

Generally, each entity in a group has its own functional currency. There is no concept of a group-wide
functional currency under IFRSs. This is explained in more detail below under 2.7.4.

IAS 21.9, 10 The following factors#, which are not exhaustive, should be considered in determining an appropriate

IAS 21.11,
12

functional currency:

. the currency in which sales prices are denominated and settled, including consideration of the
factors that influence the setting of sales prices;

- the currency in which labour, materials and other costs are denominated and settled;

. the currency in which purchases are financed; and

. the currency in which receipts from operating activities usually are retained (or converted to by
choice or otherwise).

The above factors are provided in the form of an example where all the factors indicate the same
functional currency. However, in our view, this should not be interpreted as meaning that all of these
factors must indicate a certain currency in order for that currency to be the entity’s functional
currency. Often in practice entities operate in a mixture of currencies and judgement should be used
in determining the most appropriate functional currency.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised IAS 21 provides additional guidance on the determination of functional currency in the
case of a foreign operation which is discussed in 2.74. The revised standard also places greater
emphasis on the currency that determines the pricing of transactions than on the currency in which
transactions are denominated. An entity may conclude that its functional currency is not that which
it had concluded under previous versions of the standard.

In our view, an entity should start with a presumption that the local currency is its functional currency,
and then consider whether there is persuasive evidence to justify using a different functional currency.
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For example, an entity in Russia produces goods that are exported throughout Europe. Sales prices
are denominated in euro and some of the entity’s cash reserves are held in euro; however, all of the
other factors indicate that the rouble is the entity’s functional currency. In our view, the functional
currency is the rouble because there is not enough evidence to indicate that the euro overcomes the
presumption that the rouble best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and
circumstances relevant to the entity.

As another example, an entity in the Philippines manufactures sports clothing that is exported to the
United States. Sales prices are established having regard to prices in the United States, and are
denominated in US dollars. Sales are settled in US dollars and the receipts are converted to Philippine
pesos only when necessary to settle local expenses. The majority of the entity's borrowings are
denominated in US dollars; and the cost of the manufacturing equipment, which is the entity’s major
item of property, plant and equipment, was denominated in US dollars. Management's salaries,
which represent the significant portion of labour costs, are denominated and paid in US dollars; other
labour costs, as well as all material costs, are denominated and settled in Philippine pesos. In our
view, the entity’s functional currency is the US dollar in this case.

In some cases an analysis of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to an entity may
indicate that two (or more) currencies may be equally relevant. For example, a Turkish entity has
analysed its operations as follows:

. the majority of short- and long-term debt is financed in US dollars; the balance is financed in
Turkish lira;

. the activities of the entity are financed mainly by own capital (denominated in Turkish lira) and
currencies other than US dollars;

- the majority of cash reserves are held in US dollars;

. export sales make up approximately 95 per cent of total sales, which are denominated largely
in US dollars; and

. the majority of operating expenses is denominated in Turkish lira; the balance is denominated in
US dollars.

Notwithstanding a starting presumption that Turkish lira is the appropriate functional currency, in our
view, both the Turkish lira and the US dollar are key to the entity’s operations, and it could be argued

that either Turkish lira or the US dollar is the entity’s functional currency#.

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 21.9, 12 When the indicators are mixed and the functional currency is not obvious, the revised IAS 21

IAS 21.13

stresses that management should give priority to indicators on its primary economic environment
(e.g., the currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and services, the country whose
competitive forces and regulations mainly determine the sales prices of its goods and services and
the currency that mainly influences labour, material and other costs of providing goods or services).

Changing the functional currency

Once an entity has selected its functional currency, that selection should not be changed unless there
is a change in the underlying events and circumstances relevant to it. In our view, this is the case
even if more than one functional currency is relevant to the entity, as in the Turkish lira / US
dollars example above. If circumstances change and a change in functional currency is
appropriate, the change should be accounted for prospectively. However, a prospective change
triggers an issue with respect to the comparative financial information.

For example, an entity incorporated in the United Kingdom with a 31 December balance sheet date
had the euro as its functional currency until the end of 2003. From the beginning of 2004 the focus of
the entity’s operations changes and the appropriate functional currency is determined to be sterling
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going forward. In our view, the financial statements, including comparatives for 2003, should be
prepared as follows:

. at 1 January 2004 the financial position should be translated from euro into sterling using the
exchange rate at that date. From 2004 the financial statements will be prepared with any non-
sterling transactions translated following the requirements for foreign currency transactions
(see 2.7.2); and

- the 2003 comparatives should be translated from euro, which is the functional currency for that
period, into sterling using the procedures that apply for translation into a different presentation
currency (see 2.7.6).

In our view, these procedures would apply equally when the legal currency of a country is changed.
For example, on 1 January 2001 the legal currency in El Salvador changed from colones to
US dollars.

Presentation currency

Although an entity measures items in its financial statements in its functional currency, it may decide
to present its financial statements in a currency other than its functional currency. For example, an
entity with a euro functional currency may choose to present its financial statements in US dollars
because its primary listing is in the United States.

When an entity presents its financial statements in a presentation currency that is not its
functional currency, there is no requirement for it to present additional financial information in its
functional currency.

2.7.2 Summary of approach to foreign currency translation
The following is a summary of the approach under IFRSs to foreign currency translation, which is
explained in more detail in 2.7.3 t0 2.7.6:

. Allits own transactions that are not denominated in an entity's functional currency are foreign
currency transactions. First these transactions are translated into the entity’s functional currency.

. Next an entity analyses each of its foreign operations to determine whether those operations are
integral to those of the entity (integrated foreign operation) or independent from those of the
entity (foreign entity)#.

. The financial statements of integrated foreign operations are translated into the entity’s functional
currency using the same method that is used to translate foreign currency transactions (i.e., as if
the entity had entered into those transactions itself).

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard, there is no distinction between foreign operations that are integral to the
operations of the reporting entity and foreign entities. An entity that was an integral foreign operation
under previous versions of the standard normally has a functional currency that is the same as that
of its parent.

- The financial statements of independent foreign operations (foreign entities) are translated into the
entity's functional currency using a method known as the foreign entity method, which recognises
that the effect of translating the assets, liabilities and results of the foreign operation should not
impact the profit reported by the entity itself.

. The result of all of the above is that the entity will have prepared its financial statements or
consolidated financial statements in the functional currency of the parent entity.

. As alast step, the entity may translate its financial statements or consolidated financial
statements into a different presentation currency. The method of translation is similar to, but not
exactly the same as, the method used to translate foreign entities#.
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Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard changes the method of translating an entity’s (including its foreign operations)
financial statements from its functional currency to its presentation currency. The revised method
is consistent with the methodology previously used to translate the financial statements of a
foreign entity.

2.7.3 Translation of foreign currency transactions

At the transaction date

Each foreign currency transaction is recorded in the entity’s functional currency at the rate of
exchange at the date of the transaction, or at rates that approximate the actual exchange rates.

An average exchange rate for a specific period may be a suitable approximate rate for transactions
during that period, particularly when exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.

For example, an entity purchases inventory at a price of foreign currency (AC) 100. The spot exchange
rate at the date of acquisition is AC 1 to functional currency (BC) 2. In anticipation of the transaction
the entity entered into a forward exchange contract to purchase AC 100 for an amount of BC 180.

In this case the initial cost of the inventory is BC 200. The appropriate accounting for the forward
exchange contract is discussed in 3.6.

In some countries there are dual exchange rates: the official exchange rate and an unofficial parallel
exchange rate. In our view, individual transactions should be translated using the exchange rate that
will be used to determine the rate at which the transaction is settled. This normally will be the official
rate. However, use of an unofficial exchange rate may be more appropriate in very limited
circumstances, for example, when it is:

- alegal rate (i.e., domestic and foreign entities can and do purchase and sell foreign currency on a
local market at this rate legally); or

- the only rate at which the transaction can be settled because long-term lack of liquidity in the
exchange market means that sufficient amounts of cash are and will not be available at the
official rate.

At the reporting date

General requirements

At the reporting date assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the entity’s functional
currency are translated as follows:

. monetary items are translated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date;

. non-monetary items carried at historical cost are not retranslated — they remain at the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction; and

- non-monetary items carried at fair value are translated at the exchange rate when the fair value
was determined.

Monetary versus non-monetary
Monetary items are defined as money held, and assets and liabilities to be received or paid in fixed
or determinable amounts of money. Examples of non-monetary items include:

. prepaid expenses and income received in advance, on the basis that no money will be paid or
received in the future; and

. equity securities held and share capital, on the basis that any future payments are not fixed
or determinable.
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IAS39.16 A debt security is classified as a monetary item because its contractual cash flows are fixed or

E.3.4 determinable. There is no exemption from this classification when the security is classified as
available-for-sale even though it can be argued that any future payments are not fixed or determinable
in that case.

The appropriate classification of deferred taxes is not clear in IFRSs; actually it comprises both
monetary and non-monetary components (see 3.12). However, in our experience normally it is
classified as a monetary item.

IAS39.16  \When a non-monetary asset is stated at fair value, an issue arises as to how to distinguish the

E3.2 change in fair value from the related foreign exchange gain or loss. The IAS 39 implementation
guidance includes an example in respect of financial instruments, which commonly is applied to
non-financial instruments.

For example, an entity acquires investment property for AC 1,000 when the exchange rate is

AC 1:BC 1.5. Therefore, the property is recorded initially at BC 1,500. The entity states all investment
property at fair value (see 3.4). At the reporting date the fair value of the property has increased to

AC 1,200 and the exchange rate is now AC 1:BC 1.7 In our view, the foreign exchange gain or loss is
the difference between the carrying amount recorded initially, and the carrying amount at the
reporting date, prior to taking into account changes in fair value, in accordance with the exchange rate
at the reporting date (i.e., 200 (1,000 x 1.7 - 1,500)). Therefore, the fair value gain is 340 (1,200 x 1.7 -
1,500 - 200). Although both the exchange gain and the change in the fair value of the investment
property are recognised in the income statement, they are disclosed separately.

Intra-group transactions

IAS 21.45  Although intra-group balances are eliminated on consolidation (see 2.5), any related foreign exchange
gains or losses will not be eliminated. This is because the group has a real exposure to a foreign
currency since one of the entities will need to obtain or sell foreign currency in order to settle the
obligation or realise the proceeds received.

For example, parent P has a functional currency of AC, and subsidiary S has a functional currency of
BC. B whose balance sheet date is 31 December, lends AC 100 to S on 1 June 2004. S converted
the cash received into BC on receipt.

AC BC
Exchange rate at 1 June 2004 1 = 1.5
Exchange rate at 31 December 2004 1 = 2.0
Entries in S
Debit Credit
Cash BC 150
Intra-group payable BC 150
Exchange loss BC 50
Intra-group payable BC 50

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



102

IAS 21.28,
Sic 1
(1998)

IAS 21

SIC 11.3-6
(1998)

IAS 21.28

IAS 21.15,
32

General issues FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
2.7 Foreign exchange translation

In the second entry above the liability is remeasured at 31 December 2004 and a translation loss
is recorded.

Entries in P

Debit Credit
Intra-group receivable AC 100
Cash AC 100

On consolidation the BC 200 will convert to AC 100 (see 2.7.5) and the receivable and payable will
eliminate. However, an exchange loss equivalent to BC 50 will remain on consolidation. This is
appropriate because S will need to obtain AC in order to repay the liability; therefore the group as a
whole has a foreign currency exposure. It is not appropriate to transfer the exchange loss to equity on
consolidation unless the loan forms part of P's net investment in S (see below).

Recognition of foreign exchange gains and losses

Foreign exchange gains and losses generally are recognised in the income statement. The only exceptions
relate to foreign currency liabilities that are hedges of a net investment in a foreign entity (see 3.6),
certain losses on severe currency devaluations# and monetary items that in substance form part of
the net investment in a foreign entity#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard deletes the exemption for exchange differences resulting from a severe devaluation
or depreciation of a currency against which there is no means of hedging. As a result, these gains and
losses must be recognised in the income statement.

Severe currency devaluations#
In respect of severe currency devaluations, exchange losses may be capitalised when all the
following conditions are met:

. an asset was purchased within the 12 months prior to the devaluation;
- the liability arising on the acquisition could not have been, and still cannot be, settled; and
. it was impracticable to hedge the exchange risk prior to the devaluation.

These conditions are expected to be met only in rare circumstances. However, if they are, the foreign
exchange losses on that liability may be capitalised as part of the cost of the related asset.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard deletes the exemption that exchange differences resulting from a severe
devaluation or depreciation of a currency against which there is no means of hedging. As a result
these gains and losses must be recognised in the income statement.

Net investment in a foreign entity

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items that in substance form part of the
net investment in a foreign entity are recognised directly in equity (in the foreign currency translation
reserve — see 2.7.5). In order to qualify, settlement of the monetary item must be neither planned nor
likely in the foreseeable future.

For example, parent P has a functional currency of AC, and subsidiary S has a functional currency of
BC. P sells inventory to S for BC 300. At the balance sheet date S has not yet paid the amount
owing to P but payment is expected to be made in the foreseeable future. Accordingly the exchange
gain or loss incurred by P should be recognised in the income statement. Even if repayment was not
due for three years (for example) or even longer, in our view if repayment still is planned then the
gain or loss should be recognised in the income statement.
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In addition to the trading balances between P and S, P lends an amount of BC 500 to S that is
not expected to be repaid in the foreseeable future; P regards the amount as part of its
permanent funding to S. In this case the exchange gain or loss incurred by P on the BC 500 loan
should be recognised directly in equity, both in P’s own financial statements and in the
consolidated financial statements#.

If the loan in this example were denominated in AC rather than in BC (i.e., in P's functional currency),
S would incur an exchange gain or loss. In our view, S must recognise the gain or loss in the income
statement in its own financial statements; however, on consolidation the amount would be
reclassified as equity. Our view is based on the fact that S is not the entity that has an investment in
a foreign entity; rather, it is the recipient of the funding. However, from the group’s point of view the
funding does relate to an investment in a foreign entity.

If the exchange gain or loss incurred by S is reclassified to equity on consolidation, any related
deferred or current tax also is reclassified to equity (see 3.12 and 4.7).

In this example we believe that S could avoid recognising an exchange gain or loss only if the funding
was not considered to be a financial liability in accordance with IAS 32 (see 3.6), which is unlikely to be
the case in practice. In this case the funding would be classified as a capital contribution in S's

financial statements and would not be retranslated subsequent to initial recognition (see above under At
the reporting date).

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard, exchange gains and losses on P’s permanent funding to S may be
recognised in equity only in P's consolidated financial statements. In addition, the revised standard
requires that, if the loan is denominated in neither P's nor S’s functional currency, all exchange gains
and losses are recognised in the income statement.

Changing the facts of the above example, suppose that the “permanent” funding extended to S is
made via another entity in the group T rather than from P directly; this is done for tax reasons.

100%

100%

In our view, any exchange difference in respect of the loan may be reclassified as equity on
consolidation because from the group’s point of view the funding does relate to an investmentin a
foreign entity. However, in the individual financial statements of T and S we believe that any
exchange difference should be recognised in the income statement because neither entity holds the
netinvestment.

Presentation in the income statement

Although IAS 21 requires disclosure of the amount of exchange differences recognised in profit or loss
for the period, the standard does not specify where in the income statement such differences should
be presented.

In our experience the most common practice is for all exchange differences to be included in the
income statement as part of finance costs (see 4.6). However, it also is acceptable to allocate the
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exchange differences to the various line items in the income statement. For example, an entity
might classify exchange differences arising from the purchase of inventory that is sold during the
period as part of cost of goods sold; exchange differences arising from trade receivables as part of
revenue; and exchange differences arising from loans as part of finance costs. If exchange
differences are allocated in this way, this must be done consistently from period to period; and if
the amounts involved are material, it may be necessary to disclose the entity’s allocation policy in
the financial statements.

2.74 Foreign operations

A foreign operation of an entity is a subsidiary, associate, joint venture or branch whose activities
are conducted in a foreign currency. While it is clear what constitutes a subsidiary (see 2.5),
associate (see 3.5) or joint venture (see 3.5), a branch is not defined under IFRSs and issues arise
regarding the level of activity that can comprise a foreign operation (see below under /ssues in
identifying foreign entities).

Classifying a foreign operation
A foreign operation is classified as either:

. anintegrated foreign operation when its activities are integral to those of the reporting entity; or
- aforeign entity when its activities are not integral to those of the reporting entity#.

Forthcoming requirements

In the revised standard the concept of integrated foreign operations no longer exists. However, an
integrated foreign operation is likely to have the same functional currency as the reporting entity.
When this is the case, the accounting result generally is similar to the previous treatment as an
integral foreign operation (see 2.7.5).

IAS 21 gives a list of factors to consider in distinguishing between an integrated foreign operation
and a foreign entity. The key driver behind all of these factors is determining whether the foreign
operation simply is an extension of the operations of the reporting entity, such that changes in the
exchange rate between the two countries have an almost immediate effect on the cash flows of
the reporting entity.

In practice more entities are likely to be classified as foreign entities.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised IAS 21 provides additional guidance on the determination of the functional currency in
the case of a foreign operation and whether its functional currency is the same as that of the
reporting entity:

- Whether the foreign operation operates as an extension of the reporting entity, or whether the
entity operates with a significant degree of autonomy.

- The proportion of transactions with the reporting entity.

- Whether the foreign operation’s cash flows directly affect the cash flows of the reporting entity
and whether the foreign operation’s cash flows can be remitted to the parent.

- Whether the foreign operation can service its debt from its own cash flows without financing by
the reporting entity.

IAS 21.9, 12 When the indicators are mixed and the functional currency is not obvious, the revised IAS 21 stresses

that priority should be given to indicators that focus on the primary economic environment, such as
which currency mainly influences sales prices for goods and services, the country whose competitive
forces and regulations mainly determine the sales prices of its goods and services and the currency
that is the main influence on labour, material and other costs of providing goods or services.
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Functional currency of a foreign operation#

Integrated foreign operation

Because an integrated foreign operation effectively is an extension of the operations of the reporting
entity, its functional currency is likely to be the same as that of the reporting entity.

Foreign entity
Because a foreign entity is independent of the operations of the reporting entity, it is more likely that

App B (1998) an integrated foreign operation to have its own functional currency (see above).

IAS 21.11,
12

Forthcoming requirements

The revised IAS 21 provides additional guidance on the determination of functional currency in the
case of a foreign operation. The revised standard also places greater emphasis on the currency that
determines the pricing of transactions than on the currency in which transactions are denominated.
An entity may conclude that its functional currency is not that which it had concluded under previous
versions of the standard.

Issues in identifying foreign entities

The issues discussed below arise only in respect of foreign entities because each foreign entity has
its own functional currency and exchange differences on translation to the functional currency of the
reporting entity are not recognised in the income statement (see 2.7.5).

Separate legal entity

In our view, the analysis of whether a foreign operation is a foreign entity should be based on the
substance of the relationship between the foreign operation and the reporting entity, rather than the legal
structure of the foreign operation. Accordingly, we believe that a single legal entity may be comprised
of multiple foreign entities with different multiple functional currencies in certain circumstances.

For example, parent P is based in the United States and has as its functional currency the US dollar.
Subsidiary S is based in the United Kingdom. S has three distinct operations (X, Y and Z), which are
conducted from the United Kingdom but under different economic environments as a result of
differences in the nature of their products and markets. Separate accounting records are kept for each
of the operations. In our view, the functional currency of each of X, Y and Z should be determined
separately if they each qualify as foreign entities (see above under Classifying a foreign operation).

Care should be taken in assessing whether X, Y and Z are foreign entities. The fact that they are part
of the same legal entity normally will make it harder to show that any of them is independent of the
reporting entity. In particular, if separate accounting records for each operation are not kept or if their
operations and cash flows are managed on a unified basis, our view is that it would not be
appropriate to conclude that each is a foreign entity.

An operation
In our view, a foreign operation must include operating activities. Consistent with our views on
business combinations, we do not believe that an ad hoc collection of assets comprises an operation.

For example, a reporting entity in New Zealand sets up a SPE to finance the acquisition of a production
plant. The SPE obtains a loan, buys the plant and then leases the plant to the entity on normal
commercial terms; the lease payments are sufficient to finance interest and capital repayments on the
loan. All of these transactions are denominated in US dollars. The SPE operates on auto-pilot (see 2.5).
The rest of the reporting entity’s operations are denominated in New Zealand dollars.

In our view, the SPE is not a foreign entity because its activities are not carried out with a significant
degree of autonomy from those of the reporting entity. The SPE was established with the objective of
effecting the lease and obtaining finance for the reporting entity’s plant and, in substance, the SPE
simply holds core assets of the reporting entity and does not have any independent activities.
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Therefore, it is not relevant that substantially all the SPE's assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
are denominated in a currency different from that of the reporting entity. However, if the plant was
leased to a third party, with only residual benefits flowing to the New Zealand entity, then in our view,
the SPE would be a foreign entity.

We believe that the reporting entity and the SPE will have the same functional currency, which will be
determined by analysing the combined operations (see above under Integrated foreign operation).

2.7.5 Translation of foreign currency financial statements

Integrated foreign operations#

The financial statements of an integrated foreign operation are translated in the same way as foreign
currency transactions, and the resulting exchange differences are recognised in the same way (see 2.7.3).

Forthcoming requirements

In the revised standard the concept of integrated foreign operations no longer exists. However, an
integrated foreign operation is likely to have the same functional currency as the reporting entity.
When this is the case, the accounting result generally is similar to the previous treatment as an
integral foreign operation.

Foreign entities
The financial statements of foreign entities are translated as follows:

. assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date;

. items of revenue and expense are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the relevant
transactions, although appropriate average rates may be used,;

- the resulting exchange differences are recognised directly in equity, and are presented as a
separate component of equity (generally referred to as the foreign currency translation reserve or
currency translation adjustment); and

. cash flows are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the relevant transactions, although an
appropriate average rate may be used (see 2.3).

In addition, although IAS 21 is not explicit on these points:

. capital transactions (e.g., dividends) are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the relevant
transactions; and
. components of equity at the balance sheet date are not retranslated.

In practice capital transactions are translated using exchange rates at the dates of the relevant
transactions. In our view, this may be approximated by use of an average rate, as used for
translation of revenue and expenses, when appropriate (e.g., translation of gains and losses on
available-for-sale investments).

Goodwill and fair value purchase accounting adjustments relating to a foreign entity may be either
included as part of the retranslated assets and liabilities or recognised as an asset of the reporting
entity (and therefore never retranslated)#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard requires that goodwill and fair value adjustments to assets and liabilities that
arise on the acquisition of a foreign entity be translated at the closing rate (i.e., treated as part of the
assets and liabilities of the acquired entity).

When the balance sheet date of a foreign entity that is a subsidiary, associate or joint venture is prior
to that of the parent (see 2.5 and 3.5), adjustments should be made for significant movements in
exchange rates up to the balance sheet date of the parent for group reporting purposes.
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Using average exchange rates

In determining whether average rates may be used to translate revenues and expenses (and cash
flows), fluctuations in the exchange rate and the volume and size of transactions should be
considered. For example, if the flow of transactions (by size and volume) is fairly stable over the
period and exchange rates have not altered significantly, it may be acceptable to update exchange
rates only quarterly; in this case the translated amounts for each quarter would be combined to
obtain the annual total. However, at the other extreme daily exchange rates might be used for an
entity with complex operations where there is an uneven flow of transactions, or when exchange
rates are not stable.

Dual exchange rates

As noted above (under 2.7.3), in some countries there are dual exchange rates: the official exchange
rate and an unofficial parallel exchange rate. In our view, when a foreign entity operates in a dual
exchange rate environment, subject to the considerations highlighted above, its financial statements
should be translated using the rate applicable to dividends and capital repatriation since this is how
the investment in the foreign entity will be recovered.

In our view, the financial statements should disclose the reasons for not applying an official exchange
rate as well as information about the rate used, if a rate other than the official rate has been used.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The net exchange difference that is recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in each
period represents the following:

. inrespect of revenue, expenses and capital transactions, the difference between translating
these items at actual or average exchange rates, and using the exchange rate at the balance
sheet date; and

. inrespect of the opening balance of equity (excluding the foreign currency translation reserve), the
difference between translating these items at the rate at the balance sheet date at the end of the
previous period, and using the rate at the balance sheet date at the end of the current period.

The proof of the foreign currency translation reserve is illustrated below (under Worked example).

In addition, the foreign currency translation reserve may include exchange differences arising from
loans that form part of the parent’s net investment in the foreign entity (see 2.7.3) and gains and
losses relating to hedges of a net investment in a foreign entity (see 3.6).

In some cases the foreign currency translation reserve may have a debit balance. A debit balance on
the reserve is acceptable under IFRSs and the balance should not be transferred to the income
statement simply because it represents a “loss’

When there is a minority interest in a foreign entity subsidiary, an appropriate portion of the foreign
currency translation reserve is attributed to the minority interest.

Hyperinflation

When the functional currency of a foreign entity is hyperinflationary, the foreign entity’s financial
statements first must be restated into the measuring unit current at the balance sheet date (see 2.4).
All amounts in the financial statements (including comparatives) then are translated using the
exchange rate at the balance sheet date of the current reporting period#.

For example, an entity has prepared financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2004 with
comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2003. In accordance with IAS 29 the 2003
and 2004 financial statements both have been restated to be presented in the measuring unit current
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at 31 December 2004. Accordingly the relevant exchange rate at 31 December 2004 is applied in
translating both years of financial information.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard requires that comparative figures of the financial statements of a foreign entity
whose functional currency is hyperinflationary be translated by using the exchange rate at the
comparative reporting date if the presentation currency is not hyperinflationary.

Worked example

The following example illustrates the translation of the financial statements of a foreign entity. As a
result of the translation process, the exchange difference recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve is a balancing figure; however, as noted above the amount can be proved, and
this is illustrated in the example. In addition, an exchange difference will arise in reconciling the
opening and closing balances of the various assets and liabilities; the proof of these exchange
differences is illustrated below using property, plant and equipment as an example.

The subsidiary was acquired on 1 January 2003. Revenues and expenses since acquisition have
been translated using annual average exchange rates (see above). No dividends have been paid
since acquisition. The subsidiary’s functional currency is BC; the parent entity’s functional currency
is AC.

BC AC
Exchange rate at 1 January 2003 1 1.0
Average exchange rate during 2003 1 1.25
Exchange rate at 31 December 2003 1 1.5
Average exchange rate during 2004 1 2.0
Exchange rate at 31 December 2004 1 2.5

The above rates are illustrative only and are not intended to indicate hyperinflation.

Subsidiary balance sheet — 2004

BC Rate AC
Share capital 400 1.0 400
Retained earnings — at acquisition 2,200 1.0 2,200
Earnings of 2003 that were retained 900 1.25 1,125
Net profit for the year — 2004 1,300 2,600 See below
Foreign currency translation reserve - 5,675 See below
Equity 4,800 12,000
Property, plant and equipment 2,800 2.5 7000
Other assets and liabilities 2,000 2.5 5,000
Net assets 4,800 12,000
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Subsidiary income statement — 2004

Revenue 2,000 2.0 4,000
Depreciation (200) 2.0 (400)
Other expenses (500) 2.0 (1,000)
Net profit for the year 1,300 2,600

The proof of the foreign currency translation reserve is determined by taking the difference between
the actual exchange rate used to translate the item and the closing exchange rate, and multiplying
this by the balance of the item in BC.

Proof of translation reserve Actual Closing  Difference Amount  Difference

in rate in BC in AC
Share capital 1.0 2.5 15 400 600
Retained earnings — at acquisition 1.0 25 1.5 2,200 3,300
Earnings of 2003 that were retained 1.25 25 1.25 900 1,125
Net profit for the year — 2004 2.0 25 0.5 1,300 650
Translation reserve 5,675

While this proof is cumulative for the period to the end of 2004 to match the example, in practice the
proof would be done on an annual basis.

The reconciliation of property, plant and equipment will appear as follows in the notes to the
financial statements:

Property, plant and equipment AC
Opening balance before depreciation 4,500 (BC2,800 + BC200) x 1.5
Depreciation (400) BC200 x 2
Foreign exchange difference 2,900 See below
Closing balance 7000

The proof of the exchange difference in the reconciliation of property, plant and equipment is
determined by taking the difference between the actual exchange rate used to translate the item and
the closing exchange rate, and multiplying this by the balance of the item in BC.

Proof of exchange difference Actual Closing  Difference Amount  Difference
in rate in BC

Opening balance 1.5 25 1.0 3,000 3,000

Current year depreciation 2.0 2.5 0.5 200 (100)

Exchange difference 2,900

Change in the classification of a foreign operation#

If there is a change in the classification of a foreign operation, from an integrated foreign operation

to a foreign entity or vice versa, the new translation procedures are applied from the date of the change.
The difference between the two methods that needs to be dealt with when there is a change in
classification is the translation of non-monetary assets and liabilities. They are retranslated at closing
rates in the case of a foreign entity, but not in the case of an integrated foreign operation (see above).
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Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard, a change in classification is simply a change in functional currency —
retranslation occurs at the spot rate and at the date of change and the normal consolidation
requirements apply (see 2.5).

Change from integrated foreign operation to foreign entity#

When an integrated foreign operation becomes a foreign entity, non-monetary assets and liabilities
must be retranslated using closing exchange rates. In the example below, this results in the carrying
amount of the foreign operation’s non-monetary assets and liabilities increasing from AC 600 to AC 900.
The difference of AC 300 is recognised directly in equity — in the foreign currency translation reserve.

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard, a change in classification is simply a change in functional currency —
retranslation occurs at the spot rate and at the date of change and the normal consolidation
requirements apply (see 2.5).

Before change After change

AC AC

Equity 1,000 1,000
Foreign currency translation reserve - 300
1,000 1,300

Monetary assets and liabilities 400 400
Non-monetary assets and liabilities 600 900
1,000 1,300

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard, a change in classification is simply a change in functional currency —
retranslation occurs at the spot rate and at the date of change and the normal consolidation
requirements apply (see 2.5).

Change from foreign entity to integrated foreign operation

When a foreign entity becomes an integrated foreign operation, non-monetary assets and liabilities
no longer will be retranslated. However, previous retranslations are not reversed; instead, the existing
carrying amounts of the non-monetary assets and liabilities become their deemed historical cost,
and the balance in the foreign currency translation reserve remains there until the investment is
disposed of (see 2.7.7).

Before change After change

AC AC

Equity 1,000 1,000
Foreign currency translation reserve 300 300
1,300 1,300

Monetary assets and liabilities 400 400
Non-monetary assets and liabilities 900 900
1,300 1,300
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2.7.6 Translation from functional to presentation currency

General requirements

When an entity presents its financial statements in a presentation currency that is different from its
functional currency, the translation procedures are the same as those for translating foreign entities
(see 2.7.5) except that the components of equity, other than the current year's profit or loss and the
foreign currency translation reserve, are retranslated at the closing exchange rate#.

Forthcoming requirements

The method of translating an entity’s financial statements from its functional currency to its
presentation currency has been changed under the revised standard to be consistent with the
methodology previously used to translate the financial statements of a foreign entity. The revised
standard is silent regarding the translation of components of equity, other than the current year's
profit or loss and the foreign currency translation reserve. In our view, the method of translation
to any presentation currency should be consistent with translation of a foreign entity for
consolidation purposes.

The following example is similar to the one used above to illustrate the translation of foreign entities.
The entity’s functional currency is FC; however, the financial statements will be presented in
presentation currency (PC). Revenues and expenses since acquisition have been translated using an
annual average exchange rate (see 2.7.5).

FC PC
Exchange rate at 31 December 2003 1 1.5
Average exchange rate during 2004 1 2.0
Exchange rate at 31 December 2004 1 2.5
Balance sheet — 2004
FC Rate PC
Share capital 400 2.5 1,000
Opening retained earnings 3,100 2.5 7750
Net profit for the year — 2004 1,300 2,600 See below
Foreign currency translation reserve - 650 See below
Equity 4,800 12,000
Property, plant and equipment 2,800 2.5 7000
Other assets and liabilities 2,000 2.5 5,000
Net assets 4,800 12,000

Income statement — 2004

Revenue 2,000 2.0 4,000
Depreciation (200) 2.0 (400)
Other expenses (500) 2.0 (1,000)
Net profit for the year 1,300 2,600
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The proof of the foreign currency translation reserve is determined by taking the difference between
the actual exchange rate used to translate an item and the closing exchange rate, and multiplying this
by the balance of the item in FC.

Proof of translation reserve Actual Closing  Difference Amount  Difference

in rate in FC in PC
Net profit for the year — 2004 2.0 2.5 0.5 1,300 650
Translation reserve 650

Implications for the preparation of consolidated financial statements#

The difference between translation of financial statements from a measurement currency to a
presentation currency and translation of a foreign entity’s financial statements has important
implications for the preparation of consolidated financial statements where the group’s presentation
currency differs from the functional currency of the parent#.

For example, parent P has a functional currency of euro, but presents its financial statements
and consolidated financial statements in US dollars. Subsidiary S is a foreign entity whose
functional currency is Thai bhat. For practical reasons it would be easiest for the Thai subsidiary’s
financial statements to be translated directly into US dollars in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

However, under IAS 21 and SIC-30 the translation should be carried out as follows:

- First, translate from Thai bhat to euro following the procedures for foreign entities; in particular,
post-acquisition components of equity should not be retranslated (i.e., they will be stated at
historical exchange rates — see 2.7.5).

. Second, translate from euro to US dollar following the procedures in SIC-30 (see above); in
particular, post-acquisition components of equity should be retranslated.

The difference between following IAS 21 / SIC-30 and translating directly under IAS 21 is in respect
of the components of equity, and can be summarised as follows:

- Using the required method of applying IAS 21 and then SIC-30, equity components will be
restated for changes in the euro / US dollar exchange rate only.

. If the Thai bhat financial statements are translated directly into US dollars, the equity components
will be restated for changes in the Thai bhat / US dollar exchange rate.

Whether or not this difference is material will depend upon the relative changes in the exchange rates.
In practice it is possible to translate directly and then adjust the post-acquisition components of equity.

Forthcoming requirements
IAS 21 This difference has been removed by the revised standard as it provides only one method of
translation from a functional currency to a presentation currency.

Hyperinflation
SIC 30.7 When the entity’s functional currency is hyperinflationary, all items in the financial statements
(2001) (current period and comparatives) are translated into the presentation currency at the closing rate at
the end of the most recent period presented after being restated for the effects of inflation#.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is
a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY General issues 113

IAS 21.42

IAS 2148,
49

IAS 21.49

2.7 Foreign exchange translation

Forthcoming requirements

When an entity’s functional currency is hyperinflationary, all amounts of the current year are
translated at the closing rate into the presentation currency at the date of the most recent balance
sheet. However, the revised standard requires the comparative amounts of the financial statement to
be translated using the exchange rate at the comparative reporting date if the presentation currency is
not hyperinflationary.

2.7.7 Sale or liquidation of a foreign entity

The cumulative exchange differences relating to a foreign entity that have been included in the foreign
currency translation reserve should be transferred to the income statement when the foreign entity is
disposed of. In the case of a partial disposal, the balance of the foreign currency translation reserve
is reduced proportionately.

For example, parent P owns 100 per cent of subsidiary S. P sells 20 per cent of its investment.
Therefore, 20 per cent of the balance in the foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to the
income statement. The standard does not specify where in the income statement this item is
included. In our experience typically it is included as part of the gain or loss on the disposal.

When the parent has made a loan to a foreign entity that is classified as part of its net investment
and exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve (see 2.7.3), in our
view, any repayment of the loan constitutes a partial disposal of the foreign entity.

For example, parent P subscribed 1,000 in return for a 100 per cent interest in subsidiary S, and
extended “permanent” funding of a further 500 at the same time. If S repays the loan of 500, we
believe that one third of the balance in the foreign currency translation reserve should be transferred to
the income statement.

If P had extended the “permanent” funding some time after the original investment, we believe that
the amount to be transferred to the income statement should be one third of the change in the
balance of the foreign currency translation reserve that arose while the funding was outstanding.

A similar issue in respect of determining the amount of the transfer arises when there have been
past step acquisitions (see 2.6). In such cases we believe that it is acceptable to transfer a
percentage of the balance of the foreign currency translation reserve to the income statement.
For example, parent P acquired a 60 per cent interest in subsidiary S in 1998 and a further 10 per
cent interest in 2000; in 2004 P disposes of 30 per cent of its interest in S. In our view, the entity
may transfer 30 per cent of the balance in the translation reserve to the income statement
without trying to identify specifically the shares that have been disposed of and the associated
exchange differences.

In the event of an impairment loss, the standard is clear that this does not constitute a partial
disposal and no amount of the foreign currency translation reserve should be transferred to the
income statement.

In our view, a major restructuring that results in reducing the scale of operations of a foreign entity
does not in itself trigger any amount of the foreign currency translation reserve to be transferred to
the income statement because the parent has not realised its investment in the foreign entity.
However, if cash reserves of the foreign entity are paid out as a dividend following the restructuring,
this constitutes a disposal to the extent that it constitutes a return of the investment.

2.7.8 Convenience translations

A convenience translation occurs when an entity decides to present financial statements in addition
to the financial statements required to be presented in accordance with IFRSs. For example, an entity
has a functional currency of Danish krone and a presentation currency of euro; in addition it wishes to
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show US dollar figures for the most recent year’s primary financial statements, but it will not publish
a full set of US dollar financial statements.

In this case the method of translating the information from Danish krone to US dollars is not
specified, but a number of detailed disclosures are required. In particular, the convenience
translation must be identified clearly as being supplementary information to distinguish it from the
IFRS financial statements (i.e., it cannot take the place of the IFRS financial statements presented
in euro)#.

Forthcoming requirements

Although convenience translations continue to be allowed under the revised standard, there is a
difference between convenience translation and translation to presentation currency. An entity that
presents its financial statements in a currency that is different from its functional currency should
describe the financial statements as complying with IFRSs only if they comply with the translation
method as set out in the revised IAS 21. If an entity displays its financial statements or other
financial information in a currency that is different from either its functional currency or its
presentation currency and does not comply with the translation method set out under revised IAS 21
then it needs to provide disclosures (e.g., that the information in the convenience translation is
supplementary, what the convenience currency is and the functional currency and method of
translation used). The convenience translation may be for only selected data. A convenience
translation can be provided only as supplemental information (see 5.8).

2.7.9 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

In the case of this topic no future developments are noted.
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2.8 Prior period adjustments and other accounting changes
(IAS 1, IAS 8)

Overview

. Most accounting policy changes and all corrections of fundamental errors may be made
either by adjusting opening retained earnings and restating comparatives when
practicable, or by making an adjustment in the current year#.

. Errors that are not “fundamental” are adjusted in the current year#.

. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively.

. Comparatives are restated when practicable if the classification or presentation of items
in the financial statements is changed.

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Error. The revised standards
are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier application is
encouraged. Where an existing requirement is discussed that will be changed by the revised
standards, it is marked with a # and the impact of the change is explained in the accompanying
boxed text. In particular, the revised standards:

. eliminate the option to make an adjustment in the current year for accounting policy changes and
the correction of fundamental errors; and
. eliminate the distinction between fundamental errors and other material errors.

2.8.1 Prior period adjustments
IAS 8.22, A prior period adjustment is made by adjusting the opening balance of retained earnings and restating
23,42 the comparative financial statements where practicable. A prior period adjustment is the benchmark
treatment# for:

. the correction of fundamental errors#; and
. most changes in accounting policy.

IAS 8.38,  In both cases the allowed alternative treatment is to calculate the effect of the adjustment
54(1993)  retrospectively, but to recognise the cumulative effect of the adjustment in the current period's
income statement#.

IAS 8.13 Accounting policies, including those for errors and for changes in accounting policy must be
applied consistently.

IAS 8.52,  However, under both the benchmark and allowed alternative treatments for a change in accounting
56(1993)  policy, the change is accounted for prospectively if the adjustment to opening retained earnings
cannot be determined reasonably.

Forthcoming requirements
IAS 8 The revised standard removes the allowed alternative of recognising the cumulative effect in the
current period. It eliminates the distinction between fundamental errors and other material errors.
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2.8.2 Fundamental errors#

Definition

Errors result from the misapplication of policies or misinterpretation of facts and circumstances that
exist at the reporting date. Examples include mathematical mistakes, fraud and oversight.

An error is fundamental when it has such a significant effect on the financial statements of one or
more prior periods that those financial statements no longer can be considered to have been reliable
at the date of their issue. An error that is not fundamental is corrected in the current period.

There is no additional guidance in IFRSs that helps distinguish between an error and a fundamental
error. This is a difficult area of accounting and significant judgement is required in assessing whether
an error is fundamental, or simply material, to the previously issued financial statements.

Forthcoming requirements
The distinction between fundamental errors and other material errors has been eliminated. All errors
are dealt with in the same way under the revised standard (i.e., as a prior period adjustment).

Financial statements containing material errors do not comply with IFRSs. Potential current year
errors are corrected before the financial statements are authorised for issue. Material prior period
errors are corrected by restating the comparative information presented in the financial statements
for that subsequent period.

In the case of correction of a material prior period error, correction is made by either:

. restating the comparative amounts for the prior period(s) presented in which the error occurred; or
. if the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented, by restating the opening balances of
assets, liabilities and equity for the earliest prior period presented.

The following example illustrates the correction of a fundamental error in accordance with both the
benchmark and allowed alternative treatments. For simplicity, any impact on current and deferred tax
has been ignored (see 4.7 and 3.12).

During 2004 entity A discovered that prepayments of 400,000 made during 2002 had not been
debited to the income statement as the related expenses were incurred. Expenses of 100,000 were
incurred during 2002; 250,000 during 2003; and 50,000 during 2004. The directors of A consider the
error to be “fundamental’’

Extract from draft 2004 financial statements before correction of the error

Draft

2004 2003
Extract from income statement
Revenue 6,000 4,000
Expenses (5,500) (3,600)
Net profit 500 400
Extract from statement of changes in equity
Opening retained earnings 14,400 14,000
Current year net profit 500 400
Closing retained earnings 14,900 14,400
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Correction of the fundamental error — benchmark treatment

In accordance with the benchmark treatment the opening balance of retained earnings is adjusted and
comparatives are restated when practicable to reflect the correction of the error. The restatement should
reflect any tax effects (see 3.12 and 4.7), which were ignored for the purposes of this example.

2004 2003
Restated
Extract from income statement
Revenue 6,000 4,000
Expenses (5,550) (3,850)
Net profit 450 150
Extract from statement of changes in equity
Opening retained earnings as reported previously 14,400 14,000
Correction of an error (note reference) (350) (100)
Opening retained earnings restated 14,050 13,900
Current year net profit 450 150
Closing retained earnings 14,500 14,050

In restating the comparatives the adjustment will be included in the appropriate line of the income
statement in the usual way (see 4.1); for example, if the expense in this case was insurance of As
head office and A classified its expenses by function, the expense probably would be included in
administrative expenses. In addition, the financial statements will include full disclosure regarding
the error and the adjustments made to correct it.

Although not mentioned specifically in the standard, the implementation guidance to IAS 8 shows the
restated comparative financial statements with the heading “restated” In our view, this is necessary
in order to highlight users to the fact that the comparative financial statements are not the same as
the financial statements published previously.

If the circumstances were different and the amount of the error could not be allocated between the
comparative period and periods prior to that, the error would be corrected by adjusting opening
retained earnings at the start of the current period#.

2004 2003
Extract from income statement
Revenue 6,000 4,000
Expenses (5,550) (3,600)
Net profit 450 400
Extract from statement of changes in equity
Opening retained earnings as reported previously 14,400 14,000
Correction of an error (note reference) (350) -
Opening retained earnings restated 14,050 14,000
Current year net profit 450 400
Closing retained earnings 14,500 14,400
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Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard requires that material errors be corrected by restating the opening balance of
retained earnings and comparatives unless this is impracticable.

If it is impracticable (see 2.8.4) to determine the period-specific effects for one or more prior periods
presented, the entity should restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity for the
earliest period for which retrospective restatement is practicable.

If it is impracticable (see 2.8.4) to determine the cumulative effect at the beginning of the current
period of an error on a prior period, the entity should restate the comparative information to correct
the error prospectively from the earliest date practicable.

Correction of the fundamental error — allowed alternative treatment#
In accordance with the allowed alternative treatment the full adjustment to correct the fundamental
error is recognised in the current period.

2004 2003
Extract from income statement
Revenue 6,000 4,000
Operating expenses (5,550) (3,600)
Correction of an error (350) -
Net profit 100 400
Extract from statement of changes in equity
Opening retained earnings 14,400 14,000
Current year net profit 100 400
Closing retained earnings 14,500 14,400

In our view, the effect on the income statement of the correction of the fundamental error may need
to be highlighted in that statement; the presentation or disclosure of additional line items is
discussed further in 4.1. However, the correction cannot be classified as an extraordinary item
(see 4.8). In any event, disclosure in the notes to the financial statements of the correction will
include a description of the nature of the fundamental error and the amount.

In this example only 350 of the total error of 400 is shown in the line item relating to the correction
of the error; this is on the basis that the current period'’s results have not yet been published
(notwithstanding the fact that interim reports may have been issued), so the expense of 50 relating to
2004 should be accounted for in the normal way.

If the entity uses the allowed alternative treatment, it should disclose pro forma information following
the benchmark treatment when practicable. In our view, it is preferable for this pro forma information
to be disclosed alongside the information prepared according to the allowed alternative treatment,
rather than be disclosed only in the notes to the financial statements.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard removes the allowed alternative of recognising the cumulative effect in the
current period. All errors are corrected as prior period adjustments.

2.8.3 Changes in accounting policy

A change in accounting policy should be made when required to adopt a new or revised standard or
interpretation, or otherwise if a voluntary change will result in a more appropriate presentation. In
applying a standard that contains both a benchmark and an allowed alternative treatment, in our
view, an entity may change its accounting policy from the benchmark to the allowed alternative since
both methods are considered acceptable in presenting a true and fair view. For example, in applying

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY General issues 119

IAS 40.31

IAS 8.17

IAS 8.16

2.8 Prior period adjustments and other accounting changes

IAS 31 we believe that an entity could change its accounting policy in respect of jointly controlled
entities to equity accounting from proportionate consolidation (see 3.5).

However, IFRSs provide specifically that in respect of investment property (see 3.4) it is “highly
unlikely” that a change in accounting policy from a fair value to a cost basis would result in a more
appropriate presentation in the financial statements.

The following changes in accounting policy are subject to special requirements:

. Changes in accounting policy that arise upon the first-time adoption of IFRSs are the subject of
IFRS 1 (see 6.1).

. Achange in accounting policy to revalue items of property, plant and equipment (see 3.2) or intangible
assets (see 3.3) is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the relevant standards.

In addition, individual standards may contain specific requirements for accounting policy changes
that result from their adoption (see below).

Neither the adoption of an accounting policy for new transactions or events, nor the application of
an accounting policy to previously immaterial items, is a change in accounting policy. When a
functional (measurement) currency becomes hyperinflationary and the restatement requirements of
IAS 29 are applied (see 2.4), in our view, this is not a change in accounting policy because IAS 29
could not have been applied prior to the functional (measurement) currency being judged
hyperinflationary, which is similar to accounting for a new transaction or event. This is
notwithstanding the fact that purchasing power adjustments must be computed from the date that
non-monetary assets (liabilities) are acquired (incurred).

The consistency of accounting policies within an entity and in the consolidated financial statements
is discussed in 2.4.

IAS 8.28, 29 Disclosures required in respect of changes in accounting policy include the reasons for the change

IAS 8.19

IAS 8

and the amount of the adjustment for the current period and for each period presented. In our view,
such disclosures should be made separately for each such change.

Accounting policy change upon adoption of a new standard or interpretation

When a change in accounting policy arises from the adoption of a new or revised standard or
interpretation, an entity should follow the specific transitional requirements in that standard or
interpretation, which takes precedence over the benchmark and allowed alternative treatments in IAS 8.

For example, IAS 36 Impairment of Assets required prospective application in respect of the
recognition of impairment losses, while IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets required retrospective application except that the restatement of comparatives was
encouraged rather than being required. \Where there are no special transitional requirements in the
standard or interpretation, the entity should follow the general requirements of IAS 8#.

Forthcoming requirements
The allowed alternative of recognising the cumulative effect of changes in accounting policy in the
current period has been removed under the revised standard.

IAS 8.28, 29 When an entity follows the specific transitional requirements of a standard or interpretation, in our

view, it nonetheless should comply with the disclosure requirements of IAS 8 in respect of a change
in accounting policy to the extent that the transitional requirements do not include disclosure
requirements. Even though it could be argued that the disclosures are not required because they are
set out in the requirements for voluntary changes in accounting policy, we believe that they are
necessary in order to give a fair presentation.
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Benchmark treatment#

IAS 8.22, 23 Under the benchmark treatment for a change in accounting policy the effect of the change including any

IAS 8.22

IAS 41.59

effect on current and deferred tax effect (see 4.7 and 3.12) is calculated retrospectively, and the opening
balance of retained earnings is restated. In addition, comparatives are restated when practicable

(see 2.8.4). If comparatives are restated, the opening balance of retained earnings of the earliest period
presented will be adjusted; if comparatives are not restated, the opening balance of retained earnings of
the current period will be adjusted. The following example illustrates the restatement.

Forthcoming requirements

Generally, an entity must apply changes in accounting policy retrospectively (i.e., as if the new
accounting policy always had been applied). This is done by adjusting the opening balance of each
affected component of equity for the earliest prior period presented and the other comparative
amounts disclosed for each prior period presented.

At the start of 2003 entity B adopts IAS 41. The standard has no specific transitional requirements
and requires any resulting change in accounting policy to be accounted for in accordance with IAS 8.

The effect of the change is an increase of 100 to the carrying amount of biological assets at the end of
2001, a gain of 30 that relates to 2002 and a gain of 40 that relates to 2003. This example is simplified
and assumes no disposal of biological assets during 2002 or 2003; any impact on current and deferred
tax has been ignored (see 4.7 and 3.12). Biological assets are discussed in more detail in 3.8.

Extract from draft 2003 financial statements before change in accounting policy

Draft 2002

2003
Extract from income statement
Revenue 6,000 4,000
Expenses (5,500) (3,600)
Net profit 500 400
Extract from statement of changes in equity
Opening retained earnings 14,400 14,000
Current year net profit 500 400
Closing retained earnings 14,900 14,400
Comparatives restated

2003 2002

Restated

Extract from income statement
Revenue 6,040 4,030
Expenses (5,500) (3,600)
Net profit 540 430
Extract from statement of changes in equity
Opening retained earnings as reported previously 14,400 14,000
Effect of change in accounting policy (note reference) 130 100
Opening retained earnings restated 14,530 14,100
Current year net profit 540 430
Closing retained earnings 15,070 14,530
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In this example the income statement is simplified and shows only revenue and expenses.
The presentation of gains and losses relating to agricultural activities is discussed in 3.8.

Similar to the correction of fundamental errors, in our view, the restated comparative financial
statements should have the heading “restated” In our view, this is necessary in order to highlight
users to the fact that the comparative financial statements are not the same as the financial
statements published previously.

As noted above, the financial statements will include disclosure regarding the change in accounting
policy. In addition, any other information in respect of prior periods (e.g., historical summaries) also is
restated. However, in our view, an inability to restate all of the periods presented in the historical
summaries or other prior period information is not a reason to conclude that none of the comparative
information required by IFRSs must be restated.

Comparatives not restated

In following the benchmark treatment for a change in accounting policy, comparatives are restated
unless it is impracticable to do so (see 2.8.4). In this example, such a situation could arise if B
determines the fair value of its biological assets at 1 January 2003 in preparation for the adoption of
IAS 41, but does not know how much of that change is attributable to 2002 and how much is
attributable to prior periods.

When comparatives are not restated the entire effect of the change is adjusted against opening
retained earnings at the start of the current period.

2003 2002
Extract from income statement
Revenue 6,040 4,000
Expenses (5,500) (3,600)
Net profit 540 400
Extract from statement of changes in equity
Opening retained earnings as reported previously 14,400 14,000
Effect of change in accounting policy (note reference) 130 -
Opening retained earnings restated 14,530 14,000
Current year net profit 540 400
Closing retained earnings 15,070 14,400

Allowed alternative treatment#
Under the allowed treatment for a change in accounting policy the effect of the change is calculated
retrospectively, but the cumulative adjustment is recognised in the current period.

2003 2002
Extract from income statement
Revenue 6,040 4,000
Expenses (5,500) (3,600)
Effect of change in accounting policy 130 -
Net profit 670 400
Extract from statement of changes in equity
Opening retained earnings as reported previously 14,400 14,000
Current year net profit 670 400
Closing retained earnings 15,070 14,400
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In our view, if the effect of the adoption of IAS 41 is material and the allowed alternative treatment is
used, the effect of the change should be disclosed as a separate line item (before tax) in the income
statement; this is discussed further in 4.1. The effect of the change could not be classified as an
extraordinary item (see 4.8)#.

Forthcoming requirements
Disclosure of items of income and expense as ‘extraordinary items’ in the income statement and the
notes is prohibited under the revised standard.

In this example only 130 of the total adjustment of 170 is shown in the line item relating to the
change in accounting policy; this is on the basis that the current period’s results have not yet been
published (notwithstanding the fact that interim reports may have been issued), so the gain of 40
relating to 2003 should be accounted for in the normal way.

If the entity uses the allowed alternative and recognises the adjustment in the current period, it
should disclose pro forma information following the benchmark treatment when practicable. In our
view, it is preferable for this pro forma information to be disclosed alongside the information prepared
according to the allowed alternative treatment, rather than being disclosed only in the notes to the
financial statements.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard removes the allowed alternative of recognising the cumulative effect in the
current period.

2.8.4 Impracticability of retrospective application

A policy of retrospective application is applied consistently to all changes unless the adjustment of
the opening balance of retained earnings is not reasonably determinable. Restatement of
comparatives is required unless impracticable#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard requires retrospective restatement of material errors (see 2.8.2) and retrospective
application of changes in accounting policies (see 2.8.3) unless impracticable. Guidance is given on when
restatement will be impracticable.

Retrospective application or restatement should be done using only information that:

- would have been available in preparing the financial statements for that earlier period; and
- provides evidence of circumstances that existed on the date(s) that the transaction or event occurred.

Other information, for example, information that uses the benefit of hindsight, may not be used.

Retrospective application or restatement is impracticable when restatement requires significant
estimates to be made that cannot distinguish information that may be used from that which may not.

2.8.5 Changes in accounting estimate

Estimates are an essential part of financial reporting, and changes therein are accounted for in the
income statement in the period in which the change occurs. For example, a change in the estimate of
recoverable receivables is accounted for in the period in which the change in estimate is made.
Disclosures of the nature and amount of such changes may be required (see 4.1).

In some cases it can be difficult to determine whether a change represents a change in accounting
policy or a change in estimate. In such cases the change is treated as a change in estimate and
appropriate disclosure is given. In our view, when an entity changes its method of measuring the
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cost of inventory (see 3.7), for example, from FIFO to weighted average, this is a change in
accounting policy notwithstanding the fact that both methods measure cost.

A change in the estimate of the useful life or method of recognising the depreciation / amortisation of
property, plant and equipment (see 3.2) or an intangible asset (see 3.3) is accounted for prospectively
as a change in estimate by adjusting depreciation / amortisation in the current and future periods.

For example, entity C acquired a printing machine at the beginning of 1997 and its useful life was
estimated to be 10 years. At the end of 2003 the carrying amount of the machine is 240. At the
beginning of 2004 C revises the estimated useful life downwards to a further two years from that date.
Therefore, the carrying amount of 240 should be depreciated over the next two years. In addition, the
decrease in useful life may indicate that the carrying amount of the machine is impaired (see 3.9).

IAS 8.34, 48 A change in estimate is different from the correction of an error because an error results from the

IAS 1.27
38, 39

IAS 19.118

misapplication of policy or misinterpretation of existing facts and circumstances. An estimate takes
into account all existing facts and circumstances, but changes over time as those facts and
circumstances change. If an objective determination cannot be made of whether a change is a
change in estimate or the correction of an error, in our view, it should be accounted for as a change in
estimate; this is consistent with the approach taken to distinguishing between changes in estimates
and changes in accounting policy.

2.8.6 Change in classification or presentation

In some cases it may be appropriate to change the classification or presentation of items in the
financial statements even though there has been no change in accounting policy in order to achieve a
more appropriate presentation. In such cases the comparatives are restated unless impracticable,
and appropriate explanatory disclosures are included in the financial statements.

For example, in 2003 entity D classified its entire obligation for post-employment benefits as non-
current as allowed by IAS 19. In 2004 D decides to split the obligation into current and non-current
components in the balance sheet. The 2003 comparatives should be restated if D has the information
necessary to do so.

In this case we do not believe that it is necessary to head up the comparative financial statements
as "restated” as the change in classification or presentation is limited and does not result in a change
to either the results or total equity of the comparative period. Where the effect of a reclassification is
more significant, such a heading may be necessary.

2.8.7 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

In the case of this topic no future developments are noted.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



124

2.9

General issues FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
2.9 Events after the balance sheet date

Events after the balance sheet date
(IAS 1, IAS 10)

Overview

. The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occur after the balance sheet
date if those events provide evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date.

- Generally, financial statements are not adjusted for events that are indicative of
conditions that arose after the balance sheet date.

- Dividends declared, proposed or approved after the balance sheet date are not recognised
as a liability in the financial statements.

IAS 10.3

IAS 10.17

IAS 10.3, 8

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued a revised version of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
and IAS 10 Events After the Balance Sheet Date. The revised standards are effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005. Early adoption is encouraged. Where an existing
requirement is discussed that will be changed by the revised standard it is marked with a # and the
impact of the changes are explained in the accompanying boxed text.

2.9.1 Overall approach
The following diagram illustrates the scope of IAS 10, which deals with events that occur after the
balance sheet date, but before the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Start of the Balance Financial statements Information Shareholder
reporting period sheet date authorised made public meeting
Events covered Events after the Events after the
by the financial balance sheet date balance sheet date
statements covered by not covered by
IAS 10 IAS 10

IAS 10 requires disclosure in the financial statements of the date that the financial statements
were authorised for issue (and who gave such authorisation) in order to inform users of the date to
which events have been considered.

2.9.2 Adjusting events

The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occur after the balance sheet date, but
before the financial statements are authorised for issue, if they provide evidence of conditions that
existed at the balance sheet date (adjusting events).

For example, entity A is being sued for breach of contract. At the balance sheet date A asserted that
it had not breached the contract and had legal opinions supporting this as the most likely outcome.
Therefore, A had not recognised any provision in its draft financial statements (see 3.11 and 3.13).
Prior to the financial statements being authorised by the directors, the judge in the case delivered a
preliminary ruling that A was guilty and liable for damages of 1,000. A final judgement was made
after the financial statements had been authorised for issue. In our view, the financial statements
should be adjusted and a provision of 1,000 recognised because the preliminary ruling provides
sufficient evidence that an obligation existed at the balance sheet date (in the absence of any
evidence to the contrary), notwithstanding the fact that a final judgement had not yet been reached.
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2.9.3 Non-adjusting events

IAS 10.3, 10, Financial statement amounts should not be adjusted for non-adjusting events. Non-adjusting events

14,

IAS 10.12

IAS 10.12,
13

IAS 10.21,
IFRS 3.66,
6771

IAS 1.63-67

IAS 33.64

IAS 10.9

are events that are a result of conditions that arose after the balance sheet date. An exception is
when post-balance sheet events indicate that the financial statements should not be prepared on a
going concern basis.

Dividends declared, proposed or approved by shareholders (when shareholder approval is required)
after the balance sheet date are non-adjusting events that are not recognised as a liability in the
financial statements; however, they may be reported as an appropriation of equity (see 3.10)#.
The timing of the recognition of dividends is discussed further in 3.10.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that if an entity declares dividends after the balance sheet date the
entity should not recognise those dividends as a liability at the balance sheet date. Such dividends
should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

The following is disclosed in respect of significant non-adjusting events: the nature of the event and
an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that an estimate cannot be made. A non-adjusting
event is considered to be significant when it is of such importance that non-disclosure would affect
the ability of the users of the financial statements to make proper evaluations and decisions. In all
cases details of a business combination effected after the balance sheet date must be disclosed.

2.9.4 Classification of accelerated debt

Generally, the classification of long-term debt as current or non-current reflects the resolution of
breaches of covenants and instances of default if those resolutions occur before the financial
statements are authorised for issue (see 3.1)#.

Forthcoming requirements

Under revised IAS 10 the classification of long-term debt as current or non-current reflects
circumstances as at the balance sheet date. Post-balance sheet refinancings, amendments,
waivers, etc. are not considered in determining the classification of debt. However, if an entity
expects, and has the discretion, at the balance sheet date to refinance or to reschedule payments on
a long-term basis the debt is classified as non-current (see 3.1).

2.9.5 Earnings per share

Earnings per share is restated to include the effect on the number of shares of certain share
transactions that occur after the balance sheet date even though the transactions themselves are
non-adjusting events (see 5.3).

2.9.6 Identifying the key event

In some cases an event after the balance sheet date actually may have been triggered by an event
that occurred prior to the balance sheet date. In such cases it is necessary to determine the
underlying causes of the event and their timing in order to determine the appropriate accounting.

For example, entity B receives notice after the balance sheet date that one of its major customers
has gone into liquidation. In this case the standard states that the bankruptcy of a customer after the
balance sheet date usually confirms that a loss existed at the balance sheet date. Therefore, the
entity should assume that the bankruptcy is an adjusting event unless evidence to the contrary
exists (e.g., the customer became bankrupt because its main operating plant was destroyed in a fire
that occurred after the balance sheet date).

In other cases multiple events may occur, some before and some after the balance sheet date, and it
is necessary to determine which of the events should trigger the recognition of the event in the
financial statements.
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2.9 Events after the balance sheet date

2.9.7 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

In the case of this topic no future developments are noted.
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3.

3.1

3.1 General

Specific balance sheet items

General
(IAS 1, IAS 32)

Overview

. The balance sheet is classified either as current and non-current, or based on the broad
order of liquidity of assets and liabilities#.

- A long-term interest-bearing liability that is due to be settled within 12 months of the balance
sheet date is classified as non-current if there is an intention and supporting agreement
(including a post-balance sheet date agreement) to refinance on a long-term basis#.

- A liability that is payable on demand following a breach of agreement is classified as
non-current if the lender has agreed not to demand repayment (including via a post-
balance sheet date agreement) and a further breach within 12 months of the balance
sheet date is not probable#.

IAS 1.53
(1997), 71

IAS 1.51

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The revised standards are applicable for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier application is encouraged. Where an existing
requirement is discussed that will be changed by the revised standards, it is marked with a # and the
impact of the change is explained in the accompanying boxed text. In particular:

- an unclassified balance sheet presentation based on the order of liquidity is acceptable only when
it provides more reliable and relevant information;

- acurrent liability is not be classified as non-current on the basis of an agreement to refinance that
was reached after the balance sheet date; and

- aliability that is payable on demand because certain conditions are breached, should be classified
as current even if the lender has agreed, after the balance sheet date but before the financial
statements are authorised for issue, not to demand repayment as a result of the breach.

3.1.1 Format of the balance sheet

While IFRSs require certain items to be presented on the face of the balance sheet, there is no
prescribed format other than a general requirement to present the balance sheet either by
distinguishing current from non-current assets and liabilities (a classified balance sheet), or broadly in
order of liquidity#. In our view, presentation of a classified balance sheet is preferable.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard generally will require balance sheets to be presented distinguishing current from
non-current assets and liabilities (a classified balance sheet). However, entities may present assets
and liabilities broadly in order of liquidity when such a presentation provides information that is
reliable and more relevant.

Once an entity has decided whether to present a classified balance sheet, or follow a liquidity-based
approach, that format must be used in presenting both assets and liabilities within the balance sheet
(i.e., an entity cannot present a mixed format balance sheet)#.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



128

IAS 1.55
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3.1 General

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard permits an entity to present some of its assets and liabilities using a current /
non-current classification and others in order of liquidity if such a mixed presentation is reliable and
is more relevant.

IAS 1.68, 69 The face of the balance sheet should include line items, headings and sub-totals in addition to the

IAS 1.57
(1997)

IAS 1.52

IAS 1.57

IAS 1.57

IAS 1.57

IFRS 5.3

minimum items specified when required by an IFRS or when relevant to an understanding of the
entity’s financial position. Additional items may be presented because of their size or nature or to
distinguish them from other items with differing timing (or liquidity) or function within the entity. For
example, an entity with significant trademarks may decide to present these separately on the face of
the balance sheet, rather than including them with other intangible assets.

3.1.2 Current versus non-current
Assets
Current assets are those assets that are either:

. expected to be realised in, or held for sale or consumption in, the normal course of the entity’s
operating cycle; or

- held primarily for trading purposes or for the short-term and are expected to be realised within
12 months of the balance sheet date#.

For example, an entity constructs office buildings for third parties; often construction takes two to
three years to complete. The entity’s construction work-in-progress would be classified as a
current asset.

When a line item in the balance sheet includes a combination of assets that will be realised both
before and after 12 months of the balance sheet date, an entity must disclose the amount expected
to be realised after more than 12 months. For example, all trade receivables would be classified as
current assets, but an entity would disclose in the notes the amount expected to be received more
than 12 months after the balance sheet date.

All assets that do not meet the definition of current assets are classified as non-current.
Restricted cash always is classified as a non-current asset#.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard modified slightly the criteria for classification of items as current assets. Under
the revised standard current assets are those assets that are:

. expected to be realised in, or are held for sale or consumption in, the normal course of the
entity’'s operating cycle;

. held primarily for trading purposes;

. expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date; or

. cash or a cash equivalent (see 2.3) unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to
settle a liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

A non-current asset is not reclassified as current unless it is classified as held for sale under IFRS 5
(see 5.4A).

The revised standard requires the current portion of a non-current financial asset to be classified as
a current asset.
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IAS 1.60
(1997)

3.1 General
Liabilities
Similar to current assets, current liabilities are those liabilities that are either:

. expected to be settled in the normal course of the entity’s operating cycle; or
. due to be settled within 12 months of the balance sheet date#.

IAS 1.61, 62 Debt usually must be classified as current or non-current if the balance sheet distinguishes between

IAS 1.62

IAS 1.62

IAS 1.60

current and non-current items based on whether it is due within one year or not. However, when
some liabilities (e.g., trade payables or accruals for employees) are part of the working capital used
in the entity’s operating cycle, they should be classified as current liabilities even if they are due to
be settled more than 12 months after the balance sheet date.

When an entity presents a classified balance sheet and has a long-term interest-bearing liability that
comprises a portion due within 12 months of the balance sheet date and a portion due in later
periods, the liability is split into its current and non-current components.

As in the case of assets, when a line item in the balance sheet includes a combination of liabilities
that are expected to be settled both before and after 12 months of the balance sheet date, an entity
must disclose the amount expected to be settled after more than 12 months.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard modifies slightly the criteria for classification of an item as a current liability.
Under the revised standard current liabilities are those liabilities that are:

. expected to be settled in the normal course of the entity’s operating cycle;

- held primarily for trading purposes;

- due to be settled within 12 months of the balance sheet date; or

- not subject to an unconditional right of the entity to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the balance sheet date.

IAS 1.63, 64 Along-term interest-bearing liability that is due to be settled within 12 months of the balance sheet

(1997)

date should be classified as non-current if there is an intention and supporting agreement to refinance
on a long-term basis, which may be evidenced by a post-balance sheet date agreement to
refinance#. However, if the original term of the financing was for less than 12 months, in this case
the agreement to refinance must be reached before the balance sheet date.

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 1.63, 64 The revised standard requires the current portion of long-term debt to be classified as current even if

IAS 1.65
(1997)

IAS 1.65

an agreement to refinance or reschedule payments on a long-term basis is completed after the
balance sheet date but before the financial statements are authorised for issue. However, if an entity
expects and is able, solely at its own discretion, to refinance or roll over an obligation for at least

12 months after the balance sheet date under an existing loan facility, it should classify the obligation
as non-current even if the loan otherwise would be due within a shorter period.

A liability that is payable on demand because loan conditions have been breached is classified as
non-current if the lender has agreed not to demand repayment as a result of the breach, and a further
breach within 12 months of the balance sheet date is not probable. This includes an agreement
reached after the balance sheet date#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard requires a liability that is payable on demand because loan conditions are
breached to be classified as current even if the lender has agreed, after the balance sheet date but
before the financial statements are authorised for issue, not to demand repayment as a result of
the breach.
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3.1.3 Offsetting

IAS32.42 A financial asset and a financial liability should be offset and reported net only when the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset, and it intends either to settle on a net basis or to settle both
amounts simultaneously (see 5.6).

Specific offsetting rules exist for deferred tax assets and liabilities and plan assets and obligations in
a defined benefit plan (see 3.12 for the specific application of these requirements in the case of
deferred tax, and 4.4 for plan assets in a defined benefit plan).

Non-financial assets and liabilities cannot be offset under IFRSs.

3.14 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are

discussed briefly below.

In the case of this topic no future developments are noted.
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3.2 Property, plant and equipment

3.2 Property, plant and equipment
(IAS 16, SIC-6, SIC-14, SIC-23)

Overview
. Property, plant and equipment is recognised initially at cost.

. Costincludes all expenditure, including administrative and general overhead expenditure,
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use#.

. Costincludes the estimated cost of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site#.

. Cost may include certain interest costs.

- Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its useful life.

. A change in useful life is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

- When an item of property, plant and equipment comprises individual components for
which different depreciation methods or rates are appropriate, each component is
accounted for separately.

. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that it will give rise to
future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of

the asset, or when it replaces a component that is accounted for separately#.

- Property, plant and equipment may be revalued to fair value if all items in the same class
are revalued at the same time and the revaluations are kept up to date.

. Compensation for loss or impairment cannot be offset against the carrying amount of the
asset lost or impaired.

- The gain or loss on disposal is the difference between the net proceeds received and the
carrying amount of the asset.

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued a revised version of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

The revised standard incorporates the requirements of SIC-6 Costs of Modifying Existing Software
and SIC-14 Property, Plant and Equipment — Compensation for the Impairment or Loss of [tems and
SIC-23 Property, Plant and Equipment — Major Inspection or Overhaul Costs. It is applicable for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier application is encouraged. In March
2004, the IASB issued IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. It is
applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 and earlier application is
encouraged subject to additional criteria. Where an existing requirement is discussed that will be
changed by the revised standards, it is marked with a # and the impact of the change is explained in
the accompanying boxed text. In particular, the revised standard:

. clarifies that a component approach applies (i.e., an entity should consider whether an item of
property, plant and equipment is a combination of separate parts with different useful lives or
consumption patterns). Each identified part (and any remainder) is depreciated separately;

. clarifies that an item must continue to be depreciated when it is idle. However, a non-current
asset that is held for sale (either individually or as part of a disposal group) in accordance with
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Disposal and Discontinued Operations is not depreciated
(see 5.4A);
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IAS 40.2

IAS 172

IAS 16.15

IAS 16.16,
1719, 20

Specific balance sheet items FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
3.2 Property, plant and equipment

. changes the definition of ‘residual value’ to the net amount that the asset could be sold for at the
balance sheet date if the asset were in the condition that it will be in when the entity intends to
dispose of it;

- requires useful life, residual value and method of depreciation to be reviewed at least at each
financial yearend; and

. clarifies that the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes not only the ‘initial
estimate’ of the costs relating to dismantlement, removal or restoration of property, plant or
equipment at the time of installing the item but also costs incurred during the period of the use for
purposes other than producing inventory.

In May 2004, IFRIC issued IFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar
Liabilities. It is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 September 2004 and earlier
application is encouraged. The interpretation requires that changes to an existing obligation generally
must be added to or deducted from the cost of the related asset and depreciated prospectively over
the asset’s remaining useful life.

3.21 Definition

Property, plant and equipment comprises tangible assets held by an entity for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes, that are expected to
be used for more than one period.

Spare parts, stand-by and servicing equipment held by an entity are classified as property, plant and
equipment if they are expected to be used for more than one period; if not, they are classified as
inventories (see 3.7).

A long-term leasehold interest in a property must be accounted for as a lease in accordance with

IAS 17 (see 5.1) unless it is classified as an investment property. Any large payment made to acquire
a leasehold interest is classified as a lease prepayment (assuming that the lease is an operating lease)
rather than as property, plant and equipment.

In the case of investment property the requirements of IAS 40 will apply (see 3.4)#.

Forthcoming requirements
The revisions to IAS 17 permit a lessee to classify certain operating leases as investment property
(see 3.4).

3.2.2 Initial recognition
Property, plant and equipment is recognised initially at cost.

Directly attributable

Cost includes all expenditure, including administrative and general overhead expenditure, directly
attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use#. The cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of its dismantlement, removal or restoration.
As noted in 4.6, interest also may be capitalised as part of the cost in some instances.

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 16.16(c) The revised standard clarifies that the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes not

only the ‘initial estimate’ of the costs relating to dismantlement, removal or restoration of property,
plant or equipment at the time of installing the item but also during the period of the use for purposes
other than producing inventory (e.g., changes in the original estimate of dismantlement, removal or
restoration costs).

IAS 16.16(b) The revised standard clarifies ‘intended use’ as being capable of operating in the manner intended

by management.
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IAS 16.77(a) The revised standard clarifies that costs of employee benefits as defined by IAS 19 that are incurred
for employees working directly on the construction or acquisition of the item of property, plant and
equipment are directly attributable costs of that item.

The costs incurred need not be external or incremental. For example, entity A is installing a
major piece of equipment at one of its factories. One of As existing engineers is assigned to
manage the installation on a full-time basis; installation is expected to take six weeks. In our
view, the cost of the engineer’s salary, including all employee benefits, during the period of
installation should be included in the cost of the plant even though his or her salary would have
been incurred in any event#.

In some cases an entity will incur expenditure in carrying out a feasibility study prior to deciding
whether to invest in an asset or in deciding which asset to acquire. In our view, expenses incurred
for feasibility assessment should be expensed as incurred because they are not linked to a specific
item of property, plant and equipment. This is consistent with the approach taken under IFRSs for the
development of a Web site (see 3.3).

Often staff need to be trained in the use of a new item of property, plant and equipment. In our view,
training costs should not be capitalised as part of the cost of the item since training costs are not
directly attributable to bringing the asset itself into a working condition#. In addition, capitalisation of
expenditure on training is prohibited by the standard on intangible assets (see 3.3). If the asset is
installed by a third party and training is part of the total contract price, we believe that some part of
the total price should be allocated to training and expensed as incurred.

Forthcoming requirements
IAS 16.19(c) The revised standard clarifies that the training costs are not recognised as part of the costs of an
item of property, plant and equipment.

In another example, entity B plans to rent a retail store under an operating lease and will renovate the
store so that it conforms with the design of its other stores. B cannot commence the renovations
until it takes possession of the store. An issue arises as to whether B may capitalise the rental
expense incurred during the renovation period. Our preference is for the lease payments to be
expensed as incurred on the basis that they are a pre-operating expense that is not required to bring
the asset to its working condition#.

Forthcoming requirements
JIAS 16.19(a) The revised standard clarifies that the costs of opening a new facility are not part of the costs of an
item of property, plant and equipment.

IAS 16.20(b) The revised standard clarifies that the initial operating losses such as those incurred while demand
for the item’s output builds up are not part of the costs of an item of property, plant and equipment.

In a slightly different example, entity C has owned a site for a number of years and decides to
renovate it. C could still operate from the site while the renovation is ongoing, but in order to carry
out the renovation more efficiently, C rents an alternative site for the period of the renovation. In our
view, the rental expense in respect of the temporary site incurred during the renovation cannot be
capitalised as part of the cost because the completion of the renovation is not dependent upon that
cost being incurred.

An entity may purchase land with the intention of constructing a new building on the site. In our view,
the cost of demolishing any existing building on the site should be capitalised as part of the cost of
the property. However, it is not clear whether the cost should be capitalised to the cost of the land or
to the cost of the building; this distinction is important because land and buildings generally are
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depreciated differently (see below). In our view, the amount should be capitalised to the cost of the
building because the demolition is a direct result of the decision to construct a new building.

A similar, but less common, example is when an entity relocates a community (or part thereof) in
order to construct its asset. For example, entity D plans to construct a golf course on a site occupied
currently by a small town. D agrees to pay the cost of relocating the residents to another site. In our
view, the relocation costs should be capitalised as they are directly attributable to the construction of
the golf course.

While it is common for the design of a complex asset to be modified and improved during
construction, care should be taken to avoid double-counting costs. For example, entity E is
constructing a hotel; the cost of designing the hotel has been capitalised as part of the cost of the
asset. Half way through construction, the directors of E reassess their plans and decide that a hotel
no longer is viable in the current economic environment. Instead, the directors decide to develop the
site into a retirement village, which requires a complete redesign of the site. In our view, although it
is appropriate to capitalise the cost of designing the retirement village, the original hotel design costs
should be written off since they are not part of the eventual asset. A similar approach should be
adopted for any other costs (e.g., construction costs) that do not form part of the eventual asset
because of changes made in the course of construction.

Abnormal waste

Similar to determining the cost of inventory (see 3.7), when an item of property, plant and equipment
is constructed by an entity, the standard requires abnormal amounts of wasted material, labour and
other resources to be expensed as incurred instead of being capitalised. A determination of what
should be considered “abnormal” is subjective, but in our view, the factors to consider include the
level of technical difficulty involved with the construction, the scale of the project, the estimates and
timelines included in the project planning, and the usual construction process for that type of asset.

For example, entity F is constructing a plant that produces plastic building blocks for children.
During the commissioning phase, which should take two weeks, sample building blocks are
produced to ensure that the plant is operating correctly; the engineers use the test results to finalise
the calibration of the machines. Most of the building blocks produced during testing are unfit for sale
and are disposed of. The commissioning phase lasts two weeks as scheduled. In this example the
costs incurred as part of the testing are a normal part of the construction process, and the related
costs should be capitalised.

Continuing the above example, if commissioning was due to take two weeks, but actually took four
weeks (e.g., because a trainee engineer had installed a machine incorrectly or because site
management forgot to schedule machine operators for the testing phase), in our view, any additional
costs incurred as a result of such events should be considered abnormal and expensed as incurred.
The additional costs could be measured by reference to the amount of testing that was planned.

Staying with the same example, if testing took four weeks instead of two because F was introducing
a new and previously untested technology into its production process and unforeseen technical
difficulties were experienced, in our view, the additional costs incurred should be capitalised because
the costs are not “abnormal”

Abnormal waste is discussed in the context of assets that are constructed by the entity. In our view,
these principles apply equally when the asset is not constructed by the entity, but where the
installation process nonetheless is necessary to bring the asset to its working condition.

Pre-operating costs and losses
Start-up and pre-operating costs cannot be capitalised as part of the cost of property, plant and
equipment unless those costs are necessary to bring the asset to its working condition. For example,
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entity G is opening a new plant in a town where it has not operated previously. In addition to obtaining a
certificate to confirm that the plant meets environmental specifications, G is required to obtain general
permits that allow it to conduct business in the town. In our view, the cost of these permits cannot be
capitalised because they are general business costs that do not relate specifically to the asset.

An entity may incur losses prior to the asset reaching its planned performance level; such losses
cannot be capitalised. Continuing the example of F and its building blocks, after installation F runs the
new plant at half capacity for a month while staff are trained in how to use it correctly. As a result F
incurs an operating loss during that month. The loss should be recognised in the income statement.

Interruptions

In some cases construction will not be continuous and interruptions will occur during which time
costs still may be incurred. For example, the entity may have to continue paying site insurance
costs. IAS 16 is silent as to whether such costs may be capitalised, but in our view, guidance should
be drawn from IAS 23 and the capitalisation of borrowing costs (see 4.6).

Accordingly we believe that costs incurred during an interruption should be capitalised only if:

- the interruption is temporary and is a necessary part of getting the asset into its working condition
(e.g., the construction of a bridge is suspended while water levels are high, provided that such
costs are not abnormal waste — see above); or

. the costs are an integral part of getting the asset into its working condition even though physical
construction has been suspended (e.g., the cost of obtaining permits for the eventual operation of
the asset).

Decommissioning
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes the estimated cost of dismantling and removing
the asset and restoring the site to the extent that such cost is recognised as a provision (see 3.11)#.

For example, entity H constructs a chemical plant that has a useful life of 30 years. Environmental
laws require H to dismantle the plant at the end of its useful life. H recognises a provision for

removal costs (see 3.11), which is capitalised as part of the cost of the asset.

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 16.16(c) The revised standard clarifies that the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes not

IFRIC 1.3

only the ‘initial estimate’ of the costs relating to dismantlement, removal or restoration of property,
plant or equipment at the time of installing the item but also during the period of the use for purposes
other than producing inventory. In our view, decommissioning and restoration costs incurred by
the production of inventory should be capitalised as part of inventory costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition the amount of a decommissioning provision generally will change
due to the following (see 3.11):

. changes in the estimate of the amount or timing of expenditures required to dismantle the plant;
. changes in the discount rate; and
- the unwinding of the discount.

IAS 16 discusses decommissioning in the context of the initial recognition of property, plant and
equipment, but is silent on the treatment of such provisions that are recognised after the initial
recognition of the asset. Continuing the above example, when H first constructs its chemical plant
there are no applicable environmental laws. However, two years later the government introduces a
new law requiring the plant to be dismantled at the end of its useful life. In our view, the amount of
the provision should be capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. The capitalisation of these costs
should not result in the carrying amount of the asset exceeding its recoverable amount (see 3.9).
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The amount capitalised to the cost of property, plant and equipment excludes any portion of the
provision that relates to damage caused by ongoing operations rather than to the construction of
the asset#. Continuing the above example, in addition to being required to dismantle the plant at
the end of its useful life, H also is required to clean up environmental damage caused by its
operations. The clean-up costs cannot be capitalised.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRIC 1 provides guidance on the treatment of changes to decommissioning provisions recognised
after the initial recognition of the asset. The interpretation requires the effect of any changes to an
existing obligation to be added to or deducted from the cost of the related asset and depreciated
prospectively over the asset’s useful life. This is consistent with the accounting treatment for
changes in estimates in IAS 8 (see 2.8).

This principle is applied regardless of whether the cost model or the revaluation model is applied in
accounting for the item of property, plant and equipment. However, the implementation of this
principle varies with the choice of model.

Cost model

Under the cost model the changes in the liability are added to or deducted from the cost of the related
asset in the current period. However, the amount deducted from the cost of the asset cannot exceed
its carrying amount. Any excess therefore is recognised immediately in profit or loss as an asset
cannot have a negative carrying value.

An increase in the cost of an asset may require consideration of whether there is an indication of
impairment. An entity should consider whether calculation of the recoverable amount under IAS 36 is
necessary (see 3.9).

Revaluation model

Under the revaluation model, valuations must be kept sufficiently up to date that the carrying
amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair value at the
balance sheet date. A change in the liability does not, of itself, affect the valuation of the asset,
since the value of the liability should be excluded from the asset valuation.

The change in the liability affects the difference between the valuation and what would have been
recognised under the cost model. Therefore, changes in the liability affect the revaluation surplus or
deficit previously recognised on that asset as follows:

- adecrease in the liability is credited directly to the revaluation surplus in equity (except when it
reverses a revaluation deficit previously recognised in profit or loss); and

- anincrease in the liability is recognised in profit or loss (except when any credit balance remains
in the revaluation surplus in equity).

The depreciated cost of the asset cannot be negative. For example, if the depreciated cost of an
unimpaired asset is 25, and its revalued amount is 100, there is a revaluation surplus of 75. If the
decommissioning liability is reduced by 30, the depreciated cost of the asset is reduced to nil, and
the remaining five is recognised directly in profit or loss.

A change in the liability also may change the market's perception of the value of the asset for
financial reporting purposes and an entity should consider whether a revaluation of both the
impacted asset and other assets in the same asset class may be required.
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Incidental operations
IAS 16 is silent on the treatment of income earned in connection with the construction or installation
of an item of property, plant and equipment#. Generally there are two types of incidental income:

- Income earned from the operation of the asset. For example, referring back to the above example
of F and the building blocks produced during testing, if those building blocks could be sold as
seconds rather than disposing of them, how should the resulting revenue be accounted for?

- Income incidental to the decision to construct the asset, but not generated by the asset itself.

For example, entity K acquires a sports hall with the intention of constructing a supermarket on
the site. While K waits to receive permits for the construction, it rents out the sports facilities to a
local school.

In the absence of specific guidance, in our view an entity should make an accounting policy election
in respect of each type of incidental income, which should be applied consistently, to either:

. recognise the income in the income statement, when the income meets the definition of income
contained in the Framework (see 1.2); or

. deduct the income from the cost of the asset on the basis that it is an integral part of the
construction or installation of the asset.

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 16.17(e) The revised standard clarifies that incidental income from testing a new asset is part of the directly

IAS 16.21

IAS 16.23,
39.AG64

IAS 39.9, 47

IAS 16.41,
49(1998)

IAS 16.51

attributable cost of the asset. Therefore, income earned in the above example from selling as
seconds the building blocks produced when testing the asset, is deducted from the costs of testing
the asset. The costs of testing the asset (less the income) are recognised as part of the cost of the
item of property, plant and equipment.

The revised standard clarifies that other incidental operations should not be considered necessary
to bring the item to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Therefore, income and expenses from incidental operations
should be recognised in the income statement and included in their respective classification of
income and expense.

Deferred payment

When payment is deferred, the cost of the asset is the cash price equivalent (i.e., current cash price).
This calculation is different from the calculation of the financial liability (the amount due in respect
of the acquisition) that would be made under IAS 39, which would require the cash flows to be
discounted using a market rate of interest (see 3.6). However, in our view, the requirements of
IAS 16 should apply because the standard addresses specifically deferred payment for property,
plant and equipment .

The difference between the cash price equivalent and the amount payable is recognised as interest
expense over the period until payment. In our view, the effective interest method should be applied in
accordance with IAS 39 (see 3.6) since there is nothing to the contrary in IAS 16.

3.2.3 Depreciation
Subsequent to initial recognition property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a systematic basis
over its useful life, which should be reviewed periodically#.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard requires the useful life of an asset to be reviewed at least at each financial
yearend.
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A change in the useful life is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate
(see 2.8).

For example, entity L acquired a printing machine at the beginning of 1996 and its useful life was
estimated to be 10 years. At the end of 2003 the carrying amount of the machine is 240. At the
beginning of 2004 L revises the estimated useful life downwards to a further two years from that
date. Therefore, the carrying amount of 240 should be depreciated over the next two years.

In addition, the decrease in useful life may indicate that the carrying amount of the machine is
impaired (see 3.9).

The purpose of depreciation is not the recognition of decreases in the value of property, plant and
equipment; rather, the purpose is to allocate the cost or revalued amount of an asset over its useful
life on a systematic basis. Therefore, depreciation must be recognised even if the value of the asset
(e.g., a hotel) is being maintained by regular repair and maintenance.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised as an expense in the income statement (unless
it is included in the carrying amount of another asset).

Residual value

An asset’s depreciable amount is its cost less its residual value. Residual value is the net amount
that the entity expects to obtain for the asset at the end of its useful life after deducting the expected
costs of disposal#. The estimated residual value is based on similar assets that have reached the
end of their useful lives at the date that the estimate is made. In many cases the residual value will
be zero because the asset will be scrapped at the end of its useful life.

For example, entity M buys a machine costing 400. M plans to use the machine for three years
before selling it on the second-hand market. At the date of acquisition similar machines that are three
years old are traded for 150 on the second-hand market. The residual value is therefore 150 and
accordingly the depreciable amount is 250.

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 16.6, 53 The revised standard changes the definition of ‘residual value’ to the amount that an entity could

IAS 16.46
(1998)

IAS 16.51

IAS 16.54

IAS 16.60,

receive for the asset at the balance sheet date if the asset were in the condition as it will be
when the entity expects to dispose of it. This change clarifies that the residual value does not
include expected future inflation.

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, residual values are not changed for increases in prices
unless the asset is revalued, in which case a new estimate of the residual value is made#. This is
consistent with the purpose of depreciation being to allocate cost rather than to measure decreases
in value.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard requires the residual value of an asset to be reviewed at least at each financial
year-end and the changes in the residual value are accounted as a change in an accounting estimate in
accordance with IAS 8 (see 2.8).

If the residual value of an asset increases to an amount equal to or more than the asset’s carrying
amount, the asset’s depreciation charge will be zero. The entity would resume charging depreciation
when the residual value falls below the asset’s carrying amount.

Methods of depreciation
The method of depreciation should reflect the pattern in which the benefits associated with the asset

16.52 (1998) are consumed, and should be reviewed periodically#.
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IAS 16.61

IAS 16.61

IAS 16.62
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Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard requires the depreciation method applied to an asset to be reviewed at least at
each financial year-end.

A change in the depreciation method is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting
estimate (see 2.8).

IAS 16 does not require a specific method of depreciation to be used, and mentions the straight-line
method, the diminishing (or reducing balance) method and the sum-of-the-units (or units of
production) method. Other methods of depreciation that are not mentioned in the standard include the
annuity method and renewals accounting.

Straight-line

In our experience the straight-line method is used most commonly and in our view, it is the most
appropriate method when the level of consumption of an asset over the years is uncertain.

For example, a machine cost 150, has a residual value of 30 and a useful life of eight years.

Therefore, the annual depreciation charge is:
Yri1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5 Yr6 Yr7 Yr8
15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15
Reducing balance method
Under the reducing balance method, depreciation is measured as a percentage of the current carrying
amount of the asset (i.e., less accumulated depreciation to date). Using the same example as
before, the machine would be depreciated at 18.25 per cent per annum in order to reduce the carrying
amount to the residual value of 30 at the end of eight years.
Therefore, the annual depreciation charge would be:
Yri1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5 Yr6 Yr7 Yr8
27 22 18 15 12 10 8 7
Using this method the depreciation charge declines over the years, which is appropriate when the
machine provides greater benefits to the entity in its earlier years, for example, because it will be
less capable of producing a high-quality product in later years, or because the machine will be less
technologically advanced in later years.
Units of production method
Under the units of production method, depreciation is based on the actual level of output or usage
expected to be achieved. While this method may provide a more accurate picture of the consumption

of an asset, it may be difficult to estimate the expected output over the life of the asset.

Continuing the above example, assume that the expected output over the life of the asset is 8,600
units and that the estimated annual output is as follows:

Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yrb Yré6 Yr7 Yr8

1,500 1,200 1,200 1,100 1,100 1,000 1,000 500
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Therefore, the annual depreciation charge would be:
Yri1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yrbs Yr6 Yr7 Yr8
21 17 17 15 15 14 14 7

If this method of depreciation is used, the estimates of future production would be revised each year
in accordance with the requirement to review the expected useful life periodically.

Annuity method

“Annuity depreciation” refers to depreciation methods under which the depreciation charge is adjusted
to reflect the time value of money. Such depreciation methods result in lower depreciation charges in
initial periods, and larger depreciation methods in later periods. These methods are used under some
national accounting practices, for example, by lessors in order to recognise a level profit, after
considering financing costs related to the leased asset over the lease term. In our view, the financing
costs of an asset should not impact the selection of a depreciation policy. IFRSs require depreciation
to reflect the consumption of the economic benefits of an asset. We believe that this does not extend
to consideration of financing costs or inflation adjustments.

Renewals accounting

In some countries it has been common in certain industries (e.g., utilities) not to recognise
depreciation on the basis that the assets are maintained at a certain performance or service
level and all maintenance costs, including costs incurred to replace components of the asset,
are expensed immediately. It has been argued that the amount recognised in the income
statement in respect of the upkeep of the assets is similar to the depreciation charge that would
have been recognised.

A variation on the above is condition-based depreciation whereby the condition of the asset is
assessed and depreciation is measured as the increased cost required to restore the asset to a
predetermined performance or service level.

In our view, these methods of depreciation are not acceptable under IFRSs unless the impact on the
financial statements is immaterial.

Commencement of depreciation

Although an item of property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful life, IFRSs
are not explicit about when depreciation should commence. In our view, depreciation should
commence only when an item of property, plant and equipment is brought into use except when
the economic benefits embodied in the asset are being consumed prior to the asset being brought
into use#.

For example, entity N buys computer equipment that it knows will be technologically obsolete after
two years. N does not bring the equipment into use until six months after the acquisition. In this case
we believe that depreciation should commence when the asset is ready for use because the related
economic benefits are being consumed through the passage of time.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use

(i.e., when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).

In addition, when an item of property, plant and equipment is substantially complete, but is not yet in
use, an entity should ensure that the asset is reviewed for potential indicators of impairment
(see 3.9).
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IAS 16.43-
49

IAS 16.43

IAS 16.46

IAS 16.14

IAS 16.13,
14
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3.2.4 Component accounting

When an item of property, plant and equipment comprises individual components for which different
depreciation methods or rates are appropriate, each component is accounted for separately.

A separate component may be either a physical component or a non-physical component that
represents a major inspection or overhaul.

In our view, based on the wording of IAS 16, component accounting is compulsory when it would be
applicable. However, this does not mean that an entity should split its assets into an infinite number
of components if the effect on the financial statements would be immaterial#.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard clarifies that an item of property, plant and equipment should be separated into
parts (“components”), when those parts are significant in relation to the total cost of the item.

When an entity depreciates some parts of an item of property, plant and equipment separately it
depreciates the remainder of the item separately. The remainder consists of the parts of the item that
are not significant individually. If an entity has varying expectations for these parts, it should use
approximation techniques to estimate an appropriate depreciation pattern for the remainder to reflect
the consumption pattern and / or usefulness of its parts.

Although individual components are accounted for separately, the financial statements continue to
disclose a single asset. For example, an airline generally would disclose aircraft as a class of
assets, rather than disclosing separate information in respect of the aircraft body, hydraulics,
engines, seating etc.

Physical components

When the component is a physical component (e.g., the motor in an engine) the carrying amount of
the component is determined by reference to its cost. For example, entity O constructs a sports
stadium that has an overall useful life of 50 years; one of the components of the stadium is the
seating, which has an expected useful life of 10 years. The cost of the stadium in total is 500, which
included 50 in respect of the seating. Therefore, the seating component is measured at 50.

In many cases an entity acquires an asset for a fixed sum without knowing the cost of the individual
components. In our view, the cost of individual components should be estimated either by reference
to current market prices (if possible), in consultation with the seller or contractor, or using some other
reasonable method of approximation.

Major inspection or overhaul costs
Major inspections and overhauls are identified and accounted for as a separate component if that
component is used over more than one period.

When a major inspection or overhaul cost is embedded in the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment, it is necessary to estimate the carrying amount of the component because the cost of
the asset does not include any amount attributable to the inspection or overhaul. The carrying amount
of the component should be determined by reference to the current market price of such overhauls
and not the expected future price.

For example, entity P runs a merchant shipping business and has just acquired a new ship for 400.
The useful life of the ship is 15 years, but it will be dry-docked every three years and a major
overhaul carried out. At the date of acquisition the dry-docking costs for similar ships that are three
years old is approximately 80. Therefore, the cost of the dry-docking component for accounting
purposes is 80 and this amount would be depreciated over the three years to the next dry-docking.
The remaining carrying amount, which may need to be split further into components, is 320.

Any additional components would be depreciated over their own estimated useful lives.
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Component accounting for inspection or overhaul costs is intended to be used only for major
expenditure that occurs at regular intervals over the life of an asset. Costs associated with routine
repairs and maintenance should be expensed as incurred.

Costs to be included

IFRSs are silent with regard to the specific costs that should be included in measuring the
component attributable to major inspection or overhaul costs (i.e., whether they must be incremental
and / or external costs).

Continuing the above example of P and its ship, the current market price of a dry-docking service is
80. However, P's currently-employed technicians will carry out most of the work and the external
costs incurred are likely to be only 30. In our view, the entity should attribute the entire 80 to the
component on the basis that the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes internal as
well as external costs (see 3.2.2).

Relationship with physical components

IFRSs do not address the allocation of costs to a major inspection or overhaul when the underlying
asset comprises a number of physical components. For example, P's ship comprises two physical
components: the ship’s body (250) and the engines (150). The dry-docking will involve servicing both
of these components. In reality the ship would comprise a number of other components. However,
the example has been simplified for illustrative purposes.

In our view, the dry-docking component should be allocated between the ship’s body and the engines
on the basis of their relative costs. Therefore, the components of the ship will be:

. dry-docking costs 80
«  body 200 equals 250 - (250/400 x 80)
. engines 120 equals 150 - (150/400 x 80)

This issue arises only prior to the first major inspection or overhaul being carried out because the
component cost is assumed rather than actual.

Replacing a component

IFRSs are silent on the replacement of a component prior to it being depreciated fully#. For example,
P carries out the dry-docking of its ship after two years instead of three. The carrying amount of the
overhaul at that date is 27 (80/3). The actual dry-docking costs are 100.

In our view, the remaining carrying amount of the component that has been replaced should be
written off immediately because the component effectively has been disposed of. However, we
believe that the amount written off should be included in depreciation instead of being classified as a
loss on disposal because, although each component is accounted for as a separate asset,
component accounting is simply a mechanism to achieve an appropriate depreciation charge in each
period and in this instance the estimated useful life is being revised.

The actual dry-docking costs of 100 will be capitalised to the cost of the ship and depreciated over
the expected period until the next dry-docking.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard clarifies that the remaining portion of the component that is replaced by a new
component should be derecognised.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY Specific balance sheet items 143

IAS 16.23
(1998),
SIC 6.4
(1997)

IAS 16.26
(1998)
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3.2.5 Subsequent expenditure

Expenditure incurred subsequent to the initial recognition of property, plant and equipment is
capitalised only when it is probable that it will give rise to future economic benefits in excess of the
originally assessed standard of performance of the asset, or when it replaces a component that is
accounted for separately (see 3.2.4). Expenditure incurred simply to restore or maintain the level of
future economic benefits is expensed as incurred (i.e., when the work is carried out).

Although the standard refers to the “originally assessed standard of performance” in practice this is
interpreted as the standard of performance immediately before the expenditure being incurred#.

For example, entity Q acquired a machine 10 years ago that was capable of producing 1,000 units a
day. The performance of the machine has deteriorated over the years so that by the end of 2004 the
machine can produce only 700 units a day; however, no impairment loss is recognised because the
carrying amount does not exceed the recoverable amount (see 3.9). Q upgrades the machine so that
it can produce 900 units a day. In practice the expenditure is capitalised because it increases the
production from 700 to 900, even though this is still lower than the originally assessed standard of
performance of 1,000.

An item of property, plant and equipment may be acquired in a state of ruin, which was taken

into account in determining the purchase price. For example, an office may need painting (for
functional rather than marketing purposes). The cost of painting that is incurred subsequent to the
acquisition should be capitalised because the asset’s original standard of performance has been
improved. This can be distinguished from the situation where the building is repainted, not because
there is anything wrong with the existing paint work, but simply because the entity would prefer a
different colour. In this case we believe that the cost of painting should be expensed as incurred.

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 16.7 12 Under the revised standard, any subsequent expenditure on the asset is recognised only if it meets

IAS 16.20

IAS 16.11

IAS 16.11

the general recognition criteria (i.e., it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably). Therefore, expenditure
incurred simply to restore or maintain the level of future economic benefits is expensed as incurred.

In some cases an entity may incur costs in relocating assets. For example, entity R is moving
production to a new plant in order to achieve lower operating costs. R incurs costs in moving its
machines from the old plant to the new one. In our view, the cost of relocation should be
expensed because the expenditure does not enhance the future economic benefits attributable to
the machines#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property,
plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Therefore, costs of relocating or
reorganising part or all of an entity’s operations is not included in the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred to acquire safety or environmental equipment may be capitalised as a separate
item of property, plant and equipment because it enables the future economic benefits in the
underlying property, plant and equipment to be realised; this is notwithstanding the fact that the
expenditure itself does not give rise to future economic benefits or enhance the standard of
performance of the asset.

For example, the government introduces new emissions laws that require aluminium smelters to be
fitted with a new grade of filter; unless the new filters are fitted, smelters are no longer permitted to
operate. The cost of the new filters is capitalised as property, plant and equipment as long as the total
amount capitalised (the smelter plus the new filters) does not exceed recoverable amount (see 3.9).
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3.2.6 Revaluations

IAS 16.31-42 Property, plant and equipment may be revalued to fair value. Any surplus arising on the revaluation is

IAS 16.32

IAS 16.33

recognised directly in a revaluation reserve within equity except to the extent that the surplus
reverses a previous revaluation deficit on the same asset charged in the income statement, in which
case the credit to that extent is recognised in the income statement. Any deficit on revaluation is
charged in the income statement except to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation surplus
on the same asset, in which case it is taken directly to the revaluation reserve. Therefore, revaluation
increases and decreases cannot be offset, even within a class of assets.

Fair value

Market value

The fair value of property, plant and equipment is its market value, which has a similar meaning
to fair value. Disposal costs are not deducted in determining market value.

In addition, market value is the highest possible price that could be obtained for the item of property,
plant and equipment, without regard to its existing use. For example, entity S owns offices situated in
a prime residential location. The value of the property as residential real estate exceeds its value as
an office building. Accordingly market value should be determined based on its value as residential
real estate.

Depreciated replacement cost

Plant and equipment is valued using depreciated replacement cost (DRC) only when there is no
evidence of market value. This might occur when the asset is specialised and rarely sold except as
part of a continuing business. A DRC valuation considers how much it would cost to reproduce an
asset after adjusting for depreciation and optimisation (i.e., it estimates the replacement cost of the
required capacity of the asset). The adjustment for depreciation takes into account the age of the asset
(in relation to its useful life) and its residual value. The adjustment for optimisation takes into account
situations where the asset is obsolete, overengineered or has capacity greater than that required.

For example, entity T operates a network of water pipes; the diameter of the pipes is greater than
required currently, and greater than is expected to be required (even for necessary stand-by or safety
purposes). The DRC valuation would be optimised to eliminate the cost of replacing the surplus
capacity in T's network.

When an asset is obsolete, the DRC valuation is optimised by reducing the reproduction cost of the
entity's specific asset so that it is not greater than the cost of a modern equivalent asset that
provides an equivalent standard of performance or service capacity.

When an asset has surplus capacity, in our view the optimisation adjustment for the DRC valuation
should consider whether the surplus capacity has an alternative use. \When there is no alternative
use, no cost should be reflected for reproducing this surplus capacity. However, where there is an
alternative use that is physically possible and financially feasible, we believe that the surplus
capacity should be included in the valuation, either using fair value (if determinable) or replacement
cost. However, surplus capacity is unlikely to have an alternative use unless it is physically and
operationally separable from the required capacity.

For example, in addition to the surplus diameter of the pipes, T's network includes an additional
discrete segment of pipes that is surplus to requirements, but which could be closed off and used for
other purposes such as a liquid storage facility. While the surplus diameter would be ignored for
valuation purposes, in our view, the surplus segment should be included in the valuation.
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IAS 36.9

IAS 16.33

IAS 16.32

IAS 16.31,
36-38
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Possible impairment

In valuing plant and equipment using a DRC valuation, there is a risk that the value attributed to the
asset will exceed its recoverable amount (see 3.9). This is because DRC is based on reproduction
cost, whereas impairment losses are measured by reference to future cash flows and selling prices.

In our view, a DRC valuation always should be accompanied by a review of the future profitability of
the business to which the assets being valued relate. When this review indicates a possible
impairment, full impairment testing in accordance with IAS 36 is required (see 3.9).

Income approach#

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard also allows fair value to be estimated using an income approach if there is no
market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialised nature of the item of property, plant
and equipment and the item is rarely sold, except as part of a continuing business.

Apportioning values between land and specialised plant

In many cases the valuation of specialised plant and equipment is linked to the valuation of the land
on which it is situated. The land should be measured at fair value at the date of the revaluation, but
an issue arises as to how the valuation of a site should be allocated between the land itself and the
specialised plant and equipment on that land.

For example, entity V runs a brewery that is located in a prime residential location. The fair value of
the site as a whole is 400; this represents its value for housing development, which would require
demolishing the brewery. The DRC valuation of the brewery is 150. V cannot value the land at 400
and the brewery at 150 because the total of 550 is more than the fair value of the site as a whole. In
our view, an entity should make an accounting policy election, which should be applied consistently,
to either:

. value the land as the difference between the total site value and the DRC valuation of the related
plant — 250 in this example; or

. apportion the value of the site to the land and the related plant proportionate to their fair values —
in this example the land would be valued at 291 (400/550 x 400) and the brewery would be valued
at 109 (150/550 x 400).

A third alternative, which we do not recommend, would be to attribute the entire value of the site to
the land because this is where the value lies. In that case the related plant would be valued at zero.

All assets in a class

If an asset is revalued then all property, plant and equipment of the same class must be revalued at
the same time and these revaluations must be kept up to date. A class of assets is a grouping of
items that have a similar nature and use in an entity's operations.

In our view, different geographical locations do not justify concluding that the assets are in different
classes. For example, entity T has office buildings in Europe and Asia; the buildings in both regions
are used for administrative purposes. We believe that the buildings belong to the same class of
property, plant and equipment. Accordingly, the buildings in Europe should not be revalued without
the buildings in Asia also being revalued.
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Accumulated depreciation
When property, plant and equipment is revalued, an entity should make an accounting policy
election, which should be applied consistently to all revaluations, to either:

. restate both the gross carrying amount of the asset and the related accumulated depreciation
proportionately; or
. eliminate the accumulated depreciation against the gross carrying amount of the asset.

The following example illustrates both of these methods; in our experience the second method is
more common.

Entity V revalues all of its land and buildings at the beginning of 2004. The following information
relates to one of the buildings:

Gross carrying amount 200
Accumulated depreciation (80)
Carrying amount 120
Fair value 150

Restate the gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation
If both the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated, the revised
carrying amount of the building will be:

Gross carrying amount 250 200/120 x 150
Accumulated depreciation (100) 80/120 x 150
Carrying amount 150

Eliminate accumulated depreciation
If the balance of accumulated depreciation is eliminated, the revised carrying amount of the building
will be:

Gross carrying amount 150
Accumulated depreciation -
Carrying amount 150

Transferring the revaluation surplus to retained earnings

IAS 16.6, 48 The depreciable amount of a revalued asset is based on its revalued amount and not its cost. As

IAS 16.41

noted above, the depreciation charge for each period is recognised as an expense in the income
statement (unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset).

However, the revaluation surplus may be transferred directly to retained earnings as the surplus is
realised. Realisation of the surplus may occur either by the use (and depreciation) of the asset or
its disposal. The wording of the standard is not entirely clear, but in our view, an entity has the
following choices:

- do not transfer any part of revaluation reserve to retained earnings;

. transfer all of the revaluation reserve to retained earnings upon ultimate disposal; or

. transfer a relevant portion of the revaluation reserve to retained earnings as the asset is
depreciated, with the balance being transferred upon ultimate disposal.

Continuing the above example, at the date of the revaluation the building has a remaining useful life
of 15 years and is depreciated on a straight-line basis; the revaluation reserve is 30. Regarding the
third option above, each year an amount of two will be transferred from the revaluation reserve to
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retained earnings to match the additional depreciation of two that relates to the revalued portion of the
asset (30/15). (This example ignores the impact of deferred tax, which is discussed in 3.12.)

Change in accounting policy

If an entity changes its accounting policy from cost to fair value, the effect of the change is
recognised as a revaluation (see above); the opening balance of equity is not adjusted and
comparatives are not restated (see 2.8).

When an entity changes its accounting policy from fair value to cost, all previous revaluations,
including subsequent depreciation charges, should be reversed. In this case the usual procedures for
a change in accounting policy apply (i.e., the effect of the change is calculated retrospectively and the
adjustment is recognised either by adjusting the opening balance of retained earnings or in the current
period — see 2.8).

3.2.7 Compensation received

Compensation for the loss or impairment of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the
income statement when receipt is virtually certain (see 3.13). The loss or impairment of the property,
plant and equipment is recognised in the income statement as an expense when it occurs.

For example, entity W's main operating plant is destroyed in a fire. The carrying amount of the plant
was 600. W's insurers pay out an amount of 1,000, which comprises 800 for the rebuilding of the

plant and 200 for loss of profits. The actual cost of rebuilding the plant is 900.

The following journal entries will be recorded by W:

Debit Credit
Income statement (loss) 600
Property, plant and equipment 600
Entry to record the loss of the plant
Cash 1,000
Income statement (income) 1,000
Entry to record the insurance proceeds
Property, plant and equipment 900
Cash 900

Entry to record the cost of the new plant

Recognition of the loss or impairment may occur at a different point (and even in a different period)
than the recognition of the compensation.

3.2.8 Retirements and disposals

When an item of property, plant and equipment is disposed of or permanently withdrawn from use, a
gain or loss is recognised for the difference between any net proceeds received and the carrying
amount of the asset#. Any attributable revaluation surplus may be transferred to retained earnings
(see 3.2.6), but is not recognised in the income statement.

In determining the “net"” proceeds received, generally all directly attributable incremental costs of
disposal, such as advertising, legal fees, stamp duty, agency fees and removal costs, are
deducted. In our view, it also would be appropriate to deduct any amounts recognised as liabilities
under IAS 37 (see 3.11) in relation to the disposal of the asset, such as provisions made for
probable claims under warranties in the sales agreement, or for an agreed schedule of repairs to be
done at the current owners’ expense.
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Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that the gain or loss on derecognition is included in the income
statement (unless the transaction is a sale and leaseback and deferral is required — see 5.1) and is
not classified as revenue. The date of disposal of an asset is determined by applying the revenue
recognition criteria (see 4.2) unless the disposal is by sale and leaseback in which case IAS 17
applies (see 5.1).

When an item of property, plant and equipment is withdrawn from active use and is held for disposal,
depreciation stops and the carrying amount of the asset is frozen (subject to the recognition of any
impairment loss — see 3.9)#. In our view, the asset should be removed from property, plant and
equipment and placed in a separate category of assets “held for disposal”; the asset would be
classified as current or non-current depending on the expected period to disposal (see 3.1).

Forthcoming requirements

When an asset’s carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use, IFRS b5 requires that an entity classifies the asset as a non-current asset (or
disposal group) held for sale. Depreciation of that asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the
asset is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale)
and the date that the asset is derecognised. An entity measures such a non-current asset (or
disposal group) at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (see 5.4A).

When an asset is withdrawn from active use on a temporary basis, depreciation should continue#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that an entity must continue to recognise depreciation even when an
asset is idle and retired from active use unless the asset is fully depreciated. However, under usage
methods of depreciation the depreciation charge can be zero while there is no production.

Exchanges of non-monetary assets are discussed in 5.7.

3.2.9 Government grants

The treatment of a government grant that relates to property plant or equipment is discussed in 4.3.
A government grant may be related to an item of property plant or equipment whether it is received
in cash or when an asset is received by way of a non-monetary grant.

3.2.10 Disclosure

The disclosure requirements in IAS 16, examples of which are included in KPMG's /llustrative
financial statements, include a reconciliation between the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment at the beginning and end of the period. The reconciliation is required for the current period
only (i.e., a reconciliation is not required as part of the comparatives)#.

Forthcoming requirements

The disclosure requirements of the revised standard require a reconciliation between the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the period for the comparative
period as well.

The reconciliation includes separate line items for additions and acquisitions through business
combinations. Therefore, acquisitions should be split between property, plant and equipment acquired
in a business combination and other acquisitions. However, all disposals are presented in a single
line item in the reconciliation.

The calculation of the net exchange difference in respect of foreign entities, which is part of the
reconciliation, is illustrated in 2.7.
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3.2.11 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

In the case of this topic no future developments are noted.
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3.3 Intangible assets and goodwill
(IFRS 3, IAS 22, IAS 38, SIC-6, SIC-32)
Overview

IFRS 3 Business Combinations and I1AS 38 Intangible Assets introduce significant changes to
the accounting discussed below for intangible assets and goodwill.

For an item to be recognised as an intangible asset, it must have future economic benefits
that it is probable will be realised and its cost must be reliably measurable.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost.

The measurement of the cost of an intangible asset depends on whether it has been
acquired separately, acquired as part of a business combination or was generated internally.

Goodwill represents future economic benefits that cannot be identified individually
and recognised separately and therefore is measured as a residual.

Intangible assets and goodwill are amortised over their useful lives, which generally does
not exceed 20 years#.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that it will give rise to
future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of
the asset, and it can be distinguished from developing the business as a whole#.

Intangible assets may be revalued to fair value only if there is an active market.

The following costs cannot be capitalised as intangible assets: internally generated
goodwill, research costs, costs to develop customer lists, start-up costs, and
expenditure incurred on training, advertising and promotional activities or on
relocation or reorganisation.

Forthcoming requirements

In March 2004, the IASB issued a revised version of I1AS 38 Intangible Assets and issued IFRS 3
Business Combinations to supersede IAS 22 Business Combinations. The revised standards apply
prospectively for intangible assets acquired in a business combination for which the agreement date
is on or after 31 March 2004 and to other intangible assets from the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 31 March 2004 with three exemptions (see 3.3.8). Also, an entity can
adopt the requirements of IFRS 3 early if it meets certain criteria (see 3.3.8). Where an existing
requirement is discussed that will be changed by the revised standards, it is marked with a # and the
impact of the change is explained in the accompanying boxed text. In particular, goodwill and
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised but are tested for impairment at least
annually. Intangible assets with finite useful lives continue to be amortised.

The IASB is considering further significant changes to accounting for business combinations (see 3.3.9).

3.3.1 Definitions
Goodwill

IAS 22.47  Goodwill arising in a business combination is the excess of the cost of acquisition over the acquirer’s
(1998) interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired (see 2.6)#.
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Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 expands the existing description of goodwill. It also changes the amount likely to be attributed
to goodwill by requiring recognition of acquired contingent liabilities. Goodwill represents future
economic benefits arising from assets that are not capable of being identified individually and
recognised separately. Goodwill arising in a business combination is measured initially as the excess
of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised (see 2.6).

Intangible assets
An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes#.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3 modifies the definition of an intangible asset. Under IFRS 3 an intangible asset is an
identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance. There is no requirement that the asset is
held for a particular purpose (i.e., the asset need not be held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes).

To meet the definition of an intangible asset, an item must lack physical substance and must be:

- "identifiable”,

. non-monetary, and

. controlled by the entity and expected to provide future economic benefits to the entity (i.e., it
must meet the definition of an asset).

These criteria are explained below and apply to all intangible assets, whether acquired separately,
acquired in a business combination or internally generated.

Identifiability
In order for an intangible asset to be recognised it must be identifiable so that it clearly can be
distinguished from goodwill#. An item is identifiable (i.e., clearly distinguishable from goodwill) if:

. itis separable (i.e., it could be rented, sold, exchanged or distributed without also disposing of
the future economic benefits that flow from other assets used in the same revenue
generating activity);

. itis protected by legal rights; or

- the entity can identify the future economic benefits that will flow from the item, even if those
benefits are derived only in combination with other assets#.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard states that the identifiability criterion is met when the item:

. is separable (i.e., is capable of being separated or divided from the entity and sold, transferred,
licensed, rented or exchanged either individually or together with a related contract, asset or
liability); or

. arises from contractual or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or
separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

Either of the above conditions is sufficient for an intangible item to be identifiable.
Therefore, separability is not a necessary condition for an item to be identifiable. For example, a

business licence of a radio station that the station needs to operate is identifiable because of the
legal rights attached to it, even though the license usually is not separable from the station operator.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



152

IFRS 3.1E

IAS 38.13-
16

IAS 38.15

IAS 38.15

IAS 38.16

Specific balance sheet items FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
3.3 Intangible assets and goodwill

In our experience, the decision of whether the identifiability criterion is met often is the critical factor
in determining whether the definition of an intangible asset is met and whether an intangible asset
can be recognised on the balance sheet.

Forthcoming requirements

The illustrative examples in IFRS 3 include examples of items that generally meet the definition of
an intangible asset (provided they meet the identifiability criterion which generally is assumed for
items listed).

For example, entity A is a successful engineering business. In 2003 A decides to apply for ISO
accreditation, which requires A to document and formalise all of its procedures. In our view, ISO
accreditation generally will not meet the definition of an intangible asset because, in most cases, it is
not separable and it does not have any legal rights attached to it.

Non-monetary
Intangible assets are required to be non-monetary since a monetary intangible would be a financial
asset within the scope of IAS 39 (see 3.6).

Control
In order to demonstrate control an entity must have the power to obtain the future economic benefits
arising from the item and be able to restrict the access of others to those benefits.

For example, entity C has two key resources: customised software that it developed in-house and for
which a patent is registered; and the “know-how" of the staff that operate the software. Staff are
required to give one month's notice of their resignation. It is clear that C controls the software.
However, although it obtains economic benefits from the work performed by the staff, C does not
have control over their know-how because staff could choose to resign at any time. Therefore, the
know-how does not meet the definition of an intangible asset.

In another example, entity D is a football club. D has contracts with individual players that entitle it to
receive that player’s services and prevent that player from leaving the club or providing services to
another club. These contracts meet the definition of an intangible asset because they give D control
over future economic benefits through its contractual rights.

One difficult area is customerrelated intangible assets; examples include customer relationships,
customer lists and market share. For example, entity E provides an excellent relocation service and
over the years has become the favoured supplier for a number of customers. However, although
these customers generally refer all of their relocations to E, they are not obliged to do so and at any
time they could change suppliers. Therefore, E does not have control over these relationships and
accordingly the definition of an intangible asset is not met#.

In another example, entity F installs residential security systems and provides a 24-hour security
service. Customers are required to sign an initial contract for 12 months; if they cancel at any time
within the initial period, F is entitled to impose a penalty. In this case the customer relationship
meets the definition of an intangible asset because F has control of the future economic benefits that
arise during the initial contract period.

In accordance with IAS 39 a low-interest loan is recognised initially at fair value and this gives rise to
a difference that may be capitalised if it meets the definition of an asset (see 3.6). For example,
entity G manufactures and distributes a sparkling drink that is very popular among teenagers.

G extends low-interest loans to a number of small retailers that agree to stock only G's brand of
sparkling drink. A retailer repays the loan by paying an above-market price for the drinks that it
buys from G. If the retailer decides to stop selling the drinks, the outstanding amount of the loan
becomes repayable immediately. In our view, the difference arising on the initial recognition of the
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low-interest loan meets the definition of an intangible asset because G has control over the
relationship with the retailer.

A customer list is another example of a customerrelated intangible. In our view, an acquired
customer list might meet the definition of an intangible asset even if the entity does not control the
customer relationship; this is because the entity does control the list of names#. However, before
reaching a final conclusion it would be necessary to consider also whether the customer list is
identifiable (see above) and whether future economic benefits arising from the list itself are expected
to flow to the entity. In some countries regulations exist that prevents an entity from selling, leasing
or exchanging information contained in such a list. The existence of such regulation or similar
agreements may affect the benefits expected to arise from the list. As noted above, an internally
generated customer list cannot be capitalised.

Forthcoming requirements

The revisions to IAS 38 relating to IFRS 3 broadened the circumstance in which intangible assets are
recognised. Control normally stems from legal rights that are enforceable in a court of law (which is
equivalent to the ‘contractual or other legal rights’ — a criterion for identifiability). The standard clarifies
that control may be demonstrated by other means than legally enforceable rights and therefore legal
enforceability is not a necessary condition for control.

For example, in the absence of legal rights to protect customer relationships, control of customer
relationships may be evidenced by exchange transactions for the same or similar non-contractual
customer relationships (which is equivalent to ‘separability’ — a criterion for identifiability). Therefore,
non-contractual customer relationships meet the definition of an intangible asset if there are
exchange transactions of similar assets, because such exchange transactions provide evidence
that the customer relationships are separable as the entity is able to control the expected future
economic benefits flowing from the customer relationship.

In our view, demonstration of separability through exchange transactions for the same or similar
intangible assets generally provides evidence of control; the use of exchange transactions to
demonstrate identifiability is not limited to non-contractual customer relationships.

In our view, the control criterion in the definition of an intangible asset is met when the identifiability
criterion is met.

The illustrative examples in IFRSs include contract-based customer relationships acquired in a
business combination. These examples illustrate that, in a business combination, the identifiability
criterion can be satisfied even if a contract does not exist at the date of the business combination,
if there is a practice of establishing such contracts. It also is not necessary that the contracts be
non-cancellable.

3.3.2 Initial recognition
General requirements
An intangible asset that meets the following criteria is recognised initially at cost:

. itis probable that future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the
entity; and
. the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

The ‘probability’ recognition criterion always is considered to be satisfied for intangible assets
acquired separately.
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The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a separate transaction is the cash paid or the fair value of
any other consideration given. In practice the cost can be difficult to establish if no cash is involved
in the transaction, and care should be taken to ensure that there is a reasonable basis for the amount
attributed to the intangible asset. Non-monetary transactions are considered further in 5.7

The cost of an intangible asset includes directly attributable expenditure of preparing the asset for its
intended use, and the principles discussed in respect of property, plant and equipment (see 3.2) apply
equally to the recognition of intangible assets. IAS 38 is specific that expenditure on training activities
is expensed as incurred. In addition, clearly identified inefficiencies and initial operating losses should
be expensed as incurred.

When payment is deferred, the cost of the asset is the cash price equivalent. The issues that arise in
accounting for deferred payment are similar to those in respect of property, plant and equipment
(see 3.2).

The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value. Fair value

reflects the market’s view about the probability of future economic benefits. Therefore, the probability
criterion always is satisfied. Fair value may be established using valuation techniques if there is no
active market for the acquired intangible. However, if the intangible asset is not valued by reference
to an active market, the value placed on the asset is limited to an amount that does not create or
increase negative goodwill#. Fair value of assets acquired in a business combination normally can be
measured with sufficient reliability to be recognised separately from goodwill.

Care should be taken in valuing an intangible asset to ensure that the valuation does not include any
value attributable to other assets. For example, the fair value of a customer list is the value of the list

of names; the value should not include any amount attributable to the customer relationships#.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3.IE, B Under IFRS 3, acquired customer relationships are intangible assets that should be recognised

IAS 38.8, 54

IAS 38.8

IAS 38.67

separately from goodwvill.

Specific application

Research and development

Research is original and planned investigation undertaken with the prospect of gaining new
knowledge and understanding. Research costs are expensed as incurred.

Development is the application of research findings or other knowledge to a plan or design for the
production of new or substantially improved materials, products, processes etc.; it does not include
the maintenance or enhancement of ongoing operations.

Development does not need to be on entirely new innovation; rather, it needs simply to be new to the
specific entity. For example, entity K is developing a new IT system for processing its customer
orders. The project meets the definition of development notwithstanding the fact that most of K's
competitors use similar systems already.

If an internally generated intangible asset arises from the development phase of a project, directly
attributable expenditure must be capitalised from the date that the entity is able to demonstrate:

- the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

- itsintention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

. its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
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. its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
its development.

In assessing how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits, the entity
must demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset or the intangible
asset itself; or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset. In carrying out this
assessment an entity uses the principles of the standard on impairment. If the asset will generate
economic benefits only in combination with other assets, the entity should apply the concept of
cash-generating units (see 3.9).

Although “probable” is not defined in IAS 38, it does not mean that a project must be certain to
succeed prior to capitalising any development costs. For example, in our view, a pharmaceutical entity
should not expense all development costs as incurred simply because there is a possibility that new
medicines will not be approved for sale by the relevant authorities. Rather, an assessment should be
made of the likelihood of success in each individual case. If a positive outcome is determined to be
probable, then the entity should capitalise the related development costs incurred after success is
determined to be probable.

Financial and other resources needed to complete the development are not required to be secured at
the onset of the project. Often entities can demonstrate their ability to secure these resources
through business plans and external financing plans in which potential customers, investors or
lenders have expressed interest.

IAS 38 specifically prohibits capitalisation of expenditure on internally generated intangible assets
such as brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items. This is because
expenditures cannot be distinguished from developing the business as a whole. As a result, the
expenditures on any intangible that may be created are viewed as not reliably measurable.

For example, entity B has developed a successful business based on products that have a
distinct house style and design signature. B uses its unique house style to develop a standard
format for product development. In our view, the standard format does not meet the definition of
an intangible asset because the asset is an integral part of the goodwill of the business and
cannot be identified separately.

IAS 38.56(b) If an acquired entity has ‘in-process research and development’ an acquirer must consider if there

(1998)

IAS 38.34

SIC32.14

are any identifiable intangibles that satisfying the recognition criteria relating to that in-process
research and development. If not, the related cost of the acquisition is recognised as part of the
residual (i.e., goodwill) and not as an expense as part of, or immediately after, the acquisition#.

Forthcoming requirements
Under the revised standard, in-process research and development is recognised when acquired in a
business combination if it meets the definition of an intangible asset and is identifiable.

Web site development costs
Costs associated with Web sites developed for advertising or promotional purposes are expensed
as incurred.

SIC 32.9, 16 In respect of other Web sites, expenditures incurred during the application and infrastructure

development stage, the graphical design stage and the content development stage are capitalised if
the criteria for capitalising development costs (see above) are met. The costs of developing content
for advertising or promotional purposes are expensed as incurred.
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Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination must be capitalised (see 2.6).

Internally generated goodwill is never recognised.

[tems that must be expensed as incurred
Expenditure associated with the following costs must be expensed as incurred regardless of whether
the general criteria for recognition appear to be met:

- internally generated goodwill;

. start-up costs unless they qualify for recognition as part of the cost of property, plant and
equipment (see 3.2);

- training activities;

- advertising and promotional activities (see above); and

- expenditure on relocating or reorganising part, or all, of an entity.

Except as noted above in relation to start-up costs, these costs cannot be capitalised either as stand-
alone intangible assets or as a part of the cost of another intangible asset; there are no industry or
other exceptions.

However, this requirement does not prevent the recognition of an asset for prepaid expenses following
the principles of accrual accounting. For example, entity L produces a catalogue every year for its new
range of products. In our view, the costs of preparing and producing the catalogue should be recognised
as prepaid expenses, and then written off as the catalogues are distributed to customers.

3.3.3 Amortisation
Subsequent to initial recognition intangible assets, including goodwill, are amortised over their useful
life, which should be reviewed at each balance sheet date#.

Forthcoming requirements

After initial recognition, the new standard requires goodwill to be measured at cost less accumulated
impairment charges. Goodwill is not amortised, as previously required under IAS 22, but instead is
subject to impairment testing at least annually. Under the revised IAS 38 the useful life of an
intangible is either finite or indefinite. Intangibles with indefinite useful lives must be tested for impairment
at least annually, but they are not amortised. Intangibles with finite useful lives are amortised and must
be tested for impairment under the general requirements of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A change in the useful life is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate (see 2.8).

For example, entity M acquired software at the beginning of 1997 and its useful life was estimated to
be 10 years. At the end of 2003 the carrying amount of the software is 240. At the beginning of 2004
M revises the estimated useful life downwards to a further two years from that date. Therefore, the
carrying amount of 240 should be amortised over the next two years. In addition, the decrease in
useful life may indicate that the carrying amount of the software is impaired (see 3.9).

Residual value
The full carrying amount of goodwill is amortised (i.e., the residual value is zero in all cases)#.

Forthcoming requirements
Under the new standard, goodwill acquired in a business combination is not amortised and therefore
no assessment of residual value is required for the purpose of amortisation.
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IAS 38.7 91, An intangible asset’s depreciable amount is its cost less its residual value; an intangible asset's
92(1998)  residual value is based on similar intangible assets that have reached the end of their useful lives at
the date that the estimate is made#.

Forthcoming requirements
IAS 38.100, The revised standard distinguishes between intangible assets with finite and indefinite useful lives.
107 Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised and no assessment of residual value
is required for the purpose of amortisation.

IAS 38.8,  Revised IAS 38 modifies the definition of residual value to deduct disposal costs. Under revised

100 IAS 38 the depreciable amount of an intangible asset with a finite useful life is determined after
deducting its residual value. The residual value of an intangible asset is the estimated amount that an
entity would obtain currently from disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of
disposal, if the asset were in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

However, unlike property, plant and equipment, the residual value is assumed to be zero unless:

. athird party has committed to buy the asset at the end of its useful life; or
. there is an active market (see 3.3.5 Revaluations below) from which a residual value can be
obtained, and it is probable that such a market will exist at the end of the asset’s useful life.

IAS 38.107 The effect of these criteria is that generally in practice the residual value of an intangible asset is
assumed to be zero. A residual value other than zero implies that an entity expects to dispose of the
intangible asset before the end of its economic life.

IAS 38.63  Subsequent to initial recognition residual values are not changed for increases in prices unless the
(1998) asset is revalued, in which case a new estimate of the residual value is made#. This is consistent
with the estimation of residual values for property, plant and equipment (see 3.2).

Forthcoming requirements

IAS 38.102, Under the revised standard the residual value of an intangible asset is reviewed at least at each

103 financial yearend. A change in the asset’s residual value is accounted for as a change in an
accounting estimate in accordance with IAS 8 (see 2.8). If the residual value of an intangible asset
increases to an amount equal to or greater than the asset’s carrying amount, then amortisation stops
until its residual value subsequently decreases to an amount below the asset’s carrying amount.

Useful life
IAS 22.44, There is a rebuttable presumption that the useful life of intangible assets, including goodwill, will not
88(1998), exceed 20 years. When a longer useful life is used, an entity must disclose the reasons why the
38.79, 111 presumption was rebutted and the factors that played a significant role in determining the asset’s
(1998) useful life#.

Forthcoming requirements

IFRS 3.55, The revised standard no longer has a rebuttable presumption that the useful life of intangible assets,

IAS 38.88 including goodwill, will not exceed 20 years. Instead, goodwill acquired in a business combination is
presumed to have an indefinite life and therefore goodwill is not amortised. An entity determines
whether the useful life of other intangibles is finite or indefinite. An intangible asset has an indefinite
useful life when, based on an analysis of all of the relevant factors (e.g., legal, regulatory,
contractual), there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate
net cash inflows for the entity.
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When control of an intangible asset is based on legal rights that have been granted for a finite
period, the useful life cannot exceed that period unless:

. the legal rights are renewable; and
- renewal is virtually certain#.

Forthcoming requirements

Revised IAS 38 expands the requirements for overriding the contract period. The revised standard
requires that when the useful life of the intangible asset is based on legal rights that have been
granted for a finite period, the useful life cannot exceed that period unless:

. the legal rights are renewable; and
. thereis evidence to support that they will be renewed.

In addition, the cost of renewal of such rights should not be significant. If the cost of renewal of
such rights is significant when compared with the future economic benefits expected to flow to the
entity from renewal, the renewal costs represent the cost to acquire a new intangible asset at the
renewal date.

It is not possible to select an infinite useful life and thereby avoid an amortisation charge#.

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard, an intangible asset may have an indefinite useful life when there is no
foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the
entity. Intangibles with indefinite useful lives must be tested for impairment at least annually, but
these intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset that is not being amortised
must be reviewed at least annually to determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support an indefinite useful life for that asset.

If there is a change in the assessment from indefinite to finite due to change in the events and
circumstances, then such a change is accounted for as a change in estimate in accordance with
IAS 8 (see 2.8).

Similarly, the requirement to assess the useful life of an intangible asset means that it is not possible
to amortise an intangible asset over an unrealistically short period in order to avoid ongoing
amortisation charges.

For example, entity N capitalises an intangible asset. N assesses the useful life of the intangible as
five years but wishes to write it off in the year of purchase in order to avoid ongoing amortisation
charges. Assuming that the intangible is not impaired (see 3.9), it should be amortised over its
useful life.

Methods of amortisation

Goodwvill

Goodwill is amortised on a straight-line basis unless there is persuasive evidence that another
method is more appropriate#.

Forthcoming requirements
Under the revised standard, goodwill acquired in a business combination is not amortised. Instead, it
is tested for impairment at least annually.
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Other intangible assets

The method of amortisation, which should be reviewed at each balance sheet date, should reflect the
pattern of consumption of the economic benefits. A change in the method of amortisation is
accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate (see 2.8).

IAS 38 does not require a specific method of amortisation to be used, and mentions the straight-line
method, the diminishing (or reducing balance) method and the units of production method; these
methods are illustrated in 3.2. However, the standard indicates that there rarely will be persuasive
evidence to support an amortisation method that results in a lower amount of accumulated
amortisation than what would be recognised had the straight-line method been used. If the pattern
in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed cannot be determined, the straight-line
method is used.

Commencement and cessation of amortisation
Goodwill is amortised from the date of acquisition (see 2.6)#.

Forthcoming requirements
Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment at least annually.

The amortisation of other intangible assets begins when the intangible asset is available for use,
which may be prior to the asset being brought into use#.

For example, entity P develops new software for its human resources department. The software is
completed in October 2003 and could be implemented at that date. However, management decides
not to implement the software until early in 2004. In our view, the software should be amortised from
October 2003.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that the amortisation must begin when the asset is available for use
(i.e., when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).

Amortisation ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is:

. classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5; or
. derecognised.

Classification of amortisation expense

When an intangible asset is used in the production of another asset (e.g., inventory) the amortisation
charge is included in the cost of that asset. In other cases amortisation is recognised as an expense
in the income statement. When an entity classifies its expenses by function (see 4.1), care should
be taken in allocating the amortisation of intangible assets.

For example, entity P's human resources department is part of the administrative function of the
business. Therefore, amortisation of the department’s software should be included with
administrative expenses.
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3.3.4 Subsequent expenditure#

Expenditure incurred subsequent to the completion or acquisition of an intangible asset is capitalised
only when it is probable that it will give rise to future economic benefits in excess of the originally
assessed standard of performance of the asset and it can be measured and attributed to the asset
reliably. Expenditure incurred simply to restore or maintain the level of future economic benefits is
expensed as incurred.

For example, entity Q acquired entity R in a business combination. After the acquisition Q carries out
a project to migrate the data from R's IT system to its own system so that the group has a single
system; no new functionality is added to Q’s IT system as part of the project. In our view, the costs
incurred to migrate R's data should not be capitalised because the migration does not increase the
future economic benefits attributable to the IT system. In addition, a migration is similar to a
relocation, the costs of which cannot be capitalised (see 3.3.2).

In addition, expenditure may be capitalised only when it can be attributed reliably to the specific
intangible asset (i.e., the expenditure must be distinguishable from costs incurred on the business as
a whole). The standard concludes that subsequent expenditure will be capitalised only in rare cases.

Consistent with the requirements in respect of initial recognition (see 3.3.2), subsequent expenditure
on items such as brands, mastheads, publishing titles and customer lists should not be capitalised.
This is on the basis that the expenditure cannot be distinguished from developing the business as a
whole and therefore it cannot be identified separately from goodwill.

Forthcoming requirements

Revised IAS 38 clarifies that it will be rare for subsequent expenditure to be recognised in the
carrying amount of an intangible asset (see also 3.3.7). It often is difficult to attribute subsequent
expenditure directly to a particular intangible asset rather than to the business as a whole. In
addition, most subsequent expenditure is likely to maintain the expected future economic benefits
embodied in an existing intangible asset rather than meet the definition of an intangible asset and the
recognition criteria of the revised IAS 38.

The general recognition criteria for internally generated intangible assets are applied to subsequent
expenditure on in-process research and development projects acquired separately or in a business
combination (i.e., capitalisation after initial recognition is limited to development costs that meet the
recognition criteria).

3.3.5 Revaluations

IAS 38.8, 75 Intangible assets for which there is an active market may be revalued to fair value. An active market

IAS 38.78

IAS 38.72,
85, 86

exists when:

. theitems traded are homogenous;
- willing buyers and sellers normally can be found at any time; and
. prices are available to the public.

Many intangible assets may not be revalued as they are considered unique and therefore there is no
active market for them; examples include customised software, brands, mastheads, publishing
rights, patents and trademarks.

If an intangible is revalued then all intangibles in that class must be revalued (to the extent that there
is an active market for these intangibles) and the revaluations must be kept up to date. Any surplus
arising on the revaluation is taken directly to a revaluation reserve within equity except to the extent
that the surplus reverses a previous revaluation deficit on the same asset charged in the income
statement, in which case a credit up to the amount of the deficit previously charged to income is
recognised in the income statement. Any deficit on revaluation is charged in the income statement
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except to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation surplus on the same asset, in which case
it is taken directly to the revaluation reserve. Therefore, under IFRSs revaluation increases and
decreases within a class of assets cannot be offset.

Certain other issues relating to the revaluation of intangible assets are similar to those that arise in
respect of property, plant and equipment (see 3.2).

3.3.6 Impairment
Impairment testing of intangible follows the general impairment requirements (see 3.9) except that
the following must be tested for impairment annually:

. intangible assets, including goodwill, with a useful life greater than 20 years;
. capitalised intangible assets prior to being available for use; and
- intangible assets that have been retired from active use and held for disposal (see 3.3.7).

Forthcoming requirements
Under the revised IAS 36 an annual impairment test is required for the following assets:

. goodwill acquired in a business combination, which must be tested for impairment annually and
at any point during the year when an indicator of impairment exists; and

- intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use for
which the recoverable amount must be measured annually, irrespective of whether there is an
indication that the related assets may be impaired, as well as whenever there is any indication
that they may be impaired.

3.3.7 Retirements and disposals

Goodwill

When the underlying investment to which goodwill relates is disposed of, the carrying amount of the
goodwill is included in calculating the gain or loss on disposal (see 2.5).

However, when the goodwill arose prior to 1995 and was recognised directly in equity, it is our view
that an entity may not transfer the attributable goodwill to the income statement as part of the
calculation of the gain or loss on disposal#.

Forthcoming requirements

Under the new standard, goodwill recognised previously as a deduction from equity should not be
recognised in the income statement when the entity disposes of all or part of the business to which
that goodwill relates.

Intangible assets

When an intangible asset is disposed of or when no further economic benefits are expected from its

use, the gain or loss is the difference between any proceeds received and the carrying amount of the
asset. Any attributable revaluation surplus may be transferred to retained earnings (see 3.3.5), but is

not recognised in the income statement.

Forthcoming requirements

Revised IAS 38 clarifies that if an entity recognises the cost of a replacement for a part of an
intangible asset in the carrying amount of an intangible asset, then it must derecognise the carrying
amount of the replaced part. If it is not practicable for an entity to determine the carrying amount of
the replaced part, it may use the cost of the replacement as an indication of what the cost of the
replaced part was at the time it was acquired or internally generated.
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The revised standard clarifies that the consideration receivable on disposal of an intangible asset is
recognised initially at its fair value. If payment for the intangible asset is deferred, the consideration
received is recognised initially at the cash price equivalent. The difference between the nominal
amount of the consideration and the cash price equivalent is recognised as interest revenue in
accordance with IAS 18 (see 4.2) reflecting the effective yield on the receivable.

When an intangible asset is withdrawn from active use and is held for disposal, amortisation stops
and the carrying amount of the asset is frozen subject to the recognition of any impairment loss —
(see 3.9). In our view, the asset should be removed from intangible assets and placed in a separate
category of assets “held for disposal”; the asset would be classified as current or non-current
depending on the expected period to disposal (see 3.1)#.

Forthcoming requirements

Under the revised standard amortisation of an intangible asset with finite useful life does not cease
when the intangible asset is no longer used, unless the asset has been fully depreciated or is
classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5. Under IFRS 5 non-current assets held for sale
are presented separately from other assets in the balance sheet (see 5.4A).

Exchanges of non-monetary assets are discussed in 5.7

Disclosure

The disclosure requirements of IAS 38, which are illustrated in KPMG's /llustrative financial
statements series, include a reconciliation between the carrying amount of intangible assets at the
beginning and end of the period. The reconciliation is required for the current period only (i.e., a
reconciliation is not required as part of the comparatives)#.

Forthcoming requirements
Revised IAS 38 requires comparative amounts to be presented for this reconciliation.

The reconciliation for intangible assets other than goodwill includes separate line items for additions
and acquisitions through business combinations. Therefore, acquisitions should be split between
intangible assets acquired in a business combination and other acquisitions. However, all disposals
are presented in a single line item in the reconciliation.

The calculation of the net exchange difference in respect of foreign entities, which is part of the
reconciliation, is illustrated in 2.7.

3.3.8 Limited exemptions from effective date
IFRS 3 and the revisions to IAS 36 and IAS 38 are applied prospectively from 31 March 2004 with
three exemptions:

. existing goodwill —amortisation of existing goodwill will continue until the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after 31 March 2004. At that date, the carrying value of the
goodwill will be frozen and tested for impairment under IAS 36 (see 3.9).

. existing intangible assets — existing intangibles that do not meet the recognition criteria should be
reclassified to goodwill from the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after
31 March 2004. Any changes to recognised amounts should be accounted for according to IAS 8
(see 2.8). However, intangible assets included in previously recognised goodwill that would meet
the revised criteria for separate recognition are not reclassified; and

- negative goodwill — any negative goodwill existing at the adoption date is transferred to the
opening balance of retained earnings at the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning
on or after 31 March 2004.
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IFRS 3.85 An entity is permitted to apply IFRS 3 from any date before 31 March 2004 if:

- the valuations necessary to comply with the standard were obtained at the time of the initial
accounting; and
. the revised IAS 36 and IAS 38 also are applied from the same date.

3.3.9 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

The IASB's second phase business combinations project will have an impact on the requirements
discussed in this section.

An exposure draft is expected in late 2004. The IASB is expected to propose requiring recognition of
the full amount of goodwill. Therefore, goodwill would not be measured by reference to the acquirer’s
share of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired (see 2.6).
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3.4 Investment property
(IAS 40)

Overview
. Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both.
. Investment property accounting is required for all investment property.

. A portion of a dual-use property is classified as investment property only if the portion
could be sold or leased out under a finance lease. Otherwise the entire property is
classified as property, plant and equipment, unless the portion of the property used for
own-use is insignificant.

- When ancillary services are provided, a property is classified as investment property if
such services are a relatively insignificant component of the arrangement as a whole.

- When a property is managed by a third party, criteria should be developed in order to
classify such property as either investment property or property, plant and equipment on
a consistent basis.

. Investment property is recognised initially at cost.

. Subsequent to initial recognition, all investment property should be measured either by
using the fair value model (subject to limited exceptions) or by using a cost model.
Disclosure of the fair value of all investment properties is required, regardless of the
measurement model used.

. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that it will give rise to
future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of
the asset#.

. Transfers to or from investment property can only be made when there has been a change
in the use of the property.

. The gain or loss on disposal is the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property.

Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 40 /nvestment Property and |AS 17
Leases. The revised standards are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2005. Early adoption is encouraged. Where an existing requirement is discussed that will be changed
by the revised standards, it is marked with a # and the impact of the change is explained in the
accompanying boxed text. In particular, the revised standards permit property held by a lessee under
an operating lease to be classified as investment property if the rest of the definition of investment
property is met and the lessee measures the property at fair value.

3.41 Definition

IAS 40 is not a specialised industry standard. Therefore, determining whether a property is
investment property depends upon the use of the property rather than the type of entity that holds
the property.
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Investment property is property held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both, rather
than for:

. use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
. sale in the ordinary course of business.

For example, a retail site owned by entity A, but leased out to third parties in return for rental income,
is an investment property; however, a factory owned and used by entity B is not an investment
property because it is used in the production of goods.

Although the above definition appears relatively straightforward, determining what is or is not an
investment property raises some difficult practical issues. Some of these problem areas are
discussed below.

Buildings
An investment property may comprise:

. land;
- abuilding or part of a building; or
. both.

Buildings are not defined in IAS 40 and an issue arises as to whether structures, such as oil storage
tanks, dry docks and aircraft hangars, are buildings for the purpose of determining whether the
definition of investment property is met. In our view, a building is a permanent structure, built for
occupation. Therefore, we would not consider oil storage tanks or dry docks as buildings because
they are not built for occupation.

For example, entity C owns a dry dock that is hired out to various third parties; it is not used by C
itself. In our view, the dry dock is not a building; therefore, we would account for it as property, plant
and equipment in accordance with IAS 16 (see 3.2); the operating lease rentals would be accounted
for in accordance with IAS 17 (see 5.1).

Even though a structure might not be a building in its own right, it may be regarded as an integral part
of the related land in some cases, and therefore, still might meet the definition of investment
property; examples include golf courses and car parks. IAS 40 provides specifically that the following
are outside the scope of the standard:

- biological assets on land relating to agricultural activities; and
- mineral rights, the exploration for and extraction of minerals, oil, natural gas and similar non-
regenerative resources.

Equipment and furnishings

Equipment and furnishings physically attached to a building are considered to be part of the
investment property. So, for example, lifts, escalators, air conditioning units, decorations and
installed furniture such as built-in cabinetry would be included as part of the cost and fair value of the
investment property and would not be classified separately, as property, plant and equipment.

When investment property is leased on a furnished basis, generally its fair value also includes the
value of the related movable furniture. In such cases the furniture would not be accounted for as a
separate asset if the investment property is accounted for at fair value (see 3.4.4). If the investment
property is accounted for using the cost model (see 3.4.4), the related movable furniture should be
accounted for as separate assets following the components approach required by IAS 16 (see 3.2).
However, in our view, care should be taken to ensure that the disclosure of fair value of the
investment property is not misleading.
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Leased property
IAS 17 (lease accounting), rather than IAS 40, applies to:

. property held under an operating lease in a lessee’s financial statements#; and
. property leased out under a finance lease in a lessor’s financial statements.

In some countries (e.g., Hong Kong) the outright legal ownership of property is rare. Instead, entities
buy and sell rights under long-term leases in the same way that entities buy and sell ownership
rights in other countries. In such cases the lease of land is an operating lease because legal
ownership does not transfer. However, in the case of the building, it may be that the building is
owned outright by the lessee of the land. This might be the case if, for example, during the lease
term the lessee is entitled to build or remove any structures on the leased land and if the lease were
to terminate, the lessee would have both the right to remove the building and the obligation to do so
if the lessor required. Alternatively, it may be that the building is included under the lease of the land,
in which case it will be classified as an operating or finance lease after analysing the substance of
the lease and the indicators set out in IAS 17#. Section 5.1 discusses the accounting for leases in
more detail, including the classification of leases that cover both land and buildings.

Forthcoming requirements

Revised IAS 17 clarifies that a lease of land and buildings should be treated as separate leases of the
land and of the building. As a result the leases may be classified differently (e.g., the land as an
operating lease and the building as a finance lease).

For example, entity D pays 500 to acquire a 200 year leasehold interest in a piece of empty land;
legal ownership will not pass at the end of the lease. D constructs and owns a retail building on the
land; the building has an estimated useful life of 30 years. The retail premises, which are leased out
to third parties in return for rental income, are investment property.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard permits property held by a lessee under an operating lease to be classified as
investment property if the rest of the definition of investment property is met and the lessee
measures the property at fair value. In such cases the leasehold interest would be accounted for as if
it were a finance lease. The use of the fair value model for property held by a lessee under an
operating lease (by classifying the property interest as an investment property) can be elected on an
asset-by-asset basis. However, if the fair value model is used for one such asset, all owned
investment properties also must be measured using the fair value model.

Inventory versus investment property

Property that is held for sale in the ordinary course of business, or which is in the process of
construction or development for such sale, is classified as inventory (see 3.7) rather than as
investment property.

In some cases it may be difficult to distinguish between property held for sale in the ordinary course
of business (inventory) and property held for capital appreciation (investment property). The standard
gives examples of land held for long-term capital appreciation (investment property), land held for

short-term sale (inventory), and property acquired exclusively with a view to subsequent disposal in

the near future (inventory). “Short-term’ “long-term” and “near future” are not defined in IFRSs and
various interpretations are possible.

In practice, “near future” and "“short-term” often are interpreted to mean that the disposal will take
place within 12 months of the date of acquisition or completion of construction or redevelopment.
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In practice the entity’'s intentions often are critical in determining the classification of a property.

For example, entity F acquires bare land with the intention of building residential homes that will be
sold upon completion. In our view, on the basis of F's intentions, the land and subsequent
construction costs should be classified as inventory. Similarly, if an entity decides to redevelop an
existing investment property with the intention of selling the property upon completion, the
investment property is transferred to inventories at the date that the redevelopment of the site
commences (see 3.4.6). However, a decision to dispose of an investment property without
redevelopment does not result in a reclassification to inventory. In this case, the property should
continue to be classified as investment property until the time of disposal.

Land held for an undetermined future use is classified as investment property. For example, entity E
pays 400 to acquire a 100 year leasehold interest in a piece of empty land. E has not yet decided
what it will do with the land, but it acquired the interest because it considered the asking price to
be a bargain. In accordance with IAS 40 land held for an undetermined future use is classified as
investment property.

Property as collateral#

Often financial institutions take possession of property that was originally pledged as security for
loans. Such property should be classified as either investment property or property, plant and
equipment in the normal way (see 3.2).

When a financial institution is uncertain of its intentions with respect to land and buildings that it has
repossessed, in our view, they should be classified as investment property. This is consistent with
the treatment of land held for an undetermined future use.

Forthcoming requirements

In March 2004, the IASB issued IFRS 5, which provides guidance on accounting for assets held
for sale. Under this new standard, it may be appropriate to classify the property as ‘held for sale’
(see 5.4A).

Consolidated versus entity financial statements

In determining the classification of a property in consolidated financial statements, the definition is
assessed from the point of view of the group as a single entity. While this is consistent with the
requirement for the consolidated financial statements to be presented as those of a single entity
(see 2.5), it means that a property might be classified differently in separate entity and consolidated
financial statements.

For example, entity G leases an office block to its subsidiary H, which uses the offices as its
administrative head office. In G’s separate (unconsolidated) financial statements the property is
classified as investment property (assuming that the lease is an operating lease). However, in the
consolidated financial statements the property is classified as property, plant and equipment because
the property is owneroccupied (see 3.2).

In our view, the above principles do not apply to property leased to an associate or a joint venture
because they are not part of the group. Changing the above example, if G leased the office block to
associate J, the property would be classified as investment property in both G's separate
(unconsolidated) financial statements as well as in the consolidated financial statements.

When assessing the classification of a property leased to, or occupied by, another group entity in
the entity’s own financial statements, an issue arises as to whether transactions that are not
conducted on an arm'’s length basis should impact the classification. For example, a subsidiary
may be instructed to sell a property to another group entity at a price other than fair value, or to
transact on other non-commercial terms (e.g., in setting rentals).
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In our view, property leased to related parties, other than own employees, should be regarded as
investment properties, provided the asset meets the definition of an investment property. This is
irrespective of whether the rents charged are on an arm'’s length basis or not. The existence of related
party relationships and the disclosure of transactions with related parties also would have to be
addressed (see 5.5).

Dual-use property

Property often has dual purposes whereby part of the property is used for “own-use” activities that
fall within the scope of IAS 16, the standard on property, plant and equipment and part of the
property is used for activities that fall within the scope of IAS 40. A portion of a dual-use property
is classified as an investment property only if the portion could be sold or leased out separately
under a finance lease; in some countries the ability to sell a portion of a property is referred to as
strata title or condominiumization.

For example, entity M owns an office block and uses two floors as its own office; the remaining

10 floors are leased out to tenants. In accordance with the laws in M's country, M could sell legal
title to the 10 floors while retaining legal title to the other two floors. In this case the 10 floors would
be classified as investment property.

In some countries the right to sell legal title to a portion of a property is not an automatic right and it
is necessary first to apply to the relevant local authority for permission. In our view, the entity should
be regarded as having the ability to sell legal title to a portion of a property if the process to obtain
that right is relatively straightforward and procedural, rather than being subject to review whereby the
chance of rejection is more than remote.

When a portion of the property could not be sold or leased out under a finance lease separately, the
entire property is classified as investment property only if the portion of the property held for own-use
is insignificant. “Insignificant” is not defined, but in our view, should be assessed on a property-by-
property basis by reference to value and / or usable floor space. For example, an own-use portion
below five per cent of the measure used generally will be insignificant.

For example, entity N uses 10 per cent of the office floor space of a building as its head office.

N leases the remaining 90 per cent to tenants, but is unable to sell the tenants’ space or to enter
into finance leases relating solely to it. In our view, N should not classify the property as an
investment property because the 10 per cent of floor space used by N is more than an
insignificant portion.

The following are examples of dual-use properties illustrating:

. portions of the property that generally would be classified as investment property assuming that
they could be sold or leased out under finance leases separately, subject to ancillary services
being relatively insignificant (see below); and

- portions of the property that often cannot be classified as investment property because they
cannot be sold or leased out under finance leases separately.
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Examples of dual-use properties Examples of portions that might be | Examples of portions that often
classified as investment property | cannot be classified as
investment property

Hotel complex Separate retail premises Hotel bedrooms

Office block Restaurant facilities within the
hotel complex

Kiosks in the reception hall
Retail area Separate retail premises with their | Retail concessions or franchises
own separate entrances, or a retail | within a department store

area within another building (e.g., a
shopping mall or a hotel)

Airports Separate buildings within the airport| Retail concessions in the
perimeter, such as hotels, airport terminal
warehousing, airline office blocks,
courier facilities

Ancillary services

In many cases the owner of a property provides ancillary services to tenants. In such cases
the key to identifying investment property is to decide whether the services provided are a
“relatively insignificant component of the arrangement as a whole” The standard gives two
examples of properties where ancillary services are provided:

. an ownermanaged hotel is not an investment property because ancillary services provided are a
significant component of the arrangement; and

- an office building where security and maintenance services are provided by the owner is an
investment property because these ancillary services are an insignificant component of
the arrangement.

Classification difficulties arise in respect of properties that fall between these two extreme examples
(e.g., serviced apartments and business centres). The standard acknowledges that judgement is
required in assessing whether the definition of investment property is met, and requires an entity to
develop criteria that are applied consistently in making that assessment. In our view, an entity should
make a decision in each case as to whether the substance of the arrangement is more like the
example of the ownermanaged hotel (not investment property) or the example of the office building
with security and maintenance services provided by the owner (investment property). For example:

. Entity P owns serviced apartments that are located within one of its hotel complexes; tenants
have full access to the hotel facilities and P provides a full daily cleaning service and room
service menu. The only significant difference between these accommodations and a hotel suite is
a lower price per night, based on a weekly rather than a daily rate. In our view, these serviced
apartments are not investment property because they are similar to an ownermanaged hotel.

- Entity Q owns serviced apartments that are located within an apartment block. Q provides
security and maintenance services and offers an optional weekly cleaning and laundry service.
The leases have a minimum term of three months and references generally are required. The
arrangement may be similar to an office building with security and maintenance services. In our
view, these serviced apartments are investment property.

A similar approach applies to classifying business centres. Some business centres provide a high
level of services (such as secretarial support, teleconferencing and other computer facilities) and
tenants sign relatively short-term leases or service agreements; in our view, these facilities are more
like an ownermanaged hotel (and not an investment property). Other business centres require the
user to sign up to a minimum period and may provide only basic furnishings in addition to services
such as security and maintenance; in our view, these additional services are relatively insignificant
and the property would be an investment property.
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Properties managed by others

When a property is operated by a third party under a management contract, it is necessary to apply
judgement in assessing whether the definition of investment property is met. The standard
acknowledges that the terms of management contracts vary widely, and requires an entity to
develop criteria that are applied consistently in making an assessment.

The standard gives two examples of properties managed by others:

. at the one extreme, the entity’s position is that of a passive investor; and
. at the other extreme, the entity simply has outsourced certain day-to-day functions and retains
significant exposure to variation in cash flows.

In our view, in order to classify properties that fall between these two extremes, the relevant factors
to be considered include the following:

- under the management contract, which party has the power to make the significant operating
and financing decisions regarding the operations of the property. For example, which party has
the power to decide:

- hiring and firing of staff and staffing levels;
- opening hours (if applicable);

terms and conditions offered to customers; and

products on offer;

- the calculation of the owner's return; for example:

- afixed or variable return based on property values is more indicative of investment
property; and

- adirect percentage of turnover or net revenue earned by the tenant is more indicative that the
property is not investment property;

- the power of intervention that the owner has under the management contract. Is it greater or less
than might be expected from a normal landlord / tenant relationship?

. the duration of the contract; for example, is it on an annual renewal basis with early cancellation
clauses or for a much longer fixed period of time?

In our view, where a property owner is sharing substantial operating risks with the property
manager, the owner is in effect participating in the delivery of goods and services. Therefore, the
property is not investment property.

3.4.2 Recognition

If an entity acquires a piece of land with the intention of constructing an investment property on it, in
our view, during the construction phase only the building should be accounted for as property, plant
and equipment in accordance with IAS 16. The land component of the property should be classified
as investment property immediately.

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when:

. itis probable that the future economic benefits that are associated with the investment property
will flow to this entity; and
. the cost of the investment property can be measured reliably.

3.4.3 Initial measurement
Investment property is measured initially at cost except when the asset is transferred from another
balance sheet category (see 3.4.5).

The cost of investment property includes transaction costs and directly attributable expenditure
on preparing the asset for its intended use. The principles discussed in respect of attributing cost
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to property, plant and equipment (see 3.2) apply equally to the recognition of investment property.
In addition, clearly identified inefficiencies and initial operating losses should be expensed as
incurred, which also is similar to property, plant and equipment (see 3.2).

Where payment is deferred, the cost of the investment property is the cash price equivalent. The
issues that arise in accounting for deferred payment are similar to those in respect of property, plant
and equipment (see 3.2).

When investment property is self-constructed by an entity, it is accounted for as property, plant and
equipment (see 3.2) until construction or development is complete. Generally this would mean that
during the construction or development phase the property is accounted for using the cost model
under IAS 16. The transfer of the completed property to investment property and the redevelopment of
existing investment property is discussed below under 3.4.6.

3.44 Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition an entity must make an accounting policy election, which should be
applied consistently, to either:

. measure all investment property based on the fair value model, subject to limited exceptions that
are discussed below; or
- measure all investment property based on the cost model.

The standard implies a preference for measuring investment property at fair value, noting that it will
be very difficult to justify a voluntary change in accounting policy from the fair value model to the
cost basis of measurement. Entities adopting the cost model are required to disclose the fair value
on the same basis as those adopting the fair value model.

Fair value model

General requirements

If an entity chooses to measure investment property using the fair value model, it must measure the
property at fair value at each balance sheet date, with changes in fair value recognised in the income
statement. Considerable guidance is provided on determining the fair value of investment property,
which generally involves consideration of:

- the actual current market for that type of property in that type of location at a specific date
(i.e., the balance sheet date) and current market expectations;

- rental income from current leases and market expectations regarding possible future lease terms;

- hypothetical sellers and buyers, who are reasonably informed about the current market and who
are motivated, but not compelled, to transact in that market on an arm'’s length basis; and

- investor expectations, for example, when valuation has been done by independent valuers in
the past.

Estimated transaction costs are not deducted in determining fair value. This means that, when the
property market remains flat or falls between the acquisition date and the date of revaluation, the
capitalised transaction costs included in the initial cost of a property will be recognised as a loss in
the income statement.

For example, entity R acquires an investment property for 300 and incurs transaction costs of 5.
Therefore, the initial carrying amount of the property is 305. At the balance sheet date there has been
no movement in the market and the fair value of the property is 300. The loss of 5, which represents
the transaction costs on acquisition, is recognised in the income statement.
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An entity is encouraged, but is not required to have valuations carried out by an independent valuer
who holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification, and who has recent experience in the
location and category of investment property being valued. In our experience entities take into
account the following factors when deciding whether or not to engage an independent valuer:

. the materiality of the assets to the balance sheet;

. the degree of fluctuation in the market;

- the ease with which a non-expert can make a reasonable estimate of fair value from publicly
available information (e.g., information on recent transactions involving comparable properties); and

- whether the entity employs staff already with relevant qualifications.

For example, when an entity has material investment property, but the property market is reasonably
stable and there are frequent transactions in comparable properties for which information is readily
available, the entity may adopt a practice of engaging independent property experts only every three
years, and estimating changes in fair value by other methods in the intervening periods. Note that
such an approach is not an accounting policy in itself, and if, for example, the market has been
unusually volatile in the last accounting period, or has become less liquid, it may be necessary to
obtain additional valuation information from professional valuers.

IAS 40.46(c) When there is no freely available information on an active market in comparable properties in similar

IAS 40.53

IAS 40.55

IAS 40.53

IAS 40.56

IAS 40.79

locations, it may be possible to apply discounted cash flow techniques to estimate fair value, if
reliable estimates of future cash flows are available.

It may be necessary to engage the services of a professional valuer to assist with measuring fair
values, especially when there is no freely available information about comparable properties. This is
not required specifically by IFRSs, but without the knowledge of an expert it will be difficult to meet
the requirements of the standard.

Exemption from fair value

In exceptional cases there will be clear evidence on initial recognition of a particular investment
property that its fair value cannot be determined reliably on a continuing basis. In such cases the
property in question is measured using the cost model in accordance with IAS 16 (see 3.2), except
that the residual value is deemed to be zero in all cases. The exemption applies only when
comparable market transactions are infrequent and alternative estimates of fair value (e.g., based on
discounted cash flow projections) are not available.

An assessment of whether the exemption applies is made only at the time that the investment
property is recognised initially (following either acquisition or transfer from another balance sheet
category). The exemption cannot be used after initial recognition, even if comparable market
transactions become less frequent and alternative estimates of fair value become less

readily available.

Once the exemption is applied, the property continues to be measured in accordance with IAS 16
until its disposal.

Cost model

If an entity chooses to measure investment property using the cost model, the property is accounted
for in accordance with the cost model for property, plant and equipment in IAS 16 (i.e., at cost less
accumulated depreciation (see 3.2) and less any accumulated impairment losses (see 3.9)). However,
the property continues to be classified as investment property in the balance sheet.

If an entity adopts the cost model for measuring investment property in its financial statements,
the fair value of investment property still must be disclosed on the same basis as under the fair
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value model. In this regard the guidance above in respect of the determination of fair value applies,
including the exemptions from fair value measurement.

3.45 Subsequent expenditure

Expenditure incurred subsequent to the completion or acquisition of an investment property is
capitalised only when it is probable that it will give rise to future economic benefits in excess of the
originally assessed standard of performance of the asset. Expenditure incurred simply to restore or
maintain the level of future economic benefits is expensed as incurred#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard requires that parts of investment properties acquired through replacement are
capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the investment property if the general asset
recognition criteria are met. The carrying amount of the part replaced is derecognised. Costs of day-
to-day servicing are not included in the investment property’s carrying value. This is consistent with
similar changes made to IAS 16 in respect of property, plant and equipment (see 3.2).

The issues that arise in accounting for subsequent expenditure are similar to those in respect of
property, plant and equipment (see 3.2).

3.4.6 Transfers to or from investment property

Timing of transfers

Although intention plays a key role in the initial classification of property (see 3.4.1), the subsequent
reclassification of property is based on an actual change in use rather than on changes in an

entity's intentions.

For example, entity S owns a retail site that is an investment property. S decides to modernise the site
and then to sell it. The investment property is transferred to inventory at the date that the redevelopment
of the site commences as this evidences the change in use. However, a decision to dispose of an
investment property without redevelopment does not result in it being reclassified as inventory.

The standard requires specifically that the property should continue to be classified as investment
property until the time of disposal.

When an investment property is developed or constructed by the entity itself, it is transferred from
property, plant and equipment to investment property at the end of construction or development.
In our view, an owner-occupied property that is redeveloped into investment property also is
transferred to investment property at the end of redevelopment.

In order to reclassify inventories to investment property, the change in use has to be evidenced by
the commencement of an operating lease to another party. In some cases a property (or a part of a
property) classified as inventory (see 3.7) is leased out temporarily while the entity searches for a
purchaser. In our view, the commencement of such an operating lease, solely of itself, does not
require the entity to transfer the property to investment property provided that the property
continues to be held for sale in the ordinary course of business. Any rental income must be
incidental to such sale.

Measurement of transfers

Cost model

If an entity chooses to measure investment property using the cost model, transfers to and from
investment property do not alter the carrying amount of the property. Therefore, revaluations recognised
for property, plant and equipment carried at fair value under the allowed alternative treatment in IAS 16
(see 3.2) would not be reversed when the property is transferred to investment property.

The standard does not state specifically whether the property’s carrying amount should be brought up
to date under its current policy immediately before the transfer. In our view, a restatement to bring
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the property’s carrying amount up to date is required if the effect would be material to the way the
results for the period are presented in the income statement.

For example, entity T has a property classified as inventory. Some time after acquisition, management
decides to hold the property indefinitely because the market currently is depressed, and has leased out
the property to another party under an operating lease. The net realisable value of the property is 450,
which is lower than its cost of 480. In our view, T should write-down the property to 450 prior to
transferring it to investment property and the loss of 30 should be presented in the income statement in
the same line as other inventory write-downs.

IAS 40 is silent on the treatment of an existing revaluation reserve when revalued property is
transferred from property, plant and equipment to investment property, where it will be measured
under the cost model. In our view, any revaluation reserve accumulated while the property was
accounted for under IAS 16 should be accounted for in accordance with that standard (i.e., the
reserve may be transferred to retained earnings as the amount is realised either through higher
depreciation charges while the asset is being used or on disposal). Issues that arise in respect of
this treatment are discussed in 3.2.

Fair value model

A transfer from another balance sheet category to investment property is made at fair value. The
treatment of the gain or loss on revaluation depends on whether the property was previously held for
own-use, or not.

When the property previously was held for use, the property should be accounted for as property,
plant and equipment up to the date of the change in use. Any difference at the date of the change in
use between the carrying amount of the property and its fair value should be recognised in profit or
loss, or equity, in accordance with the requirements of IAS 16 for revaluations.

When the property is self-constructed investment property that was under construction previously or
inventory that is being transferred to investment property, the gain or loss on revaluation, based on
the asset’s carrying amount at the date of transfer, is recognised in the income statement.

IAS 40 is silent on where any gain or loss arising at the point of transfer should be recognised.
In our view:

. any gain or loss on property previously classified as inventory should be included in the same line
as other gains or losses on inventory; and

- any gain or loss on self-constructed investment property should be included in the same line as
other gains or losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment.

In both cases the gain or loss should be identified separately if material (see 4.1).

When a property is transferred from investment property (whether to own-use properties or to
inventories), the transfer is accounted for at fair value. The fair value at the date of transfer then is
deemed to be the property’s cost for subsequent accounting under IAS 2 or IAS 16 (see 3.7 and 3.2,
respectively). Any difference between the carrying amount of the property prior to transfer and its fair
value on the date of transfer is recognised in the income statement in the same way as any other
change in the fair value of investment property.
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3.4.7 Redevelopment

When an entity redevelops an existing investment property, the property is not transferred out of
investment property during redevelopment. This means that an investment property undergoing
redevelopment would continue to be measured at depreciated cost or at fair value (depending on the
entity’s accounting policy).

However, consideration should be given to whether any of the property has been disposed of during
the course of redevelopment. For example, significant items of equipment installed in the building, or
even the building itself, may have been scrapped. In our view, any such disposals should be
accounted for as follows:

- When investment property is measured under the cost model, components of the property should
be accounted for as separate assets in accordance with IAS 16 (see 3.2). Accordingly such
components should be written off as disposals.

- When an investment property is measured at fair value, information may not exist to enable the
entity to account for the disposals separately. In our view, it is acceptable to include the disposals
as part of the change in fair value.

3.4.8 Disposals

The gain or loss on disposal of investment property is measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the property (unless the transaction is a sale and
leaseback — see 5.1). The standard gives no guidance on the meaning of “net” in this context. In our
view, it should be determined in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment (see 3.2).

Although not stated explicitly in the standard, when investment property is accounted for based on
the fair value model, in our view the carrying amount on disposal is the carrying amount at the
date of the last published balance sheet (whether annual or interim), and should not include any
subsequent interim valuation.

For example, entity V measures investment property at fair value. V's last published balance sheet
was as at the end of its half-year interim period, 30 September 2003. The carrying amount of one
particular retail site was 500 at the date. On 28 February 2004 V obtained an independent valuer's
report that stated that the fair value of the retail site had dropped to 470, and this was recorded inV's
management accounts. On 31 March 2004 the property was sold for 490. In our view, a loss on
disposal of 10 should be recognised in the income statement. We do not believe that it would be
appropriate for the income statement to include a loss of 30 as part of the line including all
investment property fair value changes, and a profit of 20 on disposal presented separately.

When payment is deferred, the selling price of the investment property is the cash price equivalent
for the property (i.e., the amount that the entity would be prepared to accept if settlement were
immediate). In almost all cases the cash price equivalent will not differ significantly from the
measurement of the receivable under IAS 39, which would require the gross cash flows receivable
from the buyer to be discounted using a market rate of interest (see 3.6). When a significant
difference does exist in a transaction, in our view the requirements of IAS 40 should apply because
the standard addresses deferred consideration specifically. Under IAS 40 the difference between the
cash price equivalent and the gross cash flows is recognised as interest income over the period until
payment, using the effective interest method.
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3.4.9 Presentation and disclosure
IAS 1.68 Investment property is presented separately on the face of the balance sheet.

IAS 40.74-  Since IAS 40 makes no reference to making disclosures on a class-by-class basis, it could be

79 assumed that the minimum requirement is to make the disclosures on an aggregate basis for the
whole investment property portfolio. In our view, when investment property represents a significant
portion of the assets it is preferable to disclose additional analysis, for example:

. analysing the portfolio into different types of investment property, such as retail, offices,
manufacturing and residential; and

- identifying separately any properties currently under redevelopment, vacant, and / or whose use is
undetermined and / or that are intended for sale.

3.4.10 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

In the case of this topic no future developments are noted.
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3.5 Investments in associates and joint ventures
(IAS 28, IAS 31, SIC-13)

Overview

. The definition of an associate is based on the ability to exercise significant influence,
which is the power to participate in the financial and operating policies of an entity.

. There is a rebuttable presumption of significant influence if an entity holds 20 to 50 per
cent of the voting rights of another entity.

. Potential voting rights that are exercisable currently are taken into account in assessing
significant influence.

. A joint venture is an entity, asset or operation that is subject to contractually established
joint control.

. Associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements.

. Jointly controlled entities may be accounted for either by proportionate consolidation or
using the equity method.

. Equity accounting or proportionate consolidation is not applied if the investee operates
under severe long-term restrictions that significantly impair its ability to transfer funds
to the investor, or if the investment is acquired and held exclusively for disposal in the
near future#.

. Entities excluded from proportional consolidation or equity accounting are treated as
financial assets.

- An associate’s or joint venture’s accounting policies should be consistent with those of its
investor, unless impracticable#.

. When an associate or a joint venture accounted for under the equity method incurs
losses, the carrying amount of the investor’s equity investment is reduced, but not below
zero. At that point, further losses are recognised by the investor only to the extent that
the investor has an obligation to fund losses.

- Unrealised profits and losses on transactions with associates or joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the investor’s interest in the investee.

- Venture capitalists must apply the equity method for all associates, and must account
for jointly controlled entities by either proportionate consolidation or using the
equity method#.
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Forthcoming requirements

In December 2003, the IASB issued revised versions of IAS 28 Investments in Associates and

IAS 31 Investments in Joint Ventures. The revised standards are effective for account periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005. Early adoption is encouraged. Where an existing requirements
is discussed that will be changed by the revised standards, it is marked with a # and the impact of
the change is explained in the accompanying boxed text. In particular, the revised standards:

- introduce a scope exclusion for investments in associates or joint ventures by venture capital
organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities including investment-linked
insurance funds;

. these investors may elect not to apply equity accounting provided that the investments in
associates and joint ventures are classified as held for trading and accounted for under IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with changes in fair value recognised in the
income statement in the period of the change;

. prohibit use of the equity method of accounting by an investor in its separate financial
statements; and

- modify the guidance previously in SIC-20 Equity Accounting Method — Recognition of Losses by
including other long-term interests that form part of the investor's net investment in the associate
when recognising an investor’s share of losses. Interests to be considered do not include trade
receivables, trade payables or any long-term receivables for which adequate collateral exists
(e.g., secured loans).

3.5.1 Associates
An associate is an entity over which an investor has significant influence.

Significant influence
Significant influence is the power to participate in an entity’s financial and operating policy decisions.

Significant influence may exist over an entity that is controlled by another party. More than one party
may have significant influence over a single entity.

Assessing significant influence

Voting rights

Significant influence is presumed to exist when an investor holds between 20 and 50 per cent of the
voting power of another entity. Conversely it is presumed that significant influence does not exist
with a holding of less than 20 per cent. These presumptions may be overcome in circumstances
when an ability, or lack of ability, to exercise significant influence can be demonstrated clearly.

Qualitative factors
The standard states that the following factors may indicate significant influence:

. representation on the board of directors or equivalent governing body of the investee;
. participation in policy-making processes;

- material transactions between the investor and the investee;

- interchange of managerial personnel; or

. provision of essential technical information.

In our view, additional factors that may indicate significant influence include:

. existence of a right of veto over significant decisions;

- lack of concentration of other shareholdings;

- influence over decisions concerning dividend or reinvestment policy; or

- guarantees of indebtedness, extensions of credit, ownership of warrants, debt obligations or
other securities.
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A single factor in isolation does not necessarily indicate significant influence. For instance, providing
management services to an entity does not in itself result in the entity being an associate. Similarly,
entering into material transactions with an entity does not necessarily give rise to significant
influence over that entity. On the other hand meaningful representation on the governing body of an
entity generally indicates significant influence. Therefore, the analysis requires judgement considering
all the facts and circumstances.

The following are examples of the analysis for some typical arrangements:

. Cis a construction company. P Q and R are paper producers. P Q and R enter into a partnership
arrangement with C. Under the terms of the agreement C will construct a paper mill. B Q and R
will supply raw materials to the partnership. P is the operations manager and is responsible for
operating the mill. P Q and R each have a 30 per cent interest in the partnership. C has a 10 per
cent interest and can choose to sell this interest once the paper mill is operating successfully. A
bank provides financing. The final product will be sold to third party customers. Any profit from the
sale of the final product will be distributed amongst the partners in proportion to their ownership
interests. It appears that P Q and R each have significant influence over the partnership. If the
partnership agreement gives C the ability to significantly influence policy decisions then the
partnership also would be an associate of C.

. B manufactures bricks. S and T each hold 50 per cent of B's shares. S supplied the brick-making
technology and in return receives a license fee equal to 10 per cent of gross sales. T operates the
factories and handles the manufacturing, selling and administrative functions in return for an
annual management fee. S and T each have two seats on B's six-person board of directors. S and
T both appear to have significant influence over B.

Ability to exercise versus actual exercise of significant influence

In determining whether an entity has significant influence over another entity, the focus is on the
ability to exercise significant influence. It does not matter whether significant influence actually is
exercised or not. In this respect assessing whether the investor has the ability to exercise significant
influence is similar to the assessment of whether an investor has the power to control an entity.

See 2.5 for additional guidance and examples illustrating this assessment process.

Indirect holdings

In assessing whether voting rights give rise to significant influence it is necessary to consider both
direct holdings and holdings of subsidiaries (see 2.5). Holdings of associates and joint ventures are
not included in this evaluation.

Potential voting rights

In assessing significant influence, the impact of potential voting rights that are exercisable
currently (both those held by the entity and by other parties) are taken into account. Potential voting
rights include warrants, call options, debt or equity instruments that are convertible into ordinary
shares, or other similar instruments that have the potential, if exercised or converted, to give the
entity voting power. They also include call options which are currently out-of-the-money. See 2.5 for
more guidance on this assessment process.

3.5.2 Joint ventures
The definition of a joint venture has two aspects, both of which must be present in order to conclude
that an entity is a joint venture rather than an associate or subsidiary:

- a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity...
. ...thatis subject to joint control.
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Contractual arrangement

The existence of a contractual arrangement is a key aspect of the definition of a joint venture.

An entity that has its shares evenly split amongst its shareholders, for example, one with two
shareholders each having a 50 per cent interest, or four shareholders each having a 25 per cent
interest, is not a joint venture unless there is a contractual arrangement that establishes joint control.

The contractual arrangement between the venturers can take many forms. It could be a contract signed
by the venturers, minutes of discussions between the venturers, or the joint venture arrangement could
be incorporated in the articles or by-laws of a jointly controlled entity. The form of the contractual
arrangement also may depend on the requirements of the local laws and regulations.

It is uncommon for an entity whose shares are publicly traded to be subject to contractually
established joint control.

Joint control
Joint control exists where no venturer can, in substance, control a joint venture unilaterally.

Joint control does not require a 50:50 interest. Joint control has its origin in the contractual agreement
and therefore can be created between more than two venturers and with various proportionate
holdings. For example, three parties with holdings in the ratio of 40:30:30 may exercise joint control if
there is a contractual agreement that requires unanimous consent for all key decisions. However, in
our view, if the holdings are significantly different (e.g., if one party holds 75 per cent and another
party holds 25 per cent) it is unlikely that joint control exists.

Joint control also may exist between two or more venturers when another entity has an interest that
does not give it joint control, for example, when the respective interests are 45:45:10.

The distinguishing feature of joint ventures normally is that decisions in all areas essential to the
accomplishment of the goals of the joint ventures require the consent of the venturers as provided by
the agreement. However, this does not preclude a joint venture from existing where some decisions
require the consent of a majority of the venturers and only certain more significant decisions require
consent (or, at least, lack of dissent) by all parties.

Assessing joint control
Factors that may be relevant in assessing joint control include:

- The rights of each of the parties. To convey joint control, rights should be over substantive
operating decisions, for example, to approve annual business plans; to select, terminate, and set
the compensation of management responsible for implementing the investee’s policies and
procedures; or to establish operating and capital decisions of the investee (including budgets), in
the ordinary course of business. A right that is protective, for example, to approve decisions to
issue shares, would not be an indication that joint control exists.

. The terms of shareholder agreements. If there are clauses in the shareholder agreements or
financial arrangements that give additional rights to one of the parties this may indicate that the
party with the additional rights has control (see 2.5).

- How disputes between the parties are resolved. For joint control, dispute resolution procedures
should be neutral and not favour one of the parties, for example, a mutually agreed independent
arbitrator should be used.

. The termination provisions. Consider how termination is initiated and whether any party has
an advantage.

. Subsequent transactions, for example, a sell-off by one of the parties, that are contemplated
when the joint venture is set up.
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. The governance structures. It is important to understand the roles and responsibilities of any
shareholders’ committees, including the role of the supervisory board, executive board or steering
committees (see 2.5).

As an intermediate step in a business combination, the buyer and seller may exercise joint control
over an entity. In our view, in these cases it is necessary to consider the overall economic effect of
all the transactions related to the business combination as a whole. If these facts and circumstances
indicate that the joint control is not substantive, for example, because the joint control is for too short
a period to have any real economic effect, the entity should not be treated as a joint venture. See 2.6
for a discussion of accounting for business combinations.

Agreeing to act in the best interests of another party does not in itself establish joint control.

For example, R and S enter into an affiliation arrangement to develop and market a new product.

R and S each have a 50 per cent interest in a new entity T. R knows the local market and therefore is
responsible for the operation and management of T. R agrees to act in the best interests of both
parties when determining the financial and operating policies to be adopted by T. Profits will be
distributed equally to both parties after deducting a fee paid to R for the operational management
work. Unless S has other rights that enable it to block policy decisions made by R, R has control
over the financial and operating policies of T. Therefore, T is a subsidiary of R and not a joint venture.

In assessing whether an entity is subject to joint control, it is necessary to consider the rights of
each venturer individually, rather than a group of shareholders that may act together. For example,
K is a public entity. The shares of K are held 50 per cent by L and 50 per cent by members of the
public. L appoints four of the eight directors of the board of K. Decisions are made based on a
majority vote. Therefore, the public shareholders as a group have the ability to block any decisions
made by L. However, this does not make K a joint venture, as each of the shareholders individually
does not have joint control.

Management control

Joint control must be assessed in terms of the ability to control the key financial and operating
policies. One party may be the operator or manager of a joint venture, as long as all parties agree
key operating and financial policies collectively and the non-managing parties have the power to
ensure these are followed.

3.5.3 Jointly controlled entities
When a joint venture activity is carried on through a separate entity (e.g., a corporation or partnership),
it is known as a “jointly controlled entity" This is the most common form of joint venture.

3.5.4 Jointly controlled assets and operations

"Jointly controlled assets” arise from an arrangement that is a joint venture carried on with assets
that are controlled jointly (whether or not owned jointly), but not through a separate entity. Examples
of jointly controlled assets include:

- Two oil producers sharing the use of a pipeline to transport oil. Both parties bear an agreed
proportion of the operating expenses.

- Four parties entering into an arrangement to jointly control an investment portfolio. The joint
venture is evidenced by a contract, but no separate entity is formed.

A "jointly controlled operation” is a joint venture carried on by each venturer using its own assets in
pursuit of the joint operation. For example:

. Three aircraft charter companies agree to operate a charter route jointly, using their own aircraft
and sharing sales revenue.

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



182

IAS 28.8
(2000),
31.35(2000)

IAS 28, 31

IFRS 5.38-
40

IFRS 5.15

Specific balance sheet items FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
3.5 Investments in associates and joint ventures

- Four construction companies agree to act as a consortium to construct a hotel for a customer.
One contract is signed between the customer and the members of the consortium. All four
entities are party to the contract as the consortium is not a legal entity.

3.5.5 Associates and joint ventures accounted for as financial assets or classified
as held for sale

Neither the equity method nor proportionate consolidation is applied to associates or jointly controlled

entities when:

- the investee operates under severe long-term restrictions that significantly impair its ability
to transfer funds to the investor; or

. control is intended to be temporary because the investment is acquired and held exclusively with
a view to its subsequent disposal in the near future#.

Such investments are accounted for as financial assets (see 3.6).

These exemptions are the same as those that apply for investments in subsidiaries; see 2.5 for
additional guidance.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standards contain no exemption from equity accounting or proportionate consolidation for an
associate or joint venture that operates under severe long-term restrictions. Instead restrictions on the
ability to transfer funds to the investor should be considered when assessing whether joint control or
significant influence exists.

The revised standards also amend the exemption regarding temporary control to specify that
subsequent disposal generally is expected within 12 months from acquisition and that the acquirer
should be seeking a buyer actively.

However, this exception was revised again in March 2004 by IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations. When applying IFRS 5, an investment acquired exclusively with a
view to its subsequent disposal in the near future is not equity accounted or proportionately
consolidated. Instead, the investment is classified as held for sale and measured and presented in
accordance with IFRS 5 (see 5.4A).

Held for sale

Forthcoming requirements

In March 2004 IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations amended the
scope of IAS 28 and IAS 31. When an existing investment in an associate or joint venture is
classified as held for sale, the investor ceases to equity account or proportionately consolidate the
investee. Instead, the investment is classified as held for sale and measured and presented in
accordance with IFRS 5 (see 5.4A).

3.5.6 Venture capital entities

Venture capital entities and unit trusts are not exempt from the requirements to apply equity
accounting or proportionate consolidation when they have significant influence or joint control.
Thus all associates and joint ventures must be accounted for using the equity method or
proportionate consolidation, subject to the general exemptions discussed in 3.5.5#.

Venture capitalists often hold investment stakes of between 20 and 50 per cent. These investments
often meet the definition of associates and therefore would be required to be accounted for using
the equity method unless there is clear evidence that there is no ability to exercise significant
influence (e.g., a shareholders’ agreement restricting the investor’s powers), or unless one of the
general exemptions in 3.5.5 apply.
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Forthcoming requirements

The scope of IAS 28 and IAS 31 was amended in 2003 to exclude investments in associates and in
joint controlled entities held by venture capitalists and similar entities provided that the investments
are classified as held for trading and measured at fair value with all changes in fair value recognised
in the income statement in accordance with IAS 39 (see 3.6).

3.5.7 Accounting periods and policies
Unless otherwise noted, all comments regarding associates apply also to joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method.

Unless it is impracticable, associates’ financial statements used for the purposes of applying the
equity method should be drawn up for the same accounting period as that of the investor. When
different periods are used the length of reporting periods and gap between reporting periods should be
consistent from period to period#.

Forthcoming requirements
Under the revised standard, the difference between the reporting date and the date of the financial
statements of an associate used when applying the equity method may not exceed three months.

When different reporting periods are used for the purpose of applying the equity method, adjustments
are made for the effects of any significant events or transactions that occur between the two
reporting dates.

For the purpose of applying the equity method, the financial information of all associates should be
prepared on the basis of IFRSs. When practical, the investor’s accounting policies should be applied.
If this is not practical and uniform accounting policies are not used, this fact should be disclosed#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard requires that uniform accounting policies are used in preparing the investor's
financial statements, with no exception. Accordingly, when an associate applies different policies in its
own financial statements, adjustments are required to conform to the investor's accounting policies.

Availability of information

It is acceptable to use either the most recently published information or the most recent
management accounts of an associate for the purpose of applying equity accounting. Difficulty in
obtaining financial information needed to apply the equity method is not grounds for exemption from
equity accounting. It is presumed that the investor, by virtue of its ability to exercise significant
influence, is able to obtain the necessary information from associates.

3.5.8 Accounting for associates
Unless otherwise noted, all comments regarding associates apply also to joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method.

Associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method.
Under the equity method:

. the investment is stated as one line item at cost plus the investor's share of retained post-
acquisition profits and other changes in net assets;

. costincludes the goodwill arising on the acquisition;

. the investor’'s share of profits or losses of the associate is presented as a single item in the
income statement;

. any distributions received from the associate reduce the balance sheet carrying amount; and

. the investor’s share of any gains and losses that are recognised by the investee directly in equity,
for example, revaluation surpluses as well as other changes in equity of the associate, are

© 2004 KPMG International. KPMG International is a Swiss cooperative of which all KPMG firms are members. KPMG International provides no services to clients. Each member firm is

a separate and independent legal entity and each describes itself as such. All rights reserved.



184

IAS 28.20,
22

IAS 28.17
(2000)

IAS 28.23,
IFRS 3.55

IAS 28.23

IAS 28.23

Specific balance sheet items FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
3.5 Investments in associates and joint ventures

recognised directly in the investor’s equity. Such changes include revaluations of investments and
foreign exchange translation differences.

The general procedures applicable to consolidation and accounting for an acquisition apply. Therefore,
for example, interentity transactions are eliminated to the extent of the investor's interest. These
general consolidation principles are addressed in 2.5. Issues are addressed below only to the extent
specific issues arise in the application of these principles to associates.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments

On the date of acquisition of an associate, fair values must be attributed to the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities as explained in 2.6. Any difference between the investor's share of
the fair values of the acquired net assets and the purchase price is goodwill or negative goodwill.
Goodwill (or negative goodwill) arising on acquisition of an associate is accounted for in the same
way as goodwill (or negative goodwill) arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (see 2.6).

In our view, the goodwill or negative goodwill should be included in the carrying amount of the
investment in the associate and should not be shown separately. Amortisation of the goodwill or
negative goodwill recognised is shown as an adjustment to the profit or loss from the associate in
the profit or loss from associates line item#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard confirms that goodwill should be included in the carrying amount of the
investment in the associate and not shown separately. Goodwill is not amortised and therefore
amortisation is not included in the determination of the investor's share of the associate’s profit or losses.

Negative goodwill is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is included as
income to measure the investor’s share of the associate’s income statement in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The investor’s share of depreciation charges to be included in the income from associates line item in
the investor's financial statements reflect any fair value adjustments for depreciable assets at the
date of acquisition of the investment in the associate. The fair value adjustment is made only for the
proportion of net assets acquired.

Percentage attributable to the investor

In some cases the economic interests of investors will not equal their shareholding (voting interest).
For example, an entity may control 30 per cent of the voting power of an associate, but have only a
20 per cent economic interest in the profits and net assets of the entity. In these cases the investor
should account for the 20 per cent economic interest.

Indirect holdings
Shareholdings of the parent and all subsidiaries are taken into account in applying the equity method.
But shareholdings of other associates and joint ventures are not considered.

For example, H has a 50 per cent shareholding in joint venture J and a 25 per cent holding in
associate A. J also holds 10 per cent of the share capital of A.
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A reports a loss of 40, but pays a dividend from accumulated profits of 200. H will apply the equity
method of accounting for its 25 per cent interest in A and will not apply the equity method of
accounting to the additional interest (effectively five per cent) held through J. Therefore, ignoring
goodwill amortisation and assuming no impairment, H will include its share of As loss of 10 (25 per
cent x 40). H also will reduce the carrying amount of its investment in A by the dividends received of
50. J elects to account, in its separate financial statements, for its interest in A under the cost
method. Accordingly, in accounting for its interest in J, H will include J’s share of the dividend
received from A of 10 (50 per cent x 10 per cent x 200).

This is different to the treatment that would result from H having taken into account J's 10 per cent
holding and therefore treating A as a 30 per cent associate (25 per cent + (50 per cent of 10 per
cent)). Under this method the share of losses would have been 12 (30 per cent x 40) and the amount
applied against the carrying value of A in respect of the dividends received would have been

60 (30 per cent x 200). In our view, this approach is not appropriate because H does not fully control J.

IAS 28 Ifall

method equity

accounted

Share of loss of A (10) (12)

Dividends received from A (50) (60)

Decrease in carrying amount of investment in A (60) (72)
Share of dividend received by J from A recognised in

the income statement 10 -

An issue may arise when an entity acquires shares in an associate for strategic or trading purposes.
For example, N is a wholly owned subsidiary of M. M has a 30 per cent interest in O, an associate.
N has significant investing activities and as part of these activities acquires a three per cent interest
in O.The issue is whether M's three per cent holding may be treated as an investment under IAS 39
rather than accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements. In our
view, because |AS 28 requires direct and indirect holdings to be evaluated in classifying an
investment as an associate and in accounting for the investment, it would not be acceptable to apply
IAS 39 to the investment in the consolidated financial statements. M'’s three per cent interest should
be accounted for using the equity method.

Potential voting rights

Although an investor may have taken into account potential voting rights when considering whether it
has significant influence (see 3.5.1), the share of profits or losses or changes in equity recorded
under the equity method are based on current ownership interests. For example, assume that G has
significant influence over H as a result of a 15 per cent shareholding in H and presently exercisable
options to acquire a further 20 per cent for a fixed price. G would continue to account for 15 per cent
of H using the equity method. The options would be accounted for as derivatives under IAS 39

(see 3.6). G would account for a 35 per cent interest in H only if and when it exercises the options.
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Effective date
An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the
investor has the power to exert significant influence over the associate.

Transactions with associates

Unrealised profits on transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the investor’s
interest in the associate, regardless of whether the unearned profit is in the investor, a subsidiary in
the same group as the investor, or the associate. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way,
except to the extent that the underlying asset is impaired.

The following simple example illustrates the elimination in a “downstream” sale of inventory by the
investor to a 20 per cent associate:

Investor Associate
Cost of inventory 50 150
Selling price of inventory 150 Not yet sold
Profit related to the transaction 100 0

The accounting entry required to eliminate the investor’s 20 per cent interest in this transaction is
as follows:

Debit Credit
Revenue 150 x 20% 30
Cost of sales 50 x 20% 10
Investment in associate 100 x 20% 20

The credit is recorded against the carrying amount of the investment in the associate and not against
inventory because the inventory is an asset of the associate, included in the investment in associate
line item.

The following example is the same as above except that the 20 per cent associate makes an
“upstream” sale of inventory to the investor:

Investor Associate
Cost of inventory 150 50
Selling price of inventory Not yet sold 150
Profit related to the transaction 100 x 20% = 20 100

The investor's share of earnings from the associate will include 20 which represents the investor’s
share of the associate’s profit on the transaction. This unrealised profit must be eliminated.
However, IFRSs do not specify whether the elimination should be presented as a reduction in the
investment in the associate or as a reduction in the underlying asset (e.g., inventory). In our view,
either approach is acceptable, and we recommend disclosing the method adopted as an accounting
policy note if significant. The accounting entry is as follows:

Debit Credit

Income from associate 20
Investment in associate or inventory 20
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Elimination of balances

IFRSs only require elimination of unrealised profits or losses on transactions with associates.
Balances such as receivables or payables and deposits or loans to or from associates are not
eliminated when applying the equity method.

Elimination of interest income or expense

Elimination of interest income or expense arising on balances with associates is not addressed
specifically in IFRSs. In our view, elimination is appropriate if the effect is material. Elimination may
have no effect on the net profit of the investor — impacting only the split between financing costs and
equity accounted earnings. Alternatively, if one of the parties has capitalised the interest (see 4.6) the
amount recognised in the income statements of the parties would be different and the effect of
elimination may be more significant.

Sale of a subsidiary to an associate
In our view, the principles for elimination of transactions with associates apply equally if an investor
sells a subsidiary to an associate.

For example, assume P sells its wholly owned subsidiary S to its 30 per cent associate A.
The carrying amount of the net assets of S in P’s financial statements at the date of the sale is
5,5600. The selling price is 9,000. Therefore, P initially records a profit on disposal of 3,500.

In our view, it is not appropriate for P to recognise the full profit on the disposal of S in its
consolidated financial statements because P still has a 30 per cent interest in S, through A.
Therefore, P should eliminate 30 per cent of the profit recognised on the disposal of S against the
carrying amount of the investment in A.

The following shows the accounting entries necessary for P to record the transaction and the
subsequent elimination:

Debit Credit
Cash 9,000
Net assets of S 5,500
Profit on disposal 3,500
To record the transaction
Profit on disposal 3,500 x 30% 1,050
Investment in A 1,050

To record the elimination of the unrealised profit

The amount included in the carrying amount of A in respect of the net assets of S in P’s consolidated
financial statements, following the elimination, is 1,650 (9,000 x 30 per cent - 1,050). This corresponds
to the carrying amounts of the net assets of S in P’s financial statements before the disposal (1,650, or
30 per cent of 5,500).

Transactions between associates

IFRSs are silent on whether unrealised profits or losses on a transaction between two associates
should be eliminated. There is a conceptual argument to suggest that some of the profit should be
eliminated (determined by multiplying the investor’s interest in the first associate by its interest in the
second associate), but, in our view, this is not required.
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Preference shares

If an associate has issued cumulative preferred shares that are classified as equity, before applying
the equity method the investor should reduce the profit or loss of the associate by the amount of any
dividends payable on the preference shares, whether or not these dividends have been declared.

Losses
The investor's share of losses of an associate is recognised until the carrying amount of the
investor's equity interest in the associate is reduced to zero.

For the purpose of this calculation, the equity interest in the associate includes the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method and the amount of any loans or other balances that provide
unlimited rights of participation in profits or losses and a residual equity interest in the associate#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard clarifies that an investor recognises its share of losses of an associate until
both its equity investment and other long-term interests (e.g., loans), which are in substance part of
the net investment, have been reduced to zero.

IAS 39 should be applied to determine whether there are any indicators of impairment in respect
of any remaining net investment. Any impairment loss is measured in accordance with IAS 36
(see 3.9).

A liability is recognised only to the extent that the investor has an obligation to fund the associate’s
operations. Any interests in the investee in addition to the equity investment are evaluated for
impairment in terms of the impairment requirements for financial instruments (see 3.6).

The following example illustrates the application of this principle. A owns 40 per cent of the shares in
B. B has negative equity of 200. Therefore, As share of the equity of B is -80 (40 per cent x -200).
However, A is not committed to finance the losses of B and has not provided any guarantees of B’s
obligations. Therefore, A will measure its investment B at zero. In addition, A will consider the
recoverability of any loan it has made to B in accordance with the impairment requirements for loans
(see 3.6).

3.5.9 Accounting for associates in unconsolidated financial statements

There is no requirement for an investor that is not required to prepare consolidated financial statements
to account for associates using the equity method in its separate financial statements. The same
options for accounting for associates are available in the separate financial statements of an investor
as are available when it prepares consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the investment may be
carried at cost, as an available-for-sale financial instrument or under the equity method#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised IAS 27 prohibits use of the equity method of accounting by an investor in its separate
financial statements. Therefore, investments in associates that are not classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 should be accounted for either at cost or in accordance with IAS 39 in the
separate financial statements of an investor. Revised IAS 28 also clarifies that an entity with no
subsidiaries but with investments in joint ventures and / or associates is exempt from preparing
financial statements using the equity method only if the exemption criteria in IAS 27 are met (see 2.5).
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SIC 13.5
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3.5.10 Applying the equity method in separate financial statements

An entity may account for a subsidiary, associate or joint venture under the equity method in its
separate financial statements. A subsidiary that is exempt from consolidation (i.e., operates under
long-term restrictions or acquired exclusively for resale in the near future) also may be accounted for
under the equity method (see 2.5). In these cases the principles in 3.5.8 apply#.

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard prohibits use of the equity method of accounting by an investor in its separate
financial statements.

3.5.11 Accounting for jointly controlled entities
When accounting for jointly controlled entities either use the equity method or proportionate consolidation.

The key difference between full consolidation and proportionate consolidation is that under
proportionate consolidation only the investor's share of the assets and liabilities is accounted for and
therefore there is no minority interest recognised.

In performing proportionate consolidation the usual consolidation procedures apply. For example,
interentity eliminations are made to the extent of the investor’s interest. See 2.5 for guidance on the
application of consolidation principles. Only specific issues that arise in the application of these
principles to joint ventures are addressed below.

When joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, the guidance provided in 3.5.8 for
accounting for associates would apply.

This area of IFRS may be subject to future developments (see 3.5.17).

Effective date

IAS 31 is applied from the date on which the investor obtains joint control. Given the requirement for
joint control to be established contractually, it is unlikely that joint control will exist before the
ratification by all the venturers of the agreement that establishes joint control.

Non-monetary contributions to joint ventures

When an entity contributes non-monetary assets in exchange for an equity interest in a jointly
controlled entity, the entity recognises a gain or loss to the extent the assets have been sold to the
other venturers. No gain or loss is recognised if:

. the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the contributed assets have not been transferred;
- the gain or loss cannot be measured reliably; or
. the non-monetary assets are similar to those contributed by the other venturers#.

Note, however, that the full amount of any loss should be recognised to the extent that the
transaction reflects an impairment of the assets transferred.

Forthcoming requirements

Consequential amendments were made to the SIC interpretation on contributions to joint ventures as
a result of the changes to IAS 16 regarding exchange of non-monetary assets. The previous exception
for non-monetary assets contributed that are similar to those contributed by the other venturers has
been replaced by an exception if the transaction lacks commmercial substance as described in IAS 16
(see 3.2).
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Similar test#

Assets are similar when they are similar in nature, have a similar use in the same line of business
and have similar fair values. These terms are not defined, and there is no detailed guidance as to
their application.

In our view, “similar” should be assessed in the context of the individual component assets making
up the operations of the respective venturers. For example, two venturers contribute operations of
equal value to a joint venture. Both operations relate to dredging, but one business comprises a barge
and a truck and the other business comprises a barge and a warehouse and the assets are similar
only in respect of the barges. In our view, the “similar” test is not met since a contribution meets the
similarity test only if all of the significant component assets are similar, on a one-to-one basis, to
those contributed by the other venturers.

In a 50/50 joint venture we would interpret “similar” to mean that the respective fair values should be
in a ratio very close to 50/50. Likewise, in a 55/45 joint venture, we would interpret “similar” to
mean that the respective fair values should be in a ratio very close to 55/45.

In cases when one venturer contributes cash in addition to assets, this often is an indication that the
contributed assets do not have a similar fair value.

Forthcoming requirements

Consequential amendments were made to the SIC interpretation on contributions to joint ventures as
a result of the changes to IAS 16 regarding exchange of non-monetary assets. The previous exception
for non-monetary assets contributed that are similar to those contributed by the other venturers has
been replaced by an exception if the transaction lacks commmercial substance as described in IAS 16
(see 3.2).

Elimination of unrealised gains

Unrealised gains or losses should be eliminated against the contributed asset if the proportionate
consolidation method is applied or against the carrying amount of the investment if the equity
method is applied. This means that a venturer will record its share of the non-monetary assets of
a joint venture using the previously recorded book value of the underlying assets at the date of
the transfer.

When the gain on the assets disposed of qualifies for recognition, the venturer will recognise its
share of the assets it contributed at their carrying amounts at the date of the transfer and its share of
the assets contributed by the other venturers at fair value.

The following example illustrates the application of SIC-13 when applying proportionate
consolidation. In scenario 1 it is assumed that the assets are not similar# and a portion of the
gain is recognised. In scenario 2 it is assumed that the assets are similar# and therefore the full
gain is eliminated.

A B
Book value of non-monetary assets contributed 100 130
Fair value of non-monetary assets contributed 250 250
Share in joint venture 50 50
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The accounting entry in A to record the contribution is as follows:

Debit Credit
Investment in joint venture 250
Assets contributed 100
Profit 150
The accounting entry in A to consolidate the joint venture is as follows:

Debit Credit
Joint venture assets 250
Investment in joint venture 250
Scenario 1 - assets not similar#, eliminate only 50 per cent of profit

Debit Credit
Profit 75
Joint venture assets 75

The elimination results in the following carrying amounts for the assets relating to the joint venture:

Retained share of contributed assets at book value 50
Share of acquired assets at fair value 125
175

Scenario 2 — assets similar#, eliminate 100 per cent of profit
Debit Credit

Profit 150
Joint venture assets 150

There is no guidance on how to eliminate the additional 75 profit. In our view, it should be eliminated
against the assets acquired. This will result in the following carrying amounts for the assets relating
to the joint venture:

Retained share of contributed assets at book value 50
Acquired assets at fair value less 75 unrealised profit 50

100

Forthcoming requirements

Consequential amendments were made to the SIC interpretation on contributions to joint ventures as
a result of the changes to IAS 16 regarding exchange of non-monetary assets. The previous exception
for non-monetary assets contributed that are similar to those contributed by the other venturers has
been replaced by an exception if the transaction lacks commmercial substance as described in IAS 16
(see 3.2).

Allocation of unrealised profit

There is no specific guidance as to how an unrealised profit should be allocated to the individual
assets of the joint venture. However, IFRSs indirectly establish the mechanics of proportionate
consolidation (e.g., if the assets contributed are not similar, a gain or loss is recognised on the
interest in the assets transferred to other venturers).

The retained interest is accounted for at its book value before the transfer (i.e., a carryover basis).
Therefore, in our view, for the contributed assets to be measured on a carryover basis, an unrealised
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profit should be eliminated first against any goodwill or fair value adjustments on the transaction.
For example:

P Q
Book value of contributed operations 180 160
Fair value of identifiable assets contributed 230 220
Fair value of operations contributed 250 250
Goodwill arising 20 30
Share in joint venture 50 50

If the assets are not similar#, P's accounting entry to record the contribution is as follows:

Debit Credit
Investment in joint venture 180/2 + 250/2 215
Operations contributed 180
Profit 35

To proportionately consolidate the joint venture, P should record the following entry:

Debit Credit
Individual joint venture assets and liabilities (this includes
P’s share of goodwill on Q’s contribution of 15) 215
Investment in joint venture 215

The venturers’ accounting is the same whether the joint venture records contributed assets at fair
value or book value (see below), for example:

. own assets that are contributed are recorded on a carryover basis; and
. assets contributed by other venturers are recognised based on their fair value at the contribution
date (if the assets are not similar).

Therefore, in the above example, P recognises goodwill of 15, which is the difference between the
amount paid and the fair value of the identifiable assets contributed by Q ((250 - 220)/2).

If the joint venture recorded the contributed assets at fair value, then on consolidation P would
reverse the fair value adjustments on the assets it contributed (half of which are consolidated
proportionately on a carryover basis; the other half represent Q's interest and are not consolidated)
and record its half of the assets contributed by Q at fair value. If the joint venture recorded the
contributed assets on a carryover basis, P would make a consolidation adjustment to recognise its
share of Q’s contribution at its fair value of 125 (250/2) and account for its share of the assets it
contributed on a carryover basis.

If the contributed assets are similar#, P should record all the contributed assets on a carryover basis.
In this case P would not recognise any goodwill or any profit on the transaction.
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The consolidation entry would be:

Debit Credit
Investment in joint venture 180
Assets contributed 180
Individual joint venture assets and liabilities 180
Investment in joint venture 180

Forthcoming requirements

Consequential amendments were made to the SIC interpretation on contributions to joint ventures as
a result of the changes to IAS 16 regarding exchange of non-monetary assets. The previous exception
for non-monetary assets contributed that are similar to those contributed by the other venturers has
been replaced by an exception if the transaction lacks commercial substance as described in IAS 16
(see 3.2).

Cash and non-monetary contributions

A contribution of cash to the joint venture that is not distributed to a venturer does not result in
realisation of the gain or change the principles illustrated in the example. The cash simply would
gross up the contribution to and assets of the joint venture. The profit elimination would not change.

Unrealised losses
If the transaction results in an unrealised loss, the loss is not eliminated if it provides evidence of an
impairment of the contributed assets.

In the unusual situation when the unrealised loss does not provide evidence of impairment it is
eliminated. It is important that the allocation of the loss to the individual contributed assets does not
result in the carrying amount of any asset exceeding its recoverable amount (see 3.9). In our view, if
the allocation results in an asset’s carrying amount exceeding its recoverable amount, the excess
should be allocated proportionately to the other non-monetary assets.

Accounting by joint ventures for contributions received

IAS 31 and SIC-13 address accounting for joint ventures from the point of view of the venturer. They
are silent as to what treatment should be applied by the joint venture itself. WWhen a joint venture
prepares separate financial statements an issue arises as to whether it should account for the
contributions received at their book values in the venturers’ accounting records before the transfer (a
carryover basis) or based on their fair values. If the joint venture does not prepare separate financial
statements no issue arises.

The accounting treatment applied by the venturers is independent of the treatment applied by the joint
venture itself (i.e., the venturers will reverse the accounting applied by the joint venture when they
account for their interest in the joint venture), so this issue is relevant only to the separate financial
statements of the venturer.

In the absence of specific guidance on accounting by joint ventures, some joint ventures use fair
values, and others use a carryover basis, to record the contributions received from venturers.

In our view, it is appropriate to consider the principles in SIC-13 when determining the treatment to
be applied by the joint venture. Generally, when the contributed assets are not similar# our
preference is for the joint venture to recognise the contributions at fair value. We also believe that it
is appropriate for the joint venture to apply the principles in accounting for business combinations
(see 2.6) by analogy in measuring the fair values of the contributed assets.
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Whichever method is used, it should be applied consistently by the joint venture to all contributions
from venturers.

Forthcoming requirements

Consequential amendments were made to the SIC interpretation on contributions to joint ventures as
a result of the changes to IAS 16 regarding exchange of non-monetary assets. The previous exception
for non-monetary assets contributed that are similar to those contributed by the other venturers has
been replaced by an exception if the transaction lacks commercial substance as described in IAS 16
(see 3.2).

The application, by analogy, of the business combination principles of IFRS 3 would include also the
recognition and fair value measurement of contributed contingent liabilities.

Transactions with joint ventures

Unrealised profits on transactions with joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the investor’s
interest in the joint venture. If an asset is sold at a loss and the loss provides evidence of
impairment, the full amount of the loss is recognised.

Otherwise, when a venturer sells an asset to a joint venture, the venturer recognises only the share
of any gain or loss attributable to the interests of the other venturers. When a joint venture sells
assets to a venturer, the venturer eliminates its share of any gain or loss until the asset is sold to a
third party.

Losses

Under proportionate consolidation there is no ceiling on the amount of losses to recognise. This differs
from the approach to accounting for losses under the equity method, whereby the net investment
normally is not reduced below zero (see 3.5.8).

Consistency and change in accounting method
The chosen accounting policy (proportionate consolidation or the equity method) must be applied
consistently to all jointly controlled entities from period to period.

For example, W has investments in jointly controlled entities in Zambia, which it has proportionately
consolidated. During the reporting period, W invests in a jointly controlled entity in Pakistan. W
believes that the nature of the Pakistani joint venture is different in substance to those in Zambia and
wishes to use the equity method for the joint venture in Pakistan. IFRSs would not permit this
approach. If a policy of proportionate consolidation is adopted, it must be applied consistently to all
jointly controlled entities, regardless of the nature of the jointly controlled entities.

As with other voluntary changes in accounting policy, a change in accounting policy with respect to
joint ventures is justified only if the change results in more relevant and reliable information (see 2.8).

3.5.12 Accounting for jointly controlled assets

The investor includes in its financial statements its share of the jointly controlled assets, the
liabilities and expenses that it incurs and any income from the sale or use of its share of the output
of the joint venture. In addition, it should recognise any owned assets or liabilities it controls alone.

For example, S andT enter into a 50:50 joint venture arrangement to jointly develop and market a
new software product. The total software development costs that qualify for capitalisation as an
intangible asset under IFRSs are 200,000; costs of 80,000 do not meet the criteria for capitalisation
(see 3.3). S and T each should recognise software development costs of 100,000 as an asset in the
balance sheet and costs of 40,000 in the income statement. In future periods S and T should
amortise the software over its estimated useful life and account for their share of any revenues or
costs associated with marketing the software.
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3.5.13 Accounting for jointly controlled operations

For jointly controlled operations the investor includes, in its individual financial statements (and
therefore also in its consolidated financial statements), the assets that it controls and the liabilities
and expenses that it incurs in the course of pursuing the joint operation, plus its share of the income
from the joint operation.

3.5.14 Impairment

Fair value adjustments and goodwill recognised on acquisitions of associates and joint
ventures are not recognised separately. Accordingly, an investment in an associate or joint
venture may be impaired, even if the investee has accounted for any impairment of the
underlying assets. Therefore, investments in associates and joint ventures are subject to the
impairment testing requirements in IAS 36. Accordingly, any resulting impairment losses first
would be allocated to goodwill. See 3.9 for further guidance on recognising, measuring and
presenting impairment losses.

3.5.15 Changes in the status of joint ventures and associates
Investment becomes an associate or joint venture
An investment may become an associate or joint venture when:

. theinvestor acquires an additional holding; or
. there is a change in circumstances that results in significant influence or joint control being obtained.

Cost of the acquisition

Often the investment previously will have been accounted for as an available-for-sale investment
under IAS 39; it also may have been classified as held for trading (see 3.6). In our view, any fair
value adjustments recorded previously should be reversed through equity. We believe that the
starting point for equity accounting or proportionate consolidation should be the original cost of the
investment, plus the cost of any additional investment.

As explained in 3.5.8, goodwill should be calculated based on the cost of the investment and the fair
value of the net assets at the date of each acquisition.

Accounting for post-acquisition earnings

In some circumstances an investment in an associate or joint venture is accounted for as a financial
asset if certain conditions have been met, as described in 3.5.5. If at a later date these conditions no
longer are met, the investor would be required to commence accounting for the investment using the
equity method or proportionate consolidation. In these circumstances, we believe that the investor’s
share of the results of the entity since acquisition (adjusted for amortisation of goodwill# and fair
value adjustments) should be included in the current year's income statement, or directly in equity for
items recorded directly in equity (e.g., the investor’s share of unrealised gains on the associate’s
available-for-sale investments). Further, it would not be appropriate to restate comparatives or
retained earnings.

Once the above adjustments have been made, equity should be the same as if the entity had been
proportionately consolidated or accounted for using the equity method since joint control or significant
influence arose. See 2.5 for an example of the application of these principles.

Application of the equity method or proportionate consolidation is not a change in accounting policy.
Therefore, if the application of the equity method or proportionate consolidation is instead a correction
of an error, the effect of which is material to the entity’s financial statements, both comparative
information and opening retained earnings will be restated (see 2.8).
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Forthcoming requirements
Under IFRS 3 goodwill is not amortised (see 3.3).

Disclosure

The financial statements should include appropriate disclosure, including the share of the entity’s
results for the current year, the share of results for the comparative year and the aggregate share of
results for prior years.

Increase in interest in an associate or joint venture
Where an investor’s interest in an existing associate or joint venture is increased, the additional
interest is accounted for in the same way as a step acquisition in a business combination (see 2.6).

Cessation of significant influence or joint control

The equity method or proportionate consolidation continues to apply until joint control or significant
influence ceases. This may occur when the investment or a portion of the investment is sold, there is
a dilution in shareholding, or there is a change in facts and circumstances.

Once an investment has been classified as an associate or joint venture, the investor will be
regarded as continuing to have significant influence or joint control until a specific, identifiable event
or transaction occurs that changes the circumstances. Insignificant or temporary changes in the
relationship between the investor and the investee normally would not result in cessation of joint
control or significant influence.

Sometimes judgement is necessary to determine when to account for a disposal. For example, X signs
an agreement to sell associate Y to Z at a later date (e.g., in December 2005). Z wishes to obtain
control of Y andY's other shareholders also enter into similar agreements with Z. Final approval of the
agreement is subject to approval of the transaction by the competition authorities and Z obtaining at
least 70 per cent of Y. From the date the agreement is entered into X's voting rights are suspended.

It is necessary to evaluate whether X continues to have the ability to exercise significant influence
overY. In our view, the probability of the conditions being fulfilled and the sale occurring should be
considered in making this evaluation. If there is a high probability that the sale will take place, and X
is not able to exert significant influence, it may be appropriate to suspend equity accounting from the
date the agreement is signed. If there is a reasonable possibility that the sale will not be approved
and, in the event the sale is not approved, X would retain significant influence, it would be
appropriate to continue equity accounting until the transaction is finalised.

Accounting for the disposal

When an investment accounted for using the equity method is sold, the difference between the
proceeds from the disposal and the carrying amount of the investment (including the carrying
amount of any related goodwill) is recognised in the income statement as a gain or loss on disposal.

When a jointly controlled entity is disposed of the gain or loss on disposal is the difference between
the proceeds from the disposal and the investor’s share of the net assets of the joint venture,
including any related goodwill.

Partial disposal
In the case of a partial disposal, depending on the level of influence still held by the investor, the
remaining investment is accounted for:

. as an associate in accordance with IAS 28; or
. as a financial asset in accordance with IAS 39 (see 3.6).
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If a joint venture becomes an associate, the investor's remaining interest in the carrying amount of
the net assets of the investee is the deemed cost of the investment in the associate for the purposes
of applying the equity method. Similarly, if an associate or joint venture becomes a financial
instrument investment under IAS 39, the deemed cost of the investment for the purpose of applying
IAS 39 is the investor's retained interest in the carrying amount of the net assets of the investee at
the date of change in status of the investment.

For example, assume V has a 50 per cent interest in joint venture W. V proportionately consolidates
joint ventures. V sells a 40 per cent stake in W for proceeds of 80,000. The remaining goodwill
recorded by V relating to W on that date is 8,000. The carrying amount of V's interest in the net assets
is 60,000. After the disposal V no longer has joint control or significant influence over W. W is treated
as an available-for-sale investment under IAS 39 in future periods.

The calculation of the deemed cost of the available-for-sale investment and the profit on disposal of
W is calculated as follows:

50% 40% 10%
Share of net assets 60,000 48,000 12,000
Goodwvill 8,000 6,400 1,600
Carrying amount / deemed cost 68,000 54,400 13,600
Proceeds received 80,000
Profit on disposal 25,600
The following accounting entry is used to record the transaction:
Debit Credit
Cash 80,000
Available-forsale investment 13,600
Goodwill (included in the investment in associate 8,000
Net assets 60,000
Profit 25,600

Unrealised profits on previous transactions

In our view, unrealised profits from previous downstream sales to associates or joint ventures
should be carried forward in the cost of the investment to the extent that the investment is
retained. For example, U previously was a 20 per cent associate of T. On 1 December 2004, T sold
half of its investment in U and no longer has significant influence over U. Therefore, T discontinues
the use of the equity method. The carrying amount of T's investment in U at the date of the sale is
895,000. In a previous period, T sold land to U at a profit of 100,000. T eliminated the unrealised
portion of the profit of 20,000 against the equity accounted carrying amount of its investment in U.
No adjustment should be made to reverse the unrealised profit elimination in determining the cost
basis for U. Therefore, the cost basis of T's remaining 10 per cent interest is 447500 (895,000/2).

Dividends received after a partial disposal

There is no specific guidance on how to deal with a situation when an investee that previously was
an associate or joint venture declares dividends from earnings that accrued in a period when it was
accounted for as an associate or joint venture. In our view, if dividends received clearly are a
distribution of profits that previously have been recognised by the investor, the dividends should be
treated as a reduction in the cost of the investment and not shown as income. This is because the
investor would have recognised the earnings in previous periods applying the equity method or
proportionate consolidation. Therefore, it would be double counting to recognise the dividends in
earnings again in a subsequent period. If it is difficult to allocate the amount of dividends received
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between pre- and post-disposal earnings except on an arbitrary basis, dividends are recognised as
revenue unless they clearly represent a return of capital. This is consistent with the requirement to
account for dividends declared from pre-acquisition net income as a deduction from the cost of an
investment (see 4.2).

Dilution

A dilution of an interest in a joint venture or associate may occur, for example, when the investee
issues shares to other parties. The accounting for the dilution of an interest in an associate or joint
venture generally is the same as the accounting for dilutions of interests in subsidiaries. See 2.5 for
an illustrative example of accounting for dilutions.

3.5.16 Presentation and disclosure

Changes in equity of associates

In our view, the method of recognising changes in equity of an associate in the investor’s financial
statements should be consistent with how the underlying transaction would be recognised under
IFRSs. For example:

. againorloss on a cash flow hedging instrument should be recognised in the hedging reserve
(see 3.6);

. achange arising from the revaluation of property, plant and equipment or an available-for-sale
investment should be recognised in a separate component in equity (see 3.2 and 3.6); and

. exchange differences arising from translation of an associate’s net investment in a foreign entity
should be recognised directly in equity (see 2.7).

In our view, when a statement of changes in equity is presented, it is preferable to present a separate
line item for the investor’s share of changes in equity of associates, with each change included in the
appropriate column. See 3.10 for an illustrative example of this presentation. When a statement of
recognised gains and losses is presented, we recommend using a separate line item for the
investor's share of gains and losses from associates (see 2.2).

Income statement presentation

Earnings accounted for under the equity method must be presented as a separate line item on the
face of the investor’s income statement. There is no specific guidance on where in the income
statement the line item should be presented. In our view, it should be presented as part of profit or
loss from ordinary activities; and may be shown either as part of operating result or financial income
(see 4.1).

There also is no guidance on how the investor’s share of associates’ tax or minority interest should
be treated. In our view, the investor’s share of equity accounted earnings, after tax and minority
interest, should be presented as a single line item in operating result or financial income before tax.
This presentation results in a reconciling item in the tax rate reconciliation (see 3.12). We do not
recommend showing the investor's share of associates’ pre-tax income and proportionately
consolidating the investor's share of associates’ tax and minority interest.

Gain or loss on disposal and impairment losses

In our view, gains or losses arising on disposal of an associate (or joint venture) or impairment of a loan
to an associate (or joint venture) are not part of the investor’s share of the profit or loss accounted for
using the equity method. We believe that these items should be recognised in the same line item as
other gains and losses on investments and not in the profit or loss from associates line item.

Goodwill

As noted in 3.5.8, in our view, goodwill (or negative goodwill) on associates (and the related
accumulated amortisation) should be presented as part of (or a reduction of) the carrying amount
of investments in associates and not with goodwill from consolidated (or proportionately
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consolidated) investments. Similarly, the amortisation of goodwill should be presented as an
adjustment to the earnings accounted for under the equity method in the income statement rather
than being shown with other goodwill amortisation#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard confirms that goodwill should be included in the carrying amount of the
investment in the associate and not shown separately. Under IFRS 3 goodwill is not amortised and
therefore amortisation is not included in the determination of the investor’s share of the associate’s
profit or losses.

Under the revised standard, negative goodwill is excluded from the carrying amount of the
investment and is included as income in the determination of the investor’s share of the associate’s
income statement in the period in which the investment is acquired.

IFRSs require goodwill on associates to be accounted for in the same manner as goodwill arising on
business combinations (see 2.6), but IFRSs are silent on disclosures relating to goodwill on
associates. In our view, it is not necessary to provide the disclosures for goodwill arising in a
business combination in respect of goodwill on associates. However, we recommend that the
amount of goodwill included in the carrying amount of associates and the amount amortised be
disclosed in the notes#.

In some cases the amortisation of goodwill# arising on the acquisition of associates may exceed the
investor's share of earnings from associates. In these cases, if an entity wishes to highlight the
impact of the goodwill amortisation on earnings from associates, we recommend presenting two line
items for earnings from associates: one showing the investor's share of results of associates and
the other showing the goodwill amortisation. For example:

Share of results of associates 7280
Amortisation of goodwill relating to associates (9,000)
Earnings from associates (1,720)

Forthcoming requirements
The revised standard requires that goodwill should be accounted in accordance with IFRS 3 Business
Combinations. Under IFRS 3 goodwill is not amortised.

Accounting policy notes

A situation may arise when an associate has accounting policies for items that are not applicable to
the investor. The investor's financial statements do not include line items in respect of associate’s
financial statement items. In our view, it would be misleading for the investor’s accounting policy
notes to include additional notes in respect of the accounting policies of associates. If disclosure of
accounting policies of an associate is considered necessary for an understanding of income from
associates, or the carrying amount of investments in associates in the balance sheet, in our view,
this information should be included in the associates’ accounting policy note#.

Forthcoming requirements

The revised standard requires the use of uniform accounting policies for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the investor for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments should be made to conform the
associate’s accounting policies to those of the investor when the associate’s financial statements
are used by the investor in applying the equity method.
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Proportionate consolidation
Proportionate consolidation may be done by:

- including the investor’s share of each line item in the joint venture’s financial statements with
each relevant line item of the investor (in the same way as a normal consolidation); or

. presenting separate line items for the investor’s share of each of the investee's assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses.

The following example illustrates the different approaches permitted for presentation of operating
income. Other items in the financial statements would be dealt with in the same way.

Combined disclosures

Revenue 107403
Cost of sales (61,076)
Gross profit 46,327
Other operating income 1,571

Distribution costs (18,090)
Administrative expenses (15,635)
Other operating expenses (3,284)
Profit from operations 10,889

If the combined presentation is used, information about the amounts relating to joint ventures should
be disclosed in the notes. For example:

Included in the primary financial statements are the following amounts relating to joint ventures:

Revenue 12,657
Cost of sales (7341)
Gross profit 5,316
Other operating income -
Distribution costs (1,473)
Administrative expenses (1,685)
Other operating expenses (438)
Profit from operations 1,720

Separate line items

Group

(excluding Joint Total

joint ventures) ventures group

Revenue 94,746 12,657 107403
Cost of sales (53,735) (7341) (61,076)
Gross profit 41,011 5,316 46,327
Other operating income 1,571 - 1,571
Distribution costs (16,617) (1,473) (18,090)
Administrative expenses (13,950) (1,685) (15,635)
Other operating expenses (2,846) (438) (3,284)
Profit from operations 9,169 1,720 10,889

This method significantly increases the information contained in the primary financial statements. In
our view, this presentation is preferable only if, due to the nature or significance of joint ventures, this
level of detail is considered helpful for an understanding of the financial statements.
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3.5.17 Future developments

This publication is based on IFRSs in issue at 1 August 2004. When a significant change to the
requirements of those IFRSs is expected, it is highlighted in the text and the principal changes are
discussed briefly below.

Joint ventures

The IASB has begun a limited project covering the definition of joint ventures and the distinction
between a joint venture and an undivided interest in an asset. The IASB has indicated that it intends
to retain the requirement for contractually established joint control. The IASB also has expressed an
intention to eliminate proportionate consolidation, but possibly to replace it with an adapted form of
equity accounting.

The IASB also has begun a longer-term project on the accounting for joint venture arrangements.
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3.6 Financial instruments

(IAS 21, IAS 32, IAS 39)

Overview

All derivatives are recognised on the balance sheet and measured at fair value.

All financial assets must be classified into “loans and receivables’, “held-to-maturity’; “fair
value through profit or loss” or “available-for-sale” categories.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised
cost. All other financial assets are measured at fair value (with limited exceptions).

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale assets are recognised directly in equity.

Financial liabilities, other than those held for trading purposes or designated as at fair
value through profit or loss, are measured at amortised cost.

Any financial instrument may be designated on initial recognition as one measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Evaluating whether a transfer of a financial asset qualifies for derecognition
requires considering:

- Whether substantive risks and rewards are transferred. If substantially all the risks and
rewards are transferred, then a financial asset is derecognised. If substantially all the
risks and rewards are retained, then the asset is not derecognised.

- If some but not substantially all of the risks and rewards are transferred, then an asset
is derecognised if control of the asset is transferred.

- If control is not transferred, then the entity continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the asset.

Whenever there is objective evidence that a financial asset measured at amortised cost, or
fair value with changes recognised in equity, may be impaired the amount of any
impairment loss must be calculated and recognised in the income statement.

Generally, derivatives embedded in host contracts must be accounted for as stand-alone
derivatives. Exceptions are provided when the host contract is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the income statement and for embedded derivatives
that are closely related, in economic terms, to the host contract.

Hedge accounting is permitted only when strict documentation and effectiveness testing
requirements are met.

The type of hedge accounting applied depends on whether the hedged exposure is a fair
value exposure, a cash flow exposure, or a currency exposure on a net investment in a
foreign operation.
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3

IAS 39.2(b)

IAS 39.2(b)

IAS 32.AG9

3.6 Financial instruments

For ease of use, this section is based on the revised versions of IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
published in March 2004. The impact on current versions of IAS 32 and IAS 39 as a result of
amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 39 in December 2003 and March 2004 are discussed in a separate
KPMG publication Financial Instruments Accounting (March 2004). A summary of the key changes is
included in section 3.6.18. The transitional provisions of the amended standards are discussed in 3.6.17.

3.6.1 Scope

IAS 32 deals with the presentation and disclosure of financial instruments (see 5.6); generally it does
not address recognition or measurement issues, but it does contain accounting principles for own
equity instruments.

IAS 39 provides recognition and measurement requirements covering most financial instruments
other than assets and liabilities arising from employee benefit plans, own equity instruments, certain
guarantees, contingent consideration in business combinations and other exceptions discussed in
more detail below.

The scope paragraphs of IAS 32 and IAS 39 are not identical and, consequently, a scope exclusion
in IAS 39 in respect of a particular item should not be assumed to apply equally to that item in the
context of IAS 32 and vice versa. For example, certain financial instruments might be excluded
from the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 39, due to another standard addressing
those aspects of its accounting, while the disclosure requirements of IAS 32 still apply.

Insurance

Although IAS 32 and IAS 39 do not address accounting for insurance contracts, they do not scope
out insurance entities. Insurance entities must apply IAS 32 and IAS 39 to all their financial
instruments other than those that meet the definition of an insurance contract or a contract with a
discretionary participating feature. Therefore, financial instruments that meet the definition of an
insurance contract and that are within the scope of IFRS 4 are not subject to IAS 39. However,
IAS 39 applies to a derivative that is embedded in contracts that are within the scope of IFRS 4, if
the derivative is not itself a contract within the scope of IFRS 4 (see 5.10).

Share-based payments

IFRS 2 provides guidance on accounting for share-based payments. Accordingly, the initial
classification and measurement and subsequent measurement of financial instruments arising from
share-based payment transactions as defined in IFRS 2 are subject to the requirements of that
standard. Otherwise, financial instruments arising from these transactions would generally fall within
the scope of IAS 32 and IAS 39.

Lease rights and obligations

Rights and obligations under leases are recognised and measured under IAS 17 (see 5.1) and
consequently are not subject to the general recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 39.
However, lease receivables recognised by a lessor are subject to the derecognition and impairment
provisions of IAS 39. Also, finance lease payables recognised by a lessee are subject to the
derecognition principles of IAS 39.

Derivatives embedded in leases (both finance and operating leases) are within the scope of IAS 39
(see 3.6.15).

A finance lease is a financial instrument. IAS 32 applies to all financial instruments, and rights and
obligations under leases are not specifically excluded from the scope of IAS 32. Consequently,
recognised financial assets and liabilities arising from finance leases are subject to the financial
instrument disclosure requirements contained in IAS 32 (see 5.6).
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Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, that are consolidated, equity accounted
or proportionately consolidated under IAS 27 IAS 28 and IAS 31 respectively (see 2.5 and 3.5) are
excluded from the scope of IAS 32 and IAS 39.

IAS 39 also applies to derivatives on an interest in a subsidiary, associate or joint venture unless
the derivative meets the definition of an equity instrument of the entity (see 5.6). Similarly, IAS 32
and IAS 39 apply to derivatives held by the reporting entity on interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures that are owned by other parties.

A parent may invest in a convertible instrument issued by a subsidiary. In our view, if the convertible
instrument is classified as equity by the subsidiary (e.g., because it is mandatorily convertible,

see 5.6), then in the separate financial statements of the parent its investment should be considered
to be an investment in a subsidiary and therefore would be excluded from the scope of IAS 39.
However, we believe that, if the subsidiary classifies the instrument as debt, the parent’s investment
in the subsidiary’s liability would be subject to IAS 39. The conversion feature would be an embedded
derivative (see 3.6.15).

Venture capital and similar entities

Venture capitalists, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities may account for their associates
and investments in joint ventures at fair value under IAS 39, with all changes in fair value recognised
in the income statement, rather than applying equity accounting or proportionate consolidation.
However, there is no exemption for these entities from the requirement to consolidate all entities that
they control.

In our view, an entity that has substantive venture capital operations may use the exemption from
equity accounting and proportionate consolidation, even if the entity also has other operations.
However, this exemption may be applied only to the investments held as part of the venture capital
portion of the entity’s operations.

Control is assumed in all cases when an investor holds more than 50 per cent of the voting shares in
an entity, unless it can be demonstrated clearly that the investor does not have the ability to exercise
control (see 2.5).

Investment funds and similar entities therefore should identify investments in which they have a
holding of more than 50 per cent of the voting shares, or are able to exercise control by some other
means. These investments must be consolidated unless they qualify for the limited exemptions from
consolidation (see 2.5).

3.6.2 Definitions
A financial asset is defined as any asset that is:

. cash;
- acontractual right:
- toreceive cash or another financial asset; or
- to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under potentially favourable conditions;
. anequity instrument of another entity; or
. acontract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:
- anon-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the
entity’s own equity instruments; or
- aderivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of shares.
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IAS 39.1GBT Gold bullion is a commodity and not a financial asset; therefore it is not within the scope of IAS 39

IAS 32.11

or IAS 32.

A financial liability is defined as:
. acontractual obligation:
- to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
- to exchange financial instruments under potentially unfavourable conditions; or
. acontract that will or may be settled in the entity’'s own equity instruments and is:
- anon-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of the
entity’s own equity instruments; or
- aderivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity's own equity instruments.

IAS 32.AG11 Deferred revenue in advance and prepaid expenses generally are not financial instruments.

IAS 39.9

3.6.3 Derivatives

Definition

A derivative is a financial instrument, the value of which changes in response to some underlying
variable (e.g., an interest rate), that has an initial net investment smaller than would be required
for other instruments that have a similar response to the variable, and that will be settled at a
future date.

IAS 39.IGB3 A contract that allows either net or gross settlement may be a derivative.

In our view, an individual contract should be treated as a single derivative and not split into its
component parts. For example, an interest rate collar cannot be separated into an interest rate cap
and an interest rate floor, which are accounted for separately.

Underlying

IAS 39.1GB2 The term “underlying” does not refer to an asset or liability in the balance sheet, but rather a variable

that creates changes in the value of a contract. Examples of underlying variables include interest
rates, creditworthiness and foreign exchange rates.

An option that is exercisable at the fair value of the underlying always has a fair value of zero.
Therefore, it does not meet the definition of a derivative because its value does not depend on an

underlying variable.

Notional amount

IAS 39.1GB8 Although derivatives normally have a notional amount specified in the contract, the definition of a

derivative does not require there to be a notional amount. A contract to pay or receive a fixed amount
on the occurrence or non-occurrence of a future event meets the definition of a derivative.

“Smaller” initial net investment

IAS 39.1GB9 There is no quantified guidance about what constitutes a “smaller” initial net investment. “Smaller”

should be interpreted relative to the investment that would be required to acquire a direct investment in
a primary (i.e., non-derivative) instrument with similar characteristics to the derivative. An instrument
with similar characteristics to the derivative is one that has a similar response to changes in the
underlying variable. For example, to evaluate whether the premium paid for an option to acquire an
equity security is smaller than the amount that would need to be paid to acquire a similar primary
financial instrument, the amount paid should be compared to the amount that would need to be paid
to acquire a direct investment in the underlying equity security.
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For this reason, debt and equity securities are not derivatives, although their fair values have
similar responses to changes in the underlying (interest rates or the share price) as derivatives on
these instruments.

Many derivatives, such as at-market forward contracts, do not have any initial cost.

IAS 39.1GB9 Options normally require payment of an up-front premium, but the amount paid normally is small in

IAS
39.1GB10

relation to the amount that would be required to be paid to acquire the underlying instrument.
However, certain call options may have a very low exercise price so that the amount paid to
acquire the option is likely to be equivalent to the amount that would be paid to acquire the
underlying asset outright at inception of the option. In our view, such options should be treated as a
purchase of the underlying asset and not as derivatives. In other words, if an option is so deep in
the money at the date it is issued or acquired that the cost of the option is almost equal to the
value of the underlying asset at that date, it should be accounted for as an investment in the
underlying asset and not as a derivative.

A cross-currency swap meets the definition of a derivative even though there is a swap of currencies
at inception of the contract because there is zero initial net investment.

Any required deposits or minimum balance requirement held in margin accounts as security for
derivatives are not considered part of the initial investment. For example, the variation margin
required in respect of exchange traded futures comprises cash collateral for the particular trade rather
than either part of the initial investment in the underlying commodity or an amount paid in settlement
of the instrument.

Settled at a future date

IAS 39.I1GB7 Although an option may not be exercised, it still meets the "settled at a future date” requirement

IAS
39.1GB4, 5

IAS 271G7

because, expiry at maturity is a form of settlement.

Impact of partial prepayments

If part of a derivative is prepaid, the unpaid remainder is a derivative if all of the definition criteria are
met. For example, if the variable rate leg payable of an interest rate swap is prepaid based on market
rates at inception, the prepaid amount provides a return (from the fixed rate leg receivable) that is the
same as that of an amortising fixed rate debt instrument with a principal amount equal to the
prepayment. Therefore, the instrument fails the “smaller net investment test” and is not treated as a
derivative, but rather as a loan or similar non-derivative financial instrument with a fixed return.
However, if the fixed leg is prepaid the prepayment amount is significantly less than the notional
amount on which the variable payments under the variable leg will be calculated and is thus smaller
than the cost of acquiring a non-derivative financial instrument that would have a similar response to
changes in market factors (e.g., a variable rate bond, as described above). Also, the instrument'’s fair
value changes in response to changes in interest rates and it is settled at a future date. Therefore,
such an instrument meets the definition of a derivative.

Right to acquire a subsidiary, associate or joint venture

To assess whether an entity controls, or has significant influence over, an investee, the investor
considers not only its current ownership, but also any current rights to acquire such interests (see 2.5
and 3.5). In our view, any derivative considered to be the basis for a conclusion that control, joint
control, or significant influence exist are not considered part of the investment in a subsidiary
associate or joint venture. Therefore, the scope exclusion in IAS 39 for investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures normally would not apply. However, if the derivative provides a present
ownership interest (e.g., not only the ability to control but also currently provides the benefits of such
control) then, in our view the derivative does comprise part of the entity’s investment and is covered
by the scope exclusion in IAS 39.
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Exemptions from derivative treatment

Purchases and sales of non-financial items

A commitment to buy or sell a non-financial item (e.g., a commodity contract that can be settled in
cash) is treated as a derivative, even if it is not a financial instrument, unless the contract was
entered into for the entity’s purchase, sale or usage requirements.

In general, a commitment to buy or sell a non-financial item is treated as a derivative if:

. the terms of the contract permit either party to settle in cash or another financial instrument
(e.g., a written option that permits cash settlement);

- the entity has a past practice of settling similar contracts net in cash or other financial instruments;

. the entity has a past practice of taking delivery of the underlying and selling it within a short
period after delivery for trading purposes; or

. the non-financial item that is subject to the contract is readily convertible into cash.

IAS 39.AG54 A purchase or sale contract that is required to be treated as a derivative is measured at fair value

IAS
39.AG35(b)

IAS 39.9,
38, 39.AG
53-56

through profit or loss in the period between trade and settlement date.

Other contracts to purchase or sell non-financial items are not treated as derivatives. The underlying
purchase or sale transaction is accounted for in accordance with the relevant standard.

For example, an airline operator purchases an aircraft directly from the manufacturer. In order to
protect prices of aircraft in the secondary market, the manufacturer writes an option under which it
may be required to repurchase the aircraft from the airline operator at a specified price after a
specified period, which is consistent with the useful life of the aircraft for the particular airline
operator. The repurchase option granted to the airline operator is not treated as a derivative by either
of the parties, unless the manufacturer intends to take delivery of the aircraft and sell it immediately,
or has a past practice of settling similar contracts in cash. Therefore, the repurchase option
comprises an executory contract, which would not be recognised in the financial statements of the
airline operator or the manufacturer unless it was considered onerous, in which case |IAS 37 would
apply (see 3.11). If the option is exercised, the airline operator will treat the exercise of the option as
a sale of an asset. The proceeds from the sale of the asset is the amount received (i.e., the option
exercise price). The manufacturer will treat the transaction as a purchase of the asset.

Regular way contracts

Regular way contracts are contracts to buy or sell financial assets that will be settled within the time
frame establi